

Debates in elite sports and performance enhancement 2022

Edited by

Marco Beato, Antonio Dello Iacono, Melinda M. Manore and Joseph S. Marino

Published in Frontiers in Sports and Active Living





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2768-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2768-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Debates in elite sports and performance enhancement: 2022

Topic editors

Marco Beato — University of Suffolk, United Kingdom Antonio Dello Iacono — University of the West of Scotland, United Kingdom Melinda M. Manore — Oregon State University, United States Joseph S. Marino — University of North Carolina at Charlotte, United States

Citation

Beato, M., Iacono, A. D., Manore, M. M., Marino, J. S., eds. (2023). *Debates in elite sports and performance enhancement: 2022*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2768-9

🐉 **frontiers** | Research Topics

Table of contents

04 Editorial: Debates in elite sports and performance enhancement: 2022

Marco Beato, Joseph S. Marino and Antonio Dello Iacono

- O6 Is a sub 7-h Ironman[™] possible?Antoine Jolicoeur Desroches and Eric D. B. Goulet
- 22 Recommendations for the design of randomized controlled trials in strength and conditioning. Common design and data interpretation

Marco Beato

- 29 Pre-season body composition has minimal influence on in-season match availability, and match performance in female Australian Football League (AFLW) players Callum J. McCaskie, Marc Sim, Robert U. Newton, Jarryd Heasman, Brent Rogalski and Nicolas H. Hart
- 39 Cutting edge concepts: Does bilirubin enhance exercise performance?

Kyle D. Flack, Libor Vítek, Christopher S. Fry, David E. Stec and Terry D. Hinds Jr

- 49 Connected model to optimize performance Lucie Lerebourg and Jérémy Coquart
- 55 High-speed running and sprinting in professional adult soccer: Current thresholds definition, match demands and training strategies. A systematic review Antonio Gualtieri, Ermanno Rampinini, Antonio Dello Iacono and Marco Beato
- 71 External and internal training load comparison between sided-game drills in professional soccer Marco Beato, Kevin L de Keijzer and Andrew J Costin
- 81 Language games and blurry terminology: Can clarity enhance athlete development? Kathryn Johnston, Alexander B. T. McAuley, Adam L. Kelly and Joseph Baker
- 87 Excellence fulfilled? On the unique developmental needs of professional athletes Joseph Baker, Kathryn Johnston, Harjiv Singh, Lou Farah and Dale Lablans
- 92 Training load comparison between small, medium, and large-sided games in professional football Marco Beato, Jordi Vicens-Bordas, Javier Peña and Andrew J. Costin

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Olivier Girard, University of Western Australia, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Marco Beato M.beato@uos.ac.uk

RECEIVED 16 May 2023 ACCEPTED 18 May 2023 PUBLISHED 06 June 2023

CITATION

Beato M, Marino JS and Dello Iacono A (2023) Editorial: Debates in elite sports and performance enhancement: 2022. Front. Sports Act. Living 5:1223531. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1223531

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Beato, Marino and Dello Iacono. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Debates in elite sports and performance enhancement: 2022

Marco Beato^{1*}, Joseph S. Marino² and Antonio Dello Iacono³

¹School of Health and Sports Sciences, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom, ²Department of Applied Physiology, Health, and Clinical Sciences, University of North Carolina, Charlotte, NC, United States, ³School of Health and Life Sciences, University of the West of Scotland, Glasgow, United Kingdom

KEYWORDS

soccer, science, research, debate, sport, performance

Editorial on the Research Topic Debates in elite sports and performance enhancement: 2022

1. Introduction

Success in sport depends on research and the advancement of applied science to ensure health and achieve performance enhancement among athletes. However, to further progress evidence-based practices, there is a need to critically revise and discuss around emerging challenges that sport practitioners face. Frontiers in Sport and Active Living recognizes the importance of facilitating debate and discussion amongst the community, and so has organized this Research Topic, offering a platform for such discussion to occur in the field of sports science. This Research Topic entitled "Debates in Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement" aimed to highlight themes that foster debate and discussion in the high-performance sports industry. We encouraged authors to submit opinions or perspective pieces that focus on the "pros" or "cons" of all areas surrounding the athlete's environment for performance enhancement. Our final goal was to respectfully challenge perspectives and paradigms to enhance sports performance.

2. Articles

This Research Topic of Frontiers in Sports and Active Living, "Debates in Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, 2022" contains 10 original manuscripts meeting the editorial criteria, including one original research article (McCaskie et al.), three opinion piece articles (Beato, Desroches and Goulet, Lerebourg and Coquart), one review (Flack et al.), one systematic review (Gualtieri et al.), two brief research reports (Beato et al., Beato et al.), and two perspective articles (Baker et al. Johnston et al.).

McCaskie et al. studied the relationship between pre-season body composition, in-season match performance, and match availability in female players competing in the Australian Football League Women's competition. This study found that body composition characteristics are not able to differentiate higher versus lower performing players.

In an opinion article, Beato provided recommendations in the field of research design, specifically, randomized controlled trials and data interpretation. The author aimed at improving the robustness of future strength and conditioning research (e.g., training,

performance, injury prevention) and avoiding the replication of common mistakes such as the use of inadequate sample sizes, type 1 and type 2 errors, incorrect interpretation of confidence intervals, the use of magnitude-based inference, and the use of within-group comparisons instead of between-group comparisons to determine longitudinal differences between intervention.

In their opinion article, Desroches and Goulet elaborated on the challenges and future directions of the IronmanTM triathlon, an ultra-endurance event consisting in 3.8 km swimming, 180 km cycling and 42.2 km running. In particular, by the means of predictive analyses, they elucidated whether an IronmanTM distance triathlon under 7-h might be achievable in 2022 without external assistance and with the current swimming, cycling, and running equipment. Moreover, they discussed how external aid should be deployed to achieve the breaking of the 7-h mark.

In their opinion article, Lerebourg and Coquart critically analyzed the "ideal" running pattern to optimize running performance, while taking into consideration the multifactorial aspects of performance (i.e., physiological, biomechanical, psychological, environmental, and technological factors). In view of the multifactorial nature of performance, they encouraged turning to Big Data and Artificial Intelligence approaches to facilitate the programming components (i.e., planning, implementing, monitoring, predicting) of sports performance.

Flack et al. reviewed articles describing the possible interaction between bilirubin and exercise and the expected effects on metabolic health and athletic performance by describing the underlying mechanisms at hormonal and cardiovascular level.

The systematic review of Gualtieri et al. provided a comprehensive summary of the evidence about absolute and individual velocity thresholds used to classify high-speed running and sprinting demands in soccer, competitive standards, and lastly, strategies for eliciting high-speed running and sprinting during training in professional adult soccer players.

In their brief research report, Beato et al. compared the external and internal training load demands of sided-game drills in professional soccer players during the official season. While sided-games can replicate or even exceed some match-specific intensity parameters, high-speed running and sprinting distances were consistently lower compared to official matches. These findings can inform practical applications for soccer practitioners.

In another brief research report, Beato et al. compared internal and external loads between different between sided game formats, and assessed whether positional differences exist in professional soccer players. Overall, different formats may be used to induce selective responses (e.g., accelerations, rate of perceived exertion), with playing position influencing external load metrics, such as high-speed running and decelerations but not rate of perceived exertion and distance.

Baker et al. in their perspective article, highlighted several discrepancies in the way development is conceptualized,

contextualized, and operationalized between different competitive levels (e.g., pre-professional sport and professional sport). They used available evidence to provide guidance for researchers and practitioners to encourage the delivery of structured developmental programming in professional sport systems to aid with the transitionary period between pre-elite and elite levels, and to help foster career longevity.

In their perspective article, Johnston et al. warranted the need for researchers and practitioners to consider the clarity and consistency of their language in the context of athlete development. This article reported evidence of incongruency in the way terms and expressions are defined, understood, and operationalized. The authors highlighted potentially blurry terms and drew attention to potential avenues for future research.

3. Final considerations

This research topic aims to facilitate the debate and discussion amongst the sport science community. The ten articles included in this Research Topic "Debates in Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, 2022" respectfully challenged perspectives and paradigms to enhance sports performance. We believe that the findings and considerations reported in these articles can contribute to the improvement of practitioners' practice and will foster new research questions.

Author contributions

MB, JM, AD have equally collaborated to the writing of this editorial. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pantelis Theodoros Nikolaidis, University of West Attica, Greece

REVIEWED BY

Giovani Dos Santos Cunha, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil Henri Guise Laurie Rauch, University of Cape Town, South Africa

*CORRESPONDENCE Antoine Jolicoeur Desroches antoine.jolicoeur-desroches@usherbrooke.ca

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 31 January 2022 ACCEPTED 19 July 2022 PUBLISHED 25 August 2022

CITATION

Jolicoeur Desroches A and Goulet EDB (2022) Is a sub 7-h IronmanTM possible? *Front. Sports Act. Living* 4:866599. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.866599

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jolicoeur Desroches and Goulet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Is a sub 7-h IronmanTM possible?

Antoine Jolicoeur Desroches^{1*} and Eric D. B. Goulet^{1,2}

¹Faculty of physical activity sciences, University of Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada, ²Research Centre on Aging, University of Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

KEYWORDS

triathon, IronmanTM, performance, running, cycling, swimming

Introduction

An IronmanTM (IM) triathlon is an ultra-endurance event consisting in swimming 3.8, cycling 180 and running 42.2 km. The first ever IM triathlon was held in Hawaii in 1978 and won in a time of 11 h 46 min and 58 sec (Millet et al., 2007; Lepers, 2008). Since then, and especially more so following the first IM event in the continental United States held in Lake Placid in 1999, the IM distance triathlon has grown exponentially in popularity and the best finishing time is significantly faster. To this effect, the men's world record is currently held by the 2008 Olympic champion, Jan Frodeno, who completed the distance in a time of 7 h 27 min and 53 sec, which was achieved in 2021 in Germany in an event specifically designed to break the world record called the *Zwift Tri Battle Royale* (ZTBR). This record was broken on the same year by the 2021 Olympic champion Kristian Blummenfelt in a time of 7 h 21 min and 12 sec at IM Cozumel, but the swim was current-assisted, so it may be argued that this time should not be considered as the world record.¹On the other hand, the women's world record is held by Chrissie Wellington; she completed the distance in 8 h 18 min and 13 sec.

Just as people wondered if it would be possible to break the 4 min barrier for the mile (Denison, 2006) or the 2-h barrier for the marathon (Joyner et al., 2011; Hoogkamer et al., 2017), people within the triathlon community are starting to wonder whether it would be possible to break the 7-h mark for the IM distance. Projects such as the *Breaking 2* financed by Nike, and the *Ineos 1:59 challenge*, supported by the chemical company Ineos, are events put in place with the goal of creating a hype surrounding an extraordinary sporting feat, which, ultimately, are used by the supporting companies as promotional vehicles and marketing opportunities. Recently, the campaign $\ll Defy$ the Impossible \gg from which derives the $\ll Sub 8 \gg$ and $\ll Sub 7 \gg$ projects, the latter which represents the main focus of this article, were created with the goal of breaking sometime in 2022 the 7-h barrier for the men and the 8-h barrier for the women for an IM.

We are aware of no scientific writing which attempted to detail from a theoretical point of view whether the breaking of the 7-h mark for the IM is possible. Therefore, the first objective of this article was to elucidate, through the use of predictive analyses, whether an IM distance triathlon under 7-h might be achieved in 2022 without external assistance and with the current swimming, cycling, and running equipment. Our different analyses showed that this is very unlikely, which led to the second goal of this paper that was to demonstrate

¹ For the purpose of this article, the time of 7 h 27 min and 53 sec will be considered as the current world record, since the swim was not current-assisted.

how external aid should be deployed to achieve the breaking of the 7-h mark. The last part of this article is dedicated to race organizers and expose the key course characteristics and meteorological conditions we believe are required to optimize the chance of success of this event.

Is a sub 7-h IM possible?

Such to determine whether a sub 7-h IM distance triathlon is achievable without any external help and while using the currently available racing equipment, we used different predictive approaches where we first analyzed the evolution of the fastest times recorded in the history of the IM since 1989 (prior to 1989, archives related to the IM best times are largely missing). Second, we looked at the progression of the racing times registered at the IM event held in Roth from 1990 to 2019, which is recognized as one of the fastest IM race-course in the world. Third, we summed the best swimming, running, and cycling times clocked from all IM races confounded since the inception of the distance. And finally, we predicted the best possible time that could be achieved for the IM distance when doubling the half-IM world record time, while correcting for a computed slowing factor inherent to the doubling of the distance.

Evolution of the fastest IM times from 1989 to 2021

Table 1 reports the best IM completion times from 1989 to 2021. A time of 7-h would represent an improvement of 6.6% compared to the current world record of 7 h 27 min and 53 sec, which is of considerable importance provided that from 1989 to 2021, the IM world record has only improved by 7.5%, as can be computed from observations made in Table 1. Based on the evolution of the IM world record times over those years, the racing times declined only on average by 1 min and 03 sec per year. Figure 1A illustrates a scatterplot showing the evolution of the IM world record times between 1989 and 2021. The trend of the regression line suggests that there is still room for improving the IM world record time; indeed, over the past 10 years, each new world record has fallen from the previous by an average of \sim 6 min. Moreover, the time improvement over that time-period has been of ~ 18 min, compared to ~ 16 min over the previous 20 years. Interestingly, the regression line predicts that in 2022 the fastest IM time is expected to be between 7 h 39 min and 59 sec and 7 h 26 min and 35 sec, the latter which is 0.3 % faster than the current world record, which was achieved during an event specifically designed to break the previous world record of 7 h 35 min and 39 sec. However, this time is still significantly slower than a sub 7-h IM. Importantly, based on the calculated trend from the best IM finishing times observed over the past 32

TABLE 1 World record Ironman[™] triathlon performances.

Year	Athletes	Location	Total time (h:min:sec)
1989	Dave Scott	Lake Biwa, Japan	8:01:32
1996	Lothar Leder	Roth, Germany	7:57:02
1997	Luc Van Lierde	Roth, Germany	7:50:27
2011	Marino Vanhoenacker	Klagenfurt, Austria	7:45:58
2011	Andreas Raelert	Roth, Germany	7:41:33
2016	Jan Frodeno	Roth, Germany	7:35:39
2021	Jan Frodeno	Algäu, Germany	7:27:53
2021	Kristian Blummenfelt	Cozumel, Mexico	7:21:42*

*For the purpose of this article, the time of 7 h 21 min and 42 sec achieved by Kristian Blummenfelt is not considered the world record since the swim was current-assisted.



years, a sub 7-h IM completed without external assistance could theoretically not be achieved at least before the year 2049.

IM Challenge Roth: Racing time progression between 1990 and 2019

IM Challenge Roth has produced the most IM world records since 1990; therefore, we believe that these numbers represent a good source of information for estimating when a sub 7-h IM may be accomplished. Table 2 demonstrates the winners'

Years 1990–1999	Total time (h:min:sec)	Years 2000–2009	Total time (h:min:sec)	Years 2010–2019	Total time (h:min:sec)
1990	8:21:13	2000	8:19:38	2010	7:52:36
1991	8:04:54	2001	8:10:39	2011	7:41:33
1992	8:06:12	2002	8:17:25	2012	7:59:59
1993	8:03:19	2003	8:11:50	2013	7:52:01
1994	8:01:59	2004	7:57:50	2014	7:56:00
1995	8:08:07	2005	7:58:45	2015	7:51:28
1996	7:57:02	2006	8:00:52	2016	7:35:39
1997	7:50:24	2007	7:58:45	2017	7:59:07
1998	8:03:59	2008	8:09:34	2018	7:46:23
1999	7:56:00	2009	7:55:53	2019	7:59:02

TABLE 2 Evolution of the racing time of the winners of the Challenge Roth IronmanTM triathlon from 1990 to 2019.

completion times for IM Challenge Roth from 1990 to 2019.² The slowest and fastest times achieved over this timespan were respectively 8 h 21 min and 13 sec and 7 h 35 min and 39 sec. Hence, an improvement in time of 10%, or 1 min 30 sec per year was observed over this period of 30 years, which fits nicely well with the results observed regarding the improvement in IM world record times between 1989 and 2021. As shown in Figure 1B, a regression line built from the winning times over the past 30 years at IM Challenge Roth demonstrates that the breaking of the 7-h barrier for IM Roth is unlikely to occur at least prior to 2077, based on an associated measurement time error of ± 17 min and 17 sec.

Summation of the world's fastest IM swimming, running, and cycling times

Another reasonable way to estimate whether a sub 7-h IM is possible without external assistance is to combine and sum the world's fastest IM swimming, cycling, and running times ever achieved by any given athletes in any given IM races. Because these times were presumably achieved by discipline specialists and potentially under the best conditions possible, it is very unlikely that even with the best preparation possible a single IM triathlete could align and match or even best each of those times.

The fastest, non-current-assisted swimming time in an IM triathlon was achieved with a wetsuit, in a lake, by Jan Sibbersen, in a time of 42 min and 17 sec in 2004. The fastest official cycling time in an IM, achieved at the ZTBR in 2021 by Jan Frodeno, is 3 h 55 min and 22 sec.³ Finally, Gustav Iden completed the

fastest official IM marathon time (2 h 34 min and 50 sec) in 2021 at IM Florida.⁴ The summation of these times, i.e., 7 h 12 min and 29 sec, reveals the fact that even the best times achieved over time within each of the disciplines that make up triathlon would not be sufficient to break the 7-h mark. And one must take into account that this overall time does not include the transition times.

Prediction of IM time from the half-IM world record time

The current half-IM world record is held by Kristian Blummenfelt. The Norwegian athlete completed the 2018 Bahrain half-IM in a time of 3 h 29 min and 04 sec. This figure highlights the fact that an athlete looking to break the 7-h mark would need to sustain that pace for twice the distance, which would represent an extraordinary accomplishment. Indeed, by doubling the swimming, cycling, and running times a total racing time of 6 h 54 min and 38 sec is obtained.⁵ However, as shown in Table 3, when the fastest IM and half-IM times of the current top 20 triathletes in the world competing in both IM and half-IM are compared, it can be observed that, on average, the IM time is 7.3 \pm 4.2% slower than the doubling of the half-IM time.⁶ Based on this slowing factor, our calculations indicate that Blummenfelt's predicted IM time would be 7 h 24 min and 58 sec, with a margin of error of ± 18 min and 38 sec. Blummenfelt completed his first IM in 2021 (with a current-assisted swim) with a time of 7 h 21 min and 12 sec. Therefore, in order to

² The 2021 times are not included since the race-course was shorter due to construction work.

³ The time of 3 h 54 min and 59 sec achieved by American Andrew Starykowicz at IM Florida in 2018 is not considered as the fastest cycling time since the legitimacy of this record is in question because the cycling distance of this triathlon may have been slightly shorter than 180 km.

⁴ The fastest unofficial marathon time in an IM is 2 h 34 min and 39 sec and it is held by American Matt Hanson and was achieved at IM Texas. However, the legitimacy of the distance is in question.

⁵ Doubling the half-IM time and subtracting an average total transition time of 3 min and 30 sec.

⁶ A factor of 5.4% was calculated by Thorsten Raddle (Trirating, 2018) by using a total of 107 data points.

Athletes	Half-IM best times (h:min:sec)Doubling of the Half- times (h:min:sec)		IM best times (h:min:sec)	Difference $(\%)^{\dagger}$	
Andreas Dreitz	3:40:12	7:16:54	7:53:06	7.7	
Bart Aernouts	3:44:38	7:25:46	7:55:12	6.2	
Braden Currie	3:23:33	6:43:36	7:54:58	15	
Daneil Baekkegard	3:29:18	6:55:06	7:52:58	12.2	
Denis Chevrot	3:41:14	7:18:58	7:51:00	6.8	
Florian Angert	3:41:27	7:19:24	7:45:05	5.5	
Gustav Iden	3:29:25	6:55:20	7:42:56	10.3	
Jackson Laundry	3:39:50	7:16:10	8:26:00	13.8	
Jan Frodeno	3:36:31	7:09:32	7:27:53	4.1	
Jan Van Berkel	3:40:49	7:18:08	7:39:40	4.7	
Joe Skipper	3:55:32	7:47:34	7:53:52	1.3	
Kristian Hogenhaug	3:50:37	7:37:44	7:37:46	0	
Kyle Smith	3:39:43	7:15:56	8:08:53	10.8	
Leon Chevalier	3:50:20	7:37:10	7:57:02	4.2	
Lionel Sanders	3:38:18	7:13:06	7:43:30	6.6	
Matt Hanson	3:46:48	7:30:06	7:39:25	2	
Patrick Lange	3:43:46	7:24:02	7:45:21	4.6	
Rasmus Svenningsson	3:29:18	6:55:06	7:51:33	12	
Sam Appleton	3:43:58	7:24:26	8:09:54	9.3	
Sam Long	3:37:34	7:11:38	7:55:33	9.2	
Average	3:40:09	7:16:47	7:51:35	$7.3 \pm 4.2^{\&}$	

TABLE 3 Comparison of the fastest half-IronmanTM and IronmanTM triathlons of some of the best current long-distance triathletes in the world.

*Half-IM time \times 2, substracting a time of 3 min and 30 sec for the transition times.

[†] IM best time-doubling of the half-IM best time.

[&]Average \pm standard deviation.

break the 7-h barrier, he would need to be 5.9% faster than his predicted time, which is very unlikely considering, as reported above, that the IM world record has only improved by 7.5% over the past 32 years.

Based on the computations presented above, we can therefore conclude with relative confidence that a sub 7-h IM is very unlikely to be achieved without external assistance anytime soon. But a question remains; is it even reasonable to believe that an IM under 7-h could be completed with external help. The next part of the article will focus on this given question.

Can a sub 7-h IM be achieved with assistance?

A prerequisite to the determination that an IM could indeed be achieved in or under a time of 7-h is to first correctly partition the amount of time that should be attributed to each of the single parts of the race, that is the swimming, cycling, running and transition times. We underwent this exercise by contrasting the finishing times for each of the three disciplines in relation to the total finishing times of the winner of the IM Challenge Roth triathlon from 1990 to 2019. As demonstrated in Table 4, we determined that the swimming, cycling, and running times represent, on average, 10.2, 54.9, and 34.9% of the total completion time of an IM, with a standard deviation for each of the three disciplines <1%, which underlines the robustness of these observations. From those calculations, a single triathlete performing a 7-h IM would likely achieve times in the vicinity of 42 min and 32 sec for swimming, 3 h 49 min and 32 sec for cycling and 2 h 25 min and 47 sec for running, and the total transition times would need to be <2 min. It immediately jumps to the eyes that this triathlete would require to produce world-record swimming, cycling, and running performances to achieve a sub 7-h IM; this is unlikely to occur in 2022, nor in the near future as well. But those theoretical numbers do expose one important factor in that a sub 7-h IM could only be accomplished with outside help and if substantial time deficits are made during the cycling portion of the race. Indeed, although it is reasonable to believe that a strong swimmer could meet the targeted swimming time of \sim 42-43 min, it would be utopic to consider that a sub 2 h and 26 min marathon time is achievable.

Years	Total time	Swim	% Swim	Cycle	% Cycle	Run	% Run
	(h:min:sec)	(h:min:sec)		(h:min:sec)		(h:min:sec)	
1990	8:21:13	0:49:14	9.82	4:43:30	56.56	2:48:29	33.61
1991	8:04:54	0:49:38	10.24	4:30:26	55.77	2:44:50	33.99
1992	8:06:12	0:50:52	10.46	4:29:38	55.46	2:45:24	34.02
1993	8:03:19	0:53:23	11.04	4:21:04	54.02	2:48:51	34.94
1994	8:01:59	0:49:41	10.31	4:23:53	54.75	2:48:25	34.94
1995	8:08:07	0:51:11	10.49	4:20:28	53.36	2:56:28	36.15
1996	7:57:02	0:49:33	10.39	4:24:06	55.36	2:43:23	34.25
1997	7:50:24	0:44:51	9.53	4:28:47	57.14	2:36:49	33.34
1998	8:03:59	0:48:16	9.97	4:23:02	54.35	2:52:41	35.68
1999	7:56:00	0:50:59	10.71	4:15:47	53.74	2:49:13	35.55
2000	8:19:38	0:47:43	9.55	4:31:18	54.3	3:00:37	36.15
2001	8:10:39	0:46:51	9.55	4:33:09	55.67	2:50:37	34.77
2002	8:17:25	0:50:50	10.22	4:32:09	54.71	2:54:26	35.07
2003	8:11:50	0:50:42	10.31	4:28:57	54.68	2:52:08	35
2004	7:57:50	0:47:59	10.04	4:28:27	56.18	2:41:22	33.77
2005	7:58:45	0:47:33	9.93	4:24:32	55.25	2:46:38	34.81
2006	8:00:52	0:46:53	9.75	4:27:51	55.7	2:46:06	34.54
2007	7:58:45	0:49:45	10.39	4:17:58	53.89	2:46:39	34.81
2008	8:09:34	0:48:47	9.96	4:31:59	55.55	2:48:49	34.48
2009	7:55:53	0:50:30	10.61	4:22:56	55.25	2:42:30	34.15
2010	7:52:36	0:46:51	9.91	4:24:48	56.03	2:40:53	34.04
2011	7:41:33	0:46:18	10.03	4:13:11	54.85	2:42:06	35.12
2012	7:59:59	0:47:41	9.93	4:31:07	56.49	2:41:13	33.59
2013	7:52:01	0:46:05	9.76	4:16:24	54.32	2:49:35	35.93
2014	7:56:00	0:48:58	10.29	4:21:23	54.91	2:45:40	34.8
2015	7:51:28	0:47:33	10.09	4:10:55	53.22	2:53:02	36.7
2016	7:35:39	0:45:22	9.96	4:09:25	54.74	2:40:36	35.25
2017	7:59:07	0:52:55	11.05	4:20:42	54.41	2:45:28	34.54
2018	7:46:23	0:47:59	10.29	4:09:30	53.5	2:48:57	36.23
2019	7:59:02	0:51:28	10.74	4:14:59	53.23	2:52:38	36.04
Average ± SD (%)			10.2 ± 0.4		54.9 ± 1.0		34.9 ± 0.9

TABLE 4 Time for each discipline of the winners of the IronmanTM Challenge Roth triathlon from 1990 to 2019 in relation to total racing time.

SD, standard deviation.

In the next sections, an attempt will be made to demonstrate that with external assistance mostly through drafting during the swimming, cycling, and running parts of the race to overcome water or air resistance, a completion time of 7-h for the IM is possible. The different variables that can help make a sub 7-h IM performance possible are summarized in Figure 2. However, this IM performance would not be considered an official IM record according to the World Triathlon Corporation rules. Similarly, the sub 2-h marathon achieved by Eliud Kipchoge is not considered eligible as an official world record. In the current paper, \ll assistance \gg is defined as any means that an athlete could be using to maximize its swimming, running and cycling velocity, excluding, however, all forms of help coming from water current, a significant negative elevation for the cycling and

the run, magnets or equipment running on or requiring a source of energy from the sun, electricity, gazes or batteries. The term \ll racing triathlete \gg is used to refer to the triathlete identified to attempt the breaking of the 7-h mark.

Swimming

Table 5 shows the best swimming times realized in an IM for each of the years between 2005 and 2021. As mentioned previously, Jan Sibbersen owns the fastest swimming time (Trirating, 2022). What is remarkable is that his record has not been beaten since. It is worth highlighting the fact that this triathlete has been a national level swimmer for 10 years



and has achieved personal best times in a 50-meter pool of 1 min and 52 sec for the 200 m, 3 min and 56 sec for the 400 m and 15 min and 47 sec for the 1500 m (Sailfish, n.d.). This may explain why this record still stands. Nevertheless, in 2010 and 2013, wetsuit-assisted swimming times close (< 43 min) to that of Sibbersen have been realized by swimmers with no particular competitive background in swimming, at least to our knowledge. Taken together, these information show that without the wearing of a wetsuit, an athlete attempting to break the 7-h barrier is very unlikely to achieve the targeted time of 42 min and 32 sec. Moreover, it seems that an IM swimming time < 43 min represents an exception confirming the rule, i.e., that it is tremendously difficult to realize. However, as will be demonstrated below, a strong swimmer capable of achieving a lake- or ocean-based, wetsuitassisted swimming time of 46-47 min for the 3.8 km distance could potentially achieve this targeted time with the appropriate external help.

Energy cost of swimming

Swimming performance is optimized when propelling cost is maximally reduced. From a pure mathematical standpoint, the energy cost of swimming is calculated by dividing oxygen consumption at a steady state by the corresponding velocity (Zamparo et al., 2005). The energy cost of swimming depends on propelling efficiency, which represents the amount of work necessary to overcome hydrodynamic resistance in relation to the total work required to cover a given distance. Increasing



Year	Athletes	Event	Time (min:see
2005	Jan Sibbersen	IM Austria	44:14
2006	Gilles Reboul	IM France	44:18
2007	Bryan Rhodes	IM United Kingdom	44:39
2008	Andi Boecherer	IM Germany	43:55
2009	John Flanagan	IM Louisville	44:54
2010	Luke McKenzie	IM Brasil	42:26
2011	Clayton Fettell	IM Cairns	43:48
2012	Luiz Francisco Ferreira	IM Brasil	44:04
2013	Bart Colpaert	IM Austria	42:54
2014	Luiz Francisco Ferreira	IM Austria	44:17
2015	Dylan McNeice	IM New Zealand	44:26
2016	Dylan McNeice	Challenge Wanaka	43:30
2017	Luiz Francisco Ferreira	IM Brasil	44:12
2018	Jesper Svensson	IM Brasil	43:47
2019	Thomas Davis	Challenge Anhui	43:48
2020	Josh Amberger	IM Cairns	45:41
2021	Josh Amberger	IM Cairns	43:28

swimming velocity will increase the work necessary to overcome hydrodynamic resistance as the latter increases with the square of the velocity. In addition to the improvement of swimming technique, the wearing of a wetsuit (de Lucas et al., 2000; Zamparo et al., 2005; Tomikawa et al., 2008; Peeling and Landers, 2009) and drafting lead swimmers (Bassett et al., 1991; Chatard et al., 1998; Brisswalter and Hausswirth, 2008) have been shown to reduce the work to overcome hydrodynamic resistance and therefore reduce the energy cost of swimming.

Wetsuit

Wearing a wetsuit allows the swimmer to be more horizontal and higher relative to the water surface which, in turn, will act to reduce hydrodynamic resistance (de Lucas et al., 2000; Peeling and Landers, 2009) and the required energy to complete a swimming distance. However, the extent of these effects is dependent upon intrinsic factors related to swimmers such as the swimming technique, propelling efficiency and buoyancy (Chatard et al., 1995). Wearing a wetsuit has been demonstrated to reduce the cost of swimming at 80% of maximal oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$) by ~7.5% (Tomikawa et al., 2008) and to increase velocity by ~6% (Gay et al., 2020).

Drafting

A lead swimmer creates a depression in the water behind him, which generates a low-pressure gradient. Therefore, the swimmer drafting a lead swimmer encounters lower resistive body drag (Hausswirth and Brisswalter, 2008). The reduction in drag is estimated to vary between ~10 to 26% (Bentley et al., 2007). Many studies have observed lower lactate levels, ratings of perceived exertion and oxygen consumptions when drafting compared to swimming at the same velocity without drafting (Bassett et al., 1991; Chatard et al., 1998). As a result, drafting has been demonstrated to reduce the metabolic cost of swimming by \sim 5 to 10% and increase velocity by \sim 3.2 to 6.9% (Bentley et al., 2007). Importantly, the energy saved by drafting a lead swimmer can also have a positive impact on the bike and run portions of the race. Indeed, Delextrat et al. (2003) have observed a 4.8% increase in cycling efficiency after swimming 750 meters at competition pace while drafting a swimmer, compared to without drafting.

Taken altogether, these observations unequivocally illustrate that an acceptable swimming time for an athlete attempting to break the 7-h mark can only be achieved while wearing a wetsuit and using lead swimmers. Considering that the use of drafting could improve swimming performance by an upper limit of 6.9%, then an accomplished swimmer with a demonstrated capacity to achieve a wetsuit-assisted swimming time of 46-47 min during an IM should expect to achieve a swimming time in the vicinity of 42 min and 50 sec to 43 min 45 sec with proper drafting. A swimming time slightly over these figures should not be problematic as important time gains are possible on the bike.

Cycling

Cycling is the discipline that is the longest, both in distance and in time in an IM. According to Sousa et al. (2019), it is the part of the race that better predicts the total time to complete the distance ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.69$; p < 0.001), followed by running ($R^2 = 0.52$; p < 0.001) and swimming ($R^2 = 0.23$; p < 0.001). As reported above, our calculation indicates that in order to break the 7-h barrier a triathlete would need to complete the 180 km cycling distance in a time faster than 3 h 49 min and 32 sec such to compensate for the possible time lost accrued during the swimming and running portion of the race vs. the theoretical times. Therefore, the racing triathlete would need to cycle at a velocity > 47.1 km \cdot h⁻¹. In comparison, the fastest official time in an IM is 3h 55 min and 22 sec (45.9 $km \cdot h^{-1}$). This would therefore represent an improvement in cycling time of over 2.5% compared to the actual fastest cycling time achieved in an IM. Table 6 demonstrates the improvement in cycling world record times in an IM between 2005 and 2021. Impressively, between those years, the cycling time fell by 10%. This is likely due to new improvements in technology. Interestingly, the actual record improved over the previous one by 2.4%, which is impressive. However, the use of motorcycles to provide nutrition and hydration, and of a cycling ramp, similar to a velodrome ramp, to allow the triathletes to do a 180° turn without having to slow down, may have been the key contributing factors for the achievement of this fast cycling time. We believe that shaving another 2.5% (or 5 min and 53 sec) off the actual world record may be difficult to reach in 2022 without special accommodations or exceptional race circumstances.

There are three main resistive forces encountered when cycling that influence the power that a cyclist needs to generate to move forward: (1) rolling resistance, (2) gravity and, (3) air resistance (Martin et al., 1998; Crouch et al., 2017). Reducing to a minimum the impact of these forces on the bike and cyclist is the key for the achievement of fast cycling times. The next sections provide cues on how to minimize the effect of resistive forces while cycling and demonstrate how the use of drafting would permit to perform the 180 km portion of the IM at the velocity required to race a sub 7-h IM.

Rolling resistance and gravity

The wheels are in contact with the road during cycling, which creates resistance. The rolling resistance is affected by the tire pressure and the vertical load applied on the tire. The vertical load is impacted in proportion to the weight of the cyclist and bicycle (Grappe et al., 1999). However, by optimizing the choice of tire and tire pressure and by choosing a bike course with excellent road surface conditions, it is possible to limit the rolling resistance to a minimum. Of course, the ideal race-course should include minimal elevation gains as the force required to move a bike uphill against the force of gravity is substantially more than

Year	Athletes	Event	Type of bike course	Time (h:min:sec)
2005	Torbjorn Sindballe	IM World Championships Hawaii	Flat roads with rolling hills	4:21:36
2006	Mitchell Anderson	IM Western Australia	Flat roads	4:18:07
2007	Thomas Hellriegel	Challenge Roth	Flat roads with rolling hills	4:16:18
2009	Normann Stadler	Challenge Roth	Flat roads with rolling hills	4:14:42
2010	Sebastian Kienle	Challenge Roth	Flat roads with rolling hills	4:14:07
2011	Andreas Raelert	Challenge Roth	Flat roads with rolling hills	4:11:43
2012	Andrew Starykowicz	IM Florida	Flat highway	4:04:39
2013	Andrew Starykowicz	IM Florida	Flat highway	4:02:17
2017	Andrew Starykowicz	IM Texas	Flat highway	4:01:14
2021	Jan Frodeno	Zwift Tri Battle Royale	Flat roads	3:55:22

TABLE 6 World record cycling times in an Ironman $^{\text{TM}}$ since 2005.

that required to \ll fight \gg rolling resistance or air resistance. On a flat bike course with an ideal road surface condition, the cyclist weight as well as the bicycle weight will have a minimal impact on performance.

Air resistance

The aerodynamic drag (the force applied by the air on an object to resist its motion) depends on the drag coefficient (the efficiency with which an object passes through the surrounding air) and frontal area of the cyclist, the air density and the relative wind speed (Griffith et al., 2014; Crouch et al., 2017). Since aerodynamic drag increases with the square of relative wind speed, as a cyclist goes faster, air resistance becomes a greater factor affecting his rate of forward progression (Faria et al., 2005). At a velocity of $30 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$, air resistance represents about 80% of the resistive force encountered by a cyclist (di Prampero, 2000), and up to 90% of the resistive force at higher velocities (Grappe et al., 1997; Griffith et al., 2014).

The drag area represents the combination effect (product) of the drag coefficient and frontal area (Barry et al., 2015a). The drag coefficient depends on body geometry and it is lower for streamlined objects such as an airfoil or a car (Barry et al., 2015b). A cyclist should try to reduce its frontal area and streamline his geometry without compromising too much comfort and the ability to generate power. Indeed, about 80% of the aerodynamic drag of a cyclist on a bicycle is due to the cyclist and the remainder is related to the bicycle, the wheels and the accessories such as the water bottle position on the bicycle (Crouch et al., 2017). Small changes to a cycling position, especially to the placement and angle of the handlebars, can reduce the drag area such to confer a 60-sec improvement over a 40 km time trial, which would translate to a 4 min and 30 sec improvement over 180 km (Jeukendrup and Martin, 2001).

Triathletes use bicycles designed to reduce aerodynamic drag. Indeed, they have an aerodynamic frame, handlebars

designed for time trialing and lenticular wheels, which, in total, can save about 60 W of power output at a velocity of 50 km·h⁻¹ (Jeukendrup and Martin, 2001). Triathletes competing in IM triathlons do not need to comply with the International Cycling Union (UCI) rules regarding the cyclist position and the cycling equipment (García-López et al., 2008). Therefore, they can optimize their position to reduce their aerodynamic drag as much as possible.

Drafting

Drafting behind another cyclist can significantly reduce air resistance (Blocken et al., 2013), but it is not allowed in IM triathlons. However, if external assistance is used for the *sub* 7 *project*, a group of cyclists could ride in front of the racing triathlete which would allow him to ride at a significantly higher speed and reduce energy expenditure, oxygen consumption (Lukes et al., 2005), heart rate, lactate concentration and perceived exertion, which would also allow the racing triathlete to run faster after cycling (Hausswirth et al., 2001).

The magnitude of the effect of drafting may depend on many factors, such as the number of cyclists in the group, the position of the cyclists, the distance between each cyclist as well as the drag area of the lead cyclists (Lukes et al., 2005). A cyclist drafting as closely as possible behind a lead cyclist may experience a drag reduction of as much as 15-50%, which may reduce to 10-30% at a distance of one bicycle (Crouch et al., 2017). Barry et al. (2015a) studied the aerodynamic drag of 4 cyclists riding in a time-trial position in a team pursuit position. The four riders experienced, respectively, an average drag saving of 5, 45, 55, and 57% at a speed of 65 km·h⁻¹. Therefore, a time significantly faster than the theoretical time previously calculated (time of 3 h 49 min and 32 sec) could be achieved.

By taking into consideration body weight, equipment weight, coefficient of drag (CDA), air density (Rho), rolling resistance and slope, we estimated the power output required

TABLE 7 Modulation of the cycling time and power output base	d on
different drag coefficient scenarios and on different power reduc	tions
from drafting.	

Variables	Scenario 1	Scenario 2
Cyclist weight (kg)	74	74
Equipment (bicycle, wheels,	8	8
etc.) weight (kg)		
Total weight (kg)	82	82
Frontal area (m ²)	0.3	0.32
Drag coefficient	0.7	0.7
(dimensionless)		
Drag coefficient x frontal area	0.21	0.224
(CdA)		
Air density (Rho) (kg/m ³)	1.226	1.226
Rolling resistance	0.004	0.004
(dimensionless)		
Slope G (%)	0	0
Cycling time	Power	output (W)
(h:min:sec)		
4:00:00	292	308
3:55:00	309	327
3:50:00	328	347
3:49:32	330	349
3:40:00	370	390
3:40:00 with drafting	256	268
(assuming 35 % power		
reduction)		
3:40:00 with drafting	240	251
(assuming 40 % power		
reduction)		

to complete the cycling portion of the race in different times (between 4 h 00 and 3 h and 40 min) (Table 7) (Martin et al., 1998). For the purpose of illustration, the calculations were done using a body mass of 74 kg and 2 estimated drag coefficients. Based on these numbers, and assuming a conservative reduction in power output of 35-40% due to drafting, the racing triathlete would only need to maintain a power output of 240-268 W to complete the 180 km in 3 h and 40 min, which would be significantly less than the power output required if he were to ride without drafting estimated to be between 370 and 390 W. In turn, this highlights the fact that the alternating lead cyclists would have to be capable of sustaining that amount of power. Hence, it must be borne in mind that, ultimately, the rate of progression of the racing triathlete will be dictated by the quality of the lead cyclists. Indeed, in order to be able to push a power output of 370-390 W for a few minutes when leading the group, the lead cyclists would need to have a critical power (CP) higher than 390 W, which can be expected of professional cyclists (World Tour of professional-continental cyclists) (Bartram et al., 2018).

TABLE 8 Yearly fastest Ironman $^{\rm TM}$ running times between 2005 and 2021.

Year	Athletes	Event	Time (h:min:sec)
2005	Gerrit Schellens	IM Lanzarotte	2:44:29
2006	Gerrit Schellens	IM Switzerland	2:43:45
2007	Chris McCormack	IM World	2:42:02
		Championship Hawaii	
2008	Timo Bracht	IM Germany	2:42:33
2009	Michael Goehner	Challenge Roth	2:41:17
2010	Rasmus Henning	Challenge Roth	2:39:43
2011	Mads Vittrup	IM Copenhagen	2:38:58
2012	Craig Alexander	IM Melbourne	2:38:46
2013	Bart Aernouts	IM France	2:37:01
2014	Jeff Symonds	IM Canada	2:40:34
2015	Victor Del Corral	IM France	2:42:04
2016	Joe Skipper	Challenge Roth	2:38:52
2017	Patrick Lange	IM World	2:39:59
		Championship Hawaii	
2018	Jan Frodeno	IM Germany	2:39:06
2019	Ben Hoffman	IM Florida	2:36:09*
2020	Matt Hanson	IM Florida	2:41:57
2021	Gustav Iden	IM Florida	2:34:50*

*Represents a new world record.

Running

In 1997, Luc Van Lierde achieved an outstanding IM world record marathon time of 2 h 36 min and 49 sec. So special was this record that it stood for 22 years until it was beaten in 2019 by a scarce 40 sec. Since then, the world record has improved by another 1 min and 19 sec. Table 8 demonstrates the fastest IM marathon times reached for each of the years between 2005 and 2021. What it clearly illustrates is that running an IM marathon < 2 h and 35 min represents and extraordinary accomplishment that has only been realized on one occasion since the inception of this distance.

According to our estimation, the IM marathon time of a single triathlete performing a 7-h IM would need to be 2 h 25 min and 47 sec, corresponding to a mean velocity of 4.8 m·s⁻¹ (17.4 km·h⁻¹) or a pace of 3 min and 27 sec·km⁻¹. This is about 9 min faster (5.8%) than the fastest marathon time ever recorded in an IM (2 h 34 min and 50 sec) and is much faster than the computed theoretical marathon time. This time is so far off from what history tells us can be achieved that it is very unlikely to be accomplished, even with drafting. Moreover, as this is the last part of the race and time deficits could quickly accumulate if the racing triathlete fatigues prematurely or has a \ll bad \gg running day, room for errors is required. However, with external assistance where a time of 3 h and 40 min is tenable

on the bike, the racing triathlete would still need to run very fast but complete the marathon in a more \ll reasonable time \gg of 2 h 35 min 30 sec (considering a 42 min 32 sec swim time and a total transition time of 2 minutes), which is 40 seconds slower than the fastest marathon time ever recorded in an IM (2 h 34 min and 50 sec).

Among the three main physiological determinants of running performance, which are VO2max, lactate threshold and running economy (Joyner et al., 2011), the latter is likely to play the most important role (Saunders et al., 2004). It is defined as the rate of oxygen consumption or energy expenditure spent per unit of distance (Lacour and Bourdin, 2015; Hoogkamer et al., 2017). Therefore, an improvement in running economy indicates that less energy is expended for running at a given speed. Hence, to meet the optimal running time the racing triathlete should do whatever he can to optimize running economy. Many factors can affect running economy, including body weight, leg architecture, muscle fibers composition (Kyröläinen et al., 2000; Lacour and Bourdin, 2015) and the mechanical and morphological properties of the muscle tendon-units (Arampatzis et al., 2006; Kubo et al., 2010; Albracht, K., and Arampatzis, 2013). Albeit triathletes may exercise a certain control over the first factor, i.e., body weight, they certainly have little influence over the remainder factors which are, for the most part, genetically determined. Moreover, triathletes are generally heavier than elite runners because of the upper body muscles required for swimming which affects their running economy.

Running economy could negatively be impacted after swimming and cycling at a high intensity due to muscle damage (Bessa et al., 2008; Lacour and Bourdin, 2015), neuromuscular fatigue (Lepers et al., 2000), elevated core temperature and possibly dehydration (Hausswirth and Lehenaff, 2001). However, the impact of these factors could be substantially dampened if the racing triathlete drafts other cyclists during the cycling part of the race (Bentley et al., 2002). Indeed, under this circumstance, the rate of energy expenditure during cycling would be significantly less, thereby reducing muscle stress and fatigue, the rate of increase in core temperature and subsequently the rate of sweat loss and dehydration.

Running economy will be expected to slowly deteriorate during the marathon (Hausswirth et al., (1996); Guezennec et al., 1996; Hausswirth and Lehenaff, 2001) due to ongoing muscle damage and muscle glycogen depletion (Assumpção et al., 2013). Indeed, based on Brueckner's (1991) findings, energy expenditure is expected to increase by at least 3% over the course of the marathon. This is due, in part, by a change in the running kinematics, such as a greater forward lean (Hausswirth et al., 1997), an increase in stride time variability (Connick and Li, 2015), a decrease in stride length and an increase in stride frequency (Gottschall and Palmer, 2000; Kyröläinen et al., 2000; Place et al., 2004; Connick and Li, 2015). Fortunately, there are some tools available to triathletes to minimize the decline in running economy that inevitably occurs during the marathon part of an IM. These are discussed in the following lines.

Running Shoes

Running economy can be impacted by the biomechanical advantage provided by shoe technology. Since 1960, when Abebe Bikila ran barefoot to set the world record in 2 h 15 min and 16 sec (Hoogkamer et al., 2017), running shoes have evolved from an ethylene-vinyl acetate (EVA) cushioning to air-cushioned materials. Worobets et al. (2014) observed a 1% improvement in running economy between the Adidas boost midsole and a standard EVA cushioning, which is due to a \ll superior energy storage/return \gg in the midsole foam (Hoogkamer et al., 2019). This energy storage/return effect of the midsole foam compensates for the detrimental impact of the slightly higher shoe weight, compared to a more minimalist shoe or to running barefoot (Tung et al., 2014; Hoogkamer et al., 2016).

Furthermore, high-tech running shoes nowadays have a carbon plate midsole, which improves their binding stiffness. The carbon fiber plate (CFP) has a \ll clever lever effect \gg on the ankle joint mechanism and it has a \ll stiffening effect \gg on the metatarsophalangeal joint (Hoogkamer et al., 2019; Nigg et al., 2020; Cigoja et al., 2021). The carbon fiber plate combined with the superior midsole foam result in an improvement in running economy of between 2.8 (Hunter et al., 2019) and more than 4% (Hoogkamer et al., 2018; Barnes and Kilding, 2019), which translates into an improvement in running performance greater than 2% (Muniz-Pardos et al., 2021). Since the introduction of the carbon fiber plate shoes in 2016, all the women's and men's world record in distance ranging from the 5 km to the marathon have been broken (Bermon et al., 2021; Muniz-Pardos et al., 2021).

Drafting

The running energy cost can also be reduced by drafting other runners. Since the running speed is considerably less than the cycling speed, the reduction in energy cost associated with drafting is significantly less with running compared to cycling, but it is still beneficial. Hill (1928) observed that the effect of air resistance when running depended on the air density, the velocity and the projected area of the runner. Pugh (1970) studied the effect of different wind speeds on the running cost. He observed that when the headwind speed increased from 0 km·h⁻¹ to 16.2 km·h⁻¹ and to 66 km·h⁻¹, the $\dot{V}O_2$ of a runner running at 15.9 km·h⁻¹ increased from 2.9 L·min⁻¹, to 3.1 L·min⁻¹ and to 5.0 L·min⁻¹, respectively. Pugh (1971) also observed that at a speed of 6 m·s⁻¹ (21.6 km·h⁻¹), running at a distance of 1 meter behind another runner reduced the air resistance by 80%. Drafting is not only beneficial because it reduces the air resistance but also because it reduces the mental effort required to \ll set and monitor a challenging pace \gg (Polidori et al., 2020).

Polidori et al. (2020) analyzed Kenesia Bekele's performance at the 2019 Berlin marathon where he won in a time of 2 h 01 min and 41 sec. Bekele used a cooperative drafting strategy and adopted three different drafting positions behind three pacers during the race. Using computational fluid dynamics, they estimated a reduction in metabolic power between 1.9 and 2.8% due to drafting. Furthermore, Schickhofer and Hanson (2021) calculated that the reduction in energy cost when drafting in the best drafting formation possible is 3.5%, which corresponds to an increase in velocity of 2.3% and an improvement in time of 154 seconds for a marathon. Improving the world record IM marathon time by 2 min and 34 sec would still leave a deficit of 6 min and 30 sec compared to the computed theoretical marathon time of 2 h 25 min and 47 sec, thereby highlighting the importance of the cycling portion of the race.

Recommendations

In this section, we will provide recommendations regarding the transition, swim, bike and run course configurations, the organization of drafting as well as for the location of the event and the climatic conditions that would favor the success of the event.

Transition zones, swim, cycling and running courses, and strategies to optimize performance

Transition zones

It is necessary to limit the time lost for the transitioning between sports and therefore the transition area needs to be optimally positioned in relation to the swim and cycling finish line. This objective will be reached by limiting the running time from the swim and bike finish line to the transition zone. Intuitively, this can be achieved by having the transition area to be as close as possible to the swim and bike finish. If the ideal running course is close to the swim course then only a single transition area would be needed. Otherwise, a second transition area, distant from the first, may be required if the running course chosen for the *sub 7 project* is removed from the swim course.

Swim

The swim needs to be in a calm body of water, because waves reduce the swimming velocity by impacting the swimming efficiency (Kjendlie et al., 2018). Furthermore, swimming in the ocean or in a sea is advantageous because of the added buoyancy due to the salt content in the water (Mclean and Hinrichs, 1998).

For instance, the two fastest non-current-assisted swimming times in an IM in 2021 (43 min and 28 sec and 43 min and 53 sec) were achieved at IM Cairns, Australia in a calm ocean, with a wetsuit. Also, as mentioned before, swimming in a wetsuit increases velocity. Since the *sub 7 project* would not be eligible as an official world record, a wetsuit could be worn even if the water temperature is higher than 21.9° C. However, swimming in warm water in a full wetsuit increases the risk of hyperthermia, so it is not recommended.

Cycling and Running

The fastest triathlon cycling times have been achieved on moderately flat courses such as at IM Challenge Roth, on highways such as at IM Texas and IM Florida and on race car course such as Formula 1 (F1) and Nascar racetracks (Table 5). These courses are optimal to achieve fast bike splits because they are mostly flat. Hence, less energy is wasted to move a bike uphill against the force of gravity, the quality of the road is good, which minimizes rolling resistance, and they have a small number of turns, with potentially the exception of some F1 courses. Regarding this latter point, turns need to be limited such to minimize the amount of kinetic energy lost by breaking or coasting before a turn. Furthermore, turns can be difficult to navigate in a group.

For the current IM world cycling record achieved during the ZTBR, a cycling ramp, similar to a velodrome ramp, was built to allow the triathletes to make a 180° turn without having to slow down. This technology could be used for the *sub 7 project* if it were to occur on an out-and-back course such as a highway. However, since the *sub 7 project* will most likely occur with the help of pacers it would be important to practice riding the velodrome-like ramp in a group to minimize the risks of crashes during the attempt.

With respect to the run course, it must also be flat and not have any sharp turns, since elevation gain increases the metabolic cost and curves require the runners to generate additional centripetal force on the ground with their legs, which also increases the metabolic cost (Taboga and Kram, 2019; Snyder et al., 2021).

Meteorological conditions

A significant amount of body heat is produced (Longman et al., 2021) during exercise due to the conversion of chemical energy into mechanical energy, which is a highly inefficient process. The amount of body heat produced is proportional to the exercise intensity. On the other hand, the capacity of the body to dissipate heat to the environment is inversely proportional to the water pressure in the air surrounding the skin and directly proportional to the temperature gradient between the skin and the environment. It is important to limit the gain in body heat during exercise as it may lead to premature fatigue and impair performance (Cheuvront et al., 2010). Hence, the choice of the location and the time of the year for the *sub 7 project* is crucial; the temperature should neither be too warm nor too cold and the relative humidity should ideally be as low as possible. Solar load also would need to be as low as possible to minimize body heat gain, unless the race is being conducted in relatively cool weather.

Knechtle et al. (2019) analyzed the Boston marathon performances from 1972 to 2018 and observed that for every increase of 1°C in the average temperature, the winners' finishing times increased by 20 seconds and the average finishing time of all the finishers increased by 1 min and 47 sec. It is well documented that the optimal temperature for a marathon performance is between 10 and 12° C (El Helou et al., 2012; El Helou et al., 2007) or between 8 and 15° C (Suping et al., 1992). For instance, the location and the time of day and year for the *INEOS 1:59 challenge* were chosen so that the runners could run at a temperature of about 10° C (INEOS 1:59 Challenge, n.d.).

For running performance, the temperature must be low since the effect of convection is minimal due to the relatively slow speed of the runners. However, when cycling, the cooling effect of the wind is significantly more important. Therefore, a temperature of 10 $^{\circ}$ C may be too cold while cycling, and the racing triathlete would need to stop at the first transition to add some clothes and energy may be lost due to thermogenesis. Therefore, a delicate balance between the ideal temperature for cycling and running should be taken into account. However, a possible scenario could be to choose a region where the IM would start after noon when the temperature is in the low 20°C or slightly lower and the radiative effect of the sun is high, so that the racing triathlete could begin the marathon at sunset when both the temperature and the solar radiation are declining.

Altitude

For every 305 m increase in altitude, there is an \sim 3% reduction in air density (Levine et al., 2008). Therefore, when cycling at altitude, cyclists encounter less air resistance, which results in an improved performance, unless the physiological detriment associated with the altitude is higher than the improvement associated with the reduction in aerodynamic drag (Capelli and di Prampero, 1995; Bassett, 2000; di Prampero, 2000; Padilla et al., 2000; Hahn and Gore, 2001; Atkinson et al., 2003; Heil, 2005). For instance, both the hour record and the 4000 m cycling records were achieved at the Aguascalientes velodrome in Mexico, which is at an altitude of 1800 m (Delaney, 2021; UCI., 2021).

It would therefore be tempting for organizers to consider having the *sub* 7 project at altitude. However, altitude is associated with a decrease in performance for aerobic activities due to a decrease in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and an increase in the relative intensity at any speed or power output (Garvican-Lewis et al., 2014, 2015; Burtscher et al., 2018). Furthermore, since the effect of air resistance while running a marathon is low, the reduction in air density whilst running at altitude is not beneficial since the physiological impairment is considerable.

Time of year and location

As previously mentioned, the bike and run courses must be flat, the swim must be in a calm body of water and ideally in salt water and the temperature and humidity must be low, but manageable on the bike without the addition of clothing. One ideal location would be Bahrain, which is where the half-IM world record was broken. The swim would occur at the Bahrain bay which is a calm body of salt water. The bike and run courses would be flat and have a small number of turns. The ideal time of year would be January; it is the coldest month of the year in Bahrain with average temperature ranging between 14.7 and 20°C, the water temperature is about 19.8°C (Weather-Atlas, n.d), rain is sporadic, solar radiation is significantly lower in January (4.8 kWh/m² day compared to over 6.5 kWh/m² day in the summer months) (Alnaser et al., 2014) and sunset occurs at about 5 PM. Therefore, the IM could begin at 13h00 so to have the run start when both the temperature and solar radiation are lower.

Organization of drafting

The way drafting will be structured for each of the three sports must be carefully planned and orchestrated for it to provide the best results possible. For the swim, there are two possible positions where a swimmer can be situated to benefit from the draft of other swimmers. One option is to swim between 0 to 50 cm behind the toes of the lead swimmers. The other position, called lateral drafting, requires the swimmer to be located 50 to 100 cm back from the hands of the lead swimmer. However, swimming at the feet is more advantageous (Chatard and Wilson, 2003). In order to maximize the reduction of hydrodynamic drag, the racing triathlete should swim behind five pacers positioned in an arrowhead position (Figure 3A).

For the cycling, based on Blocken et al. (2018)'s study, the optimal situation would be to have 6 lead cyclists in front of the racing triathlete and to try to maintain a space of 5 to 15 cm between each cyclist (Figure 3B). The utilization of radio communication is recommended so that the race organizers and coaches can communicate with the lead cyclists and the racing triathlete. The 6 lead cyclists would need to rotate in order to share the lead and therefore spend short period of times at the front where the aerodynamic drag is the greatest (Shirasaki et al., 2017). They could be replaced by other cyclists at the half point of the 180 km to make sure that the racing triathlete has 6 fresh lead cyclists throughout the entire cycling distance.



Motorcycles could be used to provide on-course food and fluid to the athletes. As a result, instead of having to slow down and get out of his aerodynamic position on his bicycle to grab bottles or gels from an aid station, the racing triathlete would be able to maintain his aerodynamic position and speed, which would allow him to save time and energy. The feeding for the pacers should occur as the lead pacer finishes his pull at the front of the group so that he can coast at the end of the group and receive food and fluids without putting the other cyclists at risk.

For the run, a drafting organization similar to the one used for the sub 2-h marathon attempts is recommended (Figure 3C). For the first sub 2-h marathon attempt, it was decided to have new pacers after every lap of 2.4 km. Kipchoge was running behind another runner who was preceded by 6 runners who were forming an arrowhead. For the second attempt at breaking the 2h mark, 7 pacers were used, but this time 5 pacers were running in front of Kipchoge in an inverted arrow-head formation and 2 pacers were running behind him (Polidori et al., 2020). For the *sub 7 project*, 7 pacers should be used, and in order to make sure that they can sustain that pace, 7 new pacers would replace them at the half-marathon mark. People riding electric bicycles could ride alongside the runners to provide food, liquids and verbal encouragement.

Discussion

We determined, based on the trends of the improvement of the IM times over the years, that a sub 7-h IM is unlikely to be achieved without any external assistance. However, this prediction is based solely on trends, so it is not impossible that a sub 7-h IM without any external assistance could be achieved in the future thanks to sophisticated training programs and better monitoring of the recovery process. The arrival of new technologies could also be a game changer. For instance, the use of 3D printing in the development of time trial handlebars with the goal of improving aerodynamism could be extended to create custom, wind-cheating bicycles (Croxton, 2021). Although a taboo topic, it cannot be ruled out that performance-enhancing drugs could be used without being detected, either because of micro-dosing strategies or because the active compound has not been yet been identified by researchers (Joyner et al., 2020). Furthermore, over the past few years, triathletes have begun to compete in IM races at an earlier age which may provide them with more time to improve at that distance while there are still at their peak fitness level.

In this article, courses with a significant negative elevation and with a current-assisted swim were not considered because they fell outside our definition of external assistance. However, a current-assisted swim could help reduce the overall time by as much as 8 min.⁷ Also, a sub 7-h IM could possibly be achieved by swimming in a lake at altitude and then immediately cycling down to a town at low altitude, where the racing athletes would complete their cycling ride. The descent to a lower altitude would allow triathletes to save precious time and energy and enable them to start the run on a fresher body and mind.

The sub 7 project, similarly to the sub2 marathon projects, would require a lot of organization, planning and substantial funding. Furthermore, it would also require a strong commitment in time from the organizers, the pacers and the racing triathlete involved in this event. The triathlete must fully commit to this event, so it should not occur during an Olympic year. Furthermore, he would need to train specifically for this event for many months and to practice the pacing and drafting strategies with the pacers to optimize efficiency and reduce the risks of crashes, especially while cycling. Finally, this achievement would need to be executed, of course, in an ideal location and, most importantly, under perfect meteorological conditions. Therefore, it is recommended to not have the race planned on a fixed day, but rather to plan the race to occur within a spectrum of days ranging from 3 to 5, for instance. Therefore, a careful coordination between race organizers and local authorities and planning of training, diet and hydration for

⁷ This reduction in time is estimated by comparing the current-assisted swim time to non-current-assisted swim times.

the racing triathlete in the days leading to the race, and within the targeted possible racing days, if need be, would be required.

In conclusion, a sub 7-h IM would be a significant sporting achievement similar to the first sub 4 min mile and the first sub 2-h marathon and physical, psychological and technological boundaries would need to be broken.

Author contributions

AJD conceived the idea of this article and did research on this topic with the supervision of EDBG. EDBG and AJD performed the analysis of the IronmanTM times. AJD wrote the first draft. EDBG provided guidance on how to present the results, revised the final versions of the manuscript, and the general concepts of this manuscript. All authors discussed the results and contributed equally to the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Thorsten Raddle, founder of the website Trirating.com, who provided help to verify the

References

Albracht, K., and Arampatzis, A. (2013). Exercise-induced changes in triceps surae tendon stiffness and muscle strength affect running economy in humans. *Eur. J. App. Physiol.* 113, 1605–1615. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2585-4

Alnaser, W. E., Alnaser, N. W., and Batarseh, I. (2014). Bahrain's BAPCO 5MWp PV grid–connected solar project. *Int. J. Power Renew. Energy Syst.* 1, 72–84.

Arampatzis, A., De Monte, G., Karamanidis, K., Morey-Klapsing, G., Stafilidis, S., and Brüggemann, G. -P. (2006). Influence of the muscle-tendon unit's mechanical and morphological properties on running economy. *J. Exp. Biol.* 209, 3345–3357. doi: 10.1242/jeb.02340

Assumpção, C. de O., Lima, L. C. R., Oliveira, F. B. D., Greco, C. C., and Denadai, B. S. (2013). Exercise-induced muscle damage and running economy in humans. *Sci. World J.* 2013, 189149. doi: 10.1155/2013/189149

Atkinson, G., Davison, R., Jeukendrup, A., and Passfield, L. (2003). Science and cycling: current knowledge and future directions for research. J. Sports Sci. 21, 767–787. doi: 10.1080/0264041031000102097

Barnes, K. R., and Kilding, A. E. (2019). A randomized crossover study investigating the running economy of highly-trained male and female distance runners in marathon racing shoes versus track spikes. *Sports Med.* 49, 331–342. doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-1012-3

Barry, N., Burton, D., Sheridan, J., Thompson, M., and Brown, N. A. (2015a). Aerodynamic performance and riding posture in road cycling and triathlon. proceedings of the institution of mechanical engineers. *Part P: J. Sports Eng. Technol.* 229, 28–38. doi: 10.1177/1754337114549876

Barry, N., Burton, D., Sheridan, J., Thompson, M., and Brown, N. A. T. (2015b). Aerodynamic drag interactions between cyclists in a team pursuit. *Sports Eng.* 18, 93–103. doi: 10.1007/s12283-015-0172-8

Bartram, J. C., Thewlis, D., Martin, D. T., and Norton, K. I. (2018). Accuracy of w-recovery kinetics in high performance cyclists-modeling intermittent work capacity. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 13, 724–728. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0034

Bassett, D. R. (2000). Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance: *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 70, 12. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200001000-00012

accuracy of the fastest IronmanTM times, as well as the legitimacy of some of the fastest swimming, cycling, and running times. The authors would also like to thank Dr. Frédéric Domingue who provided help with the estimation of the cycling power for the *sub 7 project*.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Bassett, D. R., Flohr, J., Duey, W. J., Howley, E. T., and Pein, R. L. (1991). Metabolic responses to drafting during front crawl swimming. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 23, 744–747.

Bentley, D. J., Libicz, S., Jougla, A., Coste, O., Manetta, J., Chamari, K., et al. (2007). The effects of exercise intensity or drafting during swimming on subsequent cycling performance in triathletes. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* 10, 234–243. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2006.05.004

Bentley, D. J., Millet, G. P., Vleck, V. E., and McNaughton, L. R. (2002). Specific aspects of contemporary triathlon?: Implications for physiological analysis and performance. *Sports Med.* 32, 345–359. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200232060-00001

Bermon, S., Garrandes, F., Szabo, A., Berkovics, I., and Adami, P. E. (2021). Effect of advanced shoe technology on the evolution of road race times in male and female elite runners. *Front. Sports Act. Liv.* 3, 653173. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2021.653173

Bessa, A., Nissenbaum, M., Monteiro, A., Gandra, P. G., Nunes, L. S., Bassini-Cameron, A., et al. (2008). High-intensity ultraendurance promotes early release of muscle injury markers. *Brit. J. Sports Med.* 42, 589–593. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007.043786

Blocken, B., Defraeye, T., Koninckx, E., Carmeliet, J., and Hespel, P. (2013). CFD simulations of the aerodynamic drag of two drafting cyclists. *Comput. Fluids* 71, 435–445. doi: 10.1016/j.compfluid.2012.11.012

Blocken, B., Toparlar, Y., van Druenen, T., and Andrianne, T. (2018). Aerodynamic drag in cycling team time trials. *J. Wind Eng. Ind. Aerodyn.* 182, 128–145. doi: 10.1016/j.jweia.2018.09.015

Brisswalter, J., and Hausswirth, C. (2008). Consequences of drafting on human locomotion: benefits on sports performance. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Performan.* 3, 3–15. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.3.1.3

Brueckner, J. C., Atchou, G., Capelli, C., Duvallet, A., Barrault, D., Jousselin, E., et al. (1991). The energy cost of running increases with the distance covered. *Eur. J. App. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 62, 385–389. doi: 10.1007/BF00626607

Burtscher, M., Niedermeier, M., Burtscher, J., Pesta, D., Suchy, J., and Strasser, B. (2018). Preparation for endurance competitions at altitude: physiological, psychological, dietary and coaching aspects. a narrative review. *Front. Physiol.* 9, 1504. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01504

Chatard, J.-C., and Wilson, B. (2003). Drafting distance in swimming. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 35, 1176–1181. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000074564.06106.1F

Chatard, J. C., Chollet, D., and Millet, G. (1998). Performance and drag during drafting swimming in highly trained triathletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Ex.* 30, 1276–1280. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199808000-00015

Chatard, J. C., Senegas, X., Selles, M., Dreanot, P., and Geyssant, A. (1995). Wetsuit effect: a comparison between competitive swimmers and triathletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 27, 580–586. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199504000-00017

Cheuvront, S. N., Kenefick, R. W., Montain, S. J., and Sawka, M. N. (2010). Mechanisms of aerobic performance impairment with heat stress and dehydration. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 109, 1989–1995. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.0036 7.2010

Cigoja, S., Fletcher, J. R., Esposito, M., Stefanyshyn, D. J., and Nigg, B. M. (2021). Increasing the midsole bending stiffness of shoes alters gastrocnemius medialis muscle function during running. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 749. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-80791-3

Connick, M. J., and Li, F. -X. (2015). Prolonged cycling alters stride time variability and kinematics of a post-cycle transition run in triathletes. *J. Electromyogr. Kin.* 25, 34–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2014.08.009

Crouch, T. N., Burton, D., LaBry, Z. A., and Blair, K. B. (2017). Riding against the wind: a review of competition cycling aerodynamics. *Sports Eng.* 20, 81–110. doi: 10.1007/s12283-017-0234-1

Croxton, J. (2021). A Closer Look at the Lotus x Hope HB.T: Team GB's Radical Track Bike at the Tokyo Olympics. (2021). https://www.cyclingnews.com/features/ a-closer-look-at-the-lotus-x-hope-hbt-team-gbs-radical-track-bike-at-thetokyo-olympics/ (accessed January 31, 2022).

de Lucas, R. D., Balikian, P., Neiva, C. M., Greco, C. C., and Denadai, B. S. (2000). The effects of wet suits on physiological and biomechanical indices during swimming. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* 3, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/S1440-2440(00)80042-0

Delaney, B. (2021). Ashton Lambie demolishes 4km IP world record with a time of 3:59:92. VeloNews. Available online at: https://www.velonews.com/ news/ashton-lambie-demolishes-ip-world-record-with-an-unofficial-359-92/ (accessed January 31, 2022).

Delextrat, A., Tricot, V., Bernard, T., Vercruyssen, F., Hausswirth, C., and Brisswalter, J. (2003). Drafting during swimming improves efficiency during subsequent cycling. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 35, 1612–1619. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000084422.49491.2C

Denison, J. (2006). Inhibiting progress: the record of the four-minute mile. *Sport Hist.* 26, 280–288. doi: 10.1080/17460260600786930

di Prampero, P. E. (2000). Cycling on Earth, in space, on the Moon. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 82, 345–360. doi: 10.1007/s004210000220

El Helou, N., Tafflet, M., Berthelot, G., Tolaini, J., Marc, A., Guillaume, M., et al. (2012). Impact of environmental parameters on marathon running performance. *PLoS ONE* 7, e37407. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037407

Faria, E. W., Parker, D. L., and Faria, I. E. (2005). The science of cycling: factors affecting performance??? Part 2. *Sports Med.* 35, 313–337. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200535040-00003

García-López, J., Rodríguez-Marroyo, J. A., Juneau, C.-E., Peleteiro, J., Martínez, A. C., and Villa, J. G. (2008). Reference values and improvement of aerodynamic drag in professional cyclists. *J. Sports Sci.* 26, 277–286. doi: 10.1080/02640410701501697

Garvican-Lewis, L. A., Clark, B., Martin, D. T., Schumacher, Y. O., McDonald, W., Stephens, B., et al. (2015). Impact of altitude on power output during cycling stage racing. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0143028. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143028

Garvican-Lewis, L. A., Schumacher, Y. O., Clark, S. A., Christian, R., Menaspà, P., Plowman, J., et al. (2014). Stage racing at altitude induces hemodilution despite an increase in hemoglobin mass. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 463–472. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00242. 2014

Gay, A., López-Contreras, G., Fernandes, R. J., and Arellano, R. (2020). Is swimmers' performance influenced by wetsuit use? *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 15, 46–51. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0891

Gottschall, J. S., and Palmer, B. M. (2000). Acute effects of cycling on running step length and step frequency. J. Strength Cond. Res. 14, 97-101. doi: 10.1519/00124278-200002000-00017

Grappe, F., Candau, R., Belli, A., and Rouillon, J. D. (1997). Aerodynamic drag in field cycling with special reference to the Obree's position. *Ergonomics* 40, 1299–1311. doi: 10.1080/001401397187388 Grappe, F., Candau, R., Barbier, B., Hoffman, M. D., Belli, A., and Rouillon, J.-D. (1999). Influence of tyre pressure and vertical load on coefficient of rolling resistance and simulated cycling performance. *Ergonomics* 42, 1361–1371. doi: 10.1080/001401399185009

Griffith, M. D., Crouch, T., Thompson, M. C., Burton, D., Sheridan, J., and Brown, N. A. T. (2014). Computational fluid dynamics study of the effect of leg position on cyclist aerodynamic drag. *J. Fluids Eng.* 136, 101105. doi: 10.1115/1.4027428

Guezennec, C. Y., Vallier, J. M., Bigard, A. X., and Durey, A. (1996). Increase in energy cost of running at the end of a triathlon. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 73, 440–445. doi: 10.1007/BF00334421

Hahn, A. G., and Gore, C. J. (2001). The effect of altitude on cycling performance: a challenge to traditional concepts. *Sports Med.* 31, 533–557. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131070-00008

Hausswirth, C., Bigard, A., Berthelot, M., Thomaïdis, M., and Guezennec, C. (1996). Variability in energy cost of running at the end of a triathlon and a marathon. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 17, 572–579. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-972897

Hausswirth, C., Bigard, A. X., and Guezennec, C. Y. (1997). Relationships between running mechanics and energy cost of running at the end of a triathlon and a marathon. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 18, 330–339. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-972642

Hausswirth, C., and Brisswalter, J. (2008). Strategies for improving performance in long duration events: olympic distance triathlon. *Sports Med.* 38, 881–891. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200838110-00001

Hausswirth, C., and Lehenaff, D. (2001). Physiological demands of running during long distance runs and triathlons. *Sports Med.* 31, 679–689. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131090-00004

Hausswirth, C., Vallier, J.-M., Lehenaff, D., Brisswalter, J., Smith, D., Millet, G., et al. (2001). Effect of two drafting modalities in cycling on running performance. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 33, 485–492. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200103000-00023

Heil, D. P. (2005). Body size as a determinant of the 1-h cycling record at sea level and altitude. *Euro. J. Appl. Physiol.* 93, 547–554. doi: 10.1007/s00421-004-1256-5

Hill, A. V. (1928). The air resistance to a runner. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 102, 380-385. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1928.0012

Hoogkamer, W., Kipp, S., Frank, J. H., Farina, E. M., Luo, G., and Kram, R. (2018). A comparison of the energetic cost of running in marathon racing shoes. *Sports Med.* 48, 1009–1019. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0811-2

Hoogkamer, W., Kipp, S., and Kram, R. (2019). The biomechanics of competitive male runners in three marathon racing shoes?: A randomized crossover study. *Sports Med.* 49, 133–143. doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-1024-z

Hoogkamer, W., Kipp, S., Spiering, B. A., and Kram, R. (2016). Altered running economy directly translates to altered distance-running performance. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 48, 2175–2180. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001012

Hoogkamer, W., Kram, R., and Arellano, C. J. (2017). How biomechanical improvements in running economy could break the 2-h marathon barrier. *Sports Med.* 47, 1739–1750. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0708-0

Hunter, I., McLeod, A., Valentine, D., Low, T., Ward, J., and Hager, R. (2019). Running economy, mechanics, and marathon racing shoes. *J. Sports Sci.* 37, 2367–2373. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2019.1633837

INEOS 1:59 Challenge. (n.d.) Why Vienne proved to be the outstanding candidate to host the Ineos 1:59 challenge. INEOS 1:59 Challenge. Available online at: https://www.ineos159challenge.com/news/why-vienna-proved-to-be-the-outstanding-candidate-to-host-the-ineos-1-59-challenge/ (accessed January 31, 2022).

Jeukendrup, A. E., and Martin, J. (2001). Improving cycling performance: how should we spend our time and money. *Sports Med.*, 31, 559-569. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131070-00009

Joyner, M. J., Hunter, S. K., Lucia, A., and Jones, A. M. (2020). Physiology and fast marathons. J. Appl. Physiol. 128, 1065–1068. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00793.2019

Joyner, M. J., Ruiz, J. R., and Lucia, A. (2011). The two-hour marathon: who and when? J. Appl. Physiol. 110, 275–277. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00563.2010

Kjendlie, P.-L., Pedersen, T., and Stallman, R. (2018). The effect of waves on the performance of five different swimming strokes. *Open Sports Sci. J.* 11, 41–49. doi: 10.2174/1875399X01811010041

Knechtle, B., Di Gangi, S., Rüst, C. A., Villiger, E., Rosemann, T., and Nikolaidis, P. T. (2019). The role of weather conditions on running performance in the Boston Marathon from 1972 to 2018. *PLOS ONE*, 14, e0212797. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212797

Kubo, K., Tabata, T., Ikebukuro, T., Igarashi, K., and Tsunoda, N. (2010). A longitudinal assessment of running economy and tendon properties in long-distance runners. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 24, 1724–1731. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181ddf847

Kyröläinen, H., Pullinen, T., Candau, R., Avela, J., Huttunen, P., and Komi, P. V. (2000). Effects of marathon running on running economy and kinematics. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 82, 297–304. doi: 10.1007/s004210000219

Lacour, J.-R., and Bourdin, M. (2015). Factors affecting the energy cost of level running at submaximal speed. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 115, 651–673. doi: 10.1007/s00421-015-3115-y

Lepers, R. (2008). Analysis of Hawaii Ironman Performances in Elite Triathletes from 1981 to 2007. *Med. Scien. Sports Exer.* 40, 1828–1834. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31817e91a4

Lepers, R., Hausswirth, C., Maffiuletti, N., Brisswalter, J., and Van Hoecke, J. (2000). Evidence of neuromuscular fatigue after prolonged cycling exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 32, 1880–1886. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200011000-00010

Levine, B. D., Stray-Gundersen, J., and Mehta, R. D. (2008). Effect of altitude on football performance? Football at altitude. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports.* 18, 76–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2008.00835.x

Longman, D. P., Murray, A., Roberts, R., Oakley, S., Wells, J. C. K., and Stock, J. T. (2021). Energetics as a driver of human morphological thermal adaptation; evidence from female ultra-endurance athletes. *Evol. Hum. Sci.* 3, e22. doi: 10.1017/ehs.2021.17

Lukes, R. A., Chin, S. B., and Haake, S. J. (2005). The understanding and development of cycling aerodynamics. *Sports.* 8, 59–74. doi: 10.1007/BF02844004

Martin, J. C., Milliken, D. L., Cobb, J. E., McFadden, K. L., and Coggan, A. R. (1998). Validation of a mathematical model for road cycling power. J. Appl. Biomech. 14, 276–291. doi: 10.1123/jab.14.3.276

Mclean, S. P., and Hinrichs, R. N. (1998). Sex differences in the centre of buoyancy location of competitive swimmers. J. Sports Sci. 16, 373-383. doi: 10.1080/02640419808559365

Millet, G. P., Bentley, D. J., and Vleck, V. E. (2007). The relationships between science and sport?: application in triathlon. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perf.* 2, 315–322. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2.3.315

Muniz-Pardos, B., Sutehall, S., Angeloudis, K., Guppy, F. M., Bosch, A., and Pitsiladis, Y. (2021). Recent Improvements in marathon run times are likely technological, not physiological. *Sports Med.* 51, 371–378. doi: 10.1007/s40279-020-01420-7

Nigg, B. M., Cigoja, S., and Nigg, S. R. (2020). Effects of running shoe construction on performance in long distance running. *Footwear Sci.* 12, 133–138. doi: 10.1080/19424280.2020.1778799

Padilla, S., Mujika, I., Orba??Anos, J., and Angulo, F. (2000). Exercise intensity during competition time trials in professional road cycling. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 32, 850–856. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200004000-00019

Peeling, P., and Landers, G. (2009). Swimming intensity during triathlon: a review of current research and strategies to enhance race performance. J. Sports Sci. 27, 1079–1085. doi: 10.1080/02640410903081878

Place, N., Lepers, R., Deley, G., and Millet, G. Y. (2004). Time course of neuromuscular alterations during a prolonged running exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 36, 1347–1356. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000135786. 22996.77

Polidori, G., Legrand, F., Bogard, F., Madaci, F., and Beaumont, F. (2020). Numerical investigation of the impact of Kenenisa Bekele's cooperative drafting strategy on its running power during the 2019 Berlin marathon. *J. Biomech.* 107, 109854. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2020. 109854

Pugh, L. G. C. E. (1970). Oxygen intake in track and treadmill running with observations on the effect of air resistance. *J. Physiol.* 207, 823–835. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009097

Pugh, L. G. C. E. (1971). The influence of wind resistance in running and walking and the mechanical efficiency of work against horizontal or vertical forces. *J. Physiol.* 213, 255–276. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1971.sp009381

Sailfish. Jan Sibbersen Founder, Owner and CEO of Sailfish. Sailfish. (n.d.). Available online at: https://www.sailfish.com/en/about-sailfish/our-founder/ (accessed January 31, 2022).

Saunders, P. U., Telford, R. D., Pyne, D. B., Cunningham, R. B., Gore, C. J., Hahn, A. G., et al. (2004). Improved running economy in elite runners after 20 days of simulated moderate-altitude exposure. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 96, 931–937. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00725.2003

Schickhofer, L., and Hanson, H. (2021). Aerodynamic effects and performance improvements of running in drafting formations. *J. Biomech.* 122, 110457. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2021.110457

Shirasaki, K., Yamanobe, K., Akashi, K., and Takashima, W. (2017). Variation of the drafting effect on the trailing rider for different numbers of riders in a cycling group. *Part P. J. Sports Eng. Tech.* doi: 10.1177/1754337117736617

Snyder, K. L., Hoogkamer, W., Triska, C., Taboga, P., Arellano, C. J., and Kram, R. (2021). Effects of course design (curves and elevation undulations) on marathon running performance?: A comparison of Breaking 2 in Monza and the INEOS 1:59 Challenge in Vienna. *J. Sports Sci.* 39, 754–759. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2020.1843820

Sousa, C., Barbosa, L., Sales, M., Santos, P., Tiozzo, E., Simões, H., et al. (2019). Cycling as the best sub-8-hour performance predictor in full distance triathlon. *Sports* 7, 24. doi: 10.3390/sports7010024

Suping, Z., Guanglin, M., Yanwen, W., and Ji, L. (1992). Study of the relationships between weather conditions and the marathon race, and of meteorotropic effects on distance runners. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 36, 63–68. doi: 10.1007/BF01208915

Taboga, P., and Kram, R. (2019). Modelling the effect of curves on distance running performance. *Peer J.* 7, e8222. doi: 10.7717/peerj.8222

Tomikawa, M., Shimoyama, Y., and Nomura, T. (2008). Factors related to the advantageous effects of wearing a wetsuit during swimming at different submaximal velocity in triathletes. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* 11, 417–423. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2007.02.005

Trirating (2018) *Trying to predict Ironman times from 70.3 ratings.* Trirating. Available online at: https://www.trirating.com/trying-to-predict-ironman-times-from-70-3-ratings/ (accessed January 31, 2022).

Trirating. (2022). Ironman-Distance Records. *Trirating*. Available online at: https://www.trirating.com/ironman-distance-records/ (accessed January 31, 2022).

Tung, K. D., Franz, J. R., and Kram, R. (2014). A test of the metabolic cost of cushioning hypothesis during unshod and shod running. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 46, 324–329. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182a63b81

UCI. (2021). Alex Dowsett Makes New Attempt on UCI Hour Record Timed by Tissot. UCI. Available online at: https://www.uci.org/pressrelease/ alex-dowsett-makes-new-attempt-on-uci-hour-record-timed-by-tissot/ 6nA5r4yxTlJp9yVM9c67Nj (accessed January 31, 2022).

Weather-Atlas. (n.d). January Weather Forecast and Climate in Manama, Bahrain. Available online at: https://www.weather-atlas.com/en/bahrain/manama-weather-january#climate_text_1 (accessed January 31, 2022).

Worobets, J., Wannop, J. W., Tomaras, E., and Stefanyshyn, D. (2014). Softer and more resilient running shoe cushioning properties enhance running economy. *Footwear Sci.* 6, 147–153. doi: 10.1080/19424280.2014.918184

Zamparo, P., Bonifazi, M., Faina, M., Milan, A., Sardella, F., Schena, F., et al. (2005). Energy cost of swimming of elite long-distance swimmers. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 94, 697–704. doi: 10.1007/s00421-005-1337-0

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Paul S. R. Goods, Murdoch University, Australia

REVIEWED BY Jon Radcliffe, Leeds Trinity University, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Marco Beato m.beato@uos.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 29 June 2022 ACCEPTED 19 August 2022 PUBLISHED 08 September 2022

CITATION

Beato M (2022) Recommendations for the design of randomized controlled trials in strength and conditioning. Common design and data interpretation. *Front. Sports Act. Living* 4:981836. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.981836

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Beato. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Recommendations for the design of randomized controlled trials in strength and conditioning. Common design and data interpretation

Marco Beato*

School of Health and Sports Sciences, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom

KEYWORDS

statistics, randomization, strength training and conditioning, sport, trials, error, evidence

Introduction

A central aim of strength and conditioning (S&C) coaches is to improve their athletes' performance with exercise prescription (The team physician strength conditioning of athletes for sports: a consensus statement, 2015). Coaches select specific exercises because they have previously had positive experiences with such exercises and because of existing scientific evidence supporting the validity and efficacy of those exercises (Murad et al., 2016; Wackerhage and Schoenfeld, 2021). Research in S&C has drastically increased over the last 20 years, leading to many modern-day practitioners basing their exercise prescription on the most advanced and updated scientific evidence. Therefore, research in S&C plays a key role in the design, implementation, and variation of training protocols (Beato et al., 2021). Sports practitioners, as seen in the field of medicine, have embraced the use of evidence-based practice to improve the likelihood of success (achieving their planned aims) of their training prospection (Wackerhage and Schoenfeld, 2021). However, sport science is plagued by popular beliefs, myths and poor-quality evidence (Gabbett and Blanch, 2019). There are many reasons why the quality of articles is sometimes low, for example, the authors' knowledge of research methods or statistics is inadequate (Cleather et al., 2021; Sainani et al., 2021), the resources invested in the research are limited, or the research was carried out in a hurry, which could be related to many reasons, for instance, several studies are performed by students who have limited time and experience when performing data recording (Abt et al., 2022). Consequently, a key question remains: what should we do to improve current scientific evidence and limit the spread of new low-quality evidence? While it is assumed that not all published articles are of high quality and that in some cases there may be errors (Sainani et al., 2021), this should not be common (Smith, 2006). Consequently, the objective of this article is to make some recommendations in the field of research design, specifically, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and data interpretation, with the aim of improving the robustness of future S&C research (e.g., training, performance, injury prevention) and avoiding the replication of common mistakes.

10.3389/fspor.2022.981836

Evidence pyramid

S&C prescription should be based on the most relevant and updated scientific evidence, as reported above, following where possible an evidence-based approach (Murad et al., 2016; Wackerhage and Schoenfeld, 2021). Researchers and practitioners who design training protocols should be aware of the evidence pyramid (Murad et al., 2016), where evidence is categorized based on robustness (derived from study type). At the bottom of the pyramid, we find experts' opinions and case reports, while at the top we find meta-analyses and systematic reviews, followed by (a level lower) RCTs. Practitioners should design their training protocols using the evidence on the top of this pyramid and if such evidence is missing, they can use the less robust articles up to the last level. If there is no solid evidence, expert opinions can be useful. However, such opinions should be considered for what they are and should not be assumed as true - in particular when they are based on unpublished data or on exclusively personal arguments. Despite this, researchers and coaches should work together to verify the validity and effectiveness of strategies that coaches are already using based on their experience gained with athletes.

In the field of S&C, which is the main focus of this article, we are well aware that some of the most common limitations are the length of interventions (frequently too short) (Rothwell, 2006), a low number of participants enrolled (the calculation of the sample power is also frequently missing), and the lack of a control group in the study design (Moher et al., 2001). With such limitations in mind, the effect of the intervention is often influenced by other factors not associated with the protocol that can undermine the evidence's robustness. Therefore, it is important that researchers avoid these errors and increase the robustness of their intervention studies [also embracing open-science (Calin-Jageman and Cumming, 2019)] to provide stronger evidence to practitioners, who can apply such evidence later in their daily practice.

Recommendations for the design of RCTs

There is the need for more robust evidence and the design of RCTs (following CONSORT guidelines) (Moher et al., 2001) should be a priority for researchers in the S&C field in order to verify training interventions. Researchers and practitioners can find some recommendations for the design of RCTs in the following lines (see Table 1).

Conducting all four phases of RCTs

To enhance our research design knowledge, researchers in S&C could learn something from clinical medicine

(Atkinson et al., 2008). Clinical trials are classified into phases based on the objectives of the trial. Phase 1 trials are the first studies that verify the effect of an intervention and are usually carried out involving small samples (e.g., larger single-group or controlled study) (Evans, 2010), phase 2 trials involve a larger sample (e.g., RCTs) and aim to understand, for instance, the efficacy of an intervention vs. a control or the dose-response relationship, phase 3 trials should aim to confirm the efficacy of an intervention using a larger sample (e.g., collaboration between research groups), while phase 4 trials are "confirmatory or registration" trials (Atkinson et al., 2008; Evans, 2010). If we try to transfer what has just been said to S&C, despite the differences between medicine/clinic and sport, we can understand that the size of the selected sample of a trial (and phase) should be based on the existing level of knowledge on the subject. Therefore, if a new training method is to be studied, small sample sizes may be adequate, but if this training method has already been proven effective, it would not be adequate to continue to carry out small studies, instead future trials should involve large samples (e.g., evaluating dose-response relationship).

Sport scientists could consider the design of a framework of this type in the future; however, it is not suggested here that sport scientists must label their trials in phases. Instead, this study recommended to design small-sample studies when weak evidence exists (subsequently, these studies can be combined in a meta-analysis), but to avoid designing many of them where some robust evidence already exists and to increase the sample size of their studies to answer different research questions, for instance, confirm the efficacy of an intervention with a lower training dose or compare different interventions (e.g., superiority trials).

Practitioners and researchers should also be aware of practical problems associated with the design of RCTs. RCTs are sometimes impractical in sport research for various reasons such as not enough athletes in the elite team to split into two groups, unwillingness of the coach to have a parallel control group, and logistical difficulties with having two kinds of training. In this case, other designs (e.g., repeated-measures) aimed at overcoming these problems can be a valid alternative (Vandenbogaerde et al., 2012), although they have a lower position (therefore robustness) in the evidence pyramid.

Randomization

RCTs are studies that aim to verify a research hypothesis in which a number of participants (e.g., athletes) are randomly assigned to some groups that correspond to some specific training protocols. A simple example of an RCT could be the comparison between an innovative resistance training method vs. a control group or an active control based on the existing knowledge (current best-practice treatment as control). To successfully verify that this innovative

Evidence pyramid Recommendations for the Errors and sample size Other considerations design of RCTs The central aim of S&C coaches is to Following CONSORT guidelines and Type I error: a training method is found A common statistical error is the improve their athletes' performance learn from clinical medicine (see phases effective when it is actually ineffective use of within-group comparisons with exercise prescription. S&C of RCTs). (false positive). instead of between-group prescription should be based on the Sport science practitioners should Type II error: a training method is comparisons to determine most relevant and updated scientific design small-sample studies when weak found ineffective when it is actually longitudinal differences between evidence exists, but to avoid designing effective (false negative). interventions. The experimental evidence following where possible an evidence-based approach. many of them where some robust and control groups must be evidence already exists and to increase directly compared. the sample size of their studies to answer different research questions. Researchers need to control for bias and Evidence pyramid categorized evidence Inadequate sample size: small samples, This paper uses null hypothesis significance testing for assessing based on robustness. At the top of the confounding factors. Researchers and first, increase the chance of making a pyramid, we find meta-analyses and practitioners can use different types of type II error, second such underpowered differences between interventions, systematic reviews, followed by (a level randomization such as simple, block, studies could struggle to find difference but significance testing/p-values lower) RCTs, while at the bottom we stratified, unequal randomization, and between interventions (or a control answer a very narrow question and should never be the sole focus. find experts' opinions and case reports. covariate adaptive randomization. group) spreading wrong evidence, third they could be a waste of time and money for researchers and athletes Practitioners should design their Practitioners should be aware of the Practitioners should be aware that the P-values are often used training protocols using the evidence on differences that exist between designs sample size matters, and adequately dichotomously (yes or no the top of this pyramid and if such such as RCTs, superiority and powered studies should be prioritized decision-making process). evidence is missing, they can use the less non-inferiority trials, and they should because they offer more robust Researchers also need to consider the effect sizes and CIs. robust articles up to the last level. select the most adequate research design evidence. Practitioners could use based on the existing evidence reported G*Power to calculate the statistical in the literature power of their studies (Figure 1). Common limitations in the field of S&C Control group: Researchers can involve CIs are related to the selection of the CIs provide critical information are the length of interventions (too alpha value, CIs = (1 - alpha)a traditional control group beyond statistical significance such short), a low number of participants (no-intervention group), or they can value)*100%. Therefore, an alpha value as they provide a plausible range of enrolled, and the lack of a control group compare the effect of a new intervention of 5% corresponds to a 95% CIs. Using values for the true effect and reveal in the study design. vs. active control, specifically, an 90% CIs is possible, but this decision the precision of the estimate. intervention which has been proven to should be justified because using it increases the risk of Type I error. be effective (e.g., current best-practice treatment).

TABLE 1 Summary of the recommendations for the design of randomized controlled trials and data interpretation in strength and conditioning.

RCTs, Randomized controlled trials; S&C, Strength and conditioning; CONSORT, Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials; CIs, Confidence intervals.

resistance training method is effective (alternative hypothesis) (Calin-Jageman and Cumming, 2019), researchers need to control for bias and confounding factors (Evans, 2010). Randomization is a way to control for such factors, therefore, the participants of the groups should be randomly allocated into these groups and not arbitrarily selected by the researchers (or coaches). In such a case, we should speak about a non-randomized controlled trial, which is a different study design with lower robustness (Sedgwick, 2014). Researchers and practitioners can use different types of randomization such as simple, block, stratified, unequal randomization (a smaller randomization ratio such as a ratio of 2:1), and covariate adaptive randomization (Suresh, 2011).

Control group and active control

A key step for the robustness of an RCT is the selection of a control group. A control group, in particular for phase 1 and 2 studies, should avoid performing any relevant training protocol which could affect the validity of the trial. It is clear that if researchers do not know the efficacy of a new training method, they need to verify its effect vs. a control group. When some RCTs with these characteristics have been successfully performed, researchers could state that this new method is effective (if enough RCTs are available, a metaanalysis could be performed) (Liberati et al., 2009). In sport and medicine there is an alternative to RCTs using a no-intervention control group, that is a trial that involves an active control. This situation is very frequent in sport because many training methods are known to be effective, therefore designing trials with a no-intervention group (as control) that involve athletes is sometimes impractical or considered unethical. In this case, the researchers do not involve a no-intervention group, but they compare the effect of a new intervention vs. an intervention which has been proven to be effective (e.g., current best-practice treatment). In clinic, this approach is used when a standard of care treatment already exists, therefore the new treatment should be tested against it and, for example, proven to be superior (i.e., superiority trials or non-inferiority trials) (Schiller et al., 2012).

Considering what was reported above, researchers in S&C should be aware of the differences that exist between trials of different phases and between designs such as RCTs, superiority and non-inferiority trials, and they should select the most adequate research design (to answer their research question) based on the existing evidence reported in the literature.

Common mistakes that we can find in RCTs

Some of the common mistakes that can be found in RCTs are: the selection of inadequate sample size, the use of an inadequate alpha level, the use of flawed statistical methods, and the wrong interpretation of the results of the study.

Inadequate sample size

The use of inadequate sample size is a limitation that has been reported in several methodological papers and it should not surprise anyone with research experience (Sainani and Chamari, 2022), however, the design of underpowered studies is still very common in S&C (Beck, 2013). Researchers and practitioners should be aware that small samples, first, increase the chance of making a type II error, which means that a training method is found ineffective when it is actually effective (false negative) (Evans, 2010), second such underpowered studies could struggle to find difference between interventions (or a control group) spreading wrong evidence, third they could be a waste of time and money for researchers and athletes (Atkinson and Nevill, 2001a). Therefore, practitioners and researchers should be aware that the sample size matters, and adequately powered studies should be prioritized because they offer more robust evidence. Researchers and practitioners could use G*Power (which is a free-to-use software) to calculate the statistical power of their studies (as reported in the example in Figure 1). Further

information about G*Power can be found here: https://www. psychologie.hhu.de/arbeitsgruppen/allgemeine-psychologieund-arbeitspsychologie/gpower.

Type I error and confidence intervals

Type II error is an issue; however, it is more "dangerous" to design intervention studies using an unsuitable alpha level, which can lead to the claim that an intervention is effective when it is not (false positive) (Evans, 2010). In S&C as well as in clinic (or medicine) the most common alpha level is 5% (p = 0.05) (Peterson and Foley, 2021). CIs are related to the selection of the alpha value, CIs = [1 - alpha value]*100% (Chow and Zheng, 2019), therefore an alpha value of 5% corresponds to a 95% CIs. Researchers in S&C should be well-aware of the differences of using either 95% CIs or 90% CIs because the type I error would be affected. Previous researchers reported that it is unethical to use lower alpha (or a one-tailed test) just to show that a difference is significant, and therefore the decision on the use of 90% CIs should be justified (in advance, e.g., preregistration) (Atkinson and Nevill, 2001b). It is important to clarify that researchers can use the alpha level they considered more suitable for their research if this is properly justified but they should not use 90% CIs as default (it increases risk of false positive). A clear example of this issue is reported by Diong (2019) in a letter to the editor related to the paper published by Pamboris et al. (2019), where is reported that the use of a 90% CIs are more likely to report an effect that does not exist (type I error). A final consideration concerns the use of a one-tailed test, which has more probability to find a difference between the groups (e.g., intervention vs. control), but this test should be used if the researchers want to determine if there is a significant difference in one direction, while there is no interest in verifying if a difference in the other direction exists.

Data interpretation and statistical methods

Another important issue is the use of flawed statistical methods; one example in sport science is the use of magnitude-based inference (or magnitude-based decision analyses), which is a controversial statistical approach that has never been adopted by the statistical community (Sainani, 2018; Sainani et al., 2019). Although this approach has been used in hundreds of papers in sport science, it has been repeatedly been demonstrated as unsound and it should not be used in S&C (or sport science) research (Sainani, 2018; Lohse et al., 2020). Magnitude-based inference reduces the type II error rate (false negative) but with the tradeoff is a much higher type I error rate (Sainani, 2018). This method has also been labeled as Bayesian,



but it is not universally accepted to actually be Bayesian (Welsh and Knight, 2015).

This paper uses null hypothesis significance testing for assessing differences between interventions; however, significance testing/ *p*-values answer a very narrow question, *p*-values are often used dichotomously (yes or no decisionmaking process, e.g., p = 0.049 or p = 0.051, respectively) (Betensky, 2019), therefore, they should never be the sole focus; researchers also need to consider the effect sizes and CIs.

Between-group and within-group comparisons

Another common statistical error is the use of within-group comparisons instead of between-group comparisons to determine longitudinal differences between interventions. Many researchers (or practitioners) conclude that an intervention is successful if there is a significant within-group difference in the experimental group but not in the control group or if the effect size of the experimental group is larger than the effect size of the control group. However, this is not the correct comparison (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2011)-the experimental and control groups must be directly compared, for instance with ANOVA or ANCOVA.

Interpretation of the results based on confidence intervals—when it does cross zero

It is common to find papers that use CIs to make decisions but interpret them incorrectly. Since there is a one-to-onecorrespondence between CIs and *p*-values (as explained above), this means that if the CI about a between-group mean difference (e.g., in an RCT) does not cross zero, there is a statistically significant difference between the intervention and the control group, while if the CI does cross zero, it means that there is no significant difference between groups at the specific alpha value selected (e.g., 5% that corresponds to 95% CIs). However, there are still cases where researchers wrongly interpret CIs (Diong, 2019; Mansournia and Altman, 2019). For instance, in this paper (Pamboris et al., 2019), some CIs of between-condition comparisons crossed zero, meaning that there is not a statistically significant difference between conditions, yet the authors still claimed to find a difference (as subsequently explained in this letter, Diong, 2019). Importantly, CIs provide critical information beyond statistical significance such as they provide a plausible range of values for the true effect and reveal the precision of the estimate (Sainani, 2011).

Conclusion

This paper aimed to make some recommendations in the field of research design and data interpretation with the aim of improving the robustness of future S&C research and avoiding the replication of common mistakes that can be found in the sports literature. Much can be learned from the clinical field therefore practitioners, coaches and researchers should be encouraged to adopt research methods coming from such research area when they design RCTs. In S&C there is the need for more robust RCTs which should have longer duration, greater number of participants enrolled, and the right type of control group (no-intervention control or active control) based on the existing knowledge. Finally, researchers should be aware of some common mistakes that should be avoided such as the selection of a sample of inadequate dimension (type II errors) or inadequate alpha levels (risk of type I), the use of flawed statistical methods, and the incorrect selection of a statistical test or the wrong interpretation of CIs of their study.

References

Abt, G., Jobson, S., Morin, J.-B., Passfield, L., Sampaio, J., Sunderland, C., et al. (2022). Raising the bar in sports performance research. *J. Sports Sci.* 40, 125–129. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2021.2024334

Atkinson, G., Batterham, A., and Drust, B. (2008). Is it time for sports performance researchers to adopt a clinical-type research framework? *Int. J. Sports Med.* 29, 703–705. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1038545

Atkinson, G., and Nevill, A. M. (2001a). Selected issues in the design and analysis of sport performance research. J. Sports Sci. 19, 811–827. doi: 10.1080/026404101317015447

Atkinson, G., and Nevill, A. M. (2001b). Selected issues in the design and analysis of sport performance research. J. Sports Sci. 19, 811–827.

Beato, M., Maroto-Izquierdo, S., Turner, A. N., and Bishop, C. (2021). Implementing strength training strategies for injury prevention in soccer: scientific rationale and methodological recommendations. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 16, 456–461. doi: 10.1123/jispp.2020-0862

Beck, T. W. (2013). The importance of a priori sample size estimation in strength and conditioning research. J. Strength Cond. Res. 27, 2323–2337. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e318278eea0

Betensky, R. A. (2019). The p -value requires context, not a threshold. *Am. Stat.* 73, 115–117. doi: 10.1080/00031305.2018.1529624

Calin-Jageman, R. J., and Cumming, G. (2019). The new statistics for better science: ask how much, how uncertain, and what else is known. *Am. Stat.* 73, 271–280. doi: 10.1080/00031305.2018.1518266

Chow, S.-C., and Zheng, J. (2019). The use of 95% CI or 90% CI for drug product development — a controversial issue? J. Biopharm. Stat. 29, 834–844. doi: 10.1080/10543406.2019.1657141

Cleather, D. J., Hopkins, W., Drinkwater, E. J., Stastny, P., and Aisbett, J. (2021). Improving collaboration between statisticians and sports scientists. *Br. J. Sports Med.* Available online at: https://bjsm.bmj.com/content/improving-collaboration-between-statisticians-and-sports-scientists

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Kristin Sainani from Stanford University (USA) for her advice on this article.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Diong, J. (2019). Confidence intervals that cross zero must be interpreted correctly. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 476–477. doi: 10.1111/sms.13352

Evans, S. R. (2010). Fundamentals of clinical trial design. J. Exp. Stroke Transl. Med. 3, 19–27. doi: 10.6030/1939-067X-3.1.19

Gabbett, T. J., and Blanch, P. (2019). Research, urban myths and the never ending story. Br. J. Sports Med. 53, 592–593. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-098439

Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gotzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P. A., et al. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ* 339, b2700–b2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700

Lohse, K. R., Sainani, K. L., Taylor, J. A., Butson, M. L., Knight, E. J., and Vickers, A. J. (2020). Systematic review of the use of "magnitude-based inference" in sports science and medicine. *PLoS ONE* 15, e0235318. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.023 5318

Mansournia, M. A., and Altman, D. G. (2019). Some methodological issues in the design and analysis of cluster randomised trials. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 573–575. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099628

Moher, D., Schulz, K. F., and Altman, D. G. (2001). The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomized trials. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 134, 657–662. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-134-8-200104170-00011

Murad, M. H., Asi, N., Alsawas, M., and Alahdab, F. (2016). New evidence pyramid. *Evid. Based Med.* 21, 125–127. doi: 10.1136/ebmed-2016-110401

Nieuwenhuis, S., Forstmann, B. U., and Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2011). Erroneous analyses of interactions in neuroscience: a problem of significance. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1105–1107. doi: 10.1038/nn.2886

Pamboris, G. M., Noorkoiv, M., Baltzopoulos, V., and Mohagheghi, A. A. (2019). Dynamic stretching is not detrimental to neuromechanical and sensorimotor performance of ankle plantarflexors. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 200–212. doi: 10.1111/sms.13321 Peterson, S. J., and Foley, S. (2021). Clinician's guide to understanding effect size, alpha level, power, and sample size. *Nutr. Clin. Pract.* 36, 598-605. doi: 10.1002/ncp.10674

Rothwell, P. M. (2006). Factors that can affect the external validity of randomised controlled trials. *PLoS Clin. Trials* 1, e9. doi: 10.1371/journal.pctr.0010009

Sainani, K., and Chamari, K. (2022). Wish list for improving the quality of statistics in sport science. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 17, 673–674. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2022-0023

Sainani, K. L. (2011). A closer look at confidence intervals. *PM R* 3, 1134–1141. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2011.10.005

Sainani, K. L. (2018). The problem with "magnitude-based inference." Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 50, 2166–2176. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001645

Sainani, K. L., Borg, D. N., Caldwell, A. R., Butson, M. L., Tenan, M. S., Vickers, A. J., et al. (2021). Call to increase statistical collaboration in sports science, sport and exercise medicine and sports physiotherapy. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 55, 118–122. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102607

Sainani, K. L., Lohse, K. R., Jones, P. R., and Vickers, A. (2019). Magnitude-Based Inference is not Bayesian and is not a valid method of inference. *Scand J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 1428–1436. doi: 10.1111/sms.13491

Schiller, P., Burchardi, N., Niestroj, M., and Kieser, M. (2012). Quality of reporting of clinical non-inferiority and equivalence randomised

trials - update and extension. *Trials* 13, 214. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-1 3-214

Sedgwick, P. (2014). What is a non-randomised controlled trial? *BMJ* 348, g4115–g4115. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g4115

Smith, R. (2006). Peer review: a flawed process at the heart of science and journals. J. R. Soc. Med. 99, 178–182. doi: 10.1177/0141076806099 00414

Suresh, K. (2011). An overview of randomization techniques: an unbiased assessment of outcome in clinical research. J. Hum. Reprod. Sci. 4, 8. doi: 10.4103/0974-1208.82352

The team physician and strength and conditioning of athletes for sports: a consensus statement. (2015). *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 47, 440–445. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000583

Vandenbogaerde, T. J., Hopkins, W. G., and Pyne, D. B. (2012). A competitionbased design to assess performance of a squad of elite athletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 44, 2423–2427. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318267c029

Wackerhage, H., and Schoenfeld, B. J. (2021). Personalized, evidence-informed training plans and exercise prescriptions for performance, fitness and health. *Sports Med.* 51, 1805–1813. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01495-w

Welsh, A. H., and Knight, E. J. (2015). "Magnitude-based inference": a statistical review. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 47, 874–884. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000451

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Chris J. Bishop, Middlesex University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY

Justin Keogh, Bond University, Australia Laura Wilson, Middlesex University, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Callum J. McCaskie c.mccaskie@ecu.edu.au

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 08 June 2022 ACCEPTED 11 October 2022 PUBLISHED 26 October 2022

CITATION

McCaskie CJ, Sim M, Newton RU, Heasman J, Rogalski B and Hart NH (2022) Pre-season body composition has minimal influence on in-season match availability, and match performance in female Australian Football League (AFLW) players. *Front. Sports Act. Living* 4:963946. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.963946

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 McCaskie, Sim, Newton, Heasman, Rogalski and Hart. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pre-season body composition has minimal influence on in-season match availability, and match performance in female Australian Football League (AFLW) players

Callum J. McCaskie^{1,2*}, Marc Sim^{1,3}, Robert U. Newton^{1,4}, Jarryd Heasman², Brent Rogalski² and Nicolas H. Hart^{1,5,6,7}

¹School of Medical and Health Sciences, Edith Cowan University, Joondalup, WA, Australia, ²West Coast Eagles Football Club, Perth, WA, Australia, ³School of Human Sciences, University of Western Australia, Perth, WA, Australia, ⁴Centre for Clinical Research, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ⁵Institute for Health Research, University of Notre Dame Australia, Fremantle, WA, Australia, ⁶Faculty of Health, School of Nursing, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ⁷Caring Futures Institute, College of Nursing and Health Sciences, Flinders University, Adelaide, SA, Australia

This study examined the relationship between pre-season body composition, in-season match performance, and match availability in female players competing in the Australian Football League Women's (AFLW) competition. With the outlawing of body composition assessments as part of pre-draft player evaluations in the AFLW, this study seeks to examine whether this is justified. Twenty-two (n = 22) players had body composition assessed with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry at the beginning of the 2021 AFLW pre-season (whole-body and regional fat mass and lean soft-tissue mass [LSTM]). In-season match availability and match performance data (Coaches Score [CS], Champion Data Player Rank, average disposals, disposal and kicking efficiency) were collected throughout the 2021 competition. Pearson correlations were performed to assess if associations existed between body composition and in-season match performance and availability. A median split was performed to divide players into higher and lower performing groups for match performance variables. Two-sample independent t-tests were then used to assess differences between groups. No body composition characteristics could differentiate between in-season match availability groups (100% availability vs. <100% availability) or higher and lower performing groups for all match performance variables. Total leg LSTM asymmetry shared a moderate negative association with CS. Body composition may not be important for determining in-season match availability and performance in female AFLW players. Thus, the repercussions following the removal of pre-draft body composition assessments across the league may not be as significant as is currently perceived. Other physiological, biomechanical, or performance qualities are more variable and may mask the effect of body composition in these players. AFLW practitioners should prioritize the development of other important attributes, such as aerobic fitness, muscular strength and power, and technical skill.

KEYWORDS

anthropometric, injury, prevention, physiology, symmetry, muscle, skinfolds, testing

Introduction

The elite Australian Football (AF) league for females was established in 2017 (Australian Football League Women's [AFLW]) with eight teams competing. However, over the last few years, the league has rapidly expanded, and now features 18 teams. Running demands in the AFLW have been documented over the last several years (1, 2) with similar relative running intensities (distance/minute) observed with the AFL (3, 4). However, AFLW has been observed to be a tighter, more crowded game, with a greater number of tackles, errors and contested possessions observed per minute of match play compared with the AFL (5). This may help explain the differences in injury epidemiology between the two competitions with AFLW players seven times more likely to sustain an ACL injury than AFL players (6, 7) and AFLW players experiencing a greater proportion of contact injuries (8, 9). Conversely, the incidence of hamstring injuries in AFLW players are only a quarter of that of AFL players which may be due to the lower quantity of high-speed running that AFLW players undertake (2, 3). Thus, it could be suggested that the elite women's game requires different technical and physical attributes than the elite men's game.

Mitigating injury, increasing player availability, and maximizing physical performance throughout a competitive season is a key responsibility of high-performance staff. Whilst body composition characteristics have been linked with injury and physical performance in AFL players previously (10), no such association has been established with elite female AF players. Large differences in body composition characteristics have been observed between elite male and female AF players (11) which is likely due to differences in sex hormones (12), vast differences in physical match demands (4) and increased reliance on fats as an energy fuel source in females (13). Additionally, large variations in body composition characteristics have been observed for female AF players across the developmental pathway (14). Specific body composition characteristics are considered vital for physical performance as muscle mass contributes to force production, and fat mass (FM) is known to hinder thermoregulation and general locomotion (15). However, higher levels of FM may be advantageous in some sports, such as those with high in-game congestion, where contacts and collisions are a regular occurrence and total body weight is less problematic, such as the rugby codes (rugby union and rugby league).

Recently however, the AFL announced that body composition testing (via skinfolds) will be removed from all future pre-draft assessments across the elite men's and women's competitions (AFL and AFLW) (16). While this has been mandated by the AFL organization to reduce the psychological stigma and possible ramifications surrounding perceived body image (16), many clubs have expressed disappointment about the inaccessibility of this information until after a player has been drafted and signed despite its clear implications toward physical preparedness. Subsequently, greater insight into the importance of body composition data, particularly among female AFLW players, is crucial in understanding whether the removal of these assessments will impact future performance or match availability. Thus, the purpose of this study was to examine whether body composition characteristics were associated with on-field match performance, and in-season match availability in female players competing in the AFLW. We hypothesize that greater muscle mass and body mass will be associated with higher match availability with lower relative fat mass being associated with greater match performance.

Materials and methods

Study design

An observational PROSPECTIVE cohort study was used. Body composition data was obtained at the beginning of preseason for a cohort of elite female AF players in the lead-up to the 2021 AFLW season. Pre-season training lasted for 3 months and consisted of three main training sessions per week of \sim 2 h in duration (resulting in \sim 20 kilometers (km) of total weekly running distance), two full-body resistance training sessions and individual extras (recovery, yoga, Pilates, cross-training). Match availability and match performance data were collected prospectively throughout the 2021 AFLW season. An in-season week consisted of one competitive match on the weekend, two main training sessions (\sim 9–10 km total weekly distance) and two resistance training sessions which prioritized upper body earlier in the week and lower body at the end of the week.

Subjects

Twenty-four elite female AF players (mean \pm SD; age = 25.8 \pm 4.4 years; playing experience = 3.0 \pm 1.5 years; height

= 169.8 \pm 6.7 cm; body mass = 66.0 \pm 6.7 kg) from one AFLW club participated in this study. To be eligible, players needed to be injury-free at the beginning of the competitive season (late January). This ruled two players out of the study who sustained injuries in the pre-season and missed the entire season. These players were subsequently removed from analysis. This left 22 AFLW players in the study (Table 1). Written informed consent was provided by the participating AFL club, outlining the arrangement with players to have their data collected as part of their contractual agreements for use in club operation and research endeavors. Ethics approval was provided by Edith Cowan University's Human Research Ethics Committee (ID: 2020-01055).

Anthropometry

Height and body mass were acquired prior to undertaking the body composition assessments. Stature was recorded to the nearest 0.1 centimeter (cm) using a free-standing stadiometer (Model 217, Seca, Hamburg, Germany) with body mass measured on a calibrated weight scale (Model 22089, Seca, Hamburg, Germany).

Body composition

Body composition was assessed using fan-beam whole-body dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA; Hologic, Horizon A, Danbury, CT, USA). Whole-body scan procedures were followed in accordance with previous work by our research team (17). Players were instructed to avoid any moderate to vigorous exercise in the 24 h prior to their scan, have emptied their bladder and arrive in a euhydrated state. All players wore their club-issued training singlet and shorts with all jewelery and metallic items removed. All whole-body data were reported with the removal of the head (WBLH; whole body less head) to maintain consistency throughout the cohort. The same qualified technician (CJM) conducted all scans and subsequent analyses. The machine was calibrated daily in accordance with manufacturer guidelines. Post-scan analysis involved the adjustment of anatomical lines to separate the various body regions including the arms, torso, and legs. The upper body (UB) was defined as everything above the iliac crest of the pelvis (excluding the head). The lower body (LB) consisted of both legs, from the feet to the femoral neck. Further sub-regions were created for the right thigh, left thigh, right shank, and left shank in accordance with our previous work (18). The coefficient of variation for the operator using the same machine in the same facility was between 0.22 and 5.09% for whole-body (total mass = 0.22%; lean soft-tissue mass (LSTM) = 0.41%; fat mass (FM) = 1.61%) and sub-regional measures (Leg LSTM = 0.95%; Leg FM = 2.36%; Thigh LSTM = 1.02%; Thigh FM = 2.27%; Shank LSTM = 1.73%; Shank FM = 5.09%). WBLH FM and LSTM were obtained along with FM and LSTM for all the sub-regions. In this study, LSTM included all fat-free soft-tissue mass and is used as a surrogate measure for muscle mass.

Match availability

For every game in the 2021 season, the strength and conditioning specialist, physiotherapist and medical doctor collectively, would categorize each player as 'available' or 'unavailable'. A player was deemed available if the coaching group were able to select them, regardless of whether they played in the AFLW or the Western Australian women's state league (WAFLW) for that given week. As there are 30 contracted players on an AFLW list and only 21 players selected to play in the AFLW for a given week, some players may be required to play in the state (reserves) competition. A player was deemed unavailable if they could not be selected to play due to injury, illness, suspension, or personal reasons. No player in this study missed a game due to suspension, illness or personal reasons and were only deemed unavailable through injury.

Match performance

Coaches' score

Coaches' Score (CS) are a subjective measure of match performance. The senior coach, line coaches collectively (forwards coach, midfield coach and backline coach) and the head of women's football would rate each player's performance on a scale of 0-3 (0 = poor performance and limited impact on game; 1 = played role to standard; 2 = played above expectations, good performance; 3 = exceptional performance with high impact on game). Thus, each player could receive a maximum score of 9 in a game if awarded a score of 3 by each party. Players' match performance was not rated in games in which they sustained an injury. The scale used was chosen by the club. CS have been presented as an average score received per game played.

Champion data player rank

Champion Data © Player Rank (CDPR) was used as an independent, and objective measure of match performance and is based on official statistics that players accumulate during a match (Champion Data ©, Melbourne, Australia). CDPR is a value based on an algorithm which considers a wide array of in-game statistics and has been developed to rate player performance and is widely accepted within the AF industry (19). The statistics that are part of the CDPR algorithm are collected in real-time by trained professionals. Slight adjustments may be required by watching a replay of the game in-depth afterwards.

	All player	s(n=22)	<100% avai	lability ($n = 12$)	100% availa	bility $(n = 10)$	
Descriptives							
Age (y)	25.8	\pm 4.4	26	5.5 ± 4.6	24.9 ± 4.2		
Height (cm)	169.8 ± 6.7		171	1.0 ± 6.4	168.	4 ± 7.2	
Body mass (kg)	66.0	± 6.7	65	0.9 ± 7.0	66.1	1 ± 6.8	
Playing experience (y)	3.0 ±	= 1.5	3.	2 ± 1.7	2.8	± 1.4	
In-season match performance and av	ailability						
Average coaches score	1.9 (2.5)	1	.7 (3.4)	1.9	0 (2.0)	
Average champion data player rank	66 ±	= 22	6	2 ± 22	72	± 22	
Average disposals	9.0 ±	= 3.5	7.	8 ± 3.7	10.4	1 ± 2.9	
Kicking efficiency %	47.9 ±	= 12.1	48.	1 ± 10.3	47.8	± 14.4	
Disposal efficiency %	59.0	± 9.0	60	3.3 ± 8.6	57.2	7 ± 9.7	
In-season match availability %	94.4 (22.0)	77.	8 (11.0)*	100	.0 (0.0)	
Body composition characteristics							
	Absolute (kg)	Relative (%)	Absolute (kg)	Relative (%)	Absolute (kg)	Relative (%)	
WBLH LSTM	47.6 ± 4.4	76.2 ± 3.9	47.7 ± 5.17	76.4 ± 3.9	47.5 ± 3.56	75.9 ± 4.2	
WBLH FM	13.0 ± 3.6	20.5 ± 4.2	12.7 ± 3.4	20.3 ± 4.2	13.3 ± 4.0	20.8 ± 4.4	
Kicking leg LSTM	8.9 ± 0.93	71.1 ± 4.5	9.0 ± 1.1	71.8 ± 3.6	8.9 ± 0.74	70.3 ± 5.5	
Kicking leg FM	3.19 ± 0.89	25.1 ± 4.8	3.05 ± 0.67	24.3 ± 4.0	3.35 ± 1.1	26.0 ± 5.7	
Kicking thigh LSTM	$\boldsymbol{6.36 \pm 0.70}$	71.5 ± 4.4	6.44 ± 0.80	72.1 ± 3.5	6.26 ± 0.60	70.7 ± 5.4	
Kicking thigh FM	2.4 ± 0.65	26.0 ± 4.6	2.3 ± 0.58	25.3 ± 3.8	2.4 ± 0.76	26.8 ± 5.6	
Kicking shank LSTM	2.12 ± 0.28	69.7 ± 6.3	2.13 ± 0.35	70.6 ± 6.2	2.11 ± 0.18	68.6 ± 6.6	
Kicking shank FM	0.74 ± 0.27	23.8 ± 6.7	0.68 ± 0.20	22.6 ± 6.6	0.80 ± 0.34	25.1 ± 6.9	
Calculated variables							
LSTM index (kg/m ²)	18.4	± 1.0	18	$.2 \pm 1.1$	18.7	7 ± 0.9	
UB LSTM	30.2 ± 2.7	80.6 ± 4.1	30.1 ± 3.1	80.5 ± 4.6	30.3 ± 2.2	80.7 ± 3.7	
UB FM	6.6 ± 2.1	17.5 ± 4.2	6.7 ± 2.2	17.6 ± 4.7	6.6 ± 2.0	17.4 ± 3.8	
LB LSTM	17.8 ± 1.9	71.1 ± 4.3	17.9 ± 2.2	71.8 ± 3.6	17.6 ± 1.5	70.3 ± 5.1	
LB FM	6.3 ± 1.7	25.0 ± 4.6	6.1 ± 1.3	24.3 ± 3.9	6.6 ± 2.1	25.9 ± 5.3	
UB:LB LSTM	1.70 ±	= 0.08	1.6	9 ± 0.08	1.72	± 0.07	
UB:LB FM	1.05 ±	= 0.16	1.0	8 ± 0.19	1.01	± 0.10	
Total leg LSTM asymmetry %	2.61 ±	= 1.85	2.7	2.75 ± 2.35		2.43 ± 1.10	
Thigh LSTM asymmetry %	2.56 (1.83)	2.1	17 (2.29)	2.63	6 (1.50)	
Shank LSTM asymmetry %	2.67 (2.17)	2.6	51 (2.82)	2.72	2 (1.74)	

TABLE 1 Body composition and match performance (mean ± SD) data of all AFLW players and those within each in-season availability group.

Data is presented as mean \pm SD or Median (IQR) for non-normally distributed variables.

* Significantly (p < 0.002) different from 100% availability group; UB, Upper body; LB, Lower body; WBLH, whole body less head; LSTM, lean soft-tissue mass; FM, fat mass.

CDPR is weighted toward higher accumulated touches, effective use of the ball and gaining possession of the ball in a contested or disputed situation (20). CDPR are presented as an average of ranking points received per game played. CDPR was not used in games in which the player sustained an injury.

Average disposals, disposal efficiency, and kicking efficiency

Average disposals (AD), disposal efficiency (DE) and kicking efficiency (KE) data were retrieved from the official statistic supplier of the AFL (Champion Data ©, Melbourne, Australia).

A disposal is an event whereby a player attempts to pass the ball to a teammate by kicking or handballing or is attempting a shot at goal *via* kicking (21). DE represents the proportion of disposals that each player had that were effective (the ball reached a desired teammate or went to a favorable/advantageous location). KE is a sub-group of DE and represents only kicking disposals (does not consider handballs) which also includes successful kicks at goal. Further definitions of AF statistics have been provided previously (22). Kicking and disposal accuracy/efficiency has been demonstrated to be important in the pathway to becoming an AFLW player (23). AD represents the average amount of disposals that each player had per game

32

throughout the season. AFL coaches have been observed to perceive match performance more favorably for players with greater number of disposals and higher disposals and kicking efficiency (21). Kicking efficiency has also been previously linked with body composition characteristics in male AF players (24).

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were acquired for the cohort of players using Python (v3.7.6) in source-code editor Visual Studio code (v1.61.0). Python packages used included Numpy, Pandas, Scipy, Seaborn and Matplotlib. All variables were assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Variables which were not normally distributed were log-transformed before conducting further analyses. LSTM index was calculated by dividing WBLH LSTM by player height. UB to LB LSTM and FM ratios were also calculated as well as LSTM asymmetry between limbs for each LB segment (total leg, thigh, shank). Pearson correlations (r) were calculated to quantify the correlation between all body composition variables with in-season match performance and availability. The correlation matrices were created using the Seaborn package in Python. Correlation coefficients were classified as 0-0.09 = trivial; 0.1-0.29 = small; 0.3-0.49 = moderate; 0.5-0.69 = large; 0.7-0.89 = very large and 0.9-0.99 = Near perfect (25). Players were then split into two sub-groups depending on their in-season match availability [<100% in-season match availability (n = 12), and 100% availability (n = 10)], representing a near 50/50 split within the cohort across the two groups. Two-sample independent ttests were then conducted to examine the body composition differences that existed between the two groups. Due to the large number of analyses conducted on the same dependent variables, a Bonferroni correction was applied. Subsequently, an alpha level of p < 0.002 was considered statistically significant for two-sample independent t-tests. Finally, a median-split was implemented to separate players into a higher and lower performing group according to CDPR, CS, DE, KE and AD, which is an accepted technique (26). Two-sample independent t-tests were conducted to assess whether body composition differences existed between the groups.

Results

Descriptive player data for the entire group, and in-season match availability sub-groups are provided in Table 1. Significant differences between groups were observed for in-season match availability. No body composition variables significantly differentiated between in-season match availability according to sub-groups (100% season availability vs. <100% availability).

Further, no significant differences were observed for body composition characteristics between higher and lower performing groups for CDPR, CS, DE, KE or AD (Table 2). The only body composition variable significantly associated with match performance and availability was total leg LSTM asymmetry which shared a significant moderate negative association with CS ($\beta = -0.46$, 95% CI = -0.87 to -0.045) (Figure 1). In-season match performance and availability was not associated with any body composition characteristic expressed in absolute terms (Figure 2).

Discussion

This study investigated whether start of pre-season body composition characteristics were associated with in-season match performance, and match availability in elite female AF players. No body composition characteristics differentiated between the availability of athletes or between higher and lower performing players for CDPR, CS, DE, KE and AD. The AFLW season consisted of nine games across nine consecutive weeks from 29th January-28th March (not including finals). In comparison to the male league (AFL; 22 games), and other elite women's competitions, such as the Football Association women's Super League (Soccer; 22 games), the AFLW season is markedly shorter. Thus, a short season may reduce the relative influence of body composition as a notable contributing injury risk factor and match performance indicator in AFLW players. Further, due to the competition's recent establishment, the average playing experience across the cohort was only 3 years, which may highlight the limited capacity to detect a relationship here. Recent research discovered elite female senior AF players had superior intermittent running performance, sprint speed, vertical jump height and greater performance on technical kicking and handballing skill tests than their nonelite counterparts (14, 23). Thus, other factors such as muscular strength, aerobic fitness, technical skill, and pre-season training load exposure may be more important when examining inseason match performance and availability in AFLW players (14, 19, 27). While it has been suggested that FM has a negative effect on general body movement (28) and kicking accuracy in AF (24), the influence on match performance and availability across a nine-week season in women AF players (AFLW) appears minimal.

Greater body mass has previously been linked with lower injury risk in an elite male AF cohort, with every additional 1 kg of body mass decreasing injury risk by 11.3% (29). Whilst elite AF players cover \sim 13 kilometers (km) per game (3), players are also exposed to frequent heavy collisions which also places them at risk of contact injuries (10). It is likely that sufficient body mass (comprising muscle and fat) is required to absorb these forces and protect players from injury. Given the elite women's game is characterized by a greater proportion of contact injuries TABLE 2 Differences between players according to a median split for match performance variables (Champion Data Player Rank, coaches score, disposal efficiency, kicking efficiency, and average disposals).

	<64 CDPR	>64 CDPR	<1.82 CS	>1.82 CS	<58.8% DE	>58.8% DE	<47.5% KE	>47.5% KE	<8.8 AD	>8.8 AD
Age (y)	26.4 ± 4.8	25.5 ± 4.3	26.1 ± 4.8	25.4 ± 4.1	26.1 ± 3.8	25.2 ± 5.0	25.9 ± 3.47	26.1 ± 5.6	26.7 ± 5.2	24.9 ± 3.4
Height (cm)	171 ± 7	168 ± 6	172 ± 7	168 ± 6	167 ± 6	171 ± 7	168 ± 6	170 ± 8	171 ± 7	168 ± 6
Body mass (kg)	68 ± 6	63 ± 7	66 ± 6	66 ± 8	64 ± 6	67 ± 8	64 ± 6	67 ± 8	67 ± 7	65 ± 6
LSTM Index (kg/m ²)	18.4 ± 1.1	18.4 ± 1.0	18.1 ± 0.89	18.7 ± 1.1	18.5 ± 1.1	18.3 ± 1.1	18.3 ± 0.9	18.5 ± 1.3	18.3 ± 1.1	18.5 ± 0.9
UB:LB LSTM	1.68 ± 0.06	1.73 ± 0.09	1.68 ± 0.05	1.72 ± 0.09	1.71 ± 0.09	1.70 ± 0.06	1.73 ± 0.08	1.69 ± 0.06	1.66 ± 0.04	1.74 ± 0.09
UB:LB FM	1.07 ± 0.20	1.01 ± 0.09	1.05 ± 0.18	1.05 ± 0.14	1.06 ± 0.14	1.05 ± 0.17	1.05 ± 0.16	1.03 ± 0.17	1.08 ± 0.20	1.02 ± 0.09
WBLH LSTM (kg)	48.4 ± 4.9	46.3 ± 3.7	48.0 ± 5.3	47.2 ± 3.6	46.5 ± 2.9	47.7 ± 5.4	46.6 ± 5.1	47.9 ± 3.9	48.2 ± 5.3	47.0 ± 3.5
WBLH FM (kg)	14.1 ± 2.9	11.7 ± 4.2	12.8 ± 1.7	13.1 ± 4.9	12.3 ± 4.4	13.7 ± 3.1	12.1 ± 2.6	13.5 ± 4.6	13.2 ± 3.3	12.8 ± 4.0
WBLH LSTM%	74.8 ± 3.7	77.6 ± 4.1	76.2 ± 2.6	76.1 ± 5.1	76.8 ± 4.9	75.3 ± 3.3	76.7 ± 3.8	75.8 ± 4.5	76.0 ± 3.9	76.4 ± 4.2
WBLH FM%	21.9 ± 4.0	19.1 ± 4.3	20.5 ± 2.8	20.5 ± 5.4	19.9 ± 5.2	21.5 ± 3.4	20.0 ± 4.1	20.8 ± 4.8	20.7 ± 4.2	20.3 ± 4.4
Kicking leg LSTM%	69.8 ± 3.8	72.3 ± 5.2	71.2 ± 3.0	71.0 ± 5.8	72.0 ± 5.1	70.0 ± 4.3	71.5 ± 4.3	70.7 ± 5.3	71.2 ± 3.6	71.0 ± 5.5
Kicking leg FM%	26.4 ± 4.0	23.8 ± 5.6	24.9 ± 3.2	25.2 ± 6.1	24.1 ± 5.4	26.3 ± 4.5	24.7 ± 4.6	25.4 ± 5.6	25.0 ± 3.9	25.1 ± 5.7
Support leg LSTM%	70.0 ± 3.3	72.1 ± 5.0	71.2 ± 3.0	71.0 ± 5.2	71.9 ± 4.6	70.1 ± 4.1	71.7 ± 3.9	70.6 ± 4.8	71.6 ± 3.8	70.6 ± 4.6
Support leg FM%	26.1 ± 3.5	23.9 ± 5.3	24.9 ± 3.2	25.2 ± 6.1	24.1 ± 4.9	26.2 ± 4.2	24.4 ± 4.1	25.4 ± 5.1	24.5 ± 4.1	25.4 ± 4.8
Kicking thigh LSTM%	70.0 ± 3.9	72.8 ± 4.9	71.6 ± 2.6	71.3 ± 5.9	72.2 ± 5.5	70.4 ± 3.6	72.1 ± 3.9	70.8 ± 5.4	71.5 ± 3.8	71.4 ± 5.2
Kicking thigh FM%	27.5 ± 4.0	24.6 ± 5.2	25.9 ± 2.7	26.1 ± 6.2	25.2 ± 5.7	27.2 ± 3.7	25.3 ± 4.0	26.7 ± 5.6	26.0 ± 4.0	26.0 ± 5.4
Support thigh LSTM%	70.2 ± 3.5	72.5 ± 4.8	71.4 ± 2.6	71.4 ± 5.4	72.2 ± 5.0	70.2 ± 3.5	72.0 ± 3.4	70.8 ± 5.2	71.8 ± 4.0	71.0 ± 4.5
Support thigh FM%	27.3 ± 3.6	24.7 ± 5.1	26.1 ± 2.7	25.9 ± 5.7	25.1 ± 5.3	27.3 ± 3.6	25.4 ± 3.5	26.6 ± 5.5	25.7 ± 4.2	26.3 ± 4.7
Kicking shank LSTM%	68.7 ± 6.2	70.8 ± 7.0	69.5 ± 5.9	69.9 ± 7.0	71.2 ± 5.8	68.4 ± 7.4	69.5 ± 7.3	70.2 ± 6.3	69.9 ± 5.7	69.5 ± 7.2
Kicking shank FM%	24.6 ± 6.5	22.9 ± 7.5	23.8 ± 6.1	23.7 ± 7.5	22.2 ± 6.1	25.3 ± 7.9	24.2 ± 7.6	23.1 ± 6.7	23.5 ± 5.9	24.1 ± 7.7
Support shank LSTM%	69.4 ± 5.0	71.1 ± 6.8	70.3 ± 5.3	70.5 ± 6.4	71.7 ± 5.4	69.2 ± 6.4	70.8 ± 6.5	70.1 ± 5.5	71.1 ± 5.2	69.6 ± 6.3
Support shank FM%	24.0 ± 5.1	22.5 ± 7.2	23.2 ± 5.2	23.1 ± 6.9	21.9 ± 5.7	24.5 ± 6.7	22.83 ± 6.7	23.24 ± 5.8	22.3 ± 5.22	24.0 ± 6.79
Total leg LSTM asymmetry %	2.43 ± 1.25	2.31 ± 1.86	2.99 ± 1.96	2.22 ± 1.74	2.13 ± 1.81	2.79 ± 1.15	1.91 ± 1.40	2.98 ± 1.54	3.40 ± 2.18	1.81 ± 1.03
Thigh LSTM asymmetry %	2.51 ± 1.18	2.82 ± 2.49	2.95 ± 2.58	3.00 ± 2.20	3.01 ± 2.32	2.57 ± 1.24	2.49 ± 1.10	3.00 ± 2.47	3.86 ± 2.92	2.08 ± 1.09
Shank LSTM asymmetry %	3.02 ± 2.25	2.92 ± 2.43	3.01 ± 2.09	2.90 ± 2.44	2.84 ± 2.57	3.27 ± 2.12	2.70 ± 1.25	3.43 ± 3.04	3.40 ± 2.90	2.51 ± 1.24

CDPR, Champion Data [®] Player Rank; CS, Coaches Score; DE, Disposal efficiency; KE, Kicking efficiency; AD, Average disposals; UB, Upper body; LB, Lower body; WBLH, whole body less head; LSTM, lean soft-tissue mass; FM, fat mass.



(9), and more contested possessions, tackles and stoppages per minute of play than the elite men's game (all of which increase the frequency of collisions) (5), it was hypothesized that greater muscle and body mass (as opposed to its composition) would be associated with higher match availability and performance (5, 30). However, in our study, no body composition characteristic, including total body mass, was associated with in-season match availability, suggesting other factors may be more influential in this relationship.

Similarly, no significant differences in body composition characteristics were observed between those players who were available for the entire season (100% availability) and those who missed at least one game due to injury throughout the season (<100% availability). This is in agreement with a study in elite professional rugby which found no relationship between body composition and injury (31). Conversely, whole body FM% has

been positively associated with injury in male soccer players (32, 33). As the AFLW is a new and emerging competition with a current lack of developmental pathways, the league features many players who previously played other sports (including netball, basketball, and Gaelic Football). Thus, highlighting the fact that many players have not had the exposure to longitudinal AF specific loading and training history, which may place them at a greater risk of injury. Factoring this into the analysis may have provided more insight into this relationship. Further, females in the AFLW typically cover 50-70% less high-speed running distance per minute of match play than their elite male AFL counterparts (2, 3). As high-speed running induces neuromuscular fatigue and is considered a common mechanism for hamstring injury (34), AFLW players may not be at the same risk as elite male players comparatively. While body composition assessment has been banned from AFL and AFLW


pre-draft evaluations for other reasons, the results of this study indicate that body composition evaluated at the beginning of the pre-season for AFLW players may not be as important to match performance and in-season availability as may currently be perceived. This potentially highlights the greater importance of other attributes including aerobic fitness, and muscular power and strength with injury. Nonetheless, these findings present important insights for AFLW practitioners.

In the current study, match performance was determined both subjectively by the coaches and football department based on their perception of each player's impact on the game (CS) and objectively *via* CDPR, AD, DE and KE. However, no body composition characteristic could differentiate between higher and lower performing players for any match performance metric. As FM is known to impair cardiorespiratory performance by acting as "dead weight" and

not contributing to force production and movement (28), it was hypothesized that lower levels of FM may allow players to cover more ground during a game, increasing their likelihood of having a greater impact on the game. By the same token, it was further conjectured that lower levels of FM may delay the onset of fatigue, lowering the risk of injury during a match. However, our data does not support such hypotheses. One explanation could be that the influence of FM in AFLW players is reduced due to the shorter match duration (\sim 80 mins of match play vs. 120 mins in the AFL) and lower running volume [\sim 6 vs. \sim 13 km (1, 3)] during competitive match play. Further, strength, power and technical skill are not as developed in the women's game and this is likely due to the disparities in training opportunities, development pathways, financial support and access to staff and facilities (35). Thus, it is likely that variations in these factors may overwhelm any minor influences that body composition

has on in-season match performance and availability. This provides important insights for practitioners who should look to prioritize the development of other important attributes over specific body composition traits.

Interestingly, total leg LSTM asymmetry was the only body composition characteristic associated with any match performance metric (which shared a moderate negative relationship with Coaches Score). Research examining the relationship between LSTM asymmetry and sporting performance outcomes is scarce. Hart and colleagues (36) demonstrated that sub-elite AF players with greater kicking accuracy had significantly less leg LSTM asymmetry. However, LSTM asymmetry was not associated with kicking or disposal efficiency in the current study. LSTM asymmetries have been shown to influence jumping performance in collegiate athletes previously (37), but how this translates to match performance outcomes is unclear.

To our knowledge, this is the first study which has examined the relationship between pre-season body composition characteristics with in-season AFLW match performance and match availability. However, several limitations of this research are worth noting. First, body composition assessments were undertaken at the beginning of pre-season, roughly 3 months prior to the beginning of the competitive season. Thus, this may not be a true reflection of players' kinanthropometric profile throughout the competitive season as notable changes in body composition are likely to occur through targeted intervention across pre-season. Thus, start of pre-season body composition may be more a reflection of players' compliance to their off-season fitness program. Additionally, our results are delimited to 22 players at this one point in time, involving factors across one season. Thus, reducing the statistical power of the analyses. Smaller squad numbers (in comparison to elite male teams), contractual arrangements (which limits their time at the club), and the COVID-19 pandemic made data collection challenging. Future research should be directed to researching players over multiple teams and multiple seasons and multiple time points in the year while also considering the positional requirements and training history of each player. The results of this study also may not necessarily apply to other AFLW teams as all teams have varying levels of experience and an array of players who have crossed over from a variety of other sports.

Ultimately, no start of pre-season body composition characteristics were associated with in-season match availability, or most match performance metrics in female AF players playing in the AFLW. As the AFLW has only recently been established, other factors such as technical skill level, neuromuscular and cardiorespiratory capacities, and training history may share a greater association with in-season performance and availability. Body composition assessments have been banned as part of predraft evaluation of potential recruits and this study may provide justification that body composition is not as important as other physical and technical attributes in AFLW players. As the AFLW competition is still in its infancy, it's likely the physical and technical attributes are more variable between players and mask any influence that body composition has on in-season match availability and performance. As such, further research is needed to uncover the specific attributes linked with in-season match availability and performance in female AF players.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because due to the agreement with the football club, no data outside of what has been illustrated in the manuscript can be made publicly available. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to c.mccaskie@ecu.edu.au.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Edith Cowan University Human Research Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

CM, NH, MS, RN, JH, and BR conceived and designed the research. CM, JH, and BR collected the data. CM analyzed the data with assistance from NH, MS, and RN. CM wrote the manuscript with assistance from all authors. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

Authors CM, JH, and BR were employed by West Coast Eagles Football Club.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Thornton HR, Armstrong CR, Gamble T, Rigby A, Johnston RD, Duthie GM. Quantifying the movement characteristics of australian football league women's competition. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2020) Online ahead of print. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003810

2. Clarke AC, Ryan S, Couvalias G, Dascombe BJ, Coutts AJ, Kempton T. Physical demands and technical performance in Australian Football League Women's (AFLW) competition match-play. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2018) 21:748–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.11.018

3. Janetzki SJ, Bourdon PC, Norton KI, Lane JC, Bellenger CR. Evolution of physical demands of australian football league matches from 2005 to 2017: a systematic review and meta-regression. *Sports Med Open.* (2021) 7:28. doi: 10.1186/s40798-021-00301-1

4. Wing C, Hart NH, McCaskie C, Djanis P, Ma'ayah F, Nosaka K. Running performance of male versus female players in australian football matches: a systematic review sports medicine. *Open.* (2021) 7:96. doi: 10.1186/s40798-021-00391-x

5. Black GM, Gabbett TJ, Johnston RD, Cole MH, Naughton G, Dawson B, et al. skill profile of the national women's Australian football league (AFLW). *Sci Med Football*. (2019) 3:138–42. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2018.1489140

6. Australian Football League Women's. 2019 AFLW Injury Report (2019). Available online at: https://resources.afl.com.au/afl/document/2019/12/04/ 125d0f05-e879-4fdd-8851-539abd27310e/2019-AFLW-Injury-Report.pdf

7. Australian Football League. 2019 AFL Injury Report (2020). Available online at: https://www.afl.com.au/news/515940/statement-2019-afl-injury-report

8. Lathlean TJH, Gastin PB, Newstead SV, Finch CF. The incidence, prevalence, severity, mechanism and body region of injury in elite junior Australian football players: a prospective cohort study over one season. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2018) 21:1013–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.03.002

9. Farley JB, Keogh JWL, Woods CT, Milne N. Injury profiles of Australian football players across five, women's and girls' competition levels. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2022) 25:58–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2021.08.016

10. McCaskie CJ, Sim M, Newton RU, Hart NH. Lower-limb injury in elite Australian football: a narrative review of kinanthropometric and physical risk factors. *Physic Therapy Sport*. (2021) 52:69–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ptsp.2021.08.006

11. McCaskie CJ, Sim M, Newton RU, Heasman J, Rogalski B, Hart NH. Characterising lower-body musculoskeletal morphology and whole-body composition of elite female and male Australian Football players. *BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil.* (2022) 14:168. doi: 10.1186/s13102-022-00564-5

12. Stevens J, Katz EG, Huxley RR. Associations between gender, age and waist circumference. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 64:6–15. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2009.101

13. Beaudry KM, Devries MC. Sex-based differences in hepatic and skeletal muscle triglyceride storage and metabolism. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* (2019) 44:805–13. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2018-0635

14. Farley JB, Keogh JWL, Woods CT, Milne N. Physical fitness profiles of female Australian football players across five competition levels. *Sci Med Football*. (2022) 6:105–26. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2021.1877335

15. Lukaski H, Raymond-Pope CJ. New frontiers of body composition in sport. Int J Sports Med. (2021) 42:588–601. doi: 10.1055/a-1373-5881

16. Ryan P. Why the AFL banned pre-draft skinfold tests. The Age. (2021)

17. Hart NH, Nimphius S, Weber J, Spiteri T, Rantalainen T, Dobbin M, et al. Musculoskeletal asymmetry in football athletes: a product of limb function over time. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2016) 48:1379–87. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000897

18. Hart NH, Nimphius S, Spiteri T, Cochrane JL, Newton RU. Segmental musculoskeletal examinations using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA): positioning and analysis considerations. *J Sports Sci Med.* (2015) 14:620–6.

19. McCaskie CJ, Young WB, Fahrner BB, Sim M. Association between preseason training and performance in elite australian football. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2019) 2019:1-25. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0086 20. Mooney M, O'Brien B, Cormack S, Coutts A, Berry J, Young W. The relationship between physical capacity and match performance in elite Australian football: A mediation approach. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2011) 14:447–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2011.03.010

21. Sullivan C, Bilsborough JC, Cianciosi M, Hocking J, Cordy JT, Coutts AJ. Factors affecting match performance in professional Australian football. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2014) 9:561–6. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2013-0183

22. Sullivan C, Bilsborough JC, Cianciosi M, Hocking J, Cordy J, Coutts AJ. Match score affects activity profile and skill performance in professional Australian Football players. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2014) 17:326–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013.05.001

23. Farley JB, Woods CT, Keogh JWL, Milne N. Profiling the kicking and handballing accuracy of female Australian football players across five competition levels. *Sci Med Football*. (2022) 6:72–81. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2021.1882687

24. Hart NH, Nimphius S, Spiteri T, Cochrane JL, Newton RU. Relationship between leg mass, leg composition and foot velocity on kicking accuracy in Australian football. *J Sports Sci Med.* (2016) 15:344–51.

25. Hopkins WG, Marshall SW, Batterham AM, Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2009) 41:3–13. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31818cb278

26. Iacobucci D, Posavac SS, Kardes FR, Schneider MJ, Popovich DL. The median split: Robust, refined, and revived. *J Consum Psychol.* (2015) 25:690–704. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2015.06.014

27. Murray NB, Gabbett TJ, Townshend AD. Relationship between preseason training load and in-season availability in elite australian football players. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2017) 12:749–55. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0806

28. Sutton L, Scott M, Wallace J, Reilly T. Body composition of English Premier League soccer players: influence of playing position, international status, and ethnicity. *J Sports Sci.* (2009) 27:1019–26. doi: 10.1080/02640410903030305

29. Gastin PB, Meyer D, Huntsman E, Cook J. Increase in injury risk with low body mass and aerobic-running fitness in elite Australian football. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2015) 10:458–63. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0257

30. Dwyer DB, Di Domenico I, Young CM. Technical performance in elite women's Australian football – comparisons with men's football, identifying important performance characteristics and apparent trends. *Int J Perform Anal Sport.* (2021) 2021:1–9. doi: 10.1080/24748668.2021.1993029

31. Georgeson EC, Weeks BK, McLellan C, Beck BR. Seasonal change in bone, muscle and fat in professional rugby league players and its relationship to injury: a cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2012) 2:6. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001400

32. Arnason A, Sigurdsson SB, Gudmundsson A, Holme I, Engebretsen L, Bahr R. Risk factors for injuries in football. *Am J Sports Med.* (2004) 32:5–16. doi: 10.1177/0363546503258912

33. Kemper GL, van der Sluis A, Brink MS, Visscher C, Frencken WG, Elferink-Gemser MT. Anthropometric injury risk factors in elite-standard youth soccer. *Int J Sports Med.* (2015) 36:1112–7. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1555778

34. Duhig S, Shield AJ, Opar D, Gabbett TJ, Ferguson C, Williams M. Effect of high-speed running on hamstring strain injury risk. *Br J Sports Med.* (2016) 50:1536. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095679

35. Fox A, Bonacci J, Hoffmann S, Nimphius S, Saunders N. Anterior cruciate ligament injuries in Australian football: should women and girls be playing? you're asking the wrong question. *BMJ Open Sport Exer Med.* (2020) 6:e000778. doi: 10.1136/bmisem-2020-000778

36. Hart NH, Nimphius S, Spiteri T, Newton RU. Leg strength and lean mass symmetry influences kicking performance in Australian football. *J Sports Sci Med.* (2014) 13:157–65.

37. Bell DR, Sanfilippo JL, Binkley N, Heiderscheit BC. Lean mass asymmetry influences force and power asymmetry during jumping in collegiate athletes. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2014) 28:884–91. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0000000000 00367

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Marco Beato, University of Suffolk, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Ruoyu Yang, Shanghai University of Medicine and Health Sciences, China Melinda M. Manore, Oregon State University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Kyle D. Flack ⊠ kyle.flack@uky.edu Terry D. Hinds ⊠ terry.hinds@uky.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 09 September 2022 ACCEPTED 19 December 2022 PUBLISHED 11 January 2023

CITATION

Flack KD, Vítek L, Fry CS, Stec DE and Hinds Jr TD (2023) Cutting edge concepts: Does bilirubin enhance exercise performance? Front. Sports Act. Living 4:1040687. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.1040687

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Flack, Vitek, Fry, Stec and Hinds. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cutting edge concepts: Does bilirubin enhance exercise performance?

Kyle D. Flack^{1*}, Libor Vítek², Christopher S. Fry^{3,4}, David E. Stec⁵ and Terry D. Hinds, Jr^{6,7,8*}

¹Department of Dietetics and Human Nutrition, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States, ²4th Department of Internal Medicine and Institute of Medical Biochemistry and Laboratory Diagnostics, 1st Faculty of Medicine, Charles University and General University Hospital in Prague, Prague, Czechia, ³Department of Athletic Training and Clinical Nutrition, University of Kentucky College of Medicine, Lexington, KY, United States, ⁴Center for Muscle Biology, University of Kentucky College of Medicine, Lexington, KY, United States, ⁵Department of Physiology & Biophysics, Cardiorenal, and Metabolic Diseases Research Center, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, United States, ⁶Department of Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences, University of Kentucky College of Medicine, Lexington, KY, United States, ⁷Barnstable Brown Diabetes Center, University of Kentucky College of Medicine, Lexington, KY, United States, ⁸Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

Exercise performance is dependent on many factors, such as muscular strength and endurance, cardiovascular capacity, liver health, and metabolic flexibility. Recent studies show that plasma levels of bilirubin, which has classically been viewed as a liver dysfunction biomarker, are elevated by exercise training and that elite athletes may have significantly higher levels. Other studies have shown higher plasma bilirubin levels in athletes and active individuals compared to general, sedentary populations. The reason for these adaptions is unclear, but it could be related to bilirubin's antioxidant properties in response to a large number of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that originates from mitochondria during exercise. However, the mechanisms of these are unknown. Current research has re-defined bilirubin as a metabolic hormone that interacts with nuclear receptors to drive gene transcription, which reduces body weight. Bilirubin has been shown to reduce adiposity and improve the cardiovascular system, which might be related to the adaption of bilirubin increasing during exercise. No studies have directly tested if elevating bilirubin levels can influence athletic performance. However, based on the mechanisms proposed in the present review, this seems plausible and an area to consider for future studies. Here, we discuss the importance of bilirubin and exercise and how the combination might improve metabolic health outcomes and possibly athletic performance.

KEYWORDS

exercise performance, heme oxygenase, biliverdin reductase, bilirubin, reactive oxygen species, oxidative stress, HO-1, BLVRA

Introduction

Exercise training can promote the physiological health of every organ system in the body, carrying a myriad of benefits, including improving blood glucose control, cardiovascular capacity, arterial compliance, skeletal muscle function, and energy metabolism (1–4). In fact, 35 chronic diseases or conditions have been independently

linked to physical inactivity (5). Most health outcomes of regular exercise, such as improving aspects of the metabolic syndrome, depend on skeletal muscle adaptations (6). However, recent data has pointed to exercise-induced benefits in liver metabolism and function playing a vital role (7-9). Exercise increases hepatic glycogen mobilization when exercise bouts are sustained beyond short bursts of high-intensity activity that rely on intramuscular stores of glucose and fat (9, 10). As hepatic glycogen is reduced with extended exercise, the liver is also responsible for the uptake of gluconeogenic precursors such as lactate, pyruvate, ketones, and glycerol (10-13). This is accomplished, in part, by exercise-induced reductions in lipogenic processes and a simultaneous increase in the lipid oxidation (14, 15), a potential mechanism for how exercise can prevent liver diseases such as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (16, 17). Interestingly, a classical liver disease biomarker, bilirubin (11), has been shown to increase with exercise (18). Studies also show that increasing bilirubin levels decreases liver fat content and reduces oxidative stress in obese mice, improving adiposity and blood glucose (19-22). Other work has shown that aerobic exercise protects the liver and cardiometabolic health and adipose tissue remodeling under metabolic stress (23). These adaptations might be linked to glucose and fatty acid metabolism during exercise, which points to well-controlled crosstalk between the liver and skeletal muscle, exchanging substrates and maintaining metabolic homeostasis. Thus, exercise-induced adaptations centered on improving substrate utilization, also termed metabolic flexibility, are not solely dependent on the skeletal muscle metabolism (9, 10).

Exercise can also play an important role in weight control by aiding in attaining an energy deficit and the metabolic adaptations in the glucose and fatty-acid metabolism (24, 25). Although other aspects of metabolic syndrome can be improved with exercise alone (without weight loss), these benefits are substantially greater when significant weight loss occurs (26). While we later discuss that plasma bilirubin levels are elevated with exercise, another facet is that it also increases during weight loss (27). With the continually prevalent obesity epidemic, exercising for weight loss will continue to be a prevailing theme in research trials. It will be interesting to see whether bilirubin will be a measurable component of future works, especially since it has many protective properties that reduce oxidative stress.

An additional adaptation to exercise that may influence substrate utilization is the upregulation of antioxidant defense systems (18, 28, 29); this is partially due to increased ROS, and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) observed with exercise (30, 31). Such free radical production during exercise can have key regulatory roles in mediating various signaling processes. However, when increases in free radicals are not met with increases in antioxidant defense, pathophysiological states such as inflammatory, cardiovascular, and neurodegenerative diseases may manifest (32). Recent research has focused on oxidative stress and exercise mechanisms, with many exploring the utility of additional antioxidant supplementation when engaging in consistent exercise (18, 33, 34). New findings have revealed that the antioxidant bilirubin may be significantly elevated in athletes (18, 35). Other recent works have shown that bilirubin has a hormonal function that reduces body weight and may be related to exercise capacity (19, 36–44). These findings point to bilirubin as an underlying mediator of exercise-induced alterations in substrate oxidation, weight loss, antioxidant status, and a surrogate to the aforementioned health outcomes (37, 38, 42, 44). Herein, we will delve into the recent literature investigating the link between bilirubin, exercise, and physiological health.

Bilirubin and exercise

Traditionally viewed as a marker for liver damage, bilirubin is becoming recognized as an important endocrine hormone and a potent antioxidant that activates nuclear receptors to control gene transcription that promotes many aspects of physiological health (cardiovascular health, blood glucose control, oxidative stress, and improves liver function) (37, 39, 43, 45). The medical community has defined "normal" total plasma bilirubin levels as 1.7-20 µmol/L, while the Child-Pugh index indicates a value of >51 µmol/L is indicative of decompensated liver cirrhosis. Large variations in plasma bilirubin are exhibited among the general population due to age, sex, ethnicity, and other biological factors. Thus, it is difficult to define a particular range for other non-clinical conditions such as long-term exercise, acute exercise, obesity, and lean individuals (46). The concept of hypobilirubinemia has been recently proposed at levels of plasma/serum bilirubin <10 µmol/L [discussed further in (37)].

Bilirubin originates from hemoglobin released from myoglobin and other hemoproteins during the destruction of senescent red blood cells. When a blood cell dies and is lysed, which occurs mostly in the spleen, heme is released and converted to biliverdin by heme oxygenase (HO), which is further metabolized to bilirubin by biliverdin reductase A (BVRA) (Figure 1) (47). Blood bilirubin levels have previously been thought only to be derived from reticuloendothelial cells in the spleen (37). However, studies in mice lacking BVRA (21, 48-50) have shown that bilirubin generation also occurs in many other tissues. Lastly, bilirubin is conjugated by the UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzyme, UGT1A1 (51), which then deposits the conjugated bilirubin in the bile (43). Thus, it is possible to regulate plasma bilirubin levels by regulating HO, BVRA, or UGT1A1. Recently published work showed that high-capacity running rats (HCR), compared to low-capacity running rats (LCR), had significantly higher plasma bilirubin, which was likely due



to hepatic BVRA being raised and UGT1A1 lowered (52). These ultimately cause higher bilirubin production by BVRA and less bilirubin clearance *via* UGT1A1 conjugation.

Although research connecting bilirubin and exercise is in its infancy, a limited number of studies have demonstrated that bilirubin may be increased with both acute and regular (longterm) endurance exercise in animal models and humans (52–55). This was observed in the Dose-Response to Exercise in Women Trial (DREW Trial), where participants were placed in three groups of varying exercise volumes (4, 8, or 12 kcal.kg.week) for 12 weeks, demonstrating bilirubin only increased in the 12 kcal.kg.week group, equivalent to an average of 169 min per week (54). This dose-response relationship is supported by a separate trial where 12 weeks of

exercise training that progressed to 120 min per week did not influence bilirubin levels (56). Thus, exercise meeting or slightly exceeding the recommended 150 min of moderate to vigorous physical activity per week appears necessary to observe physiological (beneficial) increases in the plasma bilirubin (57). This is also supported in less controlled trials, where bilirubin increases after 3 months of soccer or rugby training in competitive athletes (58, 59) and is elevated in competitive athletes compared to the general population (35, 60). Associations have also been drawn between usual exercise behavior, where aerobic and strength training participation was positively related to plasma bilirubin levels among women. In contrast, only aerobic training participation was positively correlated in the men (61). There is also evidence that an acute bout of exercise (often exhaustive) can upregulate plasma bilirubin. This was demonstrated in trained and untrained adults and adolescents after a running time trial test to exhaustion (62). A maximal exercise test also increased plasma bilirubin among football players (63) and was increased 4 days after an ultra-marathon among trained runners (64).

An important question yet to be fully elucidated is the mechanisms induced by exercise that cause the reciprocal increase in plasma bilirubin (Figure 2). One theory is that heme catabolism could result from exercise (especially aerobic exercise) induced damage such as repeated foot strikes, elevated core temps, and skeletal muscle breakdown (myoglobin release) (65, 66). In this scenario, red blood cells may become lysed and release heme (hemolysis). This released heme can be broken down to biliverdin by heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) and further catabolized by BVRA to eventually form a stable, unconjugated bilirubin (43). This view is supported by several of the findings above, where only the highest dose of exercise, which had the greatest exposure to factors associated with exercise-induced hemolysis, observed increases in the plasma bilirubin (54). This logic could also be applied to trained athletes exposed to very high levels of factors that may induce hemolysis to promote the observed elevations in bilirubin levels (35, 58-60). However, Swift et al. did not detect changes in hemoglobin or hematocrit following exercise training (54). This has been supported by Witek et al.'s work on athletes, who concluded that the hematological parameters did not indicate the occurrence of increased hemolysis, with no significant relationship between the total bilirubin concentration and the number of red blood cells, hemoglobin, or iron levels in the blood of trained athletes (60). These results are similar to those of Andelkovic et al., where 3 months of soccer training did not increase serum iron (likely to reflect hemolysis) nor transferrin (likely to reflect erythropoiesis due to increased hemolysis) (58). Although this study also demonstrated increased serum ferritin after training and positive correlations between bilirubin and ferritin post-training (58).

Since ferritin is known to sequester iron in the blood, increased ferritin levels may mask the elevations in iron resulting from exercise-induced hemolysis; an antioxidant adaptation of ferritin has been previously demonstrated (67, 68). However, this has not been consistent across studies, with many showing no changes or decreases in ferritin after long-term exercise training in athletes' (69–71). Other arguments against exercise-induced hemolysis driving greater bilirubin levels seen in athletes or after a long-term intervention are the notion that markers of hemolysis are typically present only immediately after intense exercise (63, 66), which would support why plasma bilirubin can increase after a bout of acute exercise (62–64).

Another hypothesis is that exercise-induced increases in bilirubin are the result of a feedback mechanism to regulate the increased oxidative stress that accompanies physical training (35). As noted, bilirubin is a powerful antioxidant, and if following other antioxidant defense systems, it should increase with long-term exercise training to better control exercise-induced free radical damage (18, 28, 29). Indeed, the long-term exercise effect on bilirubin is associated with an increase in other antioxidant reserves as well, including total antioxidant status (35). Such increases in bilirubin would likely result from greater HO activity, which is increased with exercise training (72). Since HO is the rate-limiting enzyme necessary for converting heme to biliverdin (73), greater HO levels could force the observed increase in plasma bilirubin after long-term exercise or in physical activity individuals/ athletes. Other mechanisms promoting an exercise-induced increase in plasma bilirubin could involve the enzyme that converts biliverdin to bilirubin (BVRA) (74) or the enzyme that is responsible for the removal of bilirubin from the blood into bile (UGT1A1). As noted, HCR mice demonstrated higher plasma bilirubin and increased BVRA expression while UGT1A1 was decreased compared to control animals (52). Interestingly, hepatic HO-1 was not different between the HCR mice and control, despite large differences in distance and time run to exhaustion. This indicates that exerciseinduced increases in bilirubin can stem from changes in several different enzymes, including HO-1, BVRA, and UGT1A1 (Figure 1). It seems likely that long-term adaptations to exercise training promote antioxidant defenses, including bilirubin, while short-term adaptations include those related to exercise-induced damage and increased heme availability.

Gilbert's syndrome and exercise

Although it seems that regular physical training leads to an elevation in serum bilirubin concentrations, additional considerations need to be given to Gilbert's Syndrome (GS), a genetic polymorphism that reduces UGT1A1 expression,



increasing plasma bilirubin levels to potentially influence athletic performance (53). This has been demonstrated in elite Czech athletes, where elite sportsmen and sportswomen had significantly greater serum bilirubin concentrations $(8.5-16 \mu mol/L)$ compared to the general population (53). At the same time, the prevalence rate of phenotypic GS syndrome was also much higher in elite athletes, suggesting that a mild elevation of serum bilirubin might predispose to better sports performance. In other words, mildly hyperbilirubinemic elite athletes could have been selected based on this biochemical trait to reach the sport's elite. This provides further evidence that bilirubin may promote athletic performance, likely related to bilirubin's role as an endocrine hormone, inducing gene transcription that modulates metabolic functions. Increased systemic concentrations of bilirubin may represent a feedback mechanism to:

- a) cope with the increased oxidative stress that accompanies the training process (30),
- b) provide signaling stimuli to the muscle (75) and cardiovascular system (76), improve adaptation to physical training stress, and simultaneously,
- c) provide substantial metabolic advantages regarding fatty acid oxidation associated with regular exercise (77).

These conclusions are based on recent observations. Regular exercise has been associated with increased antioxidant capacity, similar to a previous report documenting an exercise-induced increase in other body antioxidant reserves (62). In addition, bilirubin is an important signaling molecule (78, 79), fulfilling parameters of the endocrine substance (45). Therefore, these activities are highly likely to contribute to the beneficiary metabolic adaptations associated with regular training.

Bilirubin and cardiovascular system as a benefit for exercise

Increased plasma bilirubin levels can have several beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system in the context of exercise (Figure 3). First, bilirubin is a potent antioxidant compound that can scavenge ROS both directly and through the inhibition of the NAD(P)H oxidase (80, 81). One of the main targets of the ROS product superoxide anion (O₂) is nitric oxide (NO). Superoxide interacts with NO to form peroxynitrite radical, damaging DNA and nitrosylate tyrosine residues, which disrupts protein function. By limiting the production and actions of superoxide, bilirubin can increase the bioavailability of NO to preserve the blood flow (82-84). The preservation of blood flow through enhanced NO bioavailability may mediate the improvement in athletic performance observed with increased levels of plasma bilirubin (35). Bilirubin mimics the protective actions of HO-1 induction and restores attenuated eNOS expression after exposure to oxLDL and TNF- α (85). The hyperbilirubinemic Gunn rat is resistant to the pressor actions of angiotensin II, and bilirubin can attenuate the release of endothelin-1 (86, 87). These findings demonstrate that bilirubin has vasoprotective actions, which could be beneficial to maintaining blood flow during exercise.

Recent studies have indicated that bilirubin functions as a hormone to activate the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR α). It has been proposed that low plasma bilirubin levels should be considered a pathological state (37, 44). PPAR α activation in the liver is a contributory factor to the exercise-related improvements in the whole-body metabolism (88). In fact,



induction of PPARa in the vasculature by exercise has recently been proposed as a therapy to fight COVID-19 infection (89). Gene polymorphisms in PPARa increase physical and aerobic performance and are associated with muscle fiber type composition in athletes' (90, 91). Twice a day, close proximity exercise is associated with enhanced mitochondrial biogenesis, fat oxidation, and upregulation of skeletal muscle PPARa (92). Likewise, treatment with the PPAR α agonist, fenofibrate, increases soleus muscle weight and enhances musculoskeletal training response during estrogen deficiency in ovariectomized (OVX) Sprague Dawley rats (93). Exercise training also decreases the age-related decline in cardiac PPARa levels in rats (94). PPARa knockout mice exhibited reduced lipolysis and anti-inflammatory responses in adipose tissue following exercise (95). The adipose-specific PPARa KO (96) and liverspecific PPARa KO (97) animals exhibited adiposity in the null tissues, which further indicates the importance of the bilirubin-PPARa circuit.

PPARa affects changes in metabolism central to exercise adaptation and muscle stem cell dynamics. Satellite cells, the bonafide muscle stem cell, support skeletal muscle exercise adaptation through activation and fusion into muscle fibers (98-100). Exercise-induced satellite cell activation is reliant on dynamic metabolic reprogramming culminating in robust activation of oxidative metabolism during the terminal differentiation (101). PPAR α is a critical regulator of muscle lipid homeostasis to facilitate differentiation of human satellite cells in vitro to support subsequent fusion into muscle fibers facilitate exercise-induced adaptation (102, 103). to Furthermore, skeletal muscle is a mosaic of different fiber "types" uniquely defined by their metabolic requirement. The targeting by PPARa of genes involved in cellular fatty acid import and binding help define a unique cellular identity for PPARa in oxidative type I fibers versus the predominantly glycolytic type II muscle fibers (104). Greater demand for mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative metabolism that occur in response to chronic exercise supports a fiber type-specific role for PPAR α -mediated transcription. Variance in human type I fiber distribution is closely associated with PPAR α expression, offering further support for PPAR α in the distinct metabolic requirements of oxidative, slow twitch type I fibers (105). Further studies in PPAR α deficient animals are needed in order to fully elucidate the role of PPAR α activation in response to increases in bilirubin production in exercise.

Bilirubin is also cardio-protective, and increased bilirubin levels during exercise may benefit the heart. For example, studies in hyperbilirubinemic Gunn rats demonstrate that bilirubin protects the heart from reperfusion injury and beneficially influences aortic ejection velocities and pressures, improving cardiac performance during exercise (106, 107). Recent studies have demonstrated that bilirubin can increase the production of hepatic ketone beta-hydroxybutyrate (BOHB) (19), which likely occurred via PPARa mechanisms. A diet supplemented with BOHB precursors improved exercise performance in rats (108). Ketones may play an important role in the metabolic adaptation of the heart to exercise, especially in type II diabetic patients who are unable to effectively utilize glucose as a cardiac energy source. While the protective actions of bilirubin on the heart have largely been explained through its potent antioxidant activity, the effects of bilirubin on cardiac metabolism remain to be thoroughly studied. It is possible that bilirubin plays an important role in the metabolic adaptation of the heart to exercise both directly and indirectly through its action on PPARα and hepatic production of BOHB.

There is mounting evidence pointing to bilirubin as an important hormonal molecule and antioxidant, a departure from the traditional view that the role of bilirubin was limited to a marker for liver dysfunction. Bilirubin's role in mediating metabolic adaptations and protecting from oxidative stress is now evident, most notably in the context of cardiovascular disease and obesity. The present review has further explored the role exercise training appears to have on bilirubin levels, outlining two primary metabolic pathways activated by exercise that promote slight elevations in plasma bilirubin. The first of these pathways are related to heme catabolism, where exercise-induced damage such as muscle strain causing myoglobin release, elevated core temperature, and repetitive foot strike causes red blood cell lysis and heme release. Using heme as a precursor, through actions of the HO and BVRA enzymes, bilirubin synthesis is increased. This pathway seems to be impacted primarily by acute exercise, as reductions in hemolysis can be a long-term training adaptation observed among athletes (69-71). An additional pathway that can increase exercise-induced elevations in plasma bilirubin is related to an upregulation of antioxidant defense mechanisms. Just as other antioxidant enzymes are increased in response to elevations in ROS and RNS that accompany exercise (62), including total antioxidant status (35), BVRA can be increased while the enzyme UGT1A1 is decreased, thus promoting the synthesis and increased plasma levels of bilirubin (52). The combination of both pathways explains how both long-term and acute exercise can promote bilirubin levels and why athletes have consistently demonstrated greater plasma bilirubin levels compared to the general population.

Conclusion

Although no studies have directly tested if increasing plasma bilirubin levels promote improved exercise performance, this hypothesis seems probable with the evidence presented and an area for future research exploration. Preliminary evidence that supports this hypothesis is related to studies on GS and elite athlete performance. These individuals have a specific genetic polymorphism that causes elevated plasma bilirubin, where a far greater prevalence of GS is observed in elite athletes. This suggests that individuals with greater bilirubin levels might be predisposed to greater athletic performance. This could be related to bilirubin's role as a hormonal signaling molecule, where bilirubin interacts with PPARa to stimulate gene transcription related to fatty acid oxidative and mitochondrial capacities, important mediators in muscle function and exercise performance (102, 103). Improving antioxidant defenses through elevations in bilirubin is also desirable for athletic performance, likely related to enhanced bioavailability of NO and increased blood flow (35, 82-84). Controlled trials in humans testing the potential utility of bilirubin playing an ergogenic role in exercise performance are lacking and, thus, an additional avenue for future investigation. The optimal level of plasma bilirubin has also not been defined for health or athletic performance, another important question that research may address. Altogether, future work to determine whether increasing plasma bilirubin levels are useful for enhancing athletic performance is needed before research can focus on ergogenic aids to increase plasma bilirubin. In the least, bilirubin is an important molecule and new hormone that improves metabolic function and could be an essential metabolite of exercise performance and weight loss.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Funding

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health R01DK121797 (TH), R01DK126884 (DS), R01AR072061 (CF),

and the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute P01 HL05197-11 (DS) and K01HL125445 (TH), and the National Institute of General Medical Sciences P20GM104357-02 (DS). This study was also supported by a grant MH CZ-DRO-VFN64165 (LV) from the Czech Ministry of Health.

Conflict of interest

TH and DS have submitted patents on bilirubin and obesity-related disorders. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial

References

1. Sargeant JA, Gray LJ, Bodicoat DH, Willis SA, Stensel DJ, Nimmo MA, et al. The effect of exercise training on intrahepatic triglyceride and hepatic insulin sensitivity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev.* (2018) 19 (10):1446–59. doi: 10.1111/obr.12719

2. Fiuza-Luces C, Santos-Lozano A, Joyner M, Carrera-Bastos P, Picazo O, Zugaza JL, et al. Exercise benefits in cardiovascular disease: beyond attenuation of traditional risk factors. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2018) 15(12):731–43. doi: 10.1038/ s41569-018-0065-1

3. Ho SS, Dhaliwal SS, Hills AP, Pal S. The effect of 12 weeks of aerobic, resistance or combination exercise training on cardiovascular risk factors in the overweight and obese in a randomized trial. *BMC Public Health*. (2012) 12:704. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-704

4. Holloszy JO. Adaptations of skeletal muscle mitochondria to endurance exercise: a personal perspective. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* (2004) 32(2):41–3. doi: 10. 1097/00003677-200404000-00001

5. Booth FW, Roberts CK, Thyfault JP, Ruegsegger GN, Toedebusch RG. Role of inactivity in chronic diseases: evolutionary insight and pathophysiological mechanisms. *Physiol Rev.* (2017) 97(4):1351–402. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00019. 2016

6. Smedlund KB, Sanchez ER, Hinds Jr TD. FKBP51 And the molecular chaperoning of metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 32(11):862-74. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2021.08.003

7. Denou E, Marcinko K, Surette MG, Steinberg GR, Schertzer JD. Highintensity exercise training increases the diversity and metabolic capacity of the mouse distal gut microbiota during diet-induced obesity. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 310(11):E982–93. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00537.2015

 Carbajo-Pescador S, Porras D, García-Mediavilla MV, Martínez-Flórez S, Juarez-Fernández M, Cuevas MJ, et al. Beneficial effects of exercise on gut microbiota functionality and barrier integrity, and gut-liver crosstalk in an in vivo model of early obesity and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Dis Model Mech.* (2019) 12(5):dmm039206. doi: 10.1242/dmm.039206

9. Thyfault JP, Bergouignan A. Exercise and metabolic health: beyond skeletal muscle. *Diabetologia*. (2020) 63(8):1464–74. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05177-6

10. Trefts E, Williams AS, Wasserman DH. Exercise and the regulation of hepatic metabolism. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci.* (2015) 135:203–25. doi: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2015.07.010

11. Badmus OO, Hillhouse SA, Anderson CD, Hinds TD, Stec DE. Molecular mechanisms of metabolic associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD): functional analysis of lipid metabolism pathways. *Clin Sci.* (2022) 136(18):1347–66. doi: 10.1042/CS20220572

12. Hu C, Hoene M, Plomgaard P, Hansen JS, Zhao X, Li J, et al. Muscle-liver substrate fluxes in exercising humans and potential effects on hepatic metabolism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 105(4):1196–1209. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgz266

13. Marino JS, Stechschulte LA, Stec DE, Nestor-Kalinoski A, Coleman S, Hinds Jr TD. Glucocorticoid receptor beta induces hepatic steatosis by augmenting inflammation and inhibition of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha. *J Biol Chem.* (2016) 291(50):25776–788. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116. 752311

14. Rector RS, Uptergrove GM, Morris EM, Borengasser SJ, Laughlin MH, Booth FW, et al. Daily exercise vs. caloric restriction for prevention of

or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the OLETF rat model. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. (2011) 300(5):G874–83. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00510.2010

15. Linden MA, Fletcher JA, Morris EM, Meers GM, Laughlin MH, Booth FW, et al. Treating NAFLD in OLETF rats with vigorous-intensity interval exercise training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2015) 47(3):556–67. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 00000000000430

16. Thyfault JP, Rector RS. Exercise combats hepatic steatosis: potential mechanisms and clinical implications. *Diabetes*. (2020) 69(4):517-24. doi: 10. 2337/dbi18-0043

17. Creeden JF, Kipp ZA, Xu M, Flight RM, Moseley HNB, Martinez GJ, et al. Hepatic kinome atlas: an in-depth identification of kinase pathways in liver fibrosis of humans and rodents. *Hepatology.* (2022) 76(5):1376–88. doi: 10.1002/hep.32467

18. Thomas DT, DelCimmuto NR, Flack KD, Stec DE, Hinds Jr TD. Reactive oxygen Species (ROS) and antioxidants as immunomodulators in exercise: implications for heme oxygenase and bilirubin. *Antioxidants.* (2022) 11(2):179. doi: 10.3390/antiox11020179

19. Hinds Jr TD, Creeden JF, Gordon DM, Stec DF, Donald MC, Stec DE. Bilirubin nanoparticles reduce diet-induced hepatic steatosis, improve fat utilization, and increase plasma beta-hydroxybutyrate. *Front Pharmacol.* (2020) 11:594574. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.594574

20. Hinds Jr TD, Hosick PA, Hankins MW, Nestor-Kalinoski A, Stec DE. Mice with hyperbilirubinemia due to Gilbert's syndrome polymorphism are resistant to hepatic steatosis by decreased serine 73 phosphorylation of PPARalpha. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2017) 312(4):E244–E252. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo. 00396.2016

21. Hinds Jr TD, Burns KA, Hosick PA, McBeth L, Nestor-Kalinoski A, Drummond HA, et al. Biliverdin reductase A attenuates hepatic steatosis by inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3beta phosphorylation of serine 73 of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha. J Biol Chem. (2016) 291(48):25179–191. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.731703

22. Gordon DM, Adeosun SO, Ngwudike SI, Anderson CD, Hall JE, Hinds Jr TD, et al. CRISPR Cas9-mediated deletion of biliverdin reductase A (BVRA) in mouse liver cells induces oxidative stress and lipid accumulation. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* (2019) 672:108072. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2019.108072

23. Kim YJ, Kim HJ, Lee SG, Kim DH, In Jang S, Go HS, et al. Aerobic exercise for eight weeks provides protective effects towards liver and cardiometabolic health and adipose tissue remodeling under metabolic stress for one week: a study in mice. *Metab Clin Exp.* (2022) 130:155178. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2022. 155178

24. Flack KD, Hays HM, Moreland J, Long DE. Exercise for weight loss: further evaluating energy compensation with exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2020) 52 (11):2466–75. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002376

25. Berggren JR, Hulver MW, Dohm GL, Houmard JA. Weight loss and exercise: implications for muscle lipid metabolism and insulin action. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2004) 36(7):1191–5. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000074670.03001.98

26. Mora-Rodriguez R, Ortega JF, Ramirez-Jimenez M, Moreno-Cabanas A, Morales-Palomo F. Insulin sensitivity improvement with exercise training is mediated by body weight loss in subjects with metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Metab.* (2019) 46(3):210–218. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2019.05.004

27. Andersson C, Weeke P, Fosbøl EL, Brendorp B, Køber L, Coutinho W, et al. Acute effect of weight loss on levels of total bilirubin in obese, cardiovascular highrisk patients: an analysis from the lead-in period of the sibutramine cardiovascular outcome trial. *Metab Clin Exp.* (2009) 58(8):1109–15. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2009. 04.003

28. Ji LL. Exercise-induced modulation of antioxidant defense. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2002) 959:82–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb02085.x

29. Vargas-Mendoza N, Morales-Gonzalez A, Madrigal-Santillan EO, Madrigal-Bujaidar E, Alvarez-Gonzalez I, Garcia-Melo LF, et al. Antioxidant and adaptative response mediated by Nrf2 during physical exercise. *Antioxidants.* (2019) 8 (6):196. doi: 10.3390/antiox8060196

30. Radak Z, Chung HY, Koltai E, Taylor AW, Goto S. Exercise, oxidative stress and hormesis. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2008) 7(1):34–42. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2007.04.004

31. Radak Z, Chung HY, Goto S. Exercise and hormesis: oxidative stress-related adaptation for successful aging. *Biogerontology*. (2005) 6(1):71–5. doi: 10.1007/s10522-004-7386-7

32. Pingitore A, Lima GP, Mastorci F, Quinones A, Iervasi G, Vassalle C. Exercise and oxidative stress: potential effects of antioxidant dietary strategies in sports. *Nutrition*. (2015) 31(7-8):916–22. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2015.02.005

33. Mason SA, Trewin AJ, Parker L, Wadley GD. Antioxidant supplements and endurance exercise: current evidence and mechanistic insights. *Redox Biol.* (2020) 35:101471. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2020.101471

34. Higgins MR, Izadi A, Kaviani M. Antioxidants and exercise performance: with a focus on vitamin E and C supplementation. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17(22):8452. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17228452

35. Woronyczova J, Novakova M, Lenicek M, Batovsky M, Bolek E, Cifkova R, et al. Serum bilirubin concentrations and the prevalence of gilbert syndrome in elite athletes. *Sports Med Open.* (2022) 8(1):84. doi: 10.1186/s40798-022-00463-6

36. Gordon DM, Hong SH, Kipp ZA, Hinds Jr TD. Identification of binding regions of bilirubin in the ligand-binding pocket of the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-A (PPARalpha). *Molecules*. (2021) 26(10):2975. doi: 10.3390/ molecules26102975

37. Creeden JF, Gordon DM, Stec DE, Hinds Jr TD. Bilirubin as a metabolic hormone: the physiological relevance of low levels. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 320(2):E191–207. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00405.2020

38. Gordon DM, Neifer KL, Hamoud AA, Hawk CF, Nestor-Kalinoski AL, Miruzzi SA, et al. Bilirubin remodels murine white adipose tissue by reshaping mitochondrial activity and the coregulator profile of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha. *J Biol Chem.* (2020) 295(29):9804–22. doi: 10.1074/jbc. RA120.013700

39. Hinds Jr TD, Stec DE. Bilirubin safeguards cardiorenal and metabolic diseases: a protective role in health. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2019) 21(11):87. doi: 10.1007/s11906-019-0994-z

40. Gordon DM, Blomquist TM, Miruzzi SA, McCullumsmith R, Stec DE, Hinds Jr TD. RNA sequencing in human HepG2 hepatocytes reveals PPARalpha mediates transcriptome responsiveness of bilirubin. *Physiol Genomics*. (2019) 51(6):234–40. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00028.2019

41. Weaver L, Hamoud AR, Stec DE, Hinds Jr TD. Biliverdin reductase and bilirubin in hepatic disease. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2018) 314 (6):G668–G76. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00026.2018

42. Hinds Jr TD, Stec DE. Bilirubin, a cardiometabolic signaling molecule. *Hypertension.* (2018) 72(4):788–95. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11130

43. Hamoud AR, Weaver L, Stec DE, Hinds Jr TD. Bilirubin in the liver-gut signaling axis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 29(3):140–150. doi: 10.1016/j. tem.2018.01.002

44. Stec DE, John K, Trabbic CJ, Luniwal A, Hankins MW, Baum J, et al. Bilirubin binding to PPARalpha inhibits lipid accumulation. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11(4):e0153427. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153427

45. Vitek L, Tiribelli C. Bilirubin: the yellow hormone? J Hepatol. (2021) 75(6):1485–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.06.010

46. Fischbach F. A manual of laboratory and diagnostic tests. 9th ed Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (2014).

47. O'Brien L, Hosick PA, John K, Stec DE, Hinds Jr TD. Biliverdin reductase isozymes in metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2015) 26(4):212–20. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2015.02.001

48. Stec DE, Gordon DM, Nestor-Kalinoski AL, Donald MC, Mitchell ZL, Creeden JF, et al. Biliverdin reductase A (BVRA) knockout in adipocytes induces hypertrophy and reduces mitochondria in white fat of obese mice. *Biomolecules.* (2020) 10(3):387. doi: 10.3390/biom10030387

49. Chen W, Tumanov S, Fazakerley DJ, Cantley J, James DE, Dunn LL, et al. Bilirubin deficiency renders mice susceptible to hepatic steatosis in the absence

of insulin resistance. Redox Biol. (2021) 47:102152. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2021. 102152

50. Chen W, Maghzal GJ, Ayer A, Suarna C, Dunn LL, Stocker R. Absence of the biliverdin reductase-a gene is associated with increased endogenous oxidative stress. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2018) 115:156–65. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.11.020

51. Sundararaghavan VL, Sindhwani P, Hinds Jr TD. Glucuronidation and UGT isozymes in bladder: new targets for the treatment of uroepithelial carcinomas? *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8(2):3640–8. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12277

52. Hinds Jr TD, Creeden JF, Gordon DM, Spegele AC, Britton SL, Koch LG, et al. Rats genetically selected for high aerobic exercise capacity have elevated plasma bilirubin by upregulation of hepatic biliverdin reductase-A (BVRA) and suppression of UGT1A1. *Antioxidants.* (2020) 9(9):889. doi: 10.3390/antiox9090889

53. Woronyczova J, Novákova M, Lenicek M, Batovsky M, Bolek E, Cifkova R, et al. Serum bilirubin concentrations and the prevalence of gilbert syndrome in elite athletes. *Sports Med Open Access.* (2022) 8(1):84. doi: 10.1186/s40798-022-00463-6

54. Swift DL, Johannsen NM, Earnest CP, Blair SN, Church TS. Effect of different doses of aerobic exercise training on total bilirubin levels. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2012) 44(4):569–74. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182357dd4

55. Kabasakalis A, Tsalis G, Zafrana E, Loupos D, Mougios V. Effects of endurance and high-intensity swimming exercise on the redox status of adolescent male and female swimmers. *J Sports Sci.* (2014) 32(8):747–56. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2013.850595

56. Devries MC, Samjoo IA, Hamadeh MJ, Tarnopolsky MA. Effect of endurance exercise on hepatic lipid content, enzymes, and adiposity in men and women. *Obesity.* (2008) 16(10):2281-8. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.358

57. Stamatakis E, Straker I, Hamer M, Gebel K. The 2018 physical activity guidelines for Americans: what's new? Implications for clinicians and the public. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* (2019) 49(7):487–90. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2019.0609

58. Anđelković M, Baralić I, Đorđević B, Stevuljević JK, Radivojević N, Dikić N, et al. Hematological and biochemical parameters in elite soccer players during A competitive half season. *J Med Biochem.* (2015) 34(4):460–6. doi: 10.2478/jomb-2014-0057

59. Banfi G, Di Gaetano N, Lopez RS, Melegati G. Decreased mean sphered cell volume values in top-level rugby players are related to the intravascular hemolysis induced by exercise. *Lab Hematol.* (2007) 13(3):103–7. doi: 10.1532/ LH96.07012

60. Witek K, Scislowska J, Turowski D, Lerczak K, Lewandowska-Pachecka S, Pokrywka A. Total bilirubin in athletes, determination of reference range. *Biol Sport.* (2017) 34(1):45–8. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2017.63732

61. Fragala MS, Bi C, Chaump M, Kaufman HW, Kroll MH. Associations of aerobic and strength exercise with clinical laboratory test values. *PLoS One*. (2017) 12(10):e0180840. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180840

62. Zalavras A, Fatouros IG, Deli CK, Draganidis D, Theodorou AA, Soulas D, et al. Age-related responses in circulating markers of redox status in healthy adolescents and adults during the course of a training macrocycle. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2015) 2015:283921. doi: 10.1155/2015/283921

63. Hammouda O, Chtourou H, Chaouachi A, Chahed H, Ferchichi S, Kallel C, et al. Effect of short-term maximal exercise on biochemical markers of muscle damage, total antioxidant status, and homocysteine levels in football players. *Asian J Sports Med.* (2012) 3(4):239–46. doi: 10.5812/asjsm.34544

64. Fallon KE, Sivyer G, Sivyer K, Dare A. The biochemistry of runners in a 1600 km ultramarathon. *Br J Sports Med.* (1999) 33(4):264–9. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.33.4.264

65. Senturk UK, Gunduz F, Kuru O, Kocer G, Ozkaya YG, Yesilkaya A, et al. Exercise-induced oxidative stress leads hemolysis in sedentary but not trained humans. *J Appl Physiol.* (2005) 99(4):1434–41. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01392.2004

66. Miller BJ, Pate RR, Burgess W. Foot impact force and intravascular hemolysis during distance running. *Int J Sports Med.* (1988) 9(1):56–60. doi: 10. 1055/s-2007-1024979

67. Orino K, Lehman L, Tsuji Y, Ayaki H, Torti SV, Torti FM. Ferritin and the response to oxidative stress. *Biochem J.* (2001) 357(Pt 1):241–7. doi: 10.1042/bj3570241

68. Meneghini R. Iron homeostasis, oxidative stress, and DNA damage. Free Radic Biol Med. (1997) 23(5):783–92. doi: 10.1016/S0891-5849(97)00016-6

69. Pizza FX, Flynn MG, Boone JB, Rodriguez-Zayas JR, Andres FF. Serum haptoglobin and ferritin during a competitive running and swimming season. *Int J Sports Med.* (1997) 18(4):233–7. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-972625

70. Deruisseau KC, Roberts LM, Kushnick MR, Evans AM, Austin K, Haymes EM. Iron status of young males and females performing weight-training exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2004) 36(2):241–8. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000113483.13339.7B 71. Malcovati L, Pascutto C, Cazzola M. Hematologic passport for athletes competing in endurance sports: a feasibility study. *Haematologica*. (2003) 88 (5):570–81. doi: 10.3324/%25x

72. Abraham NG, Kappas A. Pharmacological and clinical aspects of heme oxygenase. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2008) 60(1):79–127. doi: 10.1124/pr.107.07104

73. Stec DE, Hinds Jr TD. Natural product heme oxygenase inducers as treatment for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21(24):9493. doi: 10.3390/ijms21249493

74. Adeosun SO, Moore KH, Lang DM, Nwaneri AC, Hinds Jr TD, Stec DE. A novel fluorescence-based assay for the measurement of biliverdin reductase activity. *React Oxyg Species.* (2018) 5(13):35–45. doi: 10.20455/ros.2018.809

75. Petriz BA, Gomes CP, Almeida JA, de Oliveira Jr GP, Ribeiro FM, Pereira RW, et al. The effects of acute and chronic exercise on skeletal muscle proteome. *J Cell Physiol.* (2017) 232(2):257–69. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25477

76. Hellsten Y, Nyberg M. Cardiovascular adaptations to exercise training. *Comp Physiol.* (2016) 6:1–32. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140080

77. Ferraro E, Giammarioli AM, Chiandotto S, Spoletini I, Rosano G. Exerciseinduced skeletal muscle remodeling and metabolic adaptation: redox signaling and role of autophagy. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2014) 21(1):154–76. doi: 10.1089/ars. 2013.5773

78. Vitek L. Bilirubin as a signaling molecule. *Med Res Rev.* (2020) 40 (4):1335-51. doi: 10.1002/med.21660

79. Hinds Jr TD, Adeosun SO, Alamodi AA, Stec DE. Does bilirubin prevent hepatic steatosis through activation of the PPARalpha nuclear receptor? *Med Hypotheses.* (2016) 95:54–7. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2016.08.013

80. Stocker R, Yamamoto Y, McDonagh AF, Glazer AN, Ames BN. Bilirubin is an antioxidant of possible physiological importance. *Science*. (1987) 235 (4792):1043–6. doi: 10.1126/science.3029864

81. Lanone S, Bloc S, Foresti R, Almolki A, Taille C, Callebert J, et al. Bilirubin decreases nos2 expression via inhibition of NAD(P)H oxidase: implications for protection against endotoxic shock in rats. *FASEB J.* (2005) 19(13):1890–2. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-2368fje

82. Vera T, Granger JP, Stec DE. Inhibition of bilirubin metabolism induces moderate hyperbilirubinemia and attenuates ANG II-dependent hypertension in mice. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2009) 297(3):R738–R43. doi: 10. 1152/ajpregu.90889.2008

83. Stec DE, Hosick PA, Granger JP. Bilirubin, renal hemodynamics, and blood pressure. *Front Pharmacol.* (2012) 3:18. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00018

84. Vera T, Stec DE. Moderate hyperbilirubinemia improves renal hemodynamics in ANG II-dependent hypertension. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*. (2010) 299(4):R1044–R9. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00316.2010

85. Kawamura K, Ishikawa K, Wada Y, Kimura S, Matsumoto H, Kohro T, et al. Bilirubin from heme oxygenase-1 attenuates vascular endothelial activation and dysfunction. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2005) 25(1):155–60. doi: 10.1161/ 01.ATV.0000148405.18071.6a

86. Pflueger A, Croatt AJ, Peterson TE, Smith LA, d'Uscio LV, Katusic ZS, et al. The hyperbilirubinemic gunn rat is resistant to the pressor effects of angiotensin II. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2005) 288(3):F552–F8. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal. 00278.2004

87. Bakrania BA, Spradley FT, Satchell SC, Stec DE, Rimoldi JM, Gadepalli RSV, et al. Heme oxygenase-1 is a potent inhibitor of placental ischemia-mediated endothelin-1 production in cultured human glomerular endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2018) 314(3):R427–R32. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00370.2017

88. Zhang S, Liu Y, Li Q, Dong X, Hu H, Hu R, et al. Exercise improved rat metabolism by raising PPAR-alpha. *Int J Sports Med.* (2011) 32(8):568–73. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1271755

89. Heffernan KS, Ranadive SM, Jae SY. Exercise as medicine for COVID-19: on PPAR with emerging pharmacotherapy. *Med Hypotheses*. (2020) 143:110197. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110197

90. Ahmetov II, Mozhayskaya IA, Flavell DM, Astratenkova IV, Komkova AI, Lyubaeva EV, et al. PPARalpha gene variation and physical performance in Russian athletes. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2006) 97(1):103–8. doi: 10.1007/s00421-006-0154-4

91. Tural E, Kara N, Agaoglu SA, Elbistan M, Tasmektepligil MY, Imamoglu O. PPAR-alpha and PPARGC1A gene variants have strong effects on aerobic performance of turkish elite endurance athletes. *Mol Biol Rep.* (2014) 41 (9):5799–804. doi: 10.1007/s11033-014-3453-6

92. Andrade-Souza VA, Ghiarone T, Sansonio A, Santos Silva KA, Tomazini F, Arcoverde L, et al. Exercise twice-a-day potentiates markers of mitochondrial biogenesis in men. FASEB J. (2020) 34(1):1602–19. doi: 10.1096/fj.201901207RR

93. Mosti MP, Ericsson M, Erben RG, Schuler C, Syversen U, Stunes AK. The PPARalpha agonist fenofibrate improves the musculoskeletal effects of exercise in ovariectomized rats. *Endocrinology*. (2016) 157(10):3924–34. doi: 10.1210/en. 2016-1114

94. Iemitsu M, Miyauchi T, Maeda S, Tanabe T, Takanashi M, Irukayama-Tomobe Y, et al. Aging-induced decrease in the PPAR-alpha level in hearts is improved by exercise training. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2002) 283(5): H1750–60. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01051.2001

95. Cabral-Santos C, Silveira LS, Chimin P, Rosa-Neto JC, Lira FS. Moderate aerobic exercise-induced cytokines changes are disturbed in PPARalpha knockout mice. *Cytokine*. (2020) 134:155207. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155207

96. Hinds Jr TD, Kipp ZA, Xu M, Yiannikouris FB, Morris AJ, Stec DF, et al. Adipose-specific PPARalpha knockout mice have increased lipogenesis by PASK-SREBP1 signaling and a polarity shift to inflammatory macrophages in white adipose tissue. *Cells.* (2021) 11(1):4. doi: 10.3390/cells11010004

97. Stec DE, Gordon DM, Hipp JA, Hong S, Mitchell ZL, Franco NR, et al. The loss of hepatic PPARalpha promotes inflammation and serum hyperlipidemia in diet-induced obesity. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2019) 317(5): R733–R745. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00153.2019

98. Fry CS, Lee JD, Jackson JR, Kirby TJ, Stasko SA, Liu HL, et al. Regulation of the muscle fiber microenvironment by activated satellite cells during hypertrophy. *FASEB J.* (2014) 28(4):1654–65. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-239426

99. Goh Q, Millay DP. Requirement of myomaker-mediated stem cell fusion for skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Elife*. (2017) 6:e20007. doi: 10.7554/eLife.20007

100. Goh Q, Song T, Petrany MJ, Cramer AA, Sun C, Sadayappan S, et al. Myonuclear accretion is a determinant of exercise-induced remodeling in skeletal muscle. *Elife.* (2019) 8:e44876. doi: 10.7554/eLife.44876

101. Ryall JG. Metabolic reprogramming as a novel regulator of skeletal muscle development and regeneration. *FEBS J.* (2013) 280(17):4004–13. doi: 10.1111/febs. 12189

102. Kase ET, Andersen B, Nebb HI, Rustan AC, Thoresen GH. 22-Hydroxycholesterols regulate lipid metabolism differently than T0901317 in human myotubes. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2006) 1761(12):1515–22. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbalip.2006.09.010

103. Muoio DM, Way JM, Tanner CJ, Winegar DA, Kliewer SA, Houmard JA, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha regulates fatty acid utilization in primary human skeletal muscle cells. *Diabetes*. (2002) 51(4):901–9. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.4.901

104. Russell AP, Feilchenfeldt J, Schreiber S, Praz M, Crettenand A, Gobelet C, et al. Endurance training in humans leads to fiber type-specific increases in levels of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1 and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha in skeletal muscle. *Diabetes.* (2003) 52(12):2874–81. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.12.2874

105. Krämer DK, Ahlsén M, Norrbom J, Jansson E, Hjeltnes N, Gustafsson T, et al. Human skeletal muscle fibre type variations correlate with PPAR alpha, PPAR delta and PGC-1 alpha mRNA. *Acta Physiol.* (2006) 188(3-4):207–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2006.01620.x

106. Bakrania B, Du Toit EF, Ashton KJ, Wagner KH, Headrick JP, Bulmer AC. Chronically elevated bilirubin protects from cardiac reperfusion injury in the Male gunn rat. *Acta Physiol.* (2017) 220(4):461–70. doi: 10.1111/apha.12858

107. Bakrania B, Du Toit EF, Ashton KJ, Kiessling CJ, Wagner KH, Headrick JP, et al. Hyperbilirubinemia modulates myocardial function, aortic ejection, and ischemic stress resistance in the gunn rat. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2014) 307(8):H1142–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00001.2014

108. Murray AJ, Knight NS, Cole MA, Cochlin LE, Carter E, Tchabanenko K, et al. Novel ketone diet enhances physical and cognitive performance. *FASEB J*. (2016) 30(12):4021–32. doi: 10.1096/fj.201600773R

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Hadi Nobari, University of Granada, Spain

REVIEWED BY

Francisco Tomás González-Fernández, University of Granada, Spain Tarak Driss, Université Paris Nanterre, France Beat Knechtle, University of Zurich, Switzerland

*CORRESPONDENCE Lucie Lerebourg Iucie.lerebourg.pro@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 30 September 2022 ACCEPTED 16 December 2022 PUBLISHED 13 January 2023

CITATION

Lerebourg L and Coquart J (2023) Connected model to optimize performance. Front. Sports Act. Living 4:1054783. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.1054783

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lerebourg and Coquart. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Connected model to optimize performance

Lucie Lerebourg^{1*} and Jérémy Coquart²

¹Univ. Rouen-Normandie, Laboratoire Centre D'Études des Transformations des Activités Physiques et Sportives (CETAPS - UR 3832), Mont-Saint-Aignan, France, ²Univ. Lille, Univ. Artois, Univ. Littoral Côte D'Opale, ULR 7369 - UREPSSS - Unité de Recherche Pluridisciplinaire Sport Santé Société, Lille, France

KEYWORDS

modelling, big data, artificial intelligence, connected technologies, sport, run, estimation

Introduction

The analysis and prediction of running performance have been the subject of much research. Several tools using the relationship between distance (or speed) and its time limit, as well as physiological models were developed to understand human endurance and to explain performance based on physiological parameters (1-3). Tables (4), mathematical equations (e.g., logarithmic, hyperbolic, exponential, linear...) (5-7) including the concepts of critical speed (8, 9) or power law (3, 10), nomograms (11, 12), and Artificial Intelligence (AI) algorithms (13, 14) are notable examples. Although many approaches are valid and accurate to predict performance over a given distance (e.g., nomograms, concept of critical velocity or power law...) (15), these approaches notably allow the prediction of a "final time", which could be commonly referred to as performance. It is not uncommon for the running performance predictions are based on the theoretical calculation of running time using the best performance(s) achieved over other distances, and on some equivalence between the time references of the different distances covered (12, 15-17). However, prediction approaches, more and more elaborate considering empirical, biomechanical or physiological data, have been developed over the years (18, 19), notably through the evolution of technologies such as AI (14, 19, 20). These prediction approaches can be useful for calibrating, quantifying sessions, but also detecting, for example, future athletes with high potential (16, 17, 19, 21). They can also provide additional information (e.g., identify specific training intensities...) (16, 17, 21) to traditional laboratory methods measuring the main physiological parameters of running performance (e.g., maximal oxygen uptake: VO_{2max}, maximum aerobic speed, aerobic endurance capacity, etc.) (8, 22). However, beyond the predicted time, it could be interesting to question the conditions for achieving this final time, in other words, to question the "path" that the athlete should take to reach it. Indeed, if performance prediction can be useful to optimize performance, to define specific training intensities, to plan split times during competitions (16, 17, 21), this does not necessarily mean that the average speed obtained through the predicted final time, to achieve performance, must be constant throughout the distance covered. The approaching condition of running could then be rethought other than by the fact that a constant or regular speed is ideal by focusing in particular on other physiological parameters than $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, the energy cost and the endurance capacity commonly used in performance modeling [i.e., paradigm of constant speed from the Di Prampero equation (23)]. To achieve a performance, we could for example ask ourselves about the optimal speed (e.g., target speed) and the strategy for managing it (e.g., constant speed, pace variation...) but also the conditions for achieving it (e.g., weather conditions, race profile, diet, sleep, sports equipment, technologies...), which can delay voluntary exhaustion, but also allow running the given distance as quickly as possible (24-31). To contextualise this, we can take the example of the "Ineos 1:59 Challenge" project, where Kenyan Eliud Kipchoge aimed to break the iconic 2-h barrier in the marathon. The result is that strategies such as a relatively "regular" running pace (i.e., 2 min 49 s per km) as well as the use of "new generation" running shoes (e.g., shoes with carbon plates and rubber) have proven to be effective, It should be noted that a similar event took place in the United States in the early 1990s, where the runners' performance was not homologated by World Athletics for various reasons (e.g., intermittent pacers, car emitting a laser beam...). From these observations, we can then be led to wonder beyond the final time that could be predicted, about the "ideal" running pattern that could optimise running performance while taking into consideration (e.g., in real time from connected objects...) the multifactorial aspect of the latter (i.e., physiological, biomechanical, psychological, environmental and technological factors) (cf. Figure 1) (24-31). Therefore, the aim of this opinion is to try to answer these questions. For this, we consider turning to Big Data (i.e., megadata collected to designate a set of digital data produced by the use of new technologies) and AI, which seem to offer new work perspectives for the prediction of sports performance (13, 20, 32-36).

The current landscape

Big data and connected technologies

At present, increasing amounts of data are collected in many disciplines including running, in particular through sensors (e.g., Global Positioning Sensor: GPS, accelerometer, heart rate monitor...), connected objects (e.g., smart meters such as watches, glasses, textiles, insoles...) (37–39) content published on databases (e.g., performance, split times during competitions, results...). If we are interested, for example, at these data commonly collected in running *via* connected devices and/or smartphone applications (e.g., Strava*, Garmin*, Runtastic*...) (40), the latter can make it possible to analyze, or even predict, performance by monitoring several variables (e.g., pace or speed of movement, variation in the altitude difference of the course, amplitude and frequency of strides...) in a non-invasive way in real conditions (i.e., with possible real-time feedback) and especially outside a laboratory (14, 34, 37, 41-43). The research of Emig and Peltonen (34), Smyth and Muniz-Pumares (30) has notably highlighted mathematical modelling based on the use of connected wearable technologies such as wrist devices (e.g., connected watches) or smartphones to correlate performance indices with the volume and intensity of training in order to quantify, for example, the optimal training load. These studies (30, 34) have chosen to integrate in their algorithms (already taking into consideration past references on the target distance), the runners' training regime (e.g., distance, time, running pace and elevation gain) 6 weeks before the prepared competition. The use of these connected technologies and Big Data, suggests new ways of quantifying and predicting athletic performance in real conditions. Other technologies, still not widely used in the running world, such as connected insoles could also allow the collection and exploitation of new data in order to understand and optimize sports performance (e.g., integration of these data in prediction algorithms) (44, 45). However, beyond the quality of the recovered data (i.e., precision, accuracy with over or underestimation of raw values, like recorded energy expenditure depending running intensities, but also distances significantly underestimated and less accurate in the forest areas to the road area, that can highlight the limitations of connected objects) (46-48), the exploitation of these data could be complex in view of the quantity of available data (Big Data) obtained through connected technologies. What methodology/approach could then respond to this Big Data problem?

Artificial intelligence

AI used in many fields of science (e.g., meteorology, medicine, sport sciences...) (32, 49, 50) suggests new ways of quantifying and predicting sports performance in real-life conditions, given the scientific publications obtained in recent years. Indeed, Hammerling et al. (20) performed predictions of race times in the 2013 Boston Marathon for all runners who reached the halfway point of the race but did not have the opportunity to cross the line due to an attack (i.e., interruption of the race following the explosion of two bombs placed near the finish line) and thus to recognize the achievements of these runners. To make these predictions, Hammerling et al. (20) used a database of all previous years' performances at the same event (i.e., Boston Marathon of 2010 and 2011) and took into account the "real" times (i.e., time intervals of 5 km as well as the final 2,195 km) of the runners engaged in this event before they were interrupted by the organization. The use of different AI algorithms including K-Nearest Neighbors (KNN), made it possible to predict the performance of all the runners (i.e., a final time based on the prediction of intermediate times), i.e., the time they could have achieved over the distance, to establish a ranking of the



runners involved in this event. To do this, authors created an independent validation dataset from a fraction of the runners (25.7%) who finished the race and then ran dropout simulations at various points of the race on these runners in the same proportion as the true runners who unfortunately did not finish. The predicted finish times of this sample of fake runners who drop out were then compared with the actual finish times of these runners to assess the effectiveness of the statistical approaches. These predictions shown to be relatively accurate (i.e., Mean Absolute Error of 1 min 30 s on average) with an increased accuracy for runners who had to abandon later. In addition, beyond the prediction of performance, *via* AI, based on real data recovered during competitions, other work (14) has highlighted the use of supervised learning algorithms based on real training

conditions in amateur runners to predict marathon performance, for example.

Modelling project

Given the multifactorial aspect of performance (25–31, 51) and the fact that performance prediction is a subject of great interest to athletes and coaches, we could "legitimately" ask ourselves what future prediction models might look like? Taking into account previous work in this field of AI and the current evolution of connected technologies such as textiles or insoles, would the challenge then be to think of an approach, an equation that is able to "simply" optimize a large number of factors correlated with past data (e.g., data based on

training program or even the start of a race), "actual" (i.e., data obtained in real time, such as heart rate) and/or future (e.g., estimates based on future conditions and forecasts during a race, such as changes in weather conditions) of running performance by connected objects? Could we not try to propose a multifactor equation:

$$Perf = Fact_{Phys} \times Fact_{Biom} \times Fact_{Psy} \times Fact_{Env} \times Fact_{Tech}$$

where each physiological (Fact_{Phys}), biomechanical (Fact_{Biom}), psychological (*Fact*_{Psy}), environmental (*Fact*_{Env}) and/or technological (Fact_{Tech}) factor would be expressed through the intermediary and preponderance of indices conducive to performance without taking the risk of straying into "prediction-fiction". In this case, it would be a matter of extracting and using data from wearable devices to identify potential performance indices and then transform them into significant parameters with the ultimate objective of designing a "fair" and "accurate" modeling of running performance. This would be an "intelligent" model capable of taking into account a large amount of information based on physiological factors (e.g., values of critical speed, HR, acceleration, muscle oxygenation, body temperature, hydration rate...), biomechanics (e.g., values of amplitude and frequency of the stride, strength, muscle power, foot placement on the ground...), psychological (e.g., stress indices, motivation, psychological state or personality trait related to the challenge of the competition), environmental (e.g., weather indices, course profile, context of the race...) and technological (e.g., energy storage/return values of shoes, aerodynamic values of textiles) in order to be able to "coach" the athlete at the present time ("T" time), either to indicate to him/her, for example, to accelerate, stabilize or reduce his/her running speed according to the effort he is making and the effort he/ she will still have to make with the "ultimate" objective of optimizing sports performance (Figure 1). To develop such a formula, we could use, for example, multiple regression to extract and use the relevant data in the model. However, we should be careful about the risk of multicollinearity if one of the explanatory variables in a model is a combination of one or more other explanatory variables in that model, thus distorting the coefficient estimates.

Discussion

The use of connected technologies combined with complex algorithmic methods, such as AI, could offer new perspectives for modeling and/or predicting running performance. However, performance modeling based exclusively on connected data as well as the use of an AI method due to a large amount of data could be relatively limited in relation to:

- The quantity and quality of raw data extracted. How to limit the performance prediction bias related to the precision and/ or accuracy of connected devices (46–48)?
- The relevance of some data (i.e., parameters using to qualify or define performance according to existing inter-individual differences between runners or type of race, for example).
- The scientific mastery needed to make sense of the data (e.g., modeling procedure defining the algorithms) (52) and to obtain valid results with respects to the varieties of different algorithmic approaches that can be applied to the same data set (e.g., the ratio used for the data sets of the same size, the ratio used for training and test datasets, the number of hidden layers or the training rate for training a neural network, the number of k in KNN, the type of distance in KNN...) (14, 32, 53, 54)...

Thus, while this perspective of a "connected multifactorial" model seems to be "relatively simple" because data can easily be made public or exploitable *via* databases, it may be sufficiently complicated to model due to several different statistical/algorithmic approaches to integrate to discriminate significant performance factors. So, instinct or calculation? This is the real question that seems to have to be asked before even engaging in modelling (or even prediction) that could tend towards fiction.

Author contributions

LL wrote the first draft. JC helped conceptualize the work and edited and provided further input. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Billat LV, Koralsztein JP, Morton RH. Time in human endurance models. From empirical models to physiological models. *Sports Med Auckl NZ*. (1999) 27:359–79. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199927060-00002

2. Hill AV. Muscular movement in man: the factors governing speed and recovery from fatigue. *Muscular Mov Man Factors Gov Speed Recovery Fatigue*. New York: Mc Graw-Hill (1927) 104:41–4.

3. Kennelly AE. An approximate law of fatigue in the speeds of racing animals. Proc Am Acad Arts Sci. (1906) 42:275–331. doi: 10.2307/20022230

4. Daniels J. Daniels' running formula. Amphora: Editions Amphora (2016). 337.

5. Riegel PS. Athletic records and human endurance: a time-vs.-distance equation describing world-record performances may be used to compare the relative endurance capabilities of various groups of people. *Am Sci.* (1981) 69:285–90. http://www.jstor.org/stable/27850427

6. Keogh A, Smyth B, Caulfield B, Lawlor A, Berndsen J, Doherty C. Prediction equations for marathon performance: a systematic review. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2019) 14:1159–69. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2019-0360

7. Alvero-Cruz JR, Carnero EA, García MAG, Alacid F, Correas-Gómez L, Rosemann T, et al. Predictive performance models in long-distance runners: a narrative review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:8289. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17218289

8. Hughson RL, Orok CJ, Staudt LE. A high velocity treadmill running test to assess endurance running potential. *Int J Sports Med.* (1984) 5:23–5. doi: 10. 1055/s-2008-1025875

9. Gamelin FX, Coquart JM, Ferrari N, Vodougnon H, Matran R, Leger L, et al. Prediction of one-hour running performance using constant duration tests. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2006) 20:735–9. doi: 10.1519/R-17905.1

10. Vandewalle H. Modelling of running performances: comparisons of powerlaw, hyperbolic, logarithmic, and exponential models in elite endurance runners. *BioMed Res Int.* (2018) 2018:8203062. doi: 10.1155/2018/8203062

11. Mercier D, Léger L, Desjardins M. Nomogramme pour prédire la performance, le VO2max et l'endurance relative en course de fond. *Méd Sport.* (1984) 58:181–7. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/297917125_Nomo gramme_pour_predire_la_performance_le_VO2max_et_l'endurance_relative_en_ course_de_fond_Medecine_du_Sport_58_4_181-7_1984

12. Vandewalle H. A nomogram of performances in endurance running based on logarithmic model of péronnet-thibault. *Am J Eng Res.* (2017) 6:78–85. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319556959_A_Nomogram_Of_Perfor mances_In_Endurance_Running_Based_On_Logarithmic_Model_Of_Peronnet-Thibault

13. Berndsen J, Smyth B, Lawlor A. Pace my race: recommendations for marathon running. Proceedings of the 13th ACM conference on recommender systems (2019). p. 246-50

14. Ruiz-Mayo D, Pulido E, Martunoz G. Marathon performance prediction of amateur runners based on training session data. *Proc Mach Learn Data Min Sports Anal.* (2016). https://dtai.cs.kuleuven.be/events/MLSA16/papers/paper_12.pdf

15. Lerebourg L. Prédiction de la performance en course à pied: demi-fond et fond. [thèse de doctorat]. Normandie (2021).

16. Coquart JB, Mercier D, Tabben M, Bosquet L. Influence of sex and specialty on the prediction of middle-distance running performances using the Mercier et al.'s nomogram. *J Sports Sci.* (2015) 33:1124–31. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2014.986499

17. Tabben M, Bosquet L, Coquart JB. Effect of performance level on the prediction of middle-distance-running performances using a nomogram. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2016) 11:623–6. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0471

18. Morton RH. A 3-parameter critical power model. *Ergonomics*. (1996) 39:611-9. doi: 10.1080/00140139608964484

19. Mulligan M, Adam G, Emig T. A minimal power model for human running performance. *PloS One.* (2018) 13:e0206645. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206645

20. Hammerling D, Cefalu M, Cisewski J, Dominici F, Parmigiani G, Paulson C, et al. Completing the results of the 2013 Boston marathon. *PloS One.* (2014) 9: e93800. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093800

21. Blythe DAJ, Király FJ. Prediction and quantification of individual athletic performance of runners. *PloS One.* (2016) 11:e0157257. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0157257

22. Joyner MJ, Coyle EF. Endurance exercise performance: the physiology of champions. J Physiol. (2008) 586:35-44. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007.143834

23. Di Prampero PE. The energy cost of human locomotion on land and in water. Int J Sports Med. (1986) 7:55–72. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1025736

24. Helou NE. Evolution des performances sportives: apport de l'épidémiologie pour l'analyse des performances sportives et des influences physiologiques, génétiques et environnementales sur les progressions humaines au cours de l'ère olympique. PhD thesis, Université Paris 5 Renée Descartes (2010).

25. Smith DJ. A framework for understanding the training process leading to elite performance. *Sports Med Auckl NZ.* (2003) 33:1103–26. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200333150-00003

26. Boullosa D, Esteve-Lanao J, Casado A, Peyré-Tartaruga LA, Gomes da Rosa R, Del Coso J. Factors affecting training and physical performance in recreational endurance runners. *Sports.* (2020) 8:35. doi: 10.3390/sports8030035

27. Hoogkamer W, Kipp S, Frank JH, Farina EM, Luo G, Kram R. A comparison of the energetic cost of running in marathon racing shoes. *Sports Med Auckl NZ.* (2018) 48:1009–19. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0811-2

28. Birrer D, Morgan G. Psychological skills training as a way to enhance an athlete's performance in high-intensity sports. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. (2010) 20 (Suppl 2):78–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01188.x

29. Aughey RJ. Applications of GPS technologies to field sports. Int J Sports Physiol Perform. (2011) 6:295–310. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.6.3.295

30. Smyth B, Muniz-Pumares D. Calculation of critical speed from raw training data in recreational marathon runners. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2020) 52:2637–45. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002412

31. Beckmann J, Elbe A-M. Sport psychological interventions in competitive sports. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing (2015). https://www.cambridgescholars.com/resources/pdfs/978-1-4438-6519-7-sample.pdf

32. Bunker R, Susnjak T. The application of machine learning techniques for predicting results in team sport: a review. *J Artif Intell Res.* (2022) 73:1285–322. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.22427.62245

33. Bunker RP, Thabtah F. A machine learning framework for sport result prediction. *Appl Comput Inform.* (2019) 15:27–33. doi: 10.1016/j.aci.2017.09.005

34. Emig T, Peltonen J. Human running performance from real-world big data. Nat Commun. (2020) 11:4936. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18737-6

35. Maszczyk A, Gołaś A, Pietraszewski P, Roczniok R, Zając A, Stanula A. Application of neural and regression models in sports results prediction. *Procedia Soc Behav Sci.* (2014) 117:482–7. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.02.249

36. Wiseman O. Using machine learning to predict the winning score of professional golf events on the PGA tour. Dublin: National College of Ireland (2016).

37. Spender A, Bullen C, Altmann-Richer L, Cripps J, Duffy R, Falkous C, et al. Wearables and the internet of things: considerations for the life and health insurance industry. *Br Actuar J*. (2019) 24:E22. doi: 10.1017/S1357321719000072

38. Pantelopoulos A, Bourbakis NG. A survey on wearable sensor-based systems for health monitoring and prognosis. *IEEE Trans Syst Man Cybern Part C Appl Rev.* (2009) 40:1–12. doi: 10.1109/TSMCC.2009.2032660

39. Bandodkar AJ, Wang J. Non-invasive wearable electrochemical sensors: a review. *Trends Biotechnol.* (2014) 32:363–71. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2014.04.005

 Kwapisz JR, Weiss GM, Moore SA. Activity recognition using cell phone accelerometers. ACM SigKDD Explor Newsl. (2011) 12:74–82. doi: 10.1145/ 1964897.1964918

41. Camomilla V, Bergamini E, Fantozzi S, Vannozzi G. Trends supporting the in-field use of wearable inertial sensors for sport performance evaluation: a systematic review. *Sensors*. (2018) 18:873. doi: 10.3390/s18030873

42. Higginson BK. Methods of running gait analysis. Curr Sports Med Rep. (2009) 8:136–41. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e3181a6187a

43. Norris M, Anderson R, Kenny IC. Method analysis of accelerometers and gyroscopes in running gait: a systematic review. *Proc Inst Mech Eng Part P J Sports Eng Technol.* (2014) 228:3–15. doi: 10.1177/1754337113502472

44. Adesida Y, Papi E, McGregor AH. Exploring the role of wearable technology in sport kinematics and kinetics: a systematic review. *Sensors*. (2019) 19:E1597. doi: 10.3390/s19071597

45. Giraldo-Pedroza A, Lee WC-C, Lam W-K, Coman R, Alici G. Effects of wearable devices with biofeedback on biomechanical performance of running-a systematic review. *Sensors.* (2020) 20:E6637. doi: 10.3390/s20226637

46. Roos L, Taube W, Beeler N, Wyss T. Validity of sports watches when estimating energy expenditure during running. *BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil.* (2017) 9:22. doi: 10.1186/s13102-017-0089-6

47. Gilgen-Ammann R, Schweizer T, Wyss T. Accuracy of distance recordings in eight positioning-enabled sport watches: instrument validation study. *JMIR MHealth UHealth.* (2020) 8:e17118. doi: 10.2196/17118

48. Rawstorn JC, Maddison R, Ali A, Foskett A, Gant N. Rapid directional change degrades GPS distance measurement validity during intermittent intensity running. *PloS One.* (2014) 9:e93693. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093693

49. Huang Z-Q, Chen Y-C, Wen C-Y. Real-time weather monitoring and prediction using city buses and machine learning. *Sensors.* (2020) 20:5173. doi: 10.3390/s20185173

50. Uddin S, Khan A, Hossain ME, Moni MA. Comparing different supervised machine learning algorithms for disease prediction. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak.* (2019) 19:281. doi: 10.1186/s12911-019-1004-8

51. Helou NE, Tafflet M, Berthelot G, Tolaini J, Marc A, Guillaume M, et al. Impact of environmental parameters on marathon

running performance. *PloS One.* (2012) 7:e37407. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0037407

52. Yang L, Shami A. On hyperparameter optimization of machine learning algorithms: theory and practice. *Neurocomputing*. (2020) 415:295–316. doi: 10. 1016/j.neucom.2020.07.061

53. Peace IC, Uzoma AO, Ita SA, Iibi S. A comparative analysis of K-NN and ANN techniques in machine learning. *Int J Eng Res Technol.* (2015) 4:420–5. doi: 10.17577/IJERTV4IS030625

54. Ajiboye AR, Abdullah-Arshah R, Hongwu Q. Evaluating the effect of dataset size on predictive model using supervised learning technique. *Int J Softw Eng Comput Sci.* (2015) 1:75–84. doi: 10.15282/ijsecs.1.2015.6. 0006

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Gavin L. Moir, East Stroudsburg University, United States

REVIEWED BY Matthew Miltenberger, East Stroudsburg University, United States Brandon Snyder, East Stroudsburg University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Antonio Gualtieri 🖾 antonio.gualtieri@juventus.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 05 December 2022 ACCEPTED 02 January 2023 PUBLISHED 13 February 2023

CITATION

Gualtieri A, Rampinini E, Dello Iacono A and Beato M (2023) High-speed running and sprinting in professional adult soccer: Current thresholds definition, match demands and training strategies. A systematic review. Front. Sports Act. Living 5:1116293. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1116293

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Gualtieri, Rampinini, Dello lacono and Beato. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

High-speed running and sprinting in professional adult soccer: Current thresholds definition, match demands and training strategies. A systematic review

Antonio Gualtieri^{1,2*}, Ermanno Rampinini³, Antonio Dello Iacono⁴ and Marco Beato²

¹Sport Science and R&D Department, Juventus Football Club, Torino, Italy, ²School of Health and Sports Sciences, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom, ³Human Performance Laboratory, MAPEI Sport Research Centre, Olgiate Olona, Italy, ⁴Division of Sport and Exercise, School of Health and Life Sciences, University of the West of Scotland, Hamilton, United Kingdom

The aims of this systematic review were (1) to summarize the evidence on absolute velocity thresholds used to classify high-speed running and sprinting, (2) to examine the existing evidence about the individualized thresholds approach, (3) to describe high-speed and sprint running distance match demands, and (4) to provide training strategies for eliciting HSR and sprinting during training sessions in professional adult soccer. This systematic review was conducted following the PRISMA 2020 guidelines. After the authors' screening, 30 studies were included in this review. This review found that, to date, there is no consensus on the absolute thresholds defining high-speed and sprint running in adult soccer players. Until international standards are defined, it is reasonable to set absolute thresholds considering the range of values found in the literature collected in this review. Relative velocity thresholds could be considered for specific training sessions whose goal is to reach near maximal velocity exposure. During official matches, highspeed and sprint running distances ranged from 911 to 1,063 m and 223-307 m, respectively, in professional female soccer players, while ranges from 618 to 1,001 m and 153–295 m, respectively, in professional male soccer players. During training, game-based drills designed in formats using relative areas per player greater than 225 m² and 300 m² appear to be adequate for achieving high-speed running and sprinting exposure, respectively, for male players. The combination of game-based, running exercises and soccer circuit-based drills is advisable to ensure adequate high-speed and sprint running exposure both at a team and individual level.

KEYWORDS

football, GNSS, GPS, velocity thresholds, team sports, elite sports

Introduction

Soccer is a physically demanding team-sport characterized by an intermittent activity profile with high-intensity activities such as accelerations, decelerations, changes of direction, sprinting, jumping, and tackling interspersed by low-intensity phases of passive (i.e., standing) and active recovery (e.g., walking, jogging) (1, 2). The match play intensity in male soccer has considerably increased over the last 15 years, especially due to the greater high-speed running (HSR) (distance covered at speeds between 19.8 km·h⁻¹ and 25.1 km·h⁻¹ increased ~29%) and sprint (distance >25.1 km·h⁻¹ increased ~50%) locomotive demands, which now account for ~7%–11% and ~1%–3% relatively to the total distance covered during a match, respectively (2–4). Similarly,

intense running in female soccer has increased across various playing positions by approximately 16%-32% from the 2015 to the 2019 Fédération Internationale de Football Association (FIFA) World Cup (5). The evolution of soccer matches intensity implies that players should be adequately prepared to cope with the physical demands of the game. Furthermore, HSR and sprint activities are also considered as key determinants for successful performance (6). To illustrate, straight sprinting has been identified as the single most frequent locomotive action preceding goal situations, performed by either the scoring player or the assisting one (7, 8). Moreover, there is evidence highlighting significant positive associations between HSR and sprint distances covered by players in specific positions (e.g., wide midfielders and forwards) and the number of matches won by their team (9). Accordingly, the ability to sustain HSR and sprinting can be considered a key characteristic for soccer players to compete at the professional level (10). Therefore, developing players' capacity to perform HSR and sprinting is paramount for the coaching staff and sport science departments in professional soccer.

In the past, low velocity thresholds (i.e., $14.4 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1}-15 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1}$) were selected to define HSR and sprinting. That was due to the low reliability of wearable micro-technologies such as Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) and video tracking systems devices available at those times, usually sampling at frequencies lower than 5 Hz (11-13). The advances in these tracking systems have enabled a more accurate quantification of soccer matches and training loads for activities performed at higher velocity (14, 15). At present, the available GNSS technology is deemed valid for measuring distances covered at HSR and peak velocity in sports (16) as well as reliable with excellent inter-unit reliability reported for linear sprint distances [coefficient of variation (CV) = from 1.64% to 2.91%] (17) and sport specific circuits (14). Consequently, tracking technologies are now more commonly used for monitoring HSR and sprinting distances during training and competitions in soccer (18). Despite this widespread use, the current practices among soccer practitioners and sport scientists are not exempt of limitations especially due to the non-standard definitions of HSR and sprinting and the relative velocity thresholds set for their quantification (19). Nowadays, while the official reference thresholds in official competitions of soccer governing organizations such as the Union of European Football Associations (UEFA) and the FIFA are 19 km·h⁻¹ and 23 km·h⁻¹ and 20 $\text{km}{\cdot}\text{h}^{-1}$ and 25 $\text{km}{\cdot}\text{h}^{-1}$ for HSR and sprinting in women and men, respectively, a large heterogeneity emerges from the scientific literature (5, 20). Therefore, a systematic review that summarizes the evidence on velocity thresholds reference values specifically for professional female and male soccer is needed. The unfolding evidence would facilitate data and knowledge sharing between sport science departments and possibly foster the design of multicentric studies involving clubs from different countries, allowing less uncertain and more robust conclusions to be drawn.

More recently, the use of individual relative thresholds has been proposed as an alternative approach to arbitrary velocity thresholds selection for better quantifying external load measures in soccer (18). For example, in a recent study comparing external loads between starting and non-starting players during a 21-day congested fixture period of a Serie A team, significant betweengroup differences for sprint distance emerged only when individualized thresholds (i.e., 80% of the maximum peak velocity) were used. This may suggest that the selection of velocity thresholds should account for the individual maximal velocity to accurately quantify sprint distance outcomes during training and matches (21). Nevertheless, given that only preliminary evidence is available on this topic, further research is warranted to investigate the effectiveness of using individual relative thresholds in soccer.

The monitoring of HSR and sprinting distance has been traditionally used to inform training practices with the aim to physically prepare soccer players to the match demands. However, some training contents and drills are unable to elicit HSR or sprinting: summarizing the literature pertaining HSR and sprinting demands and outcomes across different types of exercises can allow practitioners to make evidence-informed decisions when planning training sessions aimed at ensuring adequate HSR and sprint distances exposure.

Therefore, the aims of this systematic review were: (1) to summarize the evidence on velocity thresholds used to classify HSR and sprinting in adult professional female and male soccer players, (2) to examine the existing evidence about the use of individualized thresholds, (3) to describe the HSR and sprinting demands during soccer matches, and (4) to provide training strategies for eliciting HSR and sprinting during training sessions.

Methods

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Protocols (PRISMA) statement was consulted prior to the start of this review and the checklist completed (22). The review methods were established prior to the conduct of the review (including review question, search strategy and inclusion/exclusion criteria) and no significant deviations from the protocol were made. For this review, an assessment of the risk of bias was not performed since the complexity of judging the quality of observational studies (23).

Search methods for identification of studies

The same systematic search was performed in PubMed (MEDLINE), Web of Science and SPORTDiscus (EBSCO) until October 2022 with no restriction for year of publication. The following search strategy adapted for each database was used: (("football" OR "soccer") AND ("adult" OR "senior")) AND (("high speed" OR "sprint") AND ("running" OR "distance" OR "effort")) AND ((("match" OR "game") AND ("demand" OR "request")) OR ("training" OR "session")) (Table 1).

In addition, manual searching, and reference checking have been performed by three independent reviewers (AG, MB and ER) to search other relevant reports.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Studies were included if they met the following criteria: (1) original research article; (2) the study was published in English and in a peer-reviewed journal; (3) the research design was either an observational

Variable	Search terms
Population	("football" OR "soccer") AND ("adult" OR "senior")
Load	("high speed" OR "sprint") AND ("running" OR "distance" OR "effort" OR "velocity")
Variable	(("match" OR "game") AND ("demand" OR "request")) OR ("training" OR "session")
Final search	Combination of the three groups: "Population" AND "Load" AND "Variable"

study or an intervention study including a control group; (4) participants were professional soccer players of any sex and ≥ 18 years of age; and (5) the study reported HSR or sprint distances outcomes, defined according to arbitrary or individualized velocity thresholds and collected during official matches or training sessions. Manuscripts were excluded from the review in any of the following cases: (1) sport or football code was different from 11v11 soccer (e.g., American and Australian Football); (2) the subjects played at a lower level of the third national league (if not defined as professional players); (3) metrics reported did not include HSR and sprinting values; (4) GNSS sample frequency used in the study was under 5 Hz, since HSR and sprinting distances have been shown to be less accurate and reliable when tracked with 5 Hz units (12, 13); (5) data came from manual coding.

Data collection and analysis

Two reviewers (AG and MB) independently assessed titles and abstracts of all identified articles, which were downloaded into a web app for systematic reviews (rayyan.qcri.org, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Qatar) (24). A third independent reviewer was consulted to settle conflict (ER).

Data extraction

Two reviewers (AG and MB) independently extracted data from all relevant articles by reading the articles in full. Key areas of interest were elucidated, and the information extracted included:

- Study population (sample size, gender, competition level and Club's name when available).
- Number of training sessions or weeks, number of games, number of seasons included in the study.
- High-speed and sprint running metrics, adopted absolute and/or individualized thresholds.
- Details from the study (main findings, average training or match values about physical demand).

Results

Search results

The systematic search through the 3 databases (i.e., Pubmed, Web of Science, SPORTDiscus) produced 823 records, which were screened using a web app for systematic reviews (rayyan.qcri.org, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Qatar) (24) to remove any duplications. The summary of the systematic search was as follows:

- 697 results on Pubmed
- 76 results on Web of Science
- 50 results on SPORTDiscus

After removing duplicates (n = 32), to enable simultaneous screening against the inclusion–exclusion criteria, titles and abstracts were screened to remove articles that were clearly not relevant. At this stage, 753 records were excluded. The full texts of the remaining 38 articles were then accessed for complete screening with 18 studies being excluded as did not meet the inclusion criteria. Ten additional studies were found through other sources, 3 from authors' archives and 7 following references screening of the 38 articles accessed. Independent screening results were then combined, and any disagreements was resolved by consensus discussion between the authors (AG, MB, and ER). After the final screening, 30 studies were included in this systematic review. The PRISMA flow diagram for the description of the overall process is reported in Figure 1.

Descriptive characteristics of the included studies

After final screening, 1 longitudinal observational study and 29 observational studies were included in the systematic review. Data regarding sample size, gender, age, load metrics and results about match and training demand were extracted, verified for accuracy, and reported in Table 2.

Four studies were carried out with female players, 25 with male players and 1 with both female and male players. These studies were carried out between 2013 and 2022 and comprised a total of 1,897 participants, divided as follows: 97 adult females and 1,800 adult males. The total number of analyzed games was 442 for females and 2,098 for males. The asymmetry between the number of players and the number of games is due to the different objects of the studies. The male sample takes into account both training monitoring and matches, while the female sample includes only data collected during matches. The total number of pre-season and in-season weeks was 287 overall. The total number of single drills analyzed was 209. The key outcomes of the selected studies in this systematic review included velocity thresholds definition, match demands and training outcomes in terms of HSR and sprint distance.

Discussion

The aims of this systematic review were: (1) to summarize the evidence on velocity thresholds used to classify HSR and sprinting in adult professional female and male soccer players, (2) to examine the existing evidence about the use of individualized thresholds, (3) to describe the HSR and sprinting demands during soccer matches, and (4) to provide training strategies for eliciting HSR and sprinting during training sessions in professional adult soccer. The main findings were: (1) non-standard and a large range of thresholds are used to monitor HSR and sprinting



demands among professional soccer players; (2) absolute and relative thresholds could be used to analyze or compare performances across players and to monitor training at the individual near-to-maximum velocities, respectively; (3) HSR and sprint distances are positiondependent as well as highly variable across the phases of the game; (4) the combination of contextualized game-based and runningbased drills should be used to ensure adequate HSR and sprinting exposure during training.

Defining "absolute" thresholds: high, very high and sprint running distance

To date, there is no consensus in the soccer literature about standard thresholds defining zones of running intensities (19). Figure 2 shows the range of velocity thresholds used in the studies conducted on professional adult female and male soccer players that were included in this systematic review. High-speed running, high-intensity distance and high-speed distance entry velocity are usually set between 12.2 km·h⁻¹ and 15.6 km·h⁻¹ for females, and between $14.4 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ and $21.1 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ for males, with the most common HSR entry velocity being 12.5 km·h⁻¹ and 19.8 km·h⁻¹ for female and male, respectively. Similarly, sprint distance entry velocity is commonly set between 17.8 $\rm km \cdot h^{-1}$ and 22.5 $\rm km \cdot h^{-1}$ $(22.5 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1} \text{ was the most common})$ for females and between 19.8 $\rm km \cdot h^{-1}$ and 30 $\rm km \cdot h^{-1}$ (25.2 $\rm km \cdot h^{-1}$ was the most common) for males. This clearly shows the large variability in velocity for the same external load metrics commonly used among soccer scientists and practitioners.

Two studies used three different thresholds to define running in female soccer: high-speed, very high-speed (VHSR), and sprint running velocity (46, 51). Specifically, Park et al. developed an approach based on logical validity and analysis rigor by using a spectral clustering technique with application of a $\beta = 0.1$ smoothing factor to compute the exact velocity thresholds for the analysis of external load data collected from international female soccer players. The authors were able to define velocity thresholds as follows: $HSR \ge 12.5 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$, $VHSR \ge 19 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$, sprint \ge $22.5 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ (46). Scott et al. reported the use of the same thresholds based upon the final outcomes in the 30:15 intermittent fitness test (vIFT) in terms of peak velocity reached by the players: $HSR \ge 12.5 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ or 60% vIFT (~50% peak velocity), $VHSR \ge$ 19 km·h⁻¹ or 80% vIFT (~65% peak velocity), Sprint \geq 22.5 km·h⁻¹ or 30% anaerobic speed reserve (~80% peak velocity) (51). The same results coming from these two studies seem to support the robustness of the proposed thresholds for adult female soccer, albeit further investigation is warranted.

Similar to the approach reported above, data mining modeling was proposed to define standard definitions and thresholds for male players by Dwyer and Gabbett 2012. The actual average distribution of velocities was calculated and series of Gaussian normal curves representing four velocity ranges was computed for best fit. The intersecting points for each Gaussian curve were used to determine the velocity range for each of the following locomotive activities: walking, jogging, running and sprinting with the entry velocity for sprinting determined at $21.35 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$. While the conceptual operationalization and the robustness of this approach appear rigorous, the threshold definition emerging from this study could be questioned due to the very low sample

References	Participants	HSR metrics	Details
Scott et al., 2013 (25) Observational study	Professional male soccer players $(n = 15)$ Individual training sessions $(n = 97)$	$HSR > 14.4 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ VHSR > 19.8 km · h^{-1}	Absolute and % of total distance values recorded during training: HSR = 544 ± 255 m (12.0 ± 3.8%), range 106–1,343 m (4.9–23.3%) VHSR = 132 ± 101 m (2.8 ± 1.9%), range 7–541 m (0.2–8.8%)
Wehbe et al., 2014 (26) Observational study	Elite male adult soccer players from Australian-league (A-League) soccer (Sydney Football Club) (<i>n</i> = 19) Preseason matches (<i>n</i> = 8)	HSR > 19.7 to ≤25.1 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.1 km·h ⁻¹ Putting together thresholds: HIR > 14.3 km·h ⁻¹ VHIR > 19.7 km·h ⁻¹	Positional comparison: midfielders covered 28% more HIR distance than defenders. Match half comparison: HIR and VHIR decreased from the first to the second half by 10 and 11%, respectively. Match status analysis: when the team was winning, average speed was 4% lower than when the team was drawing ($p \le 0.05$, $d = 0.32$). Pre- and post-goal analysis: scoring or conceding goals did not appear to affect HIR. In the 5-minute intervals before and after a goal was scored, 5-minute HIR distance was 140 and 128 m, respectively ($p =$ 0.464). In the 5-minute intervals before and after a goal was conceded, 5-minute HIR distance was 144 and 110 m, respectively ($p = 0.015$). Average and peak 5-minute HIR distance during the whole match was 123 and 237 m, respectively.
Malone et al., 2015 (27) Observational study	Professional male players from English Premier League (Liverpool) $(n = 30)$ Preseason weeks $(n = 6)$ In-season weeks $(n = 36)$ Microcycles $(n = 3)$	HSD > 19.8 km·h ⁻¹	Higher total distances covered in the early stages of the competitive season and the highest HR response occurring at the midpoint of the season. HSD 1-week in-season microcycles (daily means): early-season = 243 ± 229 m, mid-season = 225 ± 213 m, late-season = 146 ± 104 m. Wide midfielders covered a higher amount of HSD across the different microcycles than central defenders (94 [43–145] m, ES = 0.47 [0.22–0.73], small). Periodization of training load was typically confined to MD-1 (regardless of mesocycle), whereas no differences were apparent during MD-2 to MD-5.
Anderson et al., 2016 (28) Observational study	English Premier League male players ($n = 12$) Training sessions ($n = 10$) + matches ($n = 6$) (1-, 2-, 3-game weeks)	HSR = 19.8–25.1 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.1 km·h ⁻¹	The majority of distance during specific training sessions was completed in the low-to moderate speed zones, whereas the distance completed in high-intensity zones were largely completed in the game itself. HSR: match demand = 706 m; training stimulus = 156 m (1-game week), 192 m (2-game week), 81 m (3-game week). Sprinting: match demand = 295 m; training stimulus = 8 m (1-game week), 16 m (2-game week), 7 m (3-game week).
Carling et al., 2016 (29) Observational study	French League 1 male players $(n = 12)$ Matches $(n = 31)$	HSR = 19.8-25.2 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.2 km·h ⁻¹ Total HSR (THSR, ≥19.8 km·h ⁻¹);	Math demand: HSR = 587 ± 133 m; Sprint = 184 ± 87 m; THSR = 770 ± 206 m.
Chmura et al., 2017 (10) Observational study	International male soccer players from 32 teams (<i>n</i> = 340) Single observations during 2014 World Cup (<i>n</i> = 905)	HIR = 19.9–25.2 km·h ⁻¹ (% of TD) N° of sprints >25.2 km·h ⁻¹	The mean distance covered by players at high intensity was $8.83 \pm 2.11\%$. It was significantly longer between the quarter-finals and the semi-finals ($p \le 0.01$). In the semi-finals the percentage values of TD covered at HI were the greatest. Individually, the greatest percentage achieved was 17% by 2 midfielders. The mean number of sprints performed was 33 ± 11 , 1 every 173 s. The greatest number of performed sprints was 68, 1 every 82 s, in a semi-final match. Winning a soccer championship requires players to run longer mean total distances and longer distances at high intensity during a single match.
Mara et al., 2017 (30) Observational study	Elite female players from the Australian national league (W-League) $(n = 12)$ Matches $(n = 7)$	$HSR = 12.24-19.0 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ Sprint > 19 km · h ⁻¹ High Speed Runs and Sprints (n)	Match demand: HSR = $2,452 \pm 636$ m; Sprint = 615 ± 258 m; high- speed runs = 376 ; sprints = 70 . A large proportion of high-speed runs ($81-84\%$) and sprints ($71-$ 78%) were performed over distances less than 10 m, with 14 s between high-speed runs and 87 s between sprints. The characteristics of high-speed runs and sprints differed between repeat and nonrepeat efforts, and the activity profiles of players varied according to positional groups and period of the match.
Miñano-Espin et al., 2017 (31) Observational study	Real Madrid matches (<i>n</i> = 149): data from Real Madrid and opposing teams' male players	$\label{eq:HIR} \begin{split} &HIR = 21.1 - 24.0 \ \mathrm{km} \cdot \mathrm{h}^{-1} \\ & \mathrm{Sprint} > 24 \ \mathrm{km} \cdot \mathrm{h}^{-1} \\ & \mathrm{High} \ \mathrm{Speed} \ \mathrm{Runs} \ \mathrm{and} \\ & \mathrm{Sprints} \ \mathrm{(n)} \end{split}$	Match demand: HIR distance = 269 m Real Madrid vs. 285 m opposing team; Sprint distance = 245 m vs. 248 m; High Intensity Runs = 11; Sprints = 20. Players from Real Madrid covered shorter distances in HIR and Sprint and executed less sprints than players from the opposing team. No differences were revealed in the HIR and Sprint distances or the number on high intensity runs and sprints performed by players from Real Madrid depending on the quality of the opposition.

TABLE 2 Summary of studies accompanied by study design, subjects, high-speed running metrics reported and details from the studies.

(continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

TABLE 2 Continued			
References	Participants	HSR metrics	Details
Abbott et al., 2018 (32) Observational study	Premier League 2 under 23 professional male players (Brighton and Hove Albion) (n = 46) Matches $(n = 22)$ LSG, MSG, SSG $(n = 39)$	VHSR = 100% MAS – 30% ASR Sprint >30% ASR Mean and 1-min peak values	Despite eliciting significantly higher average total distances compared with competition, LSGs produced significantly lower peak total distance relative to the competition. For VHSR and sprinting, LSGs elicited similar average intensities to competition; however, peak intensities were significantly lower than competition. VHSR and sprinting distances increased with game format, with LSGs (>7v7) producing the highest intensities. Only LSGs were able to replicate competitive demands, with SSGs and MSGs significantly below competitive values for all positions.
Baptista et al., 2018 (33) Observational study	Professional male soccer players (Tromsø Idrettslag) (<i>n</i> = 18) Official matches (<i>n</i> = 23)	HIR ≥ 19.8 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint ≥ 25.2 km·h ⁻¹ Number of HIR and sprint efforts of various length (1– 5, 6–10, 11–15, 16–20, 21– 25, 26–30, 31–35, 36–40, 41–45, 46–50 m) CoD counts	CB had the lowest values of all positions in both variables but especially pronounced in Sprint (1 m·min ⁻¹) when compared with CF (2.5 m·min ⁻¹). HIR analysis: CF presented higher values in 26-30 m than all the other positions, while distances of 36-40 and 46-50 m were covered more times by FB. CB were the players with lowest values in these longer distances (36-40 and 46-50). Sprint analysis: CB, FB, CM and WM performed higher number of 1– 5 m sprints, while CF covered higher number of 6–10 m sprints. The most common distance covered in HIR for CB, CM, WM and CF was 1–5 m, but for FB was 6–10 m.
Malone et al., 2018 (34) Longitudinal observational study	Professional male soccer players (Benfica) (<i>n</i> = 37) Weeks (<i>n</i> = 48)	HSR > 14.4 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 19.8 km·h ⁻¹	When HSR and SR distances are considered independently of aerobic fitness and previous training load history, a U-shaped association exists for distance completed at these speeds and subsequent injury risk. Players with higher aerobic fitness were able to complete increased weekly HSR and SR distances with a reduced injury risk. Higher 21-day chronic sRPE-TL (\geq 2,584 AU) allow exposure to greater volumes of HSR and SR, which in turn offers a protective effect against injury. 1-week safer zone: HSR = 700–750 m, SR = 200–350 m. Absolute weekly change safer zone: HSR < 100 m, SR < 50 m 3:21 ACWR safer zone: HSR < 0.85, SR = 0.71–0.85
Scott and Lovell, 2018 (35) Observational study	International women's soccer players (<i>n</i> = 22)	HSR > 12.67 km·h ⁻¹ (HRDP) VHSR > 17.82 km·h ⁻¹ (MAS)	In this approach, each players running speed corresponding to HRDP, together with their MAS determined from the VAM-EVAL, were used as the entry-points to the HSR and VHSR zones. Individualised speed thresholds for external load monitoring were not able to better quantify the dose-response of football training during a 21-day training camp in players representing the highest level of women's football. Quantifying the external load using players' peak sprinting speed demonstrated a lower capacity to determine the dose- response of training, with consistently lower associations with heart rate and RPE.
Martín-García et al., 2018 (36) Observational study	Professional male soccer players (Barcelona 2nd team) $(n = 24)$ Matches $(n = 37)$ + training weeks (1 game per week) $(n = 42)$	HSR > 19.8 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.2 km·h ⁻¹	When comparing starters and non-starters at MD + 1, thanks to the SSG approach used in players with limited game time, non-starters demonstrated greater external loads for TD, HMLD, AMP, ACC, and DEC, but not for HSR or SR. The session that produced the greatest HSR (43%) and SR (45%) distances relative to competition was MD-4. HSR and SR distances are the metrics illustrating the most variability within the microcycle (>80%), which is consistent with the variability found in SSG formats (60–140%), but lower than competition variability (20–30%).
Martín-García et al., 2018 (37) Observational study	Professional male soccer players (Barcelona 2nd team) (<i>n</i> = 23) Official matches (<i>n</i> = 37)	HSR > 19.8 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.2 km·h ⁻¹ 1', $3'$, $5'$ and $10'$ MIP using TD, HMLD e AMP as the criterion variables	HSR: FB covered the greatest distance, reaching values of $47.2 \pm 24.0 \text{ m}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$ in the 1' period. 1' MIP demand using TD as the criterion variable (positions' average): TD = 191.6 ± 19.7, HSR = 38.3 ± 23.1, Sprint = 10.6 ± 15.6, ACC > 3 m·s ² = 2.8 ± 1.6, DEC < $-3 \text{ m·s}^{-2} = 3.5 \pm 1.6$ 1' MIP demand using HMLD as the criterion variable (positions' average): TD = 173.5 ± 26.0, HSR = 49.9 ± 19.8, Sprint = 16.6 ± 17.4, ACC > 3 m·s ² = 3.5 ± 1.7, DEC < $-3 \text{ m·s}^{-2} = 3.6 \pm 1.7$
Soroka, 2018 (38) Observational study	2010 World Cup male players (n = 599)	HIR = 19.9–25.2 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.2 km·h ⁻¹	The largest amount of HIR and Sprint distance was found in midfielders, which did not correspond to studies carried out on players of the Premier League and Primera Division in 2006–2007 (strikers covered the largest sprint distance) (Carling 2008).
Clemente et al., 2019 (39) Observational study	Professional male soccer players (Portuguese Second League) $(n = 23)$ $5v5 + GK$ in 40×31 m (124 m^2)	Running = 14–20 km·h ⁻¹ Sprinting > 20 km·h ⁻¹	Greater values for sprinting distance were found in the full match compared to $5vs5 + GK$ ($d = 3.673$, strong effect), $6vs6 + GK$ ($d = 2.606$, moderate effect) and $9vs9 + GK$ ($d = 1.903$, moderate effect) sided games.

(continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

References	Participants	HSR metrics	Details
	6v6 + GK in 45 × 32 m (120 m ²) 9v9 + GK in 70 × 50 m (194 m ²)		MSG are not appropriate for simulating the sprinting conditions of official full matches. LSG (9vs9 + GK) simulate official full matches more accurately than the other sided-games that were studied (5vs5 + GK and 6vs6 + GK).
Clemente et al., 2019 (40) Observational study	Professional male soccer players (Sporting Lisbona) (<i>n</i> = 27) Training weeks (with 3-4-5 training sessions + 1 game) (<i>n</i> = 22)	RD = 14.0-19.9 km·h ⁻¹ HSR = 20.0-24.9 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.0 km·h ⁻¹ TMr = Training/Match ratio	It was observed that specific variables (e.g., HSR distance and sprinting distance) were associated with substantially lower ratios than other variables. The TMr for RD and HSR distance were 1.2 ± 0.7 and 1.1 ± 0.8 , respectively, in 3-days week and 2.3 ± 1.3 and 2.3 ± 1.5 , respectively, in 5-days week. This suggests that the number of training sessions tend to emphasize the stimuli of overall distance and that the demand of three days of training is very similar to the demand of one match. Some determinant external load measures (e.g., HSR or sprinting) are clearly undertrained comparing with more prevalent measures (e.g., TD, ACC or DEC): SSG increase the frequency of ACC/DEC while decreasing opportunities to perform HSR or sprinting.
Dalen et al., 2019 (41) Observational study	Male soccer players from an elite Norwegian league team $(n = 26)$ Matches $(n = 18)$ SSGs (28 4vs4 + 28 6vs6) $(n = 56)$	HIR > 19.8 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 25.2 km·h ⁻¹	HIR (m·min ⁻¹) in match peak (5 min most demanding period), match mean, 4v4 and $6v6 = 19 \pm 3.5$, 8.3 ± 2.1 , 2.7 ± 0.9 , 3.7 ± 2.1 . Sprint = 8.8 ± 4 , 1.7 ± 0.7 , 0.1 ± 0.1 , 0.2 ± 0.5 . The smaller pitch used for SSGs may lead to a different work pattern from match play, which is supported by the relatively low HIR and sprint distances observed during SSGs in this study. 4vs4 games are a good method of training acceleration and player load tolerance, but SSGs do not represent a good method of training HIR.
Hills et al., 2019 (42) Observational study	Championship male soccer players (Hull City Tigers) (<i>n</i> = 17) Matches (35 single observations) (<i>n</i> = 13)	$\begin{split} MSR > 14.4 &\leq 19.8 \; km \cdot h^{-1} \\ HSR > 19.8 &\leq 25.2 \; km \cdot h^{-1} \\ Sprint > 25.2 \; km \cdot h^{-1} \end{split}$	Relative TD (+13.4 m·min ⁻¹) and HSR (+0.4 m·min ⁻¹) distances covered during rewarm-ups increased with proximity to pitch-entry. Very few HSR and no sprint distance were performed during each warmup or rewarm-up bout. Substitutes covered greater TD (+67 to +93 m) and HSR (+14 to +33 m) distances during the first 5 min of match-play versus all subsequent epochs.
Jones et al., 2019 (43) Observational study	Professional male soccer players (English Football League One) (n = 37) Matches partitioned in 3 fixture congestion scenarios $(n = 79)$	HID = $19.9-25.2 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ Sprint > $25.2 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	The Linear Mixed Model did not identify significant interactions between position, fixture congestion scenario and time period (p = 0.549), position and fixture congestion scenario (p = 0.481), nor fixture congestion scenario and time period (p = 0.162).
Modric et al., 2019 (44) Observational study	Professional male soccer players from Croatian Soccer League (6th of 10) (n = 101) Matches $(n = 14)$	$RD = 14.4-19.7 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ $HSR = 19.8-25.1 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ $Sprint > 25.2 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ $InStat technical index$	Math demand: $HSR = 462 \pm 160$ m; $Sprint = 156 \pm 97$ m. Association between the running performance of players involved in certain playing positions and overall game performance (InStat index). Specifically, it seems that CD distance in the running zone and number of high-intensity accelerations, FB number of decelerations, and FW sprinting distance are crucial physical requirements of team success.
Oliveira et al., 2019 (45) Observational study	Elite male soccer players participating in UEFA Champions League $(n = 19)$ Weeks $(n = 39)$ + matches $(n = 50)$	HSD > 19 km·h ⁻¹ Hooper Index	Although there are some significant differences between mesocycles, there was minor variation across the season for the internal and external TL variables used. MD-1 presented a reduction of external TL during in-season match-day-minus training comparison.
Park et al., 2019 (46) Observational study	International female players (<i>n</i> = 27) International matches (<i>n</i> = 52)	HSR: ≥ 12.5 km·h ⁻¹ VHSR ≥ 19 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint ≥ 22.5 km·h ⁻¹	PS in elite women = 29.0 ± 1.5 km·h ⁻¹ <i>k</i> -means clustering and Gaussian mixture modelling were not appropriate for soccer given the limited instances in which players move at velocities associated with sprinting, which are often considered key physical performance indicators. A spectral Clustering technique with application of a $\beta = 0.1$ smoothing factor derived new thresholds featuring both logical validity and analysis rigor. Similar analyses may be warranted to determine appropriate velocity zones for other sports and youth populations.
Rago et al., 2019 (47) Observational study	Italian Serie B male soccer players (n = 13)	MSR = arbitrary 14.4– 19.8 km·h ⁻¹ or individualised 80–99% MAS HSR = 19.9–25.1 km·h ⁻¹ or 100% MAS – 29% ASR Sprint = \geq 25.2 km·h ⁻¹ or \geq 30% ASR	Perceptual responses (RPE) were moderately correlated to MSR and HSR quantified using the arbitrary method ($p < 0.05$; $r = 0.53-0.59$). However, the magnitude of correlations tended to increase when the individualised method was used ($p < 0.05$; $r = 0.58-0.67$). Distance covered by sprinting was moderately correlated to perceptual responses only when the individualised method was used ($p < 0.05$; 0.55 [0.05; 0.83] and 0.53 [0.02; 0.82]). The magnitude of the relationships between ETL and RPE parameters appear to slightly strengthen when ETL are adjusted to individual fitness capacities, with special emphasis on cardiorespiratory fitness (MAS).

(continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

References	Participants	HSR metrics	Details
Ramos et al., 2019 (48) Observational study	Under 17 ($n = 14$), Under 20 ($n = 14$) and adult ($n = 17$) international women soccer players	High intensity (HID) = 15.6–20 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint > 20 km·h ⁻¹	Likely to almost certainly differences among all age brackets for the HID and sprint were found (adult > U20 > U17, ES varying from 0.41 [20.23–1.06] to 3.69 [2.63–4.76]), except for the comparison between U17 and U20 for sprint where the differences were rated as unclear. HID: adult (756 m) > U20 (688 m) > U17 (485 m). Sprint: adult (307 m) > U20 (223 m) \approx U17 (192 m).
Asian-Clemente et al., 2020 (49) Observational study	Under 19 professional male soccer players from an elite Spanish first division soccer club $(n = 17)$ SSGs $(5c5c5 + 2)$ in 1 single 35×35 m pitch or in 2 28.5 × 28.5 m contiguous pitches (n = 4)	HSD = 18-21 km·h ⁻¹ VHSD > 21 km·h ⁻¹	VHSD (m·min ⁻¹): 2.5 ± 1.8 in 35×35 m, 12.8 ± 6.3 using 2 contiguous 28.5×28.5 m pitches, 4.6 ± 2.3 in official matches. When soccer is played in smaller relative areas than those used for official games, the ACC and DEC will be increased. Similarly, forcing players to change spaces quickly during SSGs promotes greater running activity, with higher HSD and VHSD covered per player. Although most of the running demands during matches were simulated with the proposed SSGs, it may be necessary to design other types of tasks to train for peak speed and distance covered at sprint speed.
Kelly et al., 2020 (50) Observational study	English Premier League male players (Manchester United) $(n = 26)$ Entire season $(n = 1)$	HSD > 14.4 km·h ⁻¹ VHSD = 19.8-25.2 km·h ⁻¹	HSD was greater 3 days before a game (MD-3) vs MD-1 (95% CI, 140–336 m) while VHSD was greater on MD-3 and MD-2 than MD- 1 (95% CI range, 8–62 m; $p < 0.001$). HSD was similar between mesocycles during the whole season suggesting that training schedules employed in elite soccer may be highly repetitive likely reflecting the nature of the competition demands.
Scott et al., 2020 (51) Observational study	Elite female players from National Women's Soccer League (NWSL, United States) (n = 36) Match observations $(n = 208, 11 \pm 6 \text{ per player})$	HSR ≥ 12.5 km·h ⁻¹ or 60% vIFT (50% PS) VHSR ≥ 19 km·h ⁻¹ or 80% vIFT (65% PS) Sprint ≥ 22.5 km·h ⁻¹ or 30% ASR (80% PS)	Subjective ratings of fatigue and wellness are not sensitive to substantial within-player changes in match physical performance. HSR, VHSR, and SR thresholds customized for individual players athletic qualities did not improve the dose-response relationship between external load and wellness ratings. PS in elite women = 30.5 ± 1.8 km·h ⁻¹ (mean of 5 different roles). Match demand (ABS): HSR = $2,401 \pm 454$ m; VHSR = 398 ± 143 m; SR = 122 ± 69 m.
Altmann et al., 2021 (52) Observational study	German Bundesliga male players ($n = 25$) Match observations ($n = 163$)	HID = 17.0–23.99 km·h ⁻¹ Sprint ≥ 24.0 km·h ⁻¹	CM showed both the largest total (11.66 \pm 0.92 km, ES = 0.68–1.86) and HID (1.57 \pm 0.83 km, ES = 0.08–0.84) compared to all other positions, WM demonstrated the largest sprinting distance (0.42 \pm 0.14 km, ES = 0.34–2.39). Some professional soccer players will likely incur differences in the composition of physical match performance when switching positions and therefore should pay special consideration for such differences in the training and recovery process of these players.
Oliva-Lozano et al., 2022 (53) Observational study	Spanish LaLiga male players (<i>n</i> = 277) Match observations (<i>n</i> = 1,252)	Maximal Intensity Sprint: when an acceleration occurred from 14 km·h ⁻¹ and the player got to exceed 30 km·h ⁻¹ for 0.2 s.	Professional soccer players need to be prepared for maximal intensity sprints in the first period of the match as well as maximal intensity sprints under high fatigue conditions given the frequency of sprints in the last period of the match. Training drills should be designed with a special focus on non-linear sprints without possession of the ball, based on the main tactical purpose of each position (e.g., CD: interceptions; CM: recovery runs; FB, WM and FW: run the channel).

ABS, absolute thresholds; ACC, accelerations; ACWR, acute:chronic workload ratio; AMP, average metabolic power; ASR, anaerobic speed reserve [MSS – MAS]; AU, arbitrary units; CB, central backs; CD, central defenders; CF, central forwards; CM, central midfielders; CoD, change of direction; DEC, decelerations; ES, effect size; ETL, external training load; FB, full-backs; FW, forwards; GK, goalkeepers; HID, high-intensity distance; HIR, high-intensity running; HMLD, high metabolic load distance; HR, heart rate; HRDP, heart rate deflection point; HSD, high-speed distance; HSR, high-speed running; LSG, large sided game; MAS, maximal aerobic speed; MD –/+ n, match day minus/plus n days, i.e., n days before/after the match; MIP, maximum intensity period; MSG, medium sided game; MSR, moderate speed running; PS, peak speed; RD, running distance; RPE, rating of perceived exertion; SR, sprint running; sRPE-TL, session rating of perceived exertion training load; SSG, small sided game; TD, total distance; TMr, training/match ratio; UEFA, Union of European Football Associations; VAM-EVAL, a modified version of the Montreal track test; VHSD, very high-speed distance; VHSR, very high-speed running; VHIR, very high-speed running; VHIR, very high-speed running; VIFT, final velocity of the 30:15 intermittent fitness test; WM, wide midfielder.

analyzed (5 games of 5 players in a professional Australian A-League team), low sample frequency of the GPS units utilized (i.e., 1 Hz), and the lack of evidence suggesting that the velocities within each zone follow a Gaussian distribution (54). To our knowledge no other attempts to establish the rational for the use of "absolute" thresholds on male players were conducted using sufficiently rigorous methods. Therefore, based on the current literature, although these approaches sound promising, the definitions of the thresholds for HSR, VHSR and sprint are still arbitrary (55, 56) with no consensus in the soccer literature (see Figure 2).

In addition to the lack of agreement about absolute thresholds to be used, practitioners have to consider that the physical performance level of soccer players continuously improves. For these reasons, it seems desirable for sports scientists to have the capacity to adjust the velocity thresholds and to reprocess the collected data, especially when comparing or sharing data with clubs and federations adopting different numerical references. This approach seems a viable and practical solution at least until consensus on the definition of standard velocity thresholds is achieved. We believe that the establishment of an international standard (by practitioners and manufacturers) may facilitate the data exchange between clubs and national teams, which in turn could increase the value of velocity monitoring in soccer. We suggest that technology providers allow practitioners to set their absolute thresholds (this is indispensable for comparisons with historical data owned by the club) and to provide default international standardized thresholds, which could be used to share data with other clubs or national teams. Even if this is achieved, practitioners need to be aware that some limitations in accuracy and reliability exist between tracking technologies (e.g., between GNSS brands), therefore caution is needed when data from different clubs (that use different devices) are compared (57).

Relative velocity thresholds

The use of individualized thresholds quantifying internal load measures [i.e., heart rate, maximum oxygen consumption (VO_{2max})] can facilitate training prescription and monitoring by setting relative work intensities corresponding to individual physiological targets (58). For example, coaches and sport scientists can tailor the training plans based on well-defined physiological parameters such as VO_{2max}, maximum heart rate and onset of blood lactate accumulation (OBLA) (59). What has just been described above could also be used for the evaluation of individual external load parameters such as running velocity. The rationale of implementing relative thresholds for velocity parameters is justified by the assumption that absolute thresholds fail to account for the players' individual physical capacities, and therefore, they could result in an inappropriate assessment of the players' external load performed during training (21) and matches (55). Practitioners should consider that players have specific physical characteristics (e.g., peak velocity) that should be accounted for during the monitoring of training and matches. The use of relative individual thresholds would allow for more precise programming of the training load, which could help to design the appropriate dose of HSR and sprinting distance, preventing the implementation of unattainable velocities that could potentially be injurious (60), or not high enough to elicit the desired adaptation (61, 62).

Previous research has tried to individualize specific velocity thresholds based on physiological or performance parameters using some tests, which have been summarized in this review. HSR was defined as the velocity corresponding to the VO_{2max} [maximal aerobic speed (MAS)] in both women (63) and men (47), which was assessed through gas analysis methods during an incremental ramp test or the final velocity reached during the Yo-Yo Intermittent Recovery Test level 1 (64, 65). Alternatively, HSR threshold was set at the velocity corresponding to the heart rate deflection point determined from an incremental field test in women (35) or from a different incremental field test in men (60). When considering players' physical and fitness attributes, sprint entry velocity was defined as the velocity corresponding to the MAS determined from an incremental field test in female players (35), or as the value \geq 30% of the anaerobic speed reserve, calculated as the difference between maximal sprint velocity and MAS in male players (47). For further details about maximal sprint speed and anaerobic speed reserve definition, the reader is invited to refer to the article of Buchheit and Laursen (66) and Sandford et al. (67).

Nevertheless, the validity criterions underpinning the determination of individual velocity thresholds using physiological parameters collected during continuous test protocols rather than external load proxies fail to consider the intermittent and repeated accelerative profile, which is typical of soccer (68), and as such seems inappropriate or at least inaccurate.

In contrast with the physiological approaches reported above, another common method to define relative thresholds from measures of external load is the percentage of the individual peak velocity, measured as the maximal velocity attainable during an all-out effort (69). Using this rationale, sprint running entry velocity was set at 80%-85% of peak velocity reached in a >30 m sprint test in female players (63) and at 80% of peak velocity reached in a 40 m sprint test in male players (60). In another study, sprint threshold was set either at >80%, >85% or >90% of the highest running velocity measured during either training sessions or matches (70). To date, the most reliable and simplest procedure to determine the peak velocity is through GNSS systems during a 40 meters sprint test (18, 63, 69). Alternatively, peak velocity can be tracked and determined from official matches (71), although this approach is not exempt from limitations due to the fact that players do not necessarily always reach maximal velocities during matches due to the contextual constraints and their specific positional demands (18, 69). In official matches some between-gender differences were observed for sprint velocities with $30.5 \pm 1.8 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ (mean of 5 different roles) (51) and $32.0 \pm$ $1.0 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ (mean of 3 different roles) (72) for female and male players, respectively. In consideration of the accuracy and reliability of tracking devices (14) now easily affordable and widely available, it would be reasonable to perform, at the beginning of a training session and after a standardized warm-up procedure, an all-out 30-40 m sprint test as a valid, high ecological and time-efficient approach to determine peak velocity for every player, whereby individual velocity thresholds could then be defined.

Although the number of studies that support the concurrent validity of the use of individualized thresholds are limited, we still have some evidence, specifically previous studies have reported the association between internal load and HSR demands. The perceptual responses (RPE using Borg's category ratio scale - CR10) provided by soccer players (Italian Serie B) at the end of the match were moderately correlated (r = 0.53-0.59) to distance covered expressed using absolute velocity thresholds ranging between 14.4 and 19.8 km h⁻¹ and HSR $(>19.8 \text{ km} \cdot \text{h}^{-1})$ (47). Notably, the strength of the correlations tended to increase, albeit not significantly, when individualized velocity thresholds were used (r = 0.58 - 0.67) (47). Moreover, distance covered by sprinting was moderately correlated to RPE only when an individualized threshold was used (r = 0.55) (47). In contrast, the use of individualized velocity thresholds were not able to better quantify the dose-response of female soccer players during a 21-day training camp (35). This study reported that the quantification of the external load using players' peak sprinting velocity demonstrated a lower capacity to determine the dose-response of training, with consistently lower associations with heart rate and RPE (35). In another study, HSR and sprinting thresholds customized for individual female players athletic qualities did not improve the dose-response relationship between external load and wellness ratings (51). In



summary, the individualization of velocity parameters based on players' individual fitness level (i.e., MAS or peak velocity) only marginally improves (trivial or small magnitude of the change) relationships between external and internal training load parameters (35, 47, 51). Based on the evidence reported so far, it is possible to confirm that internal and external training load parameters, independently by the use of absolute and relative thresholds, are different constructs and for this reason practitioners should monitor both.

The current evidence does not allow us to make definitive conclusions about the use of individualized velocity thresholds in soccer. While the use of individualized thresholds seems to offer the advantage of a more precise quantification of the individual external load, it may preclude comparisons between players, between training sessions and matches or within time when the same players have changed their individual velocity thresholds (73). In our opinion, either absolute or relative velocity thresholds seem appropriate to monitor HSR and sprinting exposure in professional soccer players. While absolute values are suitable to make between-player comparisons, relative thresholds are preferable for the individualization of the high-velocity aspects of the external training load. However, more research is needed on this topic before recommending the use of one over the other.

High-speed running and sprinting during official matches

A summary of HSR and sprinting distance outcomes and related velocity thresholds during matches among professional adult female and male soccer players is reported in Table 3. HSR (>15.6 km·h⁻¹) and sprint (>20 km·h⁻¹) demands in professional female soccer were around 1,000 m (range: 911–1,063 m, 10.1–11.8 m·min⁻¹) and 270 m (range: 223–307 m, 2.5–3.4 m·min⁻¹), respectively. In professional male soccer players, the analogous outcomes for HSR (>19.8 km·h⁻¹) and sprint (>25.1 km·h⁻¹) demands were around 760 m (range: 618–1,001 m, 6.9–11.1 m·min⁻¹) and 200 m (range: 153–295 m, 1.7–3.3 m·min⁻¹).

Female soccer players perform a large proportion of high-speed runs (12.24–19.0 km·h⁻¹) and sprints (>19.0 km·h⁻¹) over distances shorter than 10 m (81%–84% and 71%–78%, respectively), with an average recovery time of 14 s between high-speed runs and 87 s between sprints, i.e., a 1:7 and 1:43 work to rest ratio, respectively (30). Similarly, in professional male players the most common distance covered in HSR (\geq 19.8 km·h⁻¹) was 1–5 m, apart from the full backs who covered average HSR runs between 6 and 10 m (33).

Practitioners need to consider that the between-match variability for HSR (19.8–25.2 km·h⁻¹) and sprint (>25.2 km·h⁻¹) distances is notably high and is affected by the positional role (29, 52). Higher variability has been reported for central players (midfielders and defenders) while lower variability for wide midfielders and attackers (29, 74, 75). For example, the CV for female players ranged between 28% and 41% for HSR (>16.3 km·h⁻¹) and between 35% and 65% for sprint (>20.0 km \cdot h⁻¹) distance (74). In male professional players, the CV for HSR and sprint ranged between 16% and 18% and between 31% and 37% respectively (29, 75). Moreover, the characteristics of HSR and sprints differed between positional roles and period of the match (30). In the 2010 World Cup, the largest amount of HSR $(19.9-25.2 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1})$ and sprint (>25.2 km·h⁻¹) distance was observed in midfielders (38), which did not completely reflect the outcomes of previous studies conducted in the English Premier League and Spanish Primera Division in 2006-2007, where strikers were found to cover the largest sprint distances (76). In addition, practitioners should consider that the main tactical purpose of each playing position influence how the player has to perform maximal intensity sprints: interceptions for central defenders, recovery runs, closing down and pressing for midfielders, running in the channel to receive/ exploit space, break into the box, or run-in-behind for widemidfielders and forwards (53). Moreover, when conducting a contextual analysis of the physical demand during matches, HSR and sprinting seem to be affected by the quality of the opposition, with increasing values reported during matches played against stronger than weaker opponents (72). Moreover, a further level of contextualization requires interpreting these findings in

TABLE 3 High-speed running (HSR) and sprint match demands for elite adult female and male soccer players.

Studies	Subjects	HSR		Sprint		
Mara et al. 2017	Women – Elite Australian	$12.2-19 \text{ km} \cdot h^{-1}$	2,452 m	$>19 km \cdot h^{-1}$	615 m	
Scott et al. 2020	Women – Elite United States	$\geq 12.5 \text{ km} \cdot h^{-1}$	2,401 m	$\geq 22.5 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	122 m	
Ramos et al. 2019	Women – Adult	$15.6-20 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	756 m	$>20 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	307 m	
Ramos et al. 2019	Women – U20	$15.6-20 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	688 m	>20 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	223 m	
Anderson et al. 2016	Men – Premier League	19.8–25.1 km·h ⁻¹	706 m	>25.1 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	295 m	
Modric et al. 2019	Men – Elite Croatian	19.8–25.1 km·h ⁻¹	462 m	>25.1 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	156 m	
Carling et al. 2016	Men – League 1	19.8–25.2 km·h ⁻¹	587 m	>25.2 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	184 m	
Kelly et al. 2020	Men – Premier League	19.8–25.2 km·h ⁻¹	620 m	-	_	
Miñano-Espin et al. 2017	Men – La Liga	$21.1-24.0 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1}$	277 m	$>24 \text{ km} \cdot h^{-1}$	247 m	
Wehbe et al. 2014	Men – Elite Australian	$>19.7 km \cdot h^{-1}$	645 m	-	-	
Baptista et al. 2018	Men – Elite Norwegian	$\geq 19.8 \text{ km} \cdot h^{-1}$	744 m			
Rampinini et al. 2007	Men – League 1	>19.8 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	821 m	-	_	
Stevens et al. 2017	Men – Eredivisie	>19.8 km $\cdot h^{-1}$	738 m			
Dalen et al. 2019	Men – Elite Norwegian	>19.8 km· h^{-1}	747 m	>25.2 km $\cdot h^{-1}$	153 m	
Clemente et al. 2019	Men – Dutch and Spanish 2nd Division	$>20 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	730 m			
Asian-Clemente et al. 2020	Men – U19 elite Spanish	$>21 \text{ km} \cdot h^{-1}$	414 m	-	_	
Altmann et al. 2021	Men – Bundesliga	$17.0-23.99 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	1,340 m	$\geq 24 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	495 m	

Data are grouped by HSR zone to facilitate between-studies comparison. Bold values were considered for mean match demand calculation reported in the text.

consideration of the result of the game. In fact, independently from the opponents' level, it seems that soccer players perform significantly less high-intensity activity $(21.1-24.0 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1})$ when winning than when losing or when the score is balanced (31). This may be the main reason why no differences were found in the distances covered by players of Real Madrid (that won during the explored period approximately 70% of the total matches played) depending on the strength of the opposing team (31). Another common scenario in professional soccer and worthy of consideration pertains to fixture congestion. From preliminary results, it seems that playing many consecutive games does not affect the amount of HSR (19.9–25.2 km·h⁻¹) covered during the consecutive matches (43), although the flawed methodological approach to quantify HSR exposure across studies investigating this area precludes to make definitive conclusions (77).

Considering the average match demands as the only reference could mislead strategies aiming at physically preparing players during training. In 2014 World Cup, the mean HSR (19.9-25.2 km·h⁻¹) distance covered across all positions was $8.8\% \pm 2.1\%$ of the total distance, but with midfielders peaking at roughly 17% (10). Interestingly, relying upon the most intense periods of the game, relevant consideration for training prescription can unfold. For example, the mean and peak HSR distances (>14.3 km \cdot h⁻¹; 24.6 and 47.4 m·min⁻¹, respectively) doubled when considering 5min epochs in Australian-league soccer (26). In Norwegian players, HSR (>19.8 km·h⁻¹) and sprinting (>25.2 km·h⁻¹) in the most demanding 5-min epochs reached 19 ± 3.5 and $8.8 \pm 4 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ respectively, while the match mean reported in the same study was 8.3 ± 2.1 and 1.7 ± 0.7 m·min⁻¹, respectively (41). In the Spanish La Liga, analyzing high-metabolic demands by using 1-min epochs 49.9 ± 19.8 and $16.6 \pm 17.4 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ for revealed HSR $(>19.8 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1})$ and sprinting $(>25.2 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1})$, respectively (37). In view of these reference values, it sems reasonable to consider higher benchmark values to not underestimate the real exercise intensity during matches or when planning the prescription of training drills aiming at exposing soccer players to HSR and sprint distances. However, practitioners should consider that the "maximal intensity period" is a complex and composite construct reflecting an extreme internal response elicited via various combinations of physical and contextual factors. To note, this demands do not occur concurrently during the game and similarly for all metrics and players (78), thus a more accurate analysis of "maximal intensity period" requires a case-by-case approach.

High-speed running and sprinting during training

High-speed running and sprinting distances are the metrics with the highest variability observed across days during the weekly training microcycle (between 60%–120%), and higher as compared to official matches (between 20%–30%) (36). This variability is reasonably a consequence of the weekly plan that requires a dayby-day load modulation and especially the unpredictable fluctuating nature of game-based drills such as sided-games. These findings may partially occur due to specific and different positional demands which are exacerbated during game-based training drills. Therefore, game-based drills should be implemented in combination with other forms of training to mitigate the large variability in terms of HSR and sprinting. Moreover, individual HSR and sprinting cumulative distances and frequency should be monitored to ensure effective load management strategies, especially to avoid detraining for those players less taxed during the game.

Knowledge of the match physical demands allows for the development of appropriate prescription of the training load as to adequately prepare individual players. Summaries from studies involving elite (40, 45, 79, 80) and sub-elite professional players (36, 81) revealed that for total distance and accelerations the training to match ratios tend to vary from ~1 to 4 arbitrary units (AU) (that means in 1 week of training players were exposed to 1-4 times the match-load), with the exceptions of the ratios for HSR and sprinting distance, which were relatively lower and clearly under-attained during the training week compared to other measures such as total distance and accelerations (see Table 4). For HSR the training to match ratio was reported to vary between 0.2 AU and 2.3 AU, while for sprinting the values ranged from 0.03 AU (i.e., trivial sprinting exposure during training) to 1.3 AU. Remarkably, these ratios are average team values, which in consideration of the large inter-subject variability observed for the same external load metrics should be interpreted with caution.

In view of the current evidence, particular attention should be directed towards non-starting players as recent studies conducted in the Italian Serie A and the English Premier League revealed that non-starting players were exposed to considerable lower HSR and sprinting distances as compared with starting players (21, 82). Accordingly, it seems reasonable that dedicated compensatory drills targeting HSR and sprinting should be implemented during training to compensate for the lack of match related HSR and sprint running exposure and to avoid detraining. To design specific sprint training drills, playing position and contextual variables should be considered, for instance, defenders usually sprint to intercept the ball, midfielders run to close down and press the opponents, and attackers run throughout the channel to receive/ exploit space and break into the box (53).

When soccer players use smaller relative areas during training compared with those used for official games, the number of accelerations and decelerations increase, but it is difficult to achieve adequate volumes of HSR (83). For instance, matches are played on a 105×68 m pitch (i.e., 357 m² per player) that allow for an HSR distance of 8.4 m·min⁻¹ and sprinting distance of 2.2 m·min⁻¹, while during SSG 4v4 using a pitch of 39×39 m (i.e., 190 m² per player), the HSR distance is of $2.7 \pm 0.9 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ and sprinting distance of $0.1 \pm 0.1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$, and during medium sided games (6v6) played on pitch of 47×43 m (i.e., 168 m² per player) the HSR distance is $3.7 \pm 2.1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ and sprinting distance of $0.2 \pm 0.5 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ (41). Instead, sided-games designed as large formats and with relative areas per player greater than 225 m² and 300 m² seem adequate to induce HSR and sprint distances, respectively, comparable to the analogous match external load outcomes (84). However, it is worth noting that the uncontrolled and unpredictable nature of game-based approaches may still cause large variability across players with the risk of overexposure to some and underexposing to others.

Reference	Subjects	HSR weekly load				Sprint weekly load			
		Thresholds	Training	Match	T/M ratio	Thresholds	Training	Match	T/M ratio
Anderson et al. 2016	Men – Premier League	19.8– 25.1 km·h ⁻¹	156	706	0.2	>25.1 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	8	295	0.03
Kelly et al. 2020	Men – Premier League	19.8– 25.2 km· h^{-1}	987	620	1.6				
Clemente, Rabbani et al. 2019	Men – Elite Portuguese	$20-24.9 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	-	-	2.3				
Stevens et al. 2017	Men – Eredivisie	>19.8 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	811	738	1.1				
Martin Garcia et al. 2018	Men – La Liga - Reserve	>19.8 $km \cdot h^{-1}$	726	440	1.7	>25.2 km $\cdot h^{-1}$	131	100	1.3
Baptista et al. 2018	Men – Elite Norwegian	$\geq 19.8 \ km \cdot h^{-1}$	460	744	0.6	\geq 25.2 km·h ⁻¹	69	144	0.5
Clemente, Owen et al. 2019	Men – Dutch and Spanish 2nd Division	$>20 \text{ km} \cdot h^{-1}$	1,342	730	1.8				

TABLE 4 Training/Match ratio (T/M ratio) for high-speed running (HSR) and sprint in adult male soccer players.

Only data referred to weeks within 4 or 5 training days + 1 match day are reported. Data are grouped by HSR zone to facilitate between-studies comparison

An alternative or complementary training method to sidedgames to induce HSR and sprinting exposure are running-based drills with linear and non-linear sprints. Again, starting from the performance model defined by the game, strength and conditioning coaches should consider that the mean sprint $(>30 \text{ km}\cdot\text{h}^{-1})$ duration recorded in LaLiga players ranged from 5 to 9 s, with a mean distance covered ranging from 30 to 55 m (53). Mixing linear sprints and sided-games, Ade and colleagues implemented repeated runs lasting 15 s and performed by young under 19 soccer players immediately before and after a sidedgames bouts to ensure adequate coverage of distances above 19.8 km·h⁻¹ (85, 86). In under 19 elite male players, asking players to change zone of the pitch quickly during small sided-games promoted higher HSR covered per minute. These authors compared a ball possession drill played in a single pitch $(35 \times 35 \text{ m})$ pitch) to a drill with 2 contiguous pitches (28.5 × 28.5 m each), and they found that HSR was $2.5 \pm 1.8 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ in the single pitch (i.e., 72 m² per player) and $12.8 \pm 6.3 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ using 2 contiguous pitches, while during official matches was $4.6 \pm 2.3 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ (49). Another option to perform HSR and sprinting distance is to use isolated running-based drills or adding running phases during sided-games. In this case, HSR and sprint running exposure can be accurately prescribed and controlled with a lower degree of uncertainty given that the running intensity is predetermined, fixed, and easily monitored.

More recently, a game profile-based training (GPBT) approach has been proposed to induce relative HSR and sprint running distances comparable or greater than matches outcomes in under 19 elite male soccer players (87). A GPBT could be defined as 1 or more bouts of physical and technical activities (e.g., high-intensity intermittent running, changes of direction, and passes), which replicate the type of movements and physical demands (e.g., internal and external loads) of match-play (88). It was reported that a GPBT was more demanding in terms of distance run above 19 and 25.2 km·h⁻¹ compared with a 5v5 small sided-game in a 42×30 m pitch (i.e., 126 m² per player), specifically, 10.2 m·min⁻¹ during GPBT vs. 4.6 m·min⁻¹ during small sided-game for HSR and 4.2 vs. $2.0 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ for sprinting (87). Moreover, beneficial chronic effects on linear sprinting capabilities over 10 m and 20 m were found following a 8-week training period including GPBT, with greater improvements compared to sided-games training in the form of 5-aside formats. While generalizing such findings to other cohorts warrants caution, the nature of the GPBT drills as fixed running circuits entailing intermittent phases of walking, jogging, running and sprinting may presume that similar outputs can be expected among adult female or male soccer players as well.

Another aspect to be considered when preparing players for HSR and sprint running game demand is sprinting in fatigue condition, since maximal intensity sprints were reported to be more frequent in the first, but also in the last, 15 min of the match, regardless of the playing position (53). Training HSR and sprint running at the end of the training session should therefore be taken into consideration even if a higher risk of musculoskeletal injury is conceivable.

In summary, practitioners are recommended to use a combination of adapted sided-games, GPBT, and running-based drills to ensure adequate HSR and sprint running exposure to their players during training. HSR and sprinting exposition are particularly important for non-starting players that need to compensate for missing the speed load exposition of the match, which often demands near-to-maximal velocity efforts (21, 82).

Limitations and future directions

A number of limitations should be acknowledged in regard to this review: (1) inclusion of studies published in English only, which may have excluded relevant evidence on the topic coming from other languages; (2) some possible methodological issues (e.g., statistical power and confidence in the result) could arise because some studies have a relatively small sample size, while only 5 out of 30 studies included a large cohort; (3) only 5 out of 30 studies involved female professional players, mainly due to the lower diffusion of soccer among women; (4) this study did not analyze in depth the effect of technical and tactical factors on HSR and sprint demands during matches; (5) considering that the training information (related to HSR and sprint demands) reported in this review comes from studies that have mainly enrolled youth players instead of senior players (i.e., first-team players), this study cannot fully generalize the main findings to adult professional cohorts. As such, future studies should address these limitations and focus their attention on the monitoring of HSR and sprint demands during

training among adult male and female (who are particularly underrepresented in the extant literature) professional players.

Practical applications

Since there is no consensus on a specific absolute threshold defining high-speed running and sprint in adult female and male soccer players, and currently an international standard for such velocity thresholds does not exist, practitioners could set as entry velocity for HSR and sprinting values included in the range suggested from this review. A second option for practitioners is to use the velocity thresholds (HSR and sprint) adopted by FIFA and UEFA such as 19 km·h⁻¹ and 23 km·h⁻¹ for female and 20 km·h⁻¹ and 25 km·h⁻¹ for male.

Beyond absolute velocity thresholds, relative thresholds should be considered for specific training sessions where the goal is to reach near to maximal velocity exposure accounting for players' individual physical velocity capacity.

When analyzing the match demand, practitioners should consider that HSR and sprint distances are position-dependent as well as highly variable across the phases of the game and between the games: using HSR and sprint distance as performance indicators could introduce bias if not contextualized. In any case, players have to be ready for HSR and sprinting: to train the HSR and sprinting game demand, practitioners could use a combination of adapted sided-games, GPBT, and running-based drills to ensure adequate HSR and sprint running exposure to their players during training. Finally, monitoring HSR and sprint distances during every single session can allow the practitioner to verify the validity of the training process and optimize physical development, which is necessary to carry out the most demanding phases of the game, which require velocities close to the maximum (e.g., during high-speed counterattack).

Author contributions

AG: was responsible for the original idea of the manuscript and performed the literature search. AG, ER and MB: performed the reference selection. AG: wrote the first draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Stolen T, Chamari K, Castagna C, Wisloff U. Physiology of soccer: an update. Sport Med. (2005) 35(6):501-36. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200535060-00004

2. Reynolds J, Connor M, Jamil M, Beato M. Quantifying and comparing the match demands of U18, U23, and 1ST team English professional soccer players. *Front Physiol.* (2021) 12:706451. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.706451

3. Barnes C, Archer DT, Hogg B, Bush M, Bradley PS. The evolution of physical and technical performance parameters in the English premier league. *Int J Sport Med.* (2014) 35(13):1095–100. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1375695

4. Lago-Peñas C, Lorenzo-Martinez M, López-Del Campo R, Resta R, Rey E. Evolution of physical and technical parameters in the Spanish LaLiga 2012–2019. *Sci Med Footb*. (2022) 1–6. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2022.2049980

5. FIFA. Physical analysis of the FIFA women's world cup France 2019 (2019). Available at: https://www.fifa.com/tournaments/womens/womens/womensworldcup/france2019/ news/physical-analysis-of-france-2019-shows-increase-in-speed-and-intensity (cited Apr 9, 2022).

6. Carling C, Le Gall F, Dupont G. Analysis of repeated high-intensity running performance in professional soccer. J Sport Sci. (2012) 30(4):325–36. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011.652655

7. Faude O, Koch T, Meyer T. Straight sprinting is the most frequent action in goal situations in professional football. *J Sports Sci.* (2012) 30(7):625–31. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2012.665940

8. Martínez-Hernández D, Quinn M, Jones P. Linear advancing actions followed by deceleration and turn are the most common movements preceding goals in male professional soccer. *Sci Med Footb.* (2022) 1–9. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2022.2030064

9. Chmura P, Konefał M, Chmura J, Kowalczuk E, Zajac T, Rokita A, et al. Match outcome and running performance in different intensity ranges among elite soccer players. *Biol Sport.* (2018) 35(2):197-203. doi: 10.5114/biolsport. 2018.74196

10. Chmura P, Andrzejewski M, Konefał M, Mroczek D, Rokita A, Chmura J. Analysis of motor activities of professional soccer players during the 2014 world cup in Brazil. J Hum Kinet. (2017) 56(1):187–95. doi: 10.1515/hukin-2017-0036 11. Johnston RJ, Watsford ML, Kelly SJ, Pine MJ, Spurrs RW. Validity and interunit reliability of 10 Hz and 15 Hz GPS units for assessing athlete movement demands. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2014) 28(6):1649–55. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000000323

12. Johnston RJ, Watsford ML, Pine MJ, Spurrs RW, Murphy AJ, Pruyn EC. The validity and reliability of 5-Hz global positioning system units to measure team sport movement demands. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2012) 26(3):758–65. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e318225f161

13. Scott MT, Scott TJ, Kelly VG. The validity and reliability of global positioning systems in team sport: a brief review. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2016) 30(5):1470–90. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001221

14. Beato M, Coratella G, Stiff A, Dello IA. The validity and between-unit variability of GNSS units (STATSports apex 10 and 18 Hz) for measuring distance and peak speed in team sports. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:1288. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01288

15. Beato M, Jamil M. Intra-system reliability of SicS: video-tracking system (digital.Stadium*) for performance analysis in soccer. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. (2018) 58(6):831–6. doi: 10.23736/S0022-4707.17.07267-X

16. Beato M, Devereux G, Stiff A. Validity and reliability of global positioning system units (STATSports viper) for measuring distance and peak speed in sports. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2018) 32(10):2831–7. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002778

17. Beato M, de Keijzer KL. The inter-unit and inter-model reliability of GNSS STATSports apex and viper units in measuring peak speed over 5, 10, 15, 20 and 30 meters. *Biol Sport*. (2019) 36(4):317–21. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2019.88754

18. Beato M, Drust B, Iacono AD. Implementing high-speed running and sprinting training in professional soccer. *Int J Sports Med.* (2021) 42(4):295–9. doi: 10.1055/a-1302-7968

19. Sweeting AJ, Cormack SJ, Morgan S, Aughey RJ. When is a sprint a sprint? A review of the analysis of team-sport athlete activity profile. *Front Physiol.* (2017) 8:432. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00432

20. FIFA. 2018 FIFA world cup Russia report (2018) Available at: https://www.fifa. com/tournaments/mens/worldcup/2018russia/news/fifa-technical-study-group-publishes-2018-fifa-world-cup-russia-report. (cited Apr 9, 2022).

21. Gualtieri A, Rampinini E, Sassi R, Beato M. Workload monitoring in top-level soccer players during congested fixture periods. *Int J Sports Med.* (2020) 41 (10):677–81. doi: 10.1055/a-1171-1865

22. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Br Med J*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

23. Lang S, Kleijnen J. Quality assessment tools for observational studies: lack of consensus. *Int J Evid Based Healthc.* (2010) 8(4):247. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-1609.2010. 00195.x

24. Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan-a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. *Syst Rev.* (2016) 5(1):210. doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4

25. Scott BR, Lockie RG, Knight TJ, Clark AC, de Jonge XA. A comparison of methods to quantify the in-season training load of professional soccer players. *Int J Sport Physiol Perform*. (2013) 8(2):195–202. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.8.2.195

26. Wehbe GM, Hartwig TB, Duncan CS. Movement analysis of Australian national league soccer players using global positioning system technology. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2014) 28(3):834–42. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3182a35dd1

27. Malone JJ, Di Michele R, Morgans R, Burgess D, Morton JP, Drust B. Seasonal training-load quantification in elite English premier league soccer players. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2015) 10(4):489–97. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0352

28. Anderson L, Orme P, Di Michele R, Close GL, Morgans R, Drust B, et al. Quantification of training load during one-, two- and three-game week schedules in professional soccer players from the English premier league: implications for carbohydrate periodisation. *J Sports Sci.* (2016) 34(13):1250–9. doi: 10.1080/02640414. 2015.1106574

29. Carling C, Bradley P, McCall A, Dupont G. Match-to-match variability in highspeed running activity in a professional soccer team. *J Sports Sci.* (2016) 34 (24):2215-23. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2016.1176228

30. Mara JK, Thompson KG, Pumpa KL, Morgan S. Quantifying the high-speed running and sprinting profiles of elite female soccer players during competitive matches using an optical player tracking system. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2017) 31 (6):1500–8. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000001629

31. Miñano-Espin J, Casáis L, Lago-Peñas C, Gómez-Ruano MÁ. High speed running and sprinting profiles of elite soccer players. *J Hum Kinet.* (2017) 58(1):169–76. doi: 10. 1515/hukin-2017-0086

32. Abbott W, Brickley G, Smeeton NJ. Positional differences in GPS outputs and perceived exertion during soccer training games and competition. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2018) 32(11):3222–31. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002387

33. Baptista I, Johansen D, Seabra A, Pettersen SA. Position specific player load during matchplay in a professional football club. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13(5):e0198115. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0198115

34. Malone S, Owen A, Mendes B, Hughes B, Collins K, Gabbett TJ. High-speed running and sprinting as an injury risk factor in soccer: can well-developed physical qualities reduce the risk? *J Sci Med Sport.* (2018) 21(3):257–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams. 2017.05.016

35. Scott D, Lovell R. Individualisation of speed thresholds does not enhance the doseresponse determination in football training. *J Sports Sci.* (2018) 36(13):1523–32. doi: 10. 1080/02640414.2017.1398894

36. Martín-García A, Gómez Díaz A, Bradley PS, Morera F, Casamichana D. Quantification of a professional football team's External load using a microcycle structure. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2018) 32(12):3511–8. doi: 10.1519/JSC. 000000000002816

37. Martín-García A, Casamichana D, Gómez Díaz A, Cos F, Gabbett TJ. Positional differences in the most demanding passages of play in football competition. *J Sport Sci Med.* (2018) 17(4):563–70. PMID: 30479524.

38. Soroka A. The locomotor activity of soccer players based on playing positions during the 2010 world cup. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness.* (2018) 58(6):837–42. doi: 10. 23736/S0022-4707.17.04323-7

39. Clemente FM, Sarmento H, Rabbani A, Van Der Linden CMI, Kargarfard M, Costa IT. Variations of external load variables between medium- and large-sided soccer games in professional players. *Res Sport Med.* (2019) 27(1):50–9. doi: 10.1080/15438627.2018. 1511560

40. Clemente FM, Rabbani A, Conte D, Castillo D, Afonso J, Clark CCT, et al. Training/match external load ratios in professional soccer players: a full-season study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16(17):3057. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16173057

41. Dalen T, Sandmæl S, Stevens TG, Hjelde GH, Kjøsnes TN, Wisløff U. Differences in acceleration and high-intensity activities between small-sided games and peak periods of official matches in elite soccer players. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2021) 35(7):2018–2024. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003081

42. Hills SP, Barrett S, Feltbower RG, Barwood MJ, Radcliffe JN, Cooke CB, et al. A match-day analysis of the movement profiles of substitutes from a professional soccer club before and after pitch-entry. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14(1):e0211563. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211563

43. Jones RN, Greig M, Mawéné Y, Barrow J, Page RM. The influence of short-term fixture congestion on position specific match running performance and external loading patterns in English professional soccer. *J Sports Sci.* (2019) 37(12):1338–46. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1558563

44. Modric T, Versic S, Sekulic D, Liposek S. Analysis of the association between running performance and game performance indicators in professional soccer players. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16(20):4032. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16204032

45. Oliveira R, Brito JP, Martins A, Mendes B, Marinho DA, Ferraz R, et al. In-season internal and external training load quantification of an elite European soccer team. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14(4):e0209393. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0209393

46. Park LAF, Scott D, Lovell R. Velocity zone classification in elite women's Football: where do we draw the lines? *Sci Med Footb*. (2019) 3(1):21–8. doi: 10.1080/24733938. 2018.1517947

47. Rago V, Brito J, Figueiredo P, Krustrup P, Rebelo A. Relationship between external load and perceptual responses to training in professional football: effects of quantification method. *Sports.* (2019) 7(3):68. doi: 10.3390/sports7030068

48. Ramos GP, Nakamura FY, Penna EM, Wilke CF, Pereira LA, Loturco I, et al. Activity profiles in U17, U20, and senior women's Brazilian national soccer teams during international competitions: are there meaningful differences? *J Strength Cond Res.* (2019) 33(12):3414–22. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002170

49. Asian-Clemente J, Rabano-Muñoz A, Muñoz B, Franco J, Suarez-Arrones L. Can small-side games provide adequate high-speed training in professional soccer? *Int J Sports Med.* (2021) 42(6):523–28. doi: 10.1055/a-1293-8471

50. Kelly DM, Strudwick AJ, Atkinson G, Drust B, Gregson W. Quantification of training and match-load distribution across a season in elite English premier league soccer players. *Sci Med Footb.* (2020) 4(1):59–67. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2019.1651934

51. Scott D, Norris D, Lovell R. Dose-response relationship between external load and wellness in elite women's soccer matches: do customized velocity thresholds add value? *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2020) 15(9):1245–51. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2019-0660

52. Altmann S, Forcher L, Ruf L, Beavan A, Groß T, Lussi P, et al. Match-related physical performance in professional soccer: position or player specific? *PLoS One.* (2021) 16(9):e0256695. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0256695

53. Oliva-Lozano JM, Fortes V, López-Del Campo R, Resta R, Muyor JM. When and how do professional soccer players experience maximal intensity sprints in LaLiga? *Sci Med Footb*. (2022)1–9. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2022.2100462

54. Dwyer DB, Gabbett TJ. Global positioning system data analysis: velocity ranges and a new definition of sprinting for field sport athletes. J Strength Cond Res. (2012) 26 (3):818–24. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3182276555

55. Abt G, Lovell R. The use of individualized speed and intensity thresholds for determining the distance run at high-intensity in professional soccer. J Sports Sci. (2009) 27(9):893-8. doi: 10.1080/02640410902998239

56. Cummins C, Orr R, Connor HO. Global Positioning Systems (GPS) and microtechnology sensors in team sports: a systematic review. *Sport Med.* (2013) 43:1025–42. doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0069-2

57. Thornton HR, Nelson AR, Delaney JA, Serpiello FR, Duthie GM. Interunit reliability and effect of data-processing methods of global positioning systems. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2019) 14(4):432–8. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0273

58. Castagna C, Impellizzeri FM, Chaouachi A, Manzi V. Preseason variations in aerobic fitness and performance in elite-standard soccer players: a team study. J Strength Cond Res. (2013) 27(11):2959–65. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e31828d61a8

59. Helgerud J, Engen LC, Wisløff U, Hoff J. Aerobic endurance training improves soccer performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2001) 33(11):1925–31. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200111000-00019

60. Jastrzębski Z, Radzimiński Ł. Individual vs. general time-motion analysis and physiological response in 4 vs. 4 and 5 vs. 5 small-sided soccer games. *Int J Perform Anal Sport*. (2015) 15(1):397–410. doi: 10.1080/24748668.2015.11868801

61. van den Tillaar R, Solheim JAB, Bencke J. Comparison of hamstring muscle activation during high-speed running and various hamstring strengthening exercises. *Int J Sports Phys Ther.* (2017) 12(5):718–27. doi: 10.26603/ijspt20170718

62. McGrath TM, Hulin BT, Pickworth N, Clarke A, Timmins RG. Determinants of hamstring fascicle length in professional rugby league athletes. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2020) 23(5):524–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2019.12.006

63. Bradley PS, Vescovi JD. Velocity thresholds for women's soccer matches: sex specificity dictates high-speed-running and sprinting thresholds-female athletes in motion (FAiM). *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2015) 10:112–6. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0212

64. Krustrup P, Mohr M, Amstrup T, Rysgaard T, Johansen J, Steensberg A, et al. The Yo-Yo intermittent recovery test: physiological response, reliability, and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2003) 35(4):697–705. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000058441.94520.32

65. Castagna C, Impellizzeri FM, Chamari K, Carlomagno D, Rampinini E. Aerobic fitness and yo-yo continuous and intermittent tests performances in soccer players: a correlation study. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2006) 20(2):320–5. doi: 10.1519/R-18065.1

66. Buchheit M, Laursen PB. High-intensity interval training, solutions to the programming puzzle: part I: cardiopulmonary emphasis. *Sports Med.* (2013) 43 (5):313–38. doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0029-x

67. Sandford GN, Laursen PB, Buchheit M. Anaerobic speed/power reserve and sport performance: scientific basis, current applications and future directions. *Sports Med.* (2021) 51(10):2017–28. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01523-9

68. Schimpchen J, Gopaladesikan S, Meyer T. The intermittent nature of player physical output in professional football matches: an analysis of sequences of peak intensity and associated fatigue responses. *Eur J Sport Sci.* (2021) 21(6):793–802. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2020.1776400

69. Kyprianou E, Di Salvo V, Lolli L, Al Haddad H, Villanueva AM, Gregson W, et al. To measure peak velocity in soccer, let the players sprint. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2022) 36 (1):273–76. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003406

70. Buchheit M, Simpson BM, Hader K, Lacome M. Occurrences of near-to-maximal speed-running bouts in elite soccer: insights for training prescription and injury mitigation. *Sci Med Footb*. (2021) 5(2):105–10. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2020.1802058

71. Massard T, Eggers T, Lovell R. Peak speed determination in football: is sprint testing necessary? *Sci Med Footb.* (2018) 2(2):123-6. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2017. 1398409

72. Rampinini E, Coutts AJ, Castagna C, Sassi R, Impellizzeri FM. Variation in top level soccer match performance. *Int J Sports Med.* (2007) 28(12):1018–24. doi: 10. 1055/s-2007-965158

73. Schober P, Schwarte LA. Correlation coefficients: appropriate use and interpretation. *Anesth Analg.* (2018) 126(5):1763–8. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000002864

74. Trewin J, Meylan C, Varley MC, Cronin J. The match-to-match variation of matchrunning in elite female soccer. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2018) 21(2):196–201. doi: 10.1016/j. jsams.2017.05.009

75. Gregson W, Drust B, Atkinson G, Salvo VD. Match-to-match variability of high-speed activities in premier league soccer. *Int J Sports Med.* (2010) 31(4):237–42. doi: 10. 1055/s-0030-1247546

76. Carling C, Bloomfield J, Nelsen L, Reilly T. The role of motion analysis in elite soccer: contemporary performance measurement techniques and work rate data. *Sports Medicine. Sports Med.* (2008) 38:839–62. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200838100-00004

77. Julian R, Page RM, Harper LD. The effect of fixture congestion on performance during professional male soccer match-play: a systematic critical review with meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* (2021) 51(2):255–73. doi: 10.1007/s40279-020-01359-9

78. Novak AR, Impellizzeri FM, Trivedi A, Coutts AJ, McCall A. Analysis of the worstcase scenarios in an elite football team: towards a better understanding and application. *J Sports Sci.* (2021) 39(16):1850–59. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2021.1902138 79. Stevens TGA, de Ruiter CJ, Twisk JWR, Savelsbergh GJP, Beek PJ. Quantification of in-season training load relative to match load in professional Dutch eredivisie football players. *Sci Med Footb.* (2017) 1(2):117–25. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2017.1282163

80. Baptista I, Johansen D, Figueiredo P, Rebelo A, Pettersen SA. Positional differences in peak- and accumulated- training load relative to match load in elite football. *Sports.* (2019) 8(1):1. doi: 10.3390/sports8010001

81. Clemente FM, Owen A, Serra-Olivares J, Nikolaidis PT, Van Der Linden CMI, Mendes B. Characterization of the weekly external load profile of professional soccer teams from Portugal and the Netherlands. *J Hum Kinet*. (2019) 66(1):155–64. doi: 10. 2478/hukin-2018-0054

82. Anderson L, Orme P, Di Michele R, Close GL, Milsom J, Morgans R, et al. Quantification of seasonal-long physical load in soccer players with different starting status from the English premier league: implications for maintaining squad physical fitness. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2016) 11(8):1038–46. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0672

83. Dello Iacono A, McLaren SJ, Macpherson TW, Beato M, Weston M, Unnithan VB, et al. Quantifying exposure and intra-individual reliability of high-speed and sprint running during sided-games training in soccer players: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* (2022) doi: 10.1007/s40279-022-01773-1. [Epub ahead of print].

84. Riboli A, Coratella G, Rampichini S, Ce E, Esposito F. Area per player in smallsided games to replicate the external load and estimated physiological match demands in elite soccer players. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15(9):e0229194. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229194

85. Köklü Y, Cihan H, Alemdaroğlu U, Dellal A, Wong DP. Acute effects of small-sided games combined with running drills on internal and external loads in young soccer players. *Biol Sport.* (2020) 37(4):375–81. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2020.96943

86. Ade JD, Harley JA, Bradley PS. Physiological response, time-motion characteristics, and reproducibility of various speed-endurance drills in elite youth soccer players: small-sided games versus generic running. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2014) 9(3):471–9. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2013-0390

87. Dello Iacono A, Beato M, Unnithan V. Comparative effects of game profile-based training and small-sided games on physical performance of elite young soccer players. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2021) 35(10):2810–7. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003225

88. Dello Iacono A, Unnithan V, Shushan T, King M, Beato M. Training load responses to football game profile-based training (GPBT) formats: effects of locomotive demands manipulation. *Biol Sport.* (2021) 39(1):145–55. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2021.102919

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Paul S. R. Goods, Murdoch University, Australia

REVIEWED BY Michael Hughes, Cardiff Metropolitan University, United Kingdom Andrea Fusco, University of Cassino, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Marco Beato ⊠ m.beato@uos.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 24 January 2023 ACCEPTED 21 March 2023 PUBLISHED 04 April 2023

CITATION

Beato M, de Keijzer KL and Costin AJ (2023) External and internal training load comparison between sided-game drills in professional soccer. Front. Sports Act. Living 5:1150461.

doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1150461

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Beato, de Keijzer and Costin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

External and internal training load comparison between sided-game drills in professional soccer

Marco Beato^{1*}, Kevin L de Keijzer¹ and Andrew J Costin^{1,2}

¹School of Health and Sports Sciences, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom, ²Department of Sport Science, Ipswich Town FC, Ipswich, United Kingdom

This study aims to quantify and compare the external and internal training load demands of sided-game drills in professional team players during the competitive season. Twenty-four male professional soccer players of the same club were enrolled in this study. Drills were categorized as large-sided games (LSG): 10vs10 (84 × 60 m or 72 × 60 m), Hexagon possession 9vs9 + 3 (36 × 48 m), Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 (36×44 m), Possession 7vs7 + 3 (30×32 m) or as Small-sided games (SSG): 6vs6 (48×42 m), and Possession 6vs4 (30×60 m). A total of 7 drills and 279 individual data points were included in this analysis. Distance covered, high-speed running (HSR), and sprinting distance were all calculated in meters per minute (m.min⁻¹) while total accelerations (>3 m.s⁻²) and total decelerations (- < 3 m.s⁻²) were calculated in number of actions per minute $(n.min^{-1})$. All external load was measured with global navigation satellite systems (GNSS) STATSports Apex units. Players' internal load was quantified using their rating of perceived exertion (RPE). We found that distance covered (p < 0.01, large), HSR (p < 0.01, large), and sprinting distance (p < 0.01, large)changed between drills (e.g., greater in LSG formats), acceleration (p < 0.01, *large*) and deceleration (p < 0.01, *large*) demands were greater in smaller formats (e.g., SSG 6vs6, and Possession 6vs4), while RPE was lower in the Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 format (p < 0.01, large). This study found that sided-games can replicate and sometimes exceed some match-specific intensity parameters, however, HSR and sprinting were consistently lower compared to official matches.

KEYWORDS

football, team sports, performance, GPS, monitoring

Introduction

Soccer requires players to have a high level of fitness to consistently execute the technical and tactical demands of the game (1, 2). The appropriate combination of these three factors in the training process plays a paramount role in short- and long-term preparation for competition (3, 4). Sided-games are a common form of training used to enhance performance and prepare players in professional soccer (5, 6). Coaches use sided-game drills that vary in pitch size, rules and in number of players to develop the physical (*e.g.*, aerobic fitness, speed), psychological, technical and tactical (*e.g.*, possession skills, pressing) skills needed in soccer (7). Although sided-games are commonplace in training, the application of such drills may insufficiently replicate the physical demands of the game (8).

It is important for coaches and sport scientists to track the external and internal demands of training to enhance physical capacity (3, 9). External load is commonly monitored using global navigation satellite system (GNSS) units across elite and semi-professional soccer teams (10–12). GNSS units acquire and track multiple satellite systems
(e.g., Global Positioning System, GLONASS) and have evolved to provide practitioners with a more accurate and holistic understanding of the demands placed upon soccer players (10, 13). In addition to the monitoring of distance and velocity data, GNSS units have an integrated triaxial accelerometer (e.g., acquisition frequency usually of 100 Hz) that allows for evaluation of additional accelerometer-based parameters (14). Specifically, practitioners often assess acceleration and deceleration efforts (considered above a threshold of $>3 \text{ m.s}^{-2}$ and <-3 m.s⁻², respectively) during training and competition (15). The analysis of external training load can be implemented alongside the monitoring of internal training load parameters such as heart rate, blood lactate, and the player's rating of perceived exertion (RPE) (16, 17). However, the daily recording of heart rate and blood lactate remains challenging, while the use of RPE is non-invasive, cheaper, and easier to implement (16). The construct validity of RPE has been reported in several studies and was found to be strongly correlated with heart rate (r = 0.74) and blood lactate (r = 0.83) during aerobic exercise (4, 18). For these reasons, RPE can give an overall indication of a players' internal load (18).

The monitoring of both external (e.g., distance, high-speed running [HSR], accelerations, decelerations) and internal load (e.g., RPE) parameters and the consequent manipulations of training variables (sided-games rules and spaces) play a key role in players' fitness development throughout the season and for players' readiness for competition (3, 17, 19). Sided-games in soccer have received a lot of scientific interest and support throughout the years because of their ability to achieve adequate internal load demands (i.e., around 85%-90% of maximum heart rate) and stimulate aerobic fitness amongst soccer players (5-7). Additionally, sided games are attractive to coaches because they offer a large variety of challenges and enable players to train certain technical aspects and tactical principles in greater detail. Coaches also manipulate the objectives of games (possession or goal-oriented) and vary rules (goal size, presence of neutral players, or numerical player overloads) to achieve different psychophysical (e.g., RPE, heart rate) and mechanical load (e.g., accelerations) objectives and stimuli (7, 15). However, a recent systematic review by Dello Iacono et al. (8), reported that sidedgames (ranging from small to large) are inadequate for training the higher speed demands of the game. Specifically, sided-games consistently offered a lower dose of high-speed running and sprinting distance (per unit of time) compared to official matches (8).

Further investigation is necessary to better understand whether sided-games formats (with different rules and objectives) elicit a similar training load as well as it is needed to verify if the sided games used with professional players in an ecological context can replicate the physical demands of regular matches. Therefore, the aim of this study was to quantify and compare the external and internal training load demands of sided-game drills in professional team players during the official season. We aimed to verify, first, if different sided-game formats can actually offer different physical stimuli and second, if the intensity (per unit of time) reported for the external load metrics recorded were adequate to stimulate players compared to the intensity reported during matches.

Methods

Participants

Twenty-four male professional soccer players of the same club were enrolled in this study (age = 27 ± 9 years old and body mass = 79 ± 15 kg). The inclusion criteria were the absence of illness and injuries and regular participation in soccer competition. Goalkeepers (GKs) were excluded in this study and only outfield players match data were evaluated. The sample size power was evaluated using G*power (Düsseldorf, Germany) for an ANOVA fixed effects, one way and results indicated that a total of 119 individual data points would be required to detect a *moderate* effect (f = 0.35) with 80% power and an alpha of 5%. The actual sample size of this study was of 279 individual data points, with a real power of >95%, which reduced the likelihood of type 2 error (false negative) (20).

External training load data was recorded as part of the normal monitoring routine of the club and was analyzed *a posteriori*. The Ethics Committee of the University of Suffolk (Ipswich, UK) approved this study (project code: RETHS22/016). Informed consent to take part in this research was signed by the club. All procedures were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki for human studies.

Experimental design

Drills were categorized as A) Large-sided games (LSG) 10vs10 (84×60 m), B) LSG 10vs10 (72×60 m), C) Hexagon possession 9vs9 + 3 (36×48 m), D) Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 (36×44 m), E) Possession 7vs7 + 3 (30×32 m), F) Small-sided games (SSG) 6vs6 (48×42 m), G) Possession 6vs4 (30×60 m). Only players that played for the full duration of the drill were included in this analysis. A total of 7 drills and 279 individual data points were included in this analysis. Offside rule was present during LSG formats only. No restriction on player's ball touches was applied for any sided-game drills. Additional balls were available around the pitches and were used to replace a ball that went out of the pitch—this was to allow the maintenance of intensity.

Sided-game drills description

LSG 10vs10 (84×60 m) and B) LSG 10vs10 (72×60 m) are sided-games that simulate a soccer match (with the same rules), involving regular goals and GKs, but in restricted space compared to a regular match, 229 m² and 196.4 m², respectively. The duration of these drills ranged from 7 to 10 min. Hexagon possession 9vs9 + 3 (36×48 m) is a possession drill with 3 neutral players free to move within a hexagon shaped pitch. The aim of the drill is to maintain possession of the ball for as long as possible and score "goals" by completing 6 passes. The opposition team are instructed to win the ball and instantly switch focus to maintain possession and score "goals" by completing 6 passes. The relative space size of the drill was 82 m^2 . The duration of this drill was 8 min.

Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 (36×44 m) is a possession drill with 2 neutral players free to move on the pitch. The aim of the activity is to pass a ball through one of 3 gates (*i.e.*, small goals) where a teammate must receive the pass. The opposition team are instructed to win the ball and then instantly switch focus to scoring by passing the ball through one of 3 gates. The relative space size of the drill was 88 m². The duration of this drill was 7 min.

Possession 7vs7 + 3 (30×32 m) is a possession drill with 3 neutral players free to move within a rectangular shaped pitch. The aim of this drill is to maintain possession of the ball for as long as possible and score "goals" by completing 10 passes. The opposition team are instructed to win the ball and instantly switch focus to maintain possession for as long as possible. The relative space size of the drill was 56.5 m². The duration of this drill was 7 min.

SSG 6vs6 (48×42 m) are sided-games that involve regular goals and GKs, but in more restricted space compared to LSGs (*i.e.*,168 m²). In this specific drill, the use of GKs and regular goals were used to maximize intensity. The duration of this drill ranged from 5 to 6 min.

Possession 6vs4 (30 × 60 m) is a possession drill with the aim of maintaining possession of the ball for as long as possible and scoring "goals" by completing 10 passes. The opposition team try to win the ball and then instantly switch focus to maintain possession for as long as possible. The relative space size of the drill was 180 m². The duration of this drill ranged from 5 to 6 min.

GNSS and data recording procedure

STATSports 10 Hz GNSS units (STATSports, Northern Ireland) with integrated 100 Hz triaxial accelerometer acquire and track multiple satellite systems (*i.e.*, global positioning systems, GLONASS) to provide highly accurate and reliable positional information (10). Apex units were validated for both linear and soccer-specific distances, reporting an error between 1 and 2.5% (10). The inter-units' reliability for sprints was previously reported and classified as *excellent* (intra-class correlation coefficient = 0.99), with a typical error of measurement of 1.85% for sprints ranging from 5 to 30 m (21).

Before each data recording, the GNSS Apex units were turned on about 15 min before the beginning. These units reported the quality of the signals that ranged between 17 and 21 satellites, which is in line with previous literature (21). All data recorded by the Apex units were downloaded and elaborated by STATSports software (Apex version Sonra v4.4.17) before being exported as a CSV. file for further analysis.

External and internal load variables

Distance covered, HSR distance (over $5.5 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ or 19.8 km[·]h⁻¹), and sprinting distance (over $7.0 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ or 25.2 km.h⁻¹) were analyzed in meters per minute (m[·]min⁻¹) (19). Total accelerations (>3 m[·]s⁻²) and total decelerations

 $(- < 3 \text{ m.s}^{-2})$ were analyzed as number of actions per minute $(n.min^{-1})$ (3, 15, 22). All external load metrics were reported as frequency per minute to decrease the difference of training (time) exposure. Players' internal load was quantified using their rate of perceived exertion (RPE) (Borg's CR10 scale) and expressed in arbitrary units (AU) (16). The construct validity of this scale was previously reported such as RPE was strongly correlated with heart rate (r = 0.74, p < 0.001) and blood lactate (r = 0.83, p < 0.001) during aerobic exercise (18).

Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics are reported as mean ± standard deviation (SD). A Shapiro-Wilk test was used to check the assumption that the data conforms to a normal distribution. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was used to assess if significant differences exist between drills across several dependent variables. Effect sizes were reported using the eta squared (η^2) that express the amount of variance accounted for by one or more independent variables. η^2 was interpreted as >0.01 small, >0.06 medium and >0.14 large effect. If data were not normally distributed, a Kruskal-Wallis Test (non-parametric ANOVA) was performed. A homogeneity (equal variances across samples) test was performed using the Levene's test, and if a violation was found, the Brown-Forsythe correction was applied. When significant differences were found in the ANOVA, post hoc analysis was performed using Bonferroni corrections. Estimates of 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated and reported in the figures. Effect sizes were interpreted using Cohen's d principle as follows trivial < 0.2, small 0.2-0.6, moderate 0.6-1.2, large 1.2-2.0, very large > 2.0 (23). Unless otherwise stated significance was set at p < 0.05 for all tests. Statistical analyses were performed in JASP (JASP Version 0.16.13. Amsterdam, Netherlands).

Results

Summary of the comparison between training load parameters during different drills is reported in Table 1.

The results of ANOVA for each external load variable are reported in the following figures: distance per minute in Figure 1, HSR per minute in Figure 2, sprinting distance per minute in Figure 3, accelerations per minute in Figure 4, decelerations per minute in Figure 5, RPE in Figure 6.

Post hoc analysis reporting delta difference, p-values with Bonferroni corrections and Cohen's d effect size for each drill and training load metric was reported in the **supplementary** material.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to quantify and compare the external and internal training load demands of sided-game drills in professional team players during the official season. In this study

TABLE 1 Comparison between training load parameters during different drills.

Variable	<i>F-</i> value	<i>P-</i> value	Effect size (η^2)	Qualitative interpretation
Distance per minute (m.min ⁻¹)	33.5	<0.001	0.426	Large
HSR per minute (m.min ⁻¹)	19.2	<0.001	0.298	Large
Sprinting per minute (m.min ⁻¹)	6.6	<0.001	0.127	Large
Accelerations per minute (n.min ⁻¹)	23.3	<0.001	0.340	Large
Decelerations per minute (n.min ⁻¹)	22.36	<0.001	0.331	Large
RPE (AU)	76.2	< 0.001	0.628	Large

High-speed running (HSR), RPE = rating of perceived exertion. Eta squared (η^2) express the amount of variance accounted for by one or more independent variables. η^2 was interpreted as >0.01 *small*, >0.06 *medium* and >0.14 *large* effect. Unless otherwise stated significance was set at p < 0.05 for all tests.

we analyzed a variety of formats: LSG 10vs10, Hexagon possession 9vs9 + 3, Possession gate 8vs8 + 2, Possession 7vs7 + 3, SSG 6vs6, and Possession 6vs4. The first aim was to verify if different sided-game formats can offer different physical stimuli. We found that distance and HSR were greater in large-sided game (LSG) formats (LSG 10vs10) while acceleration and deceleration demands were greater in small-sided game (SSG) formats (SSG 6vs6 and Possession 6vs4). Interestingly, RPE was lower in the Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 format in comparison to all the other formats. These findings support the need for monitoring of training load during different sided-game formats implemented due to the large variation between drills in external and internal training load. The second aim of this study was to compare if the intensity of the external load metrics recorded were adequate to stimulate players compared to the intensity reported during matches. Although we found that sided-games can indeed replicate and occasionally exceed some intensity parameters, HSR and sprinting were consistently lower than what is found in official matches.

Distance per minute

Previous research reported that sided-game formats can be adapted to offer different physical demands (i.e., distance per minute) (5, 24). LSG formats are usually used to obtain higher distance covered compared to SSGs or other formats (19). In this study, LSG 10vs10 (84×60 m and 72×60 m) was reported to have an average of 120.1 m.min⁻¹ and 111.1 m.min⁻¹, respectively (Figure 1). In this case, a reduction in relative space size from 229 m² to 196.4 m² shows a significant (p < 0.05, d = 0.61, moderate) decrement in distance per minute. These values are supported by previous research that reported that sided-games ranged from $14.8 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ to $17.2 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ (8). Other formats such as Hexagon possession 9vs9 + 3 (duration = 8 min) and Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 (duration = 7 min) showed 96.8 m.min⁻¹ and 101.7 m.min⁻¹, which were significantly lower (p < 0.01, very large) than LSG 10vs10 84×60 m (duration = 10 min). The relative space of the drill was 82 m^2 and 88 m^2 , respectively. Therefore, it seems quite clear that a reduction in



Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

74



Comparison of HSR per minute between drills. The data distributions show, mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence intervals, and individual data points.



relative space size reduces the distance per minute covered by players (25). A second factor that can affect distance per minute is the rules used during sided-games (7). For instance, Possession

6vs4 required players to play in an imbalanced way, specifically, the team with the ball would try to maintain its possession for as long as possible and "goals" were scored based on making 10



passes. Although the relative space size was 180 m^2 , the rules of the game did not enable the players to cover (81.3 m.min^{-1}) the same distance per minute of other possessions games. For example, possession 7vs7 + 3 (56.5 m^2) had an average of 108.3 m^{-1} (d = 1.84, *large*). These results (see, Figure 1) show that a combination of appropriate relative space size and game rules are necessary to obtain the wished distance per minute output.

HSR and sprinting distance

In recent years, HSR and sprinting distance have been reported as among the most important external load variables for monitoring in soccer (3). Exposure to high-speed activities has a dual aim, first, to train the players for the demands of the match, second, to decrease the probability of lower limb non-contact muscular injuries (i.e., hamstrings) (19, 26). In this study, we have observed that HSR and sprinting distance are greater in LSG compared to SSG $(SSG = 168 \text{ m}^2)$ and other possession formats played on a smaller relative space size (see Figure 2 and Figure 3). LSG formats (229 m² and 196.4 m²) enabled for greater HSR (5.9 and 5.6 m.min⁻¹, respectively) while 6vs6 SSG only enabled for 3.2 m.min⁻¹ of distance, which was significantly lower (p < 0.01, moderate). Significant differences were also found for sprinting distances, where players achieved 1.1 and 1.3 m.min⁻¹ in the LSG formats compared to a very low sprinting distance of 0.4 m.min⁻¹ during SSG formats. After a visual analysis of Figure 2, it is very clear that HSR is mainly achieved in LSG formats, while other formats such as SSG 6vs6 and Hexagon possession 9vs9+3 only offer lower exposuresmost sided-game formats obtain trivial ($<2 \text{ m.min}^{-1}$) exposures. A similar visual analysis of Figure 3 shows very clearly that sprinting activity is mainly performed in LSG formats (although the actual distance per minute is minimal), while all the other sided-games show an average exposure lower than 1 m⁻¹. Therefore, a practical recommendation for practitioners is to use formats with a relative space size > 200 m^2 to generate HSR and sprinting distance with their players. The values found in this study are supported by a previous systematic review that found HSR ranged from 2.7 $\text{m}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$ to 3.6 $\text{m}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$ and sprinting distance ranged from 0.2 m·min⁻¹ to 0.7 m·min⁻¹ in a large sample (n = 104) of sided-games studies (8). It is clear from the previous research and from the results of this study that sidedgames enable for a limited HSR exposure (apart from LSG, mean ranges = 5.9 and 5.6 m.min⁻¹) and very limited (if not trivial) sprinting distance exposure.

Accelerations, decelerations and RPE

Sided-games are frequently used in soccer to generate a mechanical load in the players' lower limbs. Although this mechanical load cannot be easily quantified (22, 27), sport scientists and coaches monitor the number of accelerations and decelerations performed during soccer-specific drills (15). In Figure 3 and Figure 4 is possible to observe that all formats



used in this study can provide exposure to this type of actions that could be suitable to replicate the demands of the game and so to maintain/enhance physical performance. Of the sided-games monitored in this study, it is clear that Possession 6vs4 and SSG 6vs6 are more suitable than LSG formats for achieving accelerations and deceleration demands. The acceleration and deceleration demands of the possession 6vs4 and SSG 6v6 ranged between 2.1 and 2.2 n.min⁻¹, while only 1.2 accelerations or decelerations n^{min⁻¹} were performed with LSG formats (Figures 4 & 5). The exposure to acceleration and deceleration efforts was significantly lower during LSG formats compared to Possession 6vs4 (p < 0.01, moderate). In addition to the use of external load parameters, practitioners can assess the players' internal load using an RPE scale, which is cheap and easy to implement (28, 29). RPE enables for a subjective quantification of the overall load that the players have perceived during the sided-games (7, 16). RPE correlates with internal load parameters (heart rate and blood lactate) (18) and has also been found to be sensitive to changes in acceleration intensity (22). In Figure 6, it is possible to evaluate the RPE of the sided-games assessed in this study; we can see that Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 shows the lowest score (RPE = 4.00 au) amongst all drills, while Possession 6vs4 and LSG 10vs10 $(84 \times 60 \text{ m})$ show the highest scores 8.0

and 7.5 au, respectively. The difference between Possession gate 8vs8 + 2 and the other two formats is very large and significant (p < 0.01), while the difference between the other drills ranges from small to very large. Although these results are of interest, partitioners need to be aware that RPE gives an indication of the overall perceived load, but it is not clear exactly what this score is composed of. Specifically, it is possible to see that Possession 6vs4 and LSG 10vs10 (84×60 m) have no significantly different scores (p = 0.073), but the formats characteristics and the external load parameters recorded are very different between these drills. Possession 6vs4 is played on a relative space size of 180 m², while a LSG 10vs10 (84×60 m) has relative space size of 229 m², the first is a possession game (with specific tactical aims), while the second is a goal-oriented format with different tactical aims. The HSR in Possession 6vs4 format is 1.9 m.min⁻¹ vs. 5.9 m.min^{-1} of LSG 10vs10 (84 × 60 m), moreover, the number of accelerations were 2.2 per minute vs. 1.2 per minute. Therefore, professionals can use RPE to evaluate the overall perceived load of players during sided-games, however, some important considerations for its use and interpretation need to be made. The players' perceived exertion values can derive from different factors and cannot be easily interpreted when analyzed in isolation. For instance, sided-games with very different



characteristics and demands (accelerations or HSR) could give very similar RPE scores, however, the external load parameters and the tactical characteristics of the drills can be very different (and consequently, the real physical stimulus). Therefore, we suggest practitioners avoid focusing only on the use of RPE but to integrate external and internal load parameters in their monitoring system. These suggestions are supported by previous research that found very similar RPE scores during soccerspecific training protocols (30), although the accelerations and HSR demands of these formats were significantly different among them. The data reported in the literature (8, 12, 30), in addition to what found in the current research suggest the necessity for practitioners of assessing external load parameters in soccer to have a more complete understanding of players' training load.

Sided-games vs. matches

The sided-games monitored in this study should be compared with the intensity reported during official matches in order to understand if they can adequately train players for the intensity of the game. Previous research that analyzed players of a similar level (EFL League 1) reported that they covered a distance of 105.6 m.min⁻¹ (31). The drills analyzed in this study had scores all above this intensity except for Hexagon possession 9vs9+3 (96.8 m.min⁻¹), Possession gate 8vs8+2 (101.7 m.min⁻¹), and Possession 6vs4 (81.3 m.min⁻¹). Therefore, if practitioners aim to replicate the distance per minute of official matches, they should select their drills accordingly (see Figure 1). However, practitioners should be aware that higher level football players (Dutch Eredivisie) reported higher distances 121.4 m^{-min⁻¹} (32),

therefore, the intensity found in this study should be reassessed when different players are used. Regarding HSR and sprinting distance, intensities of 7.0 m.min⁻¹ and 1.5 m.min⁻¹ were reported during official games, respectively (31). Observing the intensities indicated in Figure 2 and Figure 3, it is possible to report that with the exception of the LSG formats, all the sidedgames analyzed in this study offer an intensity that is much lower than what is reported during competitive matches (31). This is a critical point because sided-games are extremely popular training formats in soccer (7) but generally fail to fully prepare players for the high-speed demands of the game (8). Practitioners should therefore add other drills to their training routine (i.e., ball-based circuit drills) (30) and linear sprinting exercises (without the ball) to prepare their players for competition (19, 33). Sided-games are also used to generate a mechanical load in soccer players, mainly because they offer exposure to acceleration and deceleration actions (15, 34). The physiological benefits of acceleration and deceleration activities (i.e., short-shuttle runs) were well described in previous papers (35, 36). From a match perspective, players generally perform around 60-80 accelerations and decelerations per match (32, 37, 38), which mean around 0.6 and 0.9 actions per minute. Figure 3 and Figure 4 highlight that acceleration and deceleration demands during sided-games ranged from 1.2 to 2.2 and 1.2 to 2.1 n.min⁻¹, respectively. Our findings confirm that these drills can offer an adequate mechanical stimulus to prepare players for match demands. Practitioners can therefore use and manipulate the drill formats in the current study to generate the adequate mechanical load for their players as reported in the literature (15).

Limitations and future directions

This study is not without limitations, first, the players monitored in this study are professional athletes playing in EFL League 1, therefore, the intensity found could be different if higher- or lower-level players would perform the same sidedgames. Therefore, practitioners of different clubs should verify these intensities with their players if using the same drills suggested here. Secondly, this study enrolled a sample of male professional soccer players, therefore these data cannot be easily used on female soccer populations. Recent research reported that more information and in particular more original studies are needed to increase the knowledge about female soccer (39), specifically, the number of articles are not comparable to current research output levels in male football. Thirdly, this study used a specific GNSS technology to monitor the external training load of the drills (10). Each technology has different accuracy and in particular, for the accelerations and decelerations, differences in filtering and acquisition frequency can make it difficult to compare outcomes amongst studies (15, 40).

Conclusions

This study found that the external and internal training load demands vary among sided-game drills in professional team players. Sided-game formats should be selected based on the coaches' technical and tactical aims but also consider the physical outcomes that they want to obtain. Match intensities can be trained using LSG 10vs10, SSG 6vs6 and Possession 7vs7+3 formats for some performance parameters (e.g., distance per minute, accelerations, decelerations). LSG 10vs10 are the most suitable formats to achieve HSR and sprinting distance objectives, although the intensities recorded are lower than what was observed during regular matches. Practitioners should therefore also use other training methods to compensate for the external load recorded during sided-games such as ball-based circuits and linear sprinting drills. The acceleration and deceleration load can be comfortably achieved with several sided-games and in particular with SSG 6vs6 and Possession 6vs4 formats which offer a higher frequency of acceleration and deceleration actions per minute. Finally, RPE can be used as a subjective measure of perceived load, but practitioners need to be aware that sidedgames with very different characteristics and load demands (accelerations and HSR) could obtain very similar RPE scores. Therefore, we suggest practitioners avoid focusing only on the use of RPE but integrate external and internal load parameters comprehensively within their monitoring system.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The Ethics Committee of the University of Suffolk (Ipswich, United Kingdom) approved this study (project code : RETHS22/ 016). The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

Author contributions

MB performed the data analysis and the first draft of the paper. AC recorded the data and reviewed the manuscript. KDK reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by the University of Suffolk and Ipswich Town FC. The research projected was supported by the following project: code "BEE23007". This study received funding from Ipswich Town FC (United Kingdom). The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge Anna Youngs support to this study. Anna helped the authors during data monitoring and during the coding of sided-games as part of the normal monitoring routine of the club.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fspor.2023. 1150461/full#supplementary-material.

References

1. Hoff J, Wisløff U, Engen LC, Kemi OJ, Helgerud J. Soccer specific aerobic endurance training. Br J Sports Med. (2002) 36(3):218–21. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12055120 doi: 10.1136/bjsm.36.3.218

2. Bradley PS, Carling C, Gomez Diaz A, Hood P, Barnes C, Ade J, et al. Match performance and physical capacity of players in the top three competitive standards of English professional soccer. *Hum Mov Sci.* (2013) 32(4):808–21. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0167945713000687 doi: 10.1016/j. humov.2013.06.002

3. Gualtieri A, Rampinini E, Sassi R, Beato M. Workload monitoring in top-level soccer players during congested fixture periods. *Int J Sports Med.* (2020) 41 (10):677–81. doi: 10.1055/a-1171-1865

4. Impellizzeri FM, Marcora SM, Coutts AJ. Internal and external training load: 15 years on. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2019) 14(2):270–3. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0935

5. Christopher J, Beato M, Hulton AT. Manipulation of exercise to rest ratio within set duration on physical and technical outcomes during small-sided games in elite youth soccer players. *Hum Mov Sci.* (2016) 48:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.humov. 2016.03.013

6. Kelly DM, Gregson W, Reilly T, Drust B. The development of a soccer-specific training drill for elite-level players. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2013) 27(4):938–43. Available at: http://nsca.allenpress.com/nscaonline/?request=get-abstract&doi=10. 1519%2FR-17254.1 doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3182610b7d

 Hill-Haas SV, Dawson B, Impellizzeri FM, Coutts AJ. Physiology of small-sided games training in football. Sport Med. (2011) 41(3):199–220. Available at: http://link. springer.com/10.2165/11539740-000000000-00000 doi: 10.2165/11539740-0000000000-00000

8. Dello Iacono A, McLaren SJ, Macpherson TW, Beato M, Weston M, Unnithan VB, et al. Quantifying exposure and intra-individual reliability of high-speed and sprint running during sided-games training in soccer players: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* (2023) 53(2):371–413. doi: 10.1007/s40279-022-01773-1

9. Anderson L, Orme P, Di Michele R, Close GL, Milsom J, Morgans R, et al. Quantification of seasonal-long physical load in soccer players with different starting status from the English premier league: implications for maintaining squad physical fitness. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2016) 11(8):1038–46. doi: 10.1123/ ijspp.2015-0672

10. Beato M, Coratella G, Stiff A, Dello Iacono A. The validity and between-unit variability of GNSS units (STATSports apex 10 and 18 hz) for measuring distance and peak speed in team sports. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9(September):1288. doi: 10. 3389/fphys.2018.01288

11. Kelly DM, Strudwick AJ, Atkinson G, Drust B, Gregson W. Quantification of training and match-load distribution across a season in elite English premier league soccer players. *Sci Med Footb*. (2020) 4(1):59–67. doi: 10.1080/24733938. 2019.1651934

12. Gualtieri A, Rampinini E, Dello Iacono A, Beato M. High-speed running and sprinting in professional adult soccer: current thresholds definition, match demands and training strategies. A systematic review. *Front Sport Act Living.* (2023) 5:1116293. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1116293

13. Beato M, Devereux G, Stiff A. Validity and reliability of global positioning system units (STATSports viper) for measuring distance and peak speed in sports. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2018) 32(10):2831–7. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/30052603. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002778

14. Beato M, De Keijzer KL, Carty B, Connor M. Monitoring fatigue during intermittent exercise with accelerometer-derived metrics. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10 (June):780. Available at: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys.2019.00780/full doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00780

15. Silva H, Nakamura FY, Beato M, Marcelino R. Acceleration and deceleration demands during training sessions in football: a systematic review. *Sci Med Footb.* (2022):1–16. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2022.2090600. [Epub ahead of print]

16. Impellizzeri FM, Rampinini E, Coutts AJ, Sassi A, Marcora SM. Use of RPEbased training load in soccer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2004) 36(6):1042–7. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15179175 doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000128199. 23901.2F

17. Thorpe RT, Strudwick AJ, Buchheit M, Atkinson G, Drust B, Gregson W. Monitoring fatigue during the in-season competitive phase in elite soccer players. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2015) 10(8):958–64. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0004

18. Scherr J, Wolfarth B, Christle JW, Pressler A, Wagenpfeil S, Halle M. Associations between Borg's Rating of perceived exertion and physiological measures of exercise intensity. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2013) 113(1):147–55. doi: 10. 1007/s00421-012-2421-x

19. Beato M, Drust B, Dello Iacono A. Implementing high-speed running and sprinting training in professional soccer. *Int J Sports Med.* (2021) 42(4):295–9. doi: 10.1055/a-1302-7968

20. Beato M. Recommendations for the design of randomized controlled trials in strength and conditioning. Common design and data interpretation. *Front Sport Act Living.* (2022) 4:981836. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.981836

21. Beato M, De Keijzer KL. The inter-unit and inter-model reliability of GNSS STATSports apex and viper units in measuring peak speed over 5, 10, 15, 20 and 30 meters. *Biol Sport*. (2019) 36(4):317–21. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2019.88754

22. Beato M, Drust B. Acceleration intensity is an important contributor to the external and internal training load demands of repeated sprint exercises in soccer players. *Res Sport Med.* (2021) 29(1):67–76. doi: 10.1080/15438627.2020.1743993

23. Hopkins WG, Marshall SW, Batterham AM, Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2009) 41 (1):3–13. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19092709 doi: 10.1249/ MSS.0b013e31818cb278

24. Stone NM, Kilding AE. Aerobic conditioning for team sport athletes. *Sports Med.* (2009) 39(8):615–42. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 19769413 doi: 10.2165/00007256-200939080-00002

25. Riboli A, Coratella G, Rampichini S, Ce E, Esposito F. Area per player in smallsided games to replicate the external load and estimated physiological match demands in elite soccer players. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15(9):e0229194. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0229194

26. Duhig S, Shield AJ, Opar D, Gabbett TJ, Ferguson C, Williams M. Effect of high-speed running on hamstring strain injury risk. *Br J Sports Med.* (2016) 50 (24):1536–40. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095679

27. Vanrenterghem J, Nedergaard NJ, Robinson MA, Drust B. Training load monitoring in team sports: a novel framework separating physiological and biomechanical load-adaptation pathways. *Sports Med.* (2017) 47(11):2135–42. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28283992 doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0714-2

28. Fusco A, Knutson C, King C, Mikat RP, Porcari JP, Cortis C, et al. Session RPE during prolonged exercise training. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2020) 15(2):292–4. Available at: https://journals.humankinetics.com/view/journals/ijspp/15/2/article-p292.xml doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2019-0137

29. Foster C, Boullosa D, McGuigan M, Fusco A, Cortis C, Arney BE, et al. 25 Years of session rating of perceived exertion: historical perspective and development. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2021) 16(5):612–21. Available at: https://journals.humankinetics.com/view/journals/ijspp/16/5/article-p612.xml doi: 10.1123/ijspp. 2020-0599

30. Iacono AD, Unnithan V, Shushan T, King M, Beato M. Training load responses to football game profile-based training (GPBT) formats: effects of locomotive demands manipulation. *Biol Sport*. (2022) 39(1):145–55. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2021.102919

31. Reynolds J, Connor M, Jamil M, Beato M. Quantifying and comparing the match demands of U18, U23, and 1ST team English professional soccer players. *Front Physiol.* (2021) 12:706451. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.706451

32. Stevens TGA, de Ruiter CJ, Twisk JWR, Savelsbergh GJP, Beek PJ. Quantification of in-season training load relative to match load in professional Dutch eredivisie football players. *Sci Med Footb.* (2017) 1(2):117–25. doi: 10.1080/ 24733938.2017.1282163

33. Kyprianou E, Di Salvo V, Lolli L, Al Haddad H, Villanueva AM, Gregson W, et al. To measure peak velocity in soccer, let the players sprint. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2019) 36(1):273–276. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003406

34. Zamparo P, Pavei G, Nardello F, Bartolini D, Monte A, Minetti AE. Mechanical work and efficiency of 5+5 m shuttle running. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2016) 116 (10):1911-9. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00421-016-3443-6 doi: 10.1007/s00421-016-3443-6

35. Zamparo P, Zadro I, Lazzer S, Beato M, Sepulcri L. Energetics of shuttle runs: the effects of distance and change of direction. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2014) 9 (6):1033–9. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2013-0258

36. Zamparo P, Bolomini F, Nardello F, Beato M. Energetics (and kinematics) of short shuttle runs. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2015) 115(9):1985–94. doi: 10.1007/s00421-015-3180-2

37. Vigh-Larsen JF, Dalgas U, Andersen TB. Position-specific acceleration and deceleration profiles in elite youth and senior soccer players. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2018) 32(4):1114–22. Available at: https://journals.lww.com/00124278-201804000-00028 doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001918

38. Wass J, Mernagh D, Pollard B, Stewart P, Fox W, Parmar N, et al. A comparison of match demands using ball-in-play versus whole match data in professional soccer players of the English championship. *Sports (Basel)*. (2021) 9(6):76. doi: 10.3390/ sports9060076

39. Okholm Kryger K, Wang A, Mehta R, Impellizzeri FM, Massey A, McCall A. Research on women's Football: a scoping review. *Sci Med Footb.* (2021):1–10. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/24733938.2020.1868560

40. Buchheit M, Haddad HA, Simpson BM, Palazzi D, Bourdon PC, Salvo VD, et al. Monitoring accelerations with GPS in football: time to slow down? *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2014) 9:442–5. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2013-0187 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Paul Larkin, Victoria University, Australia

REVIEWED BY Aine MacNamara, Dublin City University, Ireland Chris Button, University of Otago, New Zealand

*CORRESPONDENCE Kathryn Johnston 🛙 Krobinso@yorku.ca

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Elite Sports and Performance Enhancement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

RECEIVED 23 January 2023 ACCEPTED 08 March 2023 PUBLISHED 17 April 2023

CITATION

Johnston K, McAuley ABT, Kelly AL and Baker J (2023) Language games and blurry terminology: Can clarity enhance athlete development? Front. Sports Act. Living 5:1150047. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1150047

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Johnston, McAuley, Kelly and Baker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Language games and blurry terminology: Can clarity enhance athlete development?

Kathryn Johnston^{1*} (), Alexander B. T. McAuley² (), Adam L. Kelly² () and Joseph Baker¹ ()

¹Kinesiology and Health Science, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada, ²Research Centre for Life and Sport Sciences (CLaSS), School of Health Sciences, Birmingham City University, Birmingham, WMD, United Kingdom

This perspective focuses on the need for researchers and practitioners to carefully consider the clarity and consistency of their language in the context of athlete development. Evidence supporting a lack of congruency in the way certain terms and expressions are defined, understood, and operationalized continues to accumulate, highlighting the importance of this area for sport stakeholders and the potential looming crises. In systems that regularly rely on precision and accuracy, it will be critical that all involved in the co-creation of knowledge generation and application carefully consider terms that may further complicate athlete development practices. We highlight some potentially blurry terms and draw attention to potential avenues for future research.

KEYWORDS

athlete development, measurement precision, athlete selection, talent identification, careful language use

Introduction

"...words are the tools with which we work... Everything depends on our understanding of them" —US Supreme Court Justice, Felix Frankfurter

In 1958, German philosopher Ludwig Wittgenstein suggested that linguistic confusion (i.e., the misuse and misunderstanding of language) was the root of all philosophical problems. He (1) further noted that "language games" (i.e., the use of language and the actions into which it is woven) are an inevitable facet of human behaviour. Individual perceptions and interpretations of various terminology¹ also exist as language is so heavily intertwined with one's experiences, which are profoundly shaped by sociocultural backgrounds, geographic locations, and education, among other variables. This inconsistency can have wide-ranging implications on research conceptualisation, sample descriptions, measurement precision, and practical applications due to differences in how terminology is operationalized (2).

The field of athlete development, which pertains to the identification, development, and selection processes of sporting populations, is not immune to these language challenges. Various undefined or vaguely defined terminologies have been recognized for causing confusion and contradiction in both research and practice. These "blurry" (i.e., unclear or

¹Terminology is used to capture words, phrases, concepts, and constructs.

poorly defined) words are believed to be one of the main limitations of research and knowledge translation (3). At a time of sport datafication, characterized by the increased recording, analyzing, and interpreting of sport information (4), this is perhaps surprising. While this datacentric view of sport can offer many potential benefits (e.g., the possibility of hyper-specific training and development plans for athletes (5, 6), enhanced engagement for fans (7), and improved tactical decisions for coaches (8, 9), a deep concern remains; namely that the critical language used by coaches, researchers, and other sport stakeholders is often vague, nebulous, and lacking appropriate nuance. In our own areas of research (spanning talent identification, athlete selection, athlete development), some of these blurry terms have recently been exposed, such as "talent" (10), "elite" (11), "coach's eye" (12), "sampling" (13), "early specialization" (14), "mental skills" (15) and "positive youth development" (16). This work suggests the field is becoming increasingly aware of how problematic these words are and illuminates how difficult it can be to refine, replace, and/or remove such terms. This difficulty may be related to the frequent (mis)use of the terms found in discourse (e.g., policy or guiding documents), and further shared colloquially (e.g., in certain communities and groups) and discussed through media outlets.

Striking a balance between vagueness and conceptual clarity

"Among other things, the message is that we need to command a clear view of the use of our concepts, [and] be aware of the danger (and potential) of words..." (3) (p. 90)

In some disciplines of sport science, such as sport psychology and sport sociology, it may be unrealistic to expect the same level of specificity and exactness we see in other domains. This is most likely a result of how "open" a system becomes (i.e., chaotic and dynamic) when considering a person's "performance" which encapsulates the interaction of social, genetic, environmental, cultural, spiritual, and psychological components, compared to disciplines like physiology and biomechanics, which are considered more "closed" systems (i.e., often objectively informed). It is also likely that some degree of blurriness could be seen as advantageous for athlete selection and development reasons. Take for example a coach whose career hinges on the selection of a successful cohort of athletes. With more vague and blurry selection criteria, this may create more "degrees of freedom" for him/her/them to defend the selection decisions they make. This notion also speaks to the art and science of coaching-where both scientific rigor coupled with creative and dynamic liberties are believed to be critical for coaching excellence (17, 18). However, there is an increasing push to clearly define and defend selection criteria, at least in high performance settings (19).

With this in mind, it might be advantageous to strike a balance between accepting conceptual vagueness and delineating sharp boundaries to quantify certain terms or phenomena. Determining *which* terms require greater focus, delineation, and precision is difficult; however, it could be argued that any term involving measurement requires precision. For example, "talent" is a blurry term, and incredibly hard to define (see (10, 20, 21)), yet it is often at the root of decision-making in many sport systems (e.g., when a team conducts a formal "talent identification camp"). Researchers and practitioners would undoubtedly benefit from increased conceptual clarity in the hope of making more accurate talent measurements and selections.

Perhaps it would be beneficial to even consider some terms on a scale or continuum instead of being binary and absolute (22). It is human nature to think of concepts and constructs in this rigid way (23), but sport rarely operates in such a fashion. In this sense, there could be value for terms that cannot be defined in a simple dichotomy to be considered relative to a scale or spectrum (e.g., early specialization; see (14) for a review). This type of theoretical and philosophical trade-off has been proposed in other fields, such as ecology, ecological economics, and computing (see (24–29) for examples), and while it is beyond the scope of this article to adequately present, let alone resolve, the disputes between philosophy and cognitive science, an emphasis should be placed on moving away from such blurry terms in the pursuit of making higher-quality decisions for athlete selection.

It is also important to acknowledge that organizational alignment, may be more critical than universal agreement. For example, player scouts (i.e., sport staff who assess athletes for their suitability for a given team) should have alignment in how they define certain aspects of sport (30). If two scouts hold substantially different definitions of "grit", then depending on which scout performs an assessment on an athlete, it will impact the way the scout reports and shares that information with others, thus impacting the way others perceive that athlete's grit. The organization could thus benefit from creating criteria or scales for what "grit" is and how it is portrayed by athletes, so there is greater organizational alignment. In other words, concepts do not always need to be rigidly defined, but the goal should be to improve the precision of measurement as much as possible over time as concepts become clearer. This will help stakeholders and organisations move collectively in the same direction (see Figure 1). For example, a recent scoping review on the conceptualization and measurement of positive youth development in sport revealed 243 unique operational definitions (16). This is clearly problematic, and since researchers and practitioners have different views of what the term and definition mean and how it is operationalised in research and practice, creating alignment is necessary to avoid such confusion and contradiction.

Improving conceptual clarity?

The reality is, language affects all stakeholders—the person who uses the language, the sport system he/she/they operates within, the athletes hearing the language, along with parents, other colleagues, and the list goes on. What we have learned from work conducted in the fields of psychology, language, and education (see (32) for an example), is that language can shape perceptions (i.e., belief about one's abilities and capabilities), goals (i.e., the type and nature of what is being strived for), and actions (i.e., the accompanied behaviours). For instance, beliefs about talent have



the potential to promote feelings of learned helplessness in contexts where athletes believe a lack of talent is insurmountable for their long-term aspirations (i.e., Pygmalion effects) or complacency in contexts where athletes believe their talent assures them future success and subsequently decreases their effort and motivation to improve (i.e., Crown Prince Effects (33). For this reason, it is important to carefully examine terms that could be considered blurry and, therefore, less useful than they might be appear.

Fortunately, determining a term's blurriness can be done through a process of identifying its definition within the contexts/ situations that it is used. Take, for example, administrative staff in a sport organization trying to assess the quality of their talent selection criteria. The staff could attempt to define what "talent" means in the context of the sport, age, and level of athlete as well as within the environmental constraints of the sport system. If consensus, or even alignment cannot be reached on a definition (which seems likely given recent research (17)), this warrants a discussion on the value of "talent" in the system. This alignment is particularly important in an organizational setting, as it has been proposed that organizational alignment (in terms of values, priorities, and goals) may not just be important, but critical for success (34-36). In short, if a term cannot be defined, then how can it be measured, if it cannot be measured, how can it be monitored and improved, if it cannot be monitored and improved, what is its value? Below, we draw attention to three common terms used in athlete development research and practice as examples to help highlight the importance of clarity for stakeholders.

Elite. Telling athletes they are "elite" could have important effects on feelings of competence and motivation (37). In this sense, athletes may believe they have reached a certain status that may affect their thoughts about the value of training, how they compare themselves to others and other groups (i.e., on the competition hierarchy), and their ability to access important developmental resources. For instance, during the COVID-19 pandemic, lockdown restrictions were put in place in many countries with titles and labels used to restrict access to key

developmental resources. However, due to the Olympic Games in Tokyo, competing athletes considered "elite" were allowed to continue training, without the limitations imposed on "non-elite" athletes. Determining what "elite" meant in this context caused considerable confusion and upset for many athletes. In the United Kingdom, "elite" was seen as broadly applying only to athletes 16 years of age and older, although this varied by sport (Category 1 and 2 youth soccer academies were allowed to continue across all ages) and by gender (no female academies were allowed to continue). It is perhaps unsurprising, that decisions at the policy level around what quantifies "elite" athletes have ripple effects into other aspects of sport. For example, labelling athletes as "elite" in sports science research considers them in a rather homogenous way. This can be misleading for a reader as important accompanying and qualifying information like age, playing level, sociocultural context, may not be included. This leads to further misinterpretations during research syntheses, where athletes may be grouped by their status (i.e., as "elite") despite being in vastly different contexts.

Character. The term "character" has been used as a selection criterion in sport for many years (38). In this context, coaches and selectors look to match an athlete's character traits to the priorities and values of the sport program/system. The term can become particularly blurry when examining the behaviours and mannerisms valued across different countries and sociocultural backgrounds. As an example, cultures that are considered to be individualistic (i.e., where the need of the individual supersedes the need of the group (39)) see behaviours such as asking questions, making eye contact, and challenging concepts to develop understanding as positive. In comparison, within collectivist cultures (i.e., where the needs of the group supersede the need of the individual (39), these same behaviours could be viewed as disrespectful (40). Based on these contexts, and depending on the cultural norms of the coach or selector (i.e., individualistic vs. collectivist), different aspects of a player's "character" could be assessed as either a positive or negative

attribute. In a time when sport is working to reduce individual and systemic biases and inequalities (41–44), conceptual clarity may help achieve more equitable organisational structures by being clearer on what terms such as "character" entails.

Training load. The term "training load" term is generally used in reference to the physiological demand placed on an athlete, typically measured in terms of time (e.g., number of practice hours), energy expenditure (number of kilocalories burned), and/ or stress (e.g., heart rate) (see (45) for more information). While these variables are relatively straightforward to quantify, they are incomplete proxies for overall "training load". Rarely considered are the "external" (i.e., demands placed on the athlete beyond training/practice and competition), "internal" (i.e., self-imposed demands) loads, and social and psychological loads from within and beyond the training environment that are a direct result of sport participation and training. For example, collegiate level athletes have demands from both their sport and academic careers (46). Arguably, overall training load should consider their academic demands as they are inextricably paired (i.e., without being an academically-eligible student, collegiate-level athletes cannot compete). As Farrow and Robertson (47) noted, using a periodized approach (i.e., systematic variations) to physical training is important, but it must consider additional dimensions of the training demand (both internally and externally), which can be difficult to capture given the complex interaction of an athlete's biological response to training stimuli as well as his/her/ their developmental status. It is thus important to consider the context and the value of using a term like "load" more broadly, as it might be perceived as being reductionist and perhaps even disconnected from other critical psycho-social components of the athlete training experiences.

Moving forward

Athlete development appears to be at a watershed moment, with considerable research energy being spent on clarifying terms and improving measurement precision. Greater clarity in language will have impacts throughout the sport system, from researchers and policy makers to coaches at the frontlines of sport delivery. To help minimize these linguistic challenges, it could be valuable for the field to have a glossary/dictionary of frequently used words where some form of a consensus has been reached. The glossary/dictionary could benefit stakeholders by offering trustworthy, current, and peer reviewed definitions of terms that have been validated (i.e., tested/applied reliably across time and various diverse settings) and accepted (i.e., through a peer-reviewed system, the term was deemed "acceptable" for use) by multiple stakeholders in the field. As with the case of a language dictionary (e.g., the Oxford English Dictionary), the goal would be to create a "go-to" list of terms so that researchers and practitioners could utilize and reference such terms for consistency and clarity.

That said, approaches to create such a tool would undoubtedly come with challenges and obstacles. For example, decisions on *"who"* could/would contribute to such a tool would come with

biases. Moreover, decisions on "what" definition(s) are included would likely be biased as well. To help reduce the impact of the "who" bias, ultimately, multiple stakeholders (e.g., researchers and practitioners) from different perspectives (i.e., spanning sport disciplines, countries, philosophical positions, cultures, competitive levels etc.) would contribute to create the most appropriate definition for that point in time based on the current state of knowledge. One approach could include using a consensus statement. The most popular of the consensus statement approaches includes the Delphi and "modified Delphi" designs (48), where groups of experts are asked their opinions on a particular issue/phenomenon (49) (see (50) for this approach applied in the context of sport). While these can be powerful tools for informing sporting policy and practice, there are important considerations. As noted by Blazey and colleagues (48), it is important for such consensus statements to carefully consider who might be missed in the consensus process, who may be coerced to agree on terms, and how can such statements capture the rich discussion that is had before the consensus has been reached. The authors also note that in many consensus statements, there is inadequate reporting of methods to allow for knowledge synthesis, drawing into question the rigor in the consensus process. To help combat this, Blazey and colleagues recommend a) reporting the criteria for the selection of "experts", b) reporting the selected panel's participant details (including their expertise on the topic in question), c) defining "a priori" what level of agreement is allowed and whether discordance will be reported, d) acknowledging opposing opinions, and e) externally validating results.

To help minimize the "*what*" bias, an emphasis should be placed on this being a "living document"– requiring updating as new evidence emerges, and relying on crowd sourcing to capture as many perspectives as possible. In this case, there would be not one, but multiple definitions that consider various philosophical perspectives on the meaning of language within different contexts (e.g., Wittgenstenian (1), Kuhnian (51), Popperian (52)) for researchers and practitioners to consider and reference. An alternative method to the consensus statement may include a text-mining analysis or possibly a survey of researchers and practitioners to identify what topics and terminology are the "blurriest". This could lead to a citation network analysis, which would be a useful step to establish the most impactful/cited authors and articles on a specific topic or terminology to determine what may be the most influential interpretations.

Final remarks

In this perspective, we acknowledged frequent use of "blurry" terms may be limiting the quality of evidence due to measurement imprecision. Amongst a growing field of research and practice in athlete development, it will be paramount for the sake of all stakeholders to remain attentive to the language they use. We believe the field is at a critical juncture where striking a balance between vagueness and conceptual clarity will be a necessity to advance the field forward in the right direction.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

All authors contributed equally to the conception, writing and editing of this paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Wittgenstein L. Philosophical investigations. New Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell; 1958.

2. Bringmann LF, Elmer T, Eronen MI. Back to basics: the importance of conceptual clarification in psychological science. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (2022) 31(4):340–6. doi: 10. 1177/09637214221096485

3. Lourenço O. The danger of words: a wittgensteinian lesson for developmentalists. New Ideas Psychol. (2001) 19(2):89–115. doi: 10.1016/S0732-118X(01)00002-2

4. Millington B, Millington R. "The datafication of everything": toward a sociology of sport and big data. Sociol Sport J. (2015) 32(2):140-60. doi: 10.1123/ssj.2014-0069

5. Song H. Application of embedded wearable devices in football training injury prevention. *Microprocess Microsyst.* (2021) 82:103915. doi: 10.1016/j.micpro.2021. 103915

6. Li RT, Kling SR, Salata MJ, Cupp SA, Sheehan J, Voos JE. Wearable performance devices in sports medicine. *Sports Health*. (2016) 8(1):74–8. doi: 10.1177/1941738115616917

7. Davenport TH. Analytics in sports: the new science of winning. Int Inst Analyt. (2014) 2:1–28.

8. Herold M, Goes F, Nopp S, Bauer P, Thompson C, Meyer T. Machine learning in men's Professional football: current applications and future directions for improving attacking play. *Int J Sports Sci Coach.* (2019) 14(6):798–817. doi: 10.1177/1747954119879350

9. Rein R, Memmert D. Big data and tactical analysis in elite soccer: future challenges and opportunities for sports science. *SpringerPlus.* (2016) 5(1):1-3. doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-3108-2

10. Johnston K, Baker J. The Complex and (sometimes) conflicting beliefs about talent: a case study of elite distance running coaches. J. Expertise. (2022) 5: 38–57.

11. McAuley AB, Baker J, Kelly AL. Defining "elite" status in sport: from chaos to clarity. *German J Exer and Sport Res.* (2022) 52(1):193-7. doi: 10.1007/s12662-021-00737-3

12. Lath F, Koopmann T, Faber I, Baker J, Schorer J. Focusing on the coach's Eye; towards a working model of coach decision-making in talent selection. *Psychol Sport Exerc.* (2021) 56:10201. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.102011

13. Murata A, Goldman DE, Martin LJ, Turnnidge J, Bruner MW, Côté J. Sampling between sports and athlete development: a scoping review. *Int J Sport Exerc Psychol.* (2021) 30:1–25. doi: 10.1080/1612197X.2021.1995021

14. Mosher A, Fraser-Thomas J, Baker J. What defines early specialization: a systematic review of literature. *Front Sports and Active Living*. (2020) 27(2):596229. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2020.596229

 Dohme LC, Backhouse S, Piggott D, Morgan G. Categorising and defining popular psychological terms used within the youth athlete talent development literature: a systematic review. *Int Rev Sport Exerc Psychol.* (2017) 10(1):134–63. doi: 10.1080/1750984X.2016.1185451

16. Bruner MW, McLaren CD, Sutcliffe JT, Gardner LA, Vella SA. Conceptualizing and measuring positive youth development in sport: a scoping review. *Int Rev Sport Exerc Psychol.* (2022) 14:1–49. doi: 10.1080/1750984X.2022.2070861

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

17. Nash C, Collins D. Tacit knowledge in expert coaching: science or art? *Quest.* (2006) 58(4):465–77. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2006.10491894

18. Winkelman NC. The Language of Coaching: The Art & Science of Teaching Movement. Illinois: Human Kinetics Publishers; 2020.

19. Johnston K, Farah L, Baker J. Storm Clouds on the Horizon: On the Emerging Need to Tighten Selection Policies. *Front. Sports Act. Living* (2021) 3:772181. doi: 10. 3389/fspor.2021.772181

20. Jones J, Johnston K, Baker J. "I can"t teach you to be taller": how Canadian, collegiate-level coaches construct talent in sport. *Case Studies in Sport and Exer Psychol.* (2020) 4(1):84–94. doi: 10.1123/cssep.2020-0003

21. Till K, Baker J. Challenges and [possible] solutions to optimizing talent identification and development in sport. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:664. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00664

22. Swann C, Moran A, Piggott D. Defining elite athletes: issues in the study of expert performance in sport psychology. *Psychol Sport Exerc.* (2015) 16:3–14. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2014.07.004

23. Dutton K. Black and white thinking: The burden of a binary brain in a complex world. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux (2020).

24. Davis MA, Thompson K. Invasion terminology: should ecologists define their terms differently than others? No, not if we want to be of any help!. *Bull Ecol Soc* Am. (2001) 82(3):206. doi: 10.2307/20168570

25. Hodges KE. Defining the problem: terminology and progress in ecology. Front Ecol Environ. (2008) 6(1):35–42. doi: 10.1890/060108

26. Hodges KE. Concepts not terms-the author responds. Front Ecol Environ. (2008) 6(4):179. doi: 10.1890/060108

27. Jax K, Hodges KE. Concepts, not terms. Front Ecol Environ. (2008) 6(4):178-9. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2008)6[178b:CNT]2.0.CO;2

28. Seising R. On the absence of strict boundaries-vagueness, haziness, and fuzziness in philosophy, science, and medicine. *Appl Soft Comput.* (2008) 8 (3):1232-42. doi: 10.1016/j.asoc.2007.02.017

29. Strunz S. Is conceptual vagueness an asset? Arguments from philosophy of science applied to the concept of resilience. *Ecol Econ.* (2012) 76:112-8. doi: 10. 1016/j.ecolecon.2012.02.012

30. Reeves MJ, Roberts SJ, McRobert AP, Littlewood MA. Factors affecting the identification of talented junior-elite footballers: a case study. *Soccer & Society*. (2018) 19(8):1106–21. doi: 10.1080/14660970.2018.1432383

31. Foweather L, Duncan M. Physical Literacy Consensus Statement for England. BASES Conference 2022, Leicester, United Kingdom. (2022, November 15-16) https://www.delegate-reg.co.uk/bases2022/programme

32. Dweck CS, Yeager DS. Mindsets: a view from two eras. *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2019) 14(3):481–96. doi: 10.1177/1745691618804166

33. Baker J, Schorer J, Wattie N. Compromising talent: issues in identifying and selecting talent in sport. Quest. (2018) 70(1):48–63. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2017.1333438

34. Branson CM. Achieving organisational change through values alignment. J Educ Adm. (2008) 46(3):376–95. doi: 10.1108/09578230810869293

35. Scott D. Contemporary leadership in sport organizations. Illinois: Human Kinetics (2021).

36. Zhang X, Austin S, Glass J, Mills G. Toward collective organizational values: a case study in United Kingdom construction. *Constr Manag and Econ.* (2008) 26 (10):1009–28. doi: 10.1080/01446190802422146

37. Wattie N, Baker J. Why conceptualizations of talent matter: implications for skill acquisition and talent identification and development. In J. Baker, S. Cobley, J. Schorer, & N. Wattie (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of talent identification and development in sport* (pp. 69–79). Routledge London, United Kingdom; (2017)

38. Kelly AL, Brown T, Reed R, Côté J, Turnnidge J. Relative age effects in male cricket: a personal assets approach to explain immediate, short-term, and long-term developmental outcomes. *Sports.* (2022) 10(3):39. doi: 10.3390/sports10030039

39. Caldwell-Harris CL, Aycicegi A. When personality and culture clash: the psychological distress of allocentrics in an individualist culture and idiocentrics in a collectivist culture. *Transcult Psychiatry*. (2006) 43(3):331–61. doi: 10.1177/1363461506066982

40. Duchesne S, McMaugh A. Educational psychology for learning and teaching. Australia: Cengage (2018).

41. Grappendorf H, Burton LJ. The impact of bias in sport leadership. In: Burton LJ, Leberman S, editors. Women in sport leadership. New York: Routledge (2017). p. 47–61.

42. Mann DL, van Ginneken PJ. Age-ordered shirt numbering reduces the selection bias associated with the relative age effect. *J Sports Sci.* (2017) 35(8):784–90. doi: 10. 1080/02640414.2016.1189588

43. Tsukahara Y, Novak M, Takei S, Asi IM, Yamasawa F, Torii S, et al. Gender bias in sports medicine: an international assessment of sports medicine physicians'

perceptions of their interactions with athletes, coaches, athletic trainers and other physicians. *Br J Sports Med.* (2022) 56(17):961–9. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2021-104695

44. Hutzler Y, Bar-Eli M. How to cope with bias while adapting for inclusion in physical education and sports: a judgment and decision-making perspective. *Quest.* (2013) 65(1):57-71. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2012.727372

45. Staunton CA, Abt G, Weaving D, Wundersitz DW. Misuse of the term "load" in sport and exercise science. *J Sci and Med in Sport.* (2021) 25(5):438–44. doi: 10.1016/j. jsams.2021.08.013

46. Freeman JC. Examining First-year Student-athlete Transition into College (Doctoral dissertation, The Florida State University). 2018; Retrieved at http://purl. flvc.org/fsu/fd/2018_Su_Freeman_fsu_0071E_14731

47. Farrow D, Robertson S. Development of a skill acquisition periodisation framework for high-performance sport. *Sports Med.* (2017) 47(6):1043-54. doi: 10. 1007/s40279-016-0646-2

48. Blazey P, Crossley KM, Ardern CL, van Middelkoop M, Scott A, Khan KM. It is time for consensus on "consensus statements". *Br J Sports Med.* (2022) 56(6):306–7. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2021-104578

49. Barrett D, Heale R. What are delphi studies? *Evid Based Nurs*. (2020) 23(3):68–9. doi: 10.1136/ebnurs-2020-103303

50. Bell DR, Snedden TR, Biese KM, Nelson E, Watson AM, Brooks A, et al. Consensus definition of sport specialization in youth athletes using a delphi approach. *J Athl Train.* (2021) 56(11):1239–51. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-0725.20

 $51.\ Kuhn\ T.\ The structure of scientific revolutions (3rd ed.). Chicago: University of Chicago Press (1962).$

52. Popper KR. Conjectures and refutations. London: Routledg (1962).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Girard, University of Western Australia, Australia

REVIEWED BY Erik Petrus Andersson, Mid Sweden University, Sweden

*CORRESPONDENCE Kathryn Johnston 🛙 krobinso@yorku.ca

RECEIVED 12 February 2023 ACCEPTED 04 April 2023 PUBLISHED 25 April 2023

CITATION

Baker J, Johnston K, Singh H, Farah L and Lablans D (2023) Excellence fulfilled? On the unique developmental needs of professional athletes.

Front. Sports Act. Living 5:1164508. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1164508

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Baker, Johnston, Singh, Farah and Lablans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Excellence fulfilled? On the unique developmental needs of professional athletes

Joseph Baker¹, Kathryn Johnston¹*, Harjiv Singh², Lou Farah¹, and Dale Lablans¹

¹School of Kinesiology and Health Science, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada, ²Department of Kinesiology and Nutrition Sciences, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, NV, United States

While the term "athlete development" has been used to capture the changes (physical, psychological, etc.) that occur as an athlete moves from initial sport engagement to elite performance, much of the research in this area has focused on earlier stages of the pathway, with very little work examining the highest levels of sport. Considering a person's bio-psycho-social development continues through adulthood, the limited attention to development for athletes at higher competitive levels is perhaps surprising. In this short article, we highlight several notable discrepancies between different competitive levels (e.g., pre-professional sport and professional sport) in the way development is conceptualized, contextualized, and operationalized. We use available evidence to provide guidance for researchers and practitioners to encourage the delivery of structured developmental programming in professional sport systems to aid with the transitionary period between pre-elite and elite levels, and to help foster career longevity.

KEYWORDS

athlete development, player longevity, sport administration, career transitions, talent development, talent retention

Key points

- Little is known about how to support athlete development at the highest levels of sport participation
- As athletes continue to develop and evolve, structured developmental programming is necessary to support athlete transitions, career longevity, and the overall athlete experience

Introduction

The sudden retirement announcement of the highest ranked female tennis player in the Women's Tennis Association in 2022, Ash Barty, came as a shock to many. Questions such as "*what led to this decision*?" and "*how could this have been prevented*?", drew attention to the limits of our understanding regarding athlete wellbeing, along with support and development for athletes at the professional level. Just as there are unique elements that relate to the quality of the coaching and learning environments during early development (e.g., we do not train youth as if they are mini adults), there are almost certainly factors related to later phases of development that underpin an athlete's capacity to thrive (i.e., balancing one's psychological, interpersonal, and physical resources) during this time. In this short piece, we argue that research initiatives and structured programming for athlete development are needed at the professional sport level, arguably with the same rigor and importance as preprofessional sport. Identifying and optimizing these factors could have important implications for wellbeing and performance at this level of athlete development – which may ultimately prevent unfortunate events such as the one had by Ash Barty.

It is important to note that the term "development" has multiple definitions, varying in context and priorities, but generally it relates to the process of growth, change, and stabilization across the lifespan. In the context of education, development is closely tied with learning. Although there is much discussion amongst scholars in the field of education about whether the environment should be formally (i.e., organized and structured) or informally (i.e., more happenstance) designed to maximize learning, nearly all models of learning and development propose a crucial role for the environment in influencing the type and quality of development that occurs. While there is value in exploring the impact of each of these components of the learning environment as it relates to sport, in this paper, we focus on "organized interventions" (1) and "deliberate programming" (2); that is, the formal and explicit environments that are designed to improve an athlete's development in some sense (e.g., physically, physiologically, emotionally, and/or psychologically).

This paper's authorship includes researchers and practitioners in various disciplines of sport science and professional practice, who together have recognized a deficit in peer reviewed research, coupled with a lackluster delivery of athlete developmental programs/initiatives with professional teams. To be fair, some teams do this better than others, but, as a whole, these initiatives are applied inconsistently at this level for a multitude of reasons (i.e., financial resources, interest, time, etc.). This paper draws together our perspectives on the matter framed against current evidence, to provide suggestions for researchers and practitioners on "why" and "how" to enhance the delivery of such programs. While we generally focus on North American professional sports (primarily the National Basketball Association, National Hockey League and Major League Baseball), many of the issues apply more generally in sport systems from other parts of the world.

Development in the context of professional sport

For athletes who make it to the professional level, most (if not all) have spent considerable time (i.e., years or even decades) in high-performance (i.e., excellence-driven) development systems. Along this pre-professional journey, athletes are typically provided opportunities to focus on developing the wide range of technical, tactical, physical and mental/psychological skills needed for exceptional performance in their sport. This is often embedded into the fabric of the sport program, and formally and informally woven into training and practice sessions.

One notable difference, however, between the pre-professional system and the professional system relates to the discrepancies in how "development" is prioritized. At the professional level, it appears (at least on the surface), that the primary outcome of interest shifts away from "development" and towards "maximizing performance". This may involve, for example, fine tuning aspects of injury mitigation (e.g., the increased use of strength and conditioning or focused recovery/medical practices) or tactical improvement (e.g., learning or modifying game strategies). Of course, performance coaches may also aim to improve and develop performance-related skills (e.g., improving a free throw in basketball or a pitcher's throw in baseball), but it seems that athletes are seen as more "fully formed entities" at the professional level than they would at lower levels of skill. In many ways they are (e.g., they would be expected to have a solid grasp of most of the "fundamentals" of their sport); however, there may be critical areas of personal and professional development that are neglected in many professional sport environments in North America.

Unique demands at the professional level

As suggested above, there may be unique developmental demands related to the professional environment. For instance, professional sports often have condensed travel schedules (e.g., 41 regular-season away games in a span of 6 months in the NBA and NHL) compared to the schedule of the amateur athletes in the same sport (e.g., amateurs usually have greater instability in their schedules with fewer competitions). These travel demands may limit opportunities for continued skill development for athletes and coaches. For instance, a recent development in some professional teams is "micro-dosing sessions" for the purpose of motor skill development, to accommodate the infrequency of an athlete being at their home training facility. Furthermore, travel demands may also increase an athlete's physical and mental load (i.e., volume of demands) while compromising approaches to recovery and learning (e.g., increasing the frequency of disruptions in sleep patterns), not to mention how it may affect their social and personal life (interactions with family and friends, caretaking, etc.). Relatedly, competition schedules may affect the types of performance-related priorities athletes (and teams) focus on. For example, a heavier game and travel schedule may result in athletes losing weight during the season. As a result, the focus for athletes and their support teams (e.g., sport medicine team) becomes maintaining muscle mass and injury prevention. At lower levels of competition, when athletes are less physically mature, there may be a bigger emphasis on gaining muscle mass and developing in ways that increase the likelihood of future success.

Differences in psycho-social demands are also important to consider. At the professional level, there are unique pressures

on athletes that may be less prevalent in pre-professional or amateur sport. One of which is monetary pressure. In this sense, young players entering professional leagues are incentivized to progress in such a way that guarantees them a roster spot on the first team where they can make ten times (or greater) what their salary would be if they play in the "minor leagues". This adds an extra layer of pressure that collegiate or Olympic athletes, for instance, do not experience to the same extent. Of course, at later stages of athlete development, all individuals still in the system may navigate the possibility of developing into professionals in order to gain financial rewards, but this pressure is maximized in professional sports. More specifically, players can lose their spot on their team's roster, and large proportions, if not all, of the associated monetary rewards, on any given day. Closely connected to this change in earning is the fiscal responsibility that comes along with it. Sadly, there are numerous stories of professional athletes who sign significant contracts only to eventually find themselves in large debts (3, 4).

Challenges with developmental programming at the professional level

While these developmental differences between the levels of sport make intuitive sense, the reality is, there is little empirical evidence exploring these observations. Despite the importance of, and need for, this work at the professional level, improving understanding in this area will be difficult - undoubtedly because this type of work requires high-quality, longitudinal approaches. This type of research is challenging to do at the professional level for several reasons including confusing/conflicting terminology, regular movement of players from one team (i.e., developmental environment) to another, the influence of acute and chronic injuries, as well as privacy and confidentiality concerns with player data at this level.

These challenges will be hard to overcome for several reasons. Methodologically, factors related to professional athlete development are difficult to measure in valid and reliable ways (at least at the time of this article). Moreover, gaining access to these populations is difficult. Often there are strict confidentiality regulations in place to avoid "secret sharing" and to maintain competitive advancements (i.e., training techniques, within team research advances). Another challenge that is unique to professional settings is the difficulty in measuring the development and growth of players in such a homogenous pool, as well as different types of proxies that could be used to indicate progress. For instance, at junior levels of competition, progress can be assessed using performance benchmarks or tracking players who separate themselves from their peers by making to the next level. However, at the highest level of competition, where improvements in various facets of performance are more incremental, tracking and quantifying such progress is more difficult. Moreover, at this stage of skill, regular assessments to evaluate athletes' potential for success at the "next level" are typically over, meaning regular performance tests that extend beyond "performance" (i.e., their actual performance in their sport measured by metrics on the ice, field, court, etc.) are limited. This leaves a gap in understanding how progression occurs at the highest levels.

Overcoming obstacles: A call to action

Despite the challenging work ahead, solutions and evidenceinformed programming may be within reach with appropriate effort. However, our optimism is bolstered by several factors. First, the funding available in professional sport for maximizing player development is impressive and may be accessible if appropriate links can be made between improving player development (and presumably indicators of health, wellbeing, and skill acquisition) and indicators with the greatest relevance to the team (e.g., improvements in competitive performance and/ or returns on investment by developing players who are "in house" more efficiently). Second, the rapid growth in support team members with "development" in their job title emphasizes the latent potential already in the system. What is needed, however, is greater clarity on the priorities of such "development", but also training and education for those in that role to support such practices. This could include continued education for staff members including internal and external courses and workshops, focused on delivering high quality and evidence-informed practices for athletes. Finally, the interaction between scientific researchers and professional teams has increased considerably in the last decade (e.g., researchers are sometimes embedded into the staffing model), and this can offer access to domain-specific expertise, at a time when research is becoming more sophisticated and difficult to translate into practice, all while promoting efficiency in time and learning resources. Collectively, these factors suggest the time is ripe for meaningful work in this area.

Based on the limited prior work in this area, we propose a crude pathway for considering how players might develop during their professional careers and what might influence this development (Figure 1). In this pathway, players move through career stages (from rookie season to eventual performance decline), with each stage differing relative to what is occurring in an athlete's development during this time. For instance, athletes entering the professional league may need assistance making the transition from college or high-school levels into the new environment (5, 6). Ultimately, players' experiences in the league have the potential to lead to one of three outcomes. The majority will leave the league within the first year, while the majority of those who stay in the league have typical careers generally lasting on average between 5.5 years (for National Football League players) and 8.2 years (for NBA players) (7). A very small minority will go on to have "eminent" careers, ending up in the Hall of Fame or winning Most Valuable Player awards (8). Understanding how to optimize players' movements through these stages of a professional career, as



they relate to predicting these outcomes, remains an important area of future research.

Three areas of future research are suggested. The first is to explore how elements of development change across an athlete's professional career. Based on prior work on stages and phases of athlete development, it seems reasonable to assume there are qualitatively different "phases" across a professional athlete's career. These phases would be defined by changes in the weight/value of different developmental priorities. For instance, early in an athlete's time at the professional level it may be more critical to focus on helping them make the transition from "high potential amateur" to "proving your potential rookie". We know very little about the psychological dynamics occurring during the period, but it is likely they are highly nuanced and complicated. Moreover, we know little about how the environment of professional sport constrains this development (e.g., a rookie drafted to a stronger team may receive less playing time than one drafted to a weaker team, which may affect opportunities for development). After making this transition to the professional level, players may go through other phases as they attempt to maintain high levels of performance before the inevitable performance decline that leads to retirement and transition out of the professional system.

A second area to explore is the *types* of elements affecting player development outcomes at the professional level. Apart from a plethora of studies on the influence of various injuries (9, 10), few studies (7, 11) have examined predictors of career length. Even within these studies, the "success" of a professional athlete's career is captured using simple metrics (i.e., how long was their career?). Moreover, emerging concepts such as sporting "eminence" (8, 12) indicate that in addition to different phases across professional development, there are different outcomes for career achievement to be considered (e.g., was the athlete an "average" pro or an eminent one?).

Third, an obvious and important direction for future research is to examine the programmatic factors that predict these different metrics of career success. For instance, "player development" is perhaps the most rapidly growing category of personnel within professional sport systems. Understanding the relationships between different elements of the system, including the roles and responsibilities of different program staff, could provide insight that drives more efficient, cost-effective systems while improving welfare, and performance. plaver health. Moreover, understanding player needs across these crude stages (e.g., how they change over time and why) and exploring the importance of different categories of variables within each stage (e.g., performance-related changes vs. changes in social or psychological variables), may provide important indicators of player wellbeing.

Concluding thoughts

Research examining ways to promote and implement developmental programming for professional athletes remains scarce. What is clear, is that the ability to consistently demonstrate exceptional performance at this level reflects a complicated process of continued skill development, maintenance or improvements in strength and conditioning, and sustained general physical and mental health, usually alongside significant changes in life circumstances. For this reason, more work is needed to promote an increased understanding of ways to engage and support athletes across their entire sporting journey, along with ways to improve wellbeing, enhance sport experiences, and increase career longevity. In an era where professional athletes are known for their constant focus on performance in their sport, the news of Ash Barty highlights the complexity in balancing organizational success with an individual's expectations for success. In an effort to address the issues in the wake of Ash Barty's retirement and echoing her sentiments of, "I know how much work it takes to bring the best out of yourself. And...I don't have that in me anymore..."

re-thinking development is a critical endeavor for the future of professional sport (13).

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

All authors contributed equally to the conception, writing, and editing of this paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Pieterse JP. Development Theory: Deconstructions/Reconstructions. New York: Sage Publications (2010).

2. Bullock N, Gulbin JP, Martin DT, Ross A, Holland T, Marino F. Talent identification and deliberate programming in skeleton: ice novice to winter olympian in 14 months. *J Sports Sci.* (2009) 27(4):397-404. doi: 10.1080/02640410802549751

3. Steinberg L. 5 reasons why 80% of retired NFL players go broke. In: Forbes (2015). Available at: https://www.forbes.com/sites/leighsteinberg/2015/02/09/5-reasons-why-80-of-retired-nfl-players-go-broke/?sh=14e67b8878cc (Accessed January 10, 2015).

4. Funderburke L. Learning from professional athletes' mistakes. In: Sestina JE, editor. *Planning a successful future: managing to be wealthy for individuals and their advisors*. Vol 21. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley (2016). p. 207–14. doi: 10.1002/9781119070702.ch14

5. Morris R, Tod D, Eubank M. From youth team to first team: an investigation into the transition experiences of young professional athletes in soccer. *Int J Sport Exerc Psychol.* (2017) 15:523–39. doi: 10.1080/1612197X.2016.1152992

6. Røynesdal Ø, Toering T, Gustafsson H. Understanding players' transition from youth to senior professional football environments: a coach perspective. *Int J Sports Sci Coach*. (2018) 13:26–37. doi: 10.1177/1747954117746497

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Baker J, Koz D, Kungl AM, Fraser-Thomas J, Schorer J. Staying at the top: playing position and performance affect career length in professional sport. *High Abil Stud.* (2013) 2013(24):63–76. doi: 10.1080/13598139.2012.738325

8. Baker J, Schorer J, Lemez S, Wattie N. Understanding high achievement: the case for eminence. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:1927. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01927

9. Erickson BJ, Harris JD, Heninger JR, Frank R, Bush-Joseph CA, Verma NN, et al. Performance and return-to-sport after ACL reconstruction in NFL quarterbacks. *Orthopedics.* (2014) 37:e728–34. doi: 10.3928/01477447-20140728-59

10. Jack RA, Burn MB, Sochacki KR, McCulloch PC, Lintner DM, Harris JD. Performance and return to sport after tommy john surgery among Major league baseball position players. *Am J Sports Med.* (2018) 46:1720–6. doi: 10.1177/0363546518762397

11. Steingröver C, Wattie N, Baker J, Schorer J. Does relative age affect career length in North American professional sports? *Sports Med-Open*. (2016) 2:1–7. doi: 10.1186/ s40798-016-0042-3

12. Collins D, MacNamara Á, McCarthy N. Super champions, champions, and almosts: important differences and commonalities on the rocky road. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 2009:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.02009

13. Trollope M. Ash barty retires: "I've given absolutely everything". In Australia Open (2022). Available at: https://ausopen.com/articles/news/ash-barty-retires-ive-given-absolutely-everything (Accessed March 28, 2022).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Girard, University of Western Australia, Australia

REVIEWED BY Andrea Fusco, University of Cassino, Italy Bessem Mkaouer, University of Manouba, Tunisia

*CORRESPONDENCE Marco Beato M.beato@uos.ac.uk

RECEIVED 13 February 2023 ACCEPTED 21 April 2023 PUBLISHED 05 May 2023

CITATION

Beato M, Vicens-Bordas J, Peña J and Costin AJ (2023) Training load comparison between small, medium, and large-sided games in professional football. Front. Sports Act. Living 5:1165242. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1165242

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Beato, Vicens-Bordas, Peña and Costin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Training load comparison between small, medium, and large-sided games in professional football

Marco Beato^{1*}, Jordi Vicens-Bordas^{2,3}, Javier Peña^{2,3} and Andrew J. Costin^{1,4}

¹School of Health and Sports Sciences, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom, ²Sport and Physical Activity Studies Centre, University of Vic-Central University of Catalonia, Barcelona, Spain, ³Sport, Exercise, and Human Movement, University of Vic-Central University of Catalonia, Barcelona, Spain, ⁴Department of Sport Science, Ipswich Town FC, Ipswich, United Kingdom

This study aimed to assess if internal and external load parameters were different between sided game formats, if players' positions influenced these parameters, and if load parameters were different among sided game types (from 2vs2 to 10vs10) in professional football players. Twenty-five male players of the same club were enrolled in this study (age = 27 ± 9 years and body mass = 78 ± 14 kg). Sided games were categorized in formats as small-sided games (SSG, n = 145), medium-sided games (MSG, n = 431), and large-sided games (LSG, n = 204). Players were divided into roles such as center backs (CB), fullbacks (FB), center midfielders (CM), attacking midfielders (AM), and strikers (ST). STATSports 10 Hz GNSS Apex units were used to monitor external load parameters such as distance, high-speed running (HSR), sprinting distance, accelerations, and decelerations. The linear mixed model analysis found differences between formats (p < 0.001) for the rate of perceived exertion (RPE), distance, HSR, sprinting, accelerations, and decelerations. Differences were found between positions for HSR (p = 0.004), sprinting (p = 0.006), and decelerations (p < 0.001). Moreover, a significant difference was found between sided game types (p < 0.001) for RPE, distance, HSR, sprinting, accelerations, and decelerations. In conclusion, some sided games formats are more suitable for specific load-specific parameters (e.g., distance per minute, HSR, and sprinting are greater during LSG). The number of accelerations and decelerations is higher in MSG compared to other formats. Finally, players' positions influenced external load metrics, specifically HSR and decelerations but not RPE and distance.

KEYWORDS

soccer, team sports, performance, GPS, monitoring

Introduction

Football training aims to develop physical capacities, tactical and technical skills to compete during matches (1). In the latest years, sided games, which are categorized as small (SSG), medium (MSG), and large (LSG) formats, have been commonly used by coaches for simultaneously training these capacities and skills (2). Sided games are ball-based drills typically played on smaller pitch areas than regular games, with a fewer players and sometimes using modified rules to achieve specific physical, technical, and tactical aims (3, 4). From a conditioning perspective, sided games can improve aerobic and anaerobic fitness, acceleration and deceleration capacities (4, 5). Still, it has been

reported that they may struggle to replicate the high-speed running (HSR) and sprinting demands of football matches (6, 7).

From a training management perspective, previous research found that sided games can be manipulated by changing the pitch sizes on which they are played to obtain a different relative area per player (3, 6). Indeed, HSR increases when larger relative pitch areas are used, while more accelerations and decelerations are performed when smaller relative pitch areas are used (7-10). During a microcycle (1 week) in football, specific sided games are selected and allocated to specific days (e.g., following the principles of tactical periodization) to achieve the desired physical stimuli to the players (11, 12). Sided games are commonly manipulated by changing the number of players involved in the sided games. For instance, SSG format includes 2vs2, 3vs3, and 4vs4, MSG format includes 5vs5, 6vs6, and 7vs7, and LSG formats included 8vs8, 9vs9, and 10vs10 sided games (7). Although a large body of research has investigated different aspects of sided games, we know that acceleration and deceleration demands as well as HSR and sprinting distances are highly variable among studies (7, 10). However, minimal information about thorough analysis from SSG (i.e., 2vs2) to LSG (i.e., 10vs10) within the same football team is available. This could be particularly interesting because it is known that the "one size fits all" approach to sided games actually does not work (13). Furthermore, it is known that players' positions play a role in the external load demands during matches (14). External positions usually require more HSR distance than center defenders or attackers, or in other cases, central positions require a greater number of accelerations and decelerations than external positions (14, 15). This could also be the case for external load demands during sided games, but it is unclear which games allow for different physical demands between positions. Coaches interested in manipulating training demands among positions during their training microcycle should understand these differences.

The quantification of training load is usually categorized into internal and external training load (16, 17). Internal training load is frequently assessed by collecting a player's rating of perceived exertion (RPE) (18, 19). RPE is cheap, easily administered and can capture a player's overall perceived load at the end of drills and sessions (20). Moreover, previous research reported that RPE score is correlated with other physiological measures such as heart rate and blood lactate (18). External training load is commonly monitored using the global navigation satellite system (GNSS) (2, 21, 22). GNSS has been proven to be valid and reliable to assess distance during linear and sport-specific tasks and determining peak speed (21, 23). Moreover, such technology can quantify the number of accelerations and decelerations during drills and sessions, which are critical parameters to consider during the weekly training plan in football (10). Because the difference in internal and external training load between sided games formats as well as the effect of players' positions on such parameters are not clear, a specific study investigating these variables is needed. Therefore, we aimed to verify if internal and external load parameters were different between sided-game formats (SSG, MSG, LSG) and if players' positions influenced these parameters. Finally, we intended to clarify whether internal and external load parameters differed among sided-game types (from 2vs2 to 10vs10) in professional male football players.

Methods

Participants

Twenty-five male professional football players of the same club were enrolled in this study (age = 27 ± 9 years and body mass = 78 ± 14 kg) during the 2022–23 season. The inclusion criteria included the absence of illness and injuries and regular football training and competition participation. Goalkeepers (GKs) were excluded from this study, and only outfield players' match data were evaluated. The sample size estimation was calculated using G*power (Düsseldorf, Germany) for a one-way ANOVA fixed effect that indicated a total of 159 individual data points would be required to detect a small effect (f = 0.25) with 80% power and an alpha of 5%. The actual sample size of this study was 780 individual data points, with a real power of >95%, which reduced the likelihood of type 2 errors (false negative) (24). The Ethics Committee of the University of Suffolk (Ipswich, UK) approved this study (project code: RETHS22/016). Informed consent to take part in this research was signed by the club. The external training load data was recorded as part of the regular monitoring routine of the club and was only analyzed a posteriori. All procedures were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki for human studies.

Experimental design

Sided games were categorized in formats such as SSG (n = 145), MSG (n = 431), and LSG (n = 204). SSG included 2vs2, 3vs3, and 4vs4 sided games; MSG included 5vs5, 6vs6, and 7vs7 sided games; LSG included 8vs8 and 10vs10 sided games (7). During these sided games goals were included as well as GKs, football balls around the pitch were available to be used when one ball was kicked off the pitch, and coaches encouraged players to increase intensity. Only players that completed the drill were included in this analysis. Players were divided into positions such as center backs (CB), fullbacks (FB), center midfielders (CM), attacking midfielders (AM), and strikers (ST). The specific number of data points per position is reported in the **Supplementary Material**.

Sided game type

- (a) 2vs2 SSG played with the same rules of a match in restricted spaces, using a medium pitch format, with a relative pitch area of 121 m^2 .
- (b) 3vs3 SSG played using a small pitch format, with a relative pitch area of 72 m².
- (c) 4vs4 SSG played using small and medium pitch formats, with a relative pitch area of 68 m^2 and 104 m^2 , respectively.
- (d) 5vs5 MSG played using small and medium pitch formats, with a relative pitch area of 72 m^2 and 115 m^2 , respectively.

- (e) 6vs6 MSG played using small and medium pitch formats, with a relative pitch area of 67 m² and 140 m², respectively.
- (f) 7vs7 MSG played using medium pitch formats, with a relative pitch area of 102 m² and 144 m², respectively.
- (g) 8vs8 LSG played using a medium pitch format, with a relative pitch area of 157.5 m².
- (h) 10vs10 LSG played using large and regular pitch formats, with a relative pitch area of 229 m² and 353.4 m² (108 m \times 72 m), respectively.

The specific number of data points per sided game type is reported in the **Supplementary Material**.

SSG, MSG, and LSG formats were arbitrarily categorized as small pitch size (<99 m²), medium pitch size (from 100 to 199 m²), large pitch size (from 200 to 289 m²), and regular pitch size >290 m², which is the minimum standard size (100 m × 64 m) of a football pitch for a professional 11-a-side game set by Fédération Internationale de Football Association. In this article, the regular pitch size used was 108 m × 72 m, equivalent to 353.4 m² per player (including GKs).

Global navigation satellite system (GNSS)

In this study, STATSports 10 Hz GNSS Apex units (Northern Ireland, UK) were used to monitor SSG, MSG, and LSG. GNSS technology tracks multiple satellite systems (i.e., global positioning systems, GLONASS) to provide highly accurate and reliable positional information (21). Moreover, Apex units are integrated with a 100 Hz triaxial accelerometer (25). Before each training session (e.g., 15 min), the GNSS Apex units were turned on to allow the units to track an adequate number of satellites. These units reported the number of satellites tracked that ranged between 17 and 23, which is in line with previous literature (26). All data recorded by the Apex units were downloaded and elaborated by STATSports software (Apex version Sonra v4.4.17) before being exported as a CSV file for further analysis.

Previous research reported the validity and reliability of this technology during linear and soccer-specific tasks reporting an error of <2.5% (21). The reliability (inter-unit) during sprinting actions (range: 5–30 m) was *excellent* (intra-class correlation coefficient = 0.99), with a typical error of measurement of 1.85% (26).

External and internal load variables

Players' internal load was expressed in arbitrary units (AU) and monitored using a previously validated scale, specifically Borg's CR10. This scale assesses players' rate of perceived exertion (RPE) (18, 27). Each player gave their RPE score after the end of each sided game (28). External load metrics were quantified and reported as frequency per minute to account for the difference in time exposure. In this study, GNSS recorded metrics were



distance covered (m·min⁻¹), HSR distance (>19.8 km·h⁻¹), and sprinting distance (>25.2 km·h⁻¹) (8). The number of high-intensity accelerations (>3 m·s⁻²), and decelerations (<-3 m·s⁻²) were quantified using GNSS technology (10).

Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics are reported as mean ± standard deviation (SD). A Shapiro-Wilk test was used to check the assumption that the data conforms to a normal distribution and that the residuals were found normally distributed for the linear mixed model (LMM). The primary analysis was an LMM, which used the Satterthwaite method (degrees of freedom estimation based on analytical results) to assess if significant differences exist between formats (LSG, MSG and SSG; fixed effects) and players' positions (fixed effects) across several dependent variables (29). Players were considered as random effect grouping factors. During the secondary analysis, individual sided games (from 2vs2 to 10vs10, fixed effects) and players (random effects) were analyzed using again a LMM. When significant differences were found in the LMM model, an estimation of marginal means (contrasts) was performed using Holm's corrections for multiple comparisons.

Estimates of 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated and reported in the figures (Box Plots). Effect sizes were calculated from the *t* and *df* of the contrast and interpreted using Cohen's *d* principle as follows *trivial* < 0.2, *small* 0.2–0.6, *moderate* 0.6–1.2, *large* 1.2–2.0, *very large* > 2.0 (30). Unless otherwise stated significance was set at p < 0.05 for all tests. Statistical analyses were performed in JASP (JASP Version 0.16.13. Amsterdam, Netherlands).

Results

The summary of the comparison between formats (LSG, MSG, and SSG) and positions using a LMM across several dependent variables is reported in Figure 1 (RPE), Figure 2 (distance), Figure 3 (HSR), Figure 4 (sprinting), Figure 5 (accelerations), Figure 6 (decelerations).

LMM analysis for formats (LSG, MSG, and SSG) and positions reported a significant difference between formats (F = 34.3, p < 0.001) but not for positions (p = 0.084) for RPE. LMM analysis reported a significant difference between formats (F = 167.3, p < 0.001) but not for positions (p = 0.119) for distance. LMM analysis reported a significant difference between





formats (F = 66.1, p < 0.001) and positions (p = 0.004) for HSR. LMM analysis reported a significant difference between formats (F = 16.4, p < 0.001) and positions (p = 0.006) for sprinting distance. LMM analysis reported a significant difference between formats (F = 47.6, p < 0.001) but not for positions (p = 0.115) for accelerations. LMM analysis reported a significant difference between formats (F = 28.9, p < 0.001) and for positions (p < 0.001) for decelerations.

Summary of the secondary analysis, where individual sided games (from 2vs2 to 10vs10) were analyzed as presented in **Figure 7** (RPE), **Figure 8** (distance), **Figure 9** (HSR), **Figure 10** (sprinting), **Figure 11** (accelerations), Figure 12 (decelerations). LMM analysis reported a significant difference between sided game types for RPE (F = 28.1, p < 0.001), distance (F = 50.6, p < 0.001), HSR (F = 14.5, p < 0.001), sprinting (F = 4.38, p < 0.001), accelerations (F = 19.8, p < 0.001), and decelerations (F = 14.8, p < 0.001).

The descriptive analysis of sided games formats (LSG, MSG, and SSG), players' positions (CB, FB, CM, AM, and ST), and sided game types (from 2vs2 to 10vs10) is reported in the **Supplementary Material**.

Estimated marginal means and 95% CIs for sided games formats (LSG, MSG, and SSG), players' positions (CB, FB, CM, AM, and ST), and sided game types (from 2vs2 to 10vs10) were reported in the **Supplementary Material**.

Discussion

This study aimed to verify, first, if internal and external load parameters were different between sided-game formats (SSG, MSG, LSG), second, if players' positions influenced these parameters, and finally, if internal and external load parameters were different among sided-game types (from 2vs2 to 10vs10) in professional male football players. We found that internal training load (RPE) changes among sided-game formats. For instance, MSG reported a lower score compared to LSG. External training load parameters are significantly different among formats where, for example, distance per minute is greater during LSG than SSG, and the number of accelerations was greater in MSG than LSG. Players' positions do not affect internal training load among the formats, while they influence some external load



parameters; for example, HSR and sprinting distance are greater for ST and FB compared to CB. Finally, both internal and external load parameters were found to be different among sided games (from 2vs2 to 10vs10), where LSG 8vs8 was found to be the most demanding drill for distance covered per minute, and LSG 10 vs. 10 was found to be the most demanding drill for HSR and sprinting. On the other hand, acceleration and deceleration demands were greater in MSG 5vs5 and MSG 6vs6 compared to other formats.

Internal and external load parameters between sided game formats

RPE was found to be significantly (p < 0.001) different between formats (**Figure 1**). Specifically, RPE in LSG was greater than RPE in MSG (p < 0.001, d = very large) while RPE in SSG was greater (p < 0.001, very large) than in MSG. From a practical perspective, practitioners can use RPE as a cheap monitoring tool for evaluating players' perceived load during sided games (18). However, when RPE is not associated with other external load data, interpreting why these differences between sided games formats exist is quite difficult. In this context, practitioners cannot understand if RPE differences among formats is due, for example, to a greater distance covered or because of a higher number of accelerations performed by the players. Therefore, we suggest practitioners use both internal and external load parameters to have a clearer picture of the demands of their sided game drills (31). Last but not least, RPE is not a pure measure of intensity because it is affected by the duration (of the drill), therefore, practitioners should be conscious of this when they compare drills of different duration. This study analyzed distance covered per minute, one of the most common parameters monitored in football (Figure 2). LSG formats obtained greater distance covered (moderate to very large) than the distance covered during MSG and SSG. While MSG (101.3 m·min⁻¹) reported a significantly greater distance compared to SSG (65.6 m·min⁻¹). Practitioners should preferentially use LSG and MSG when they want to replicate intensities (distance per minute) near match intensity, while SSG are clearly too small to allow for match-specific demands (7, 32). When HSR distance is analyzed, LSG reported a greater distance $(5.0 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}, p < 0.001)$ compared to MSG $(2.1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1})$ and SSG (2.0 m \cdot min⁻¹). This result is in line with previous research



that reported that HSR distance is greater in LSG compared to smaller formats (2, 7). Moreover, previous research reported that LSG are generally suitable to achieve sprinting speed, while smaller formats struggle to do so (8). This is supported by the data of this study, where sprinting distance is exclusively found in LSG (0.9 m·min⁻¹), while MSG and SSG reported distances close to zero (around $0.1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$). These data confirm that, first, LSG using large spaces (>200 m² per player) or with regular dimensions (>290 m²) are needed to achieve both HSR and sprinting distances, and second, that players very likely need to perform some running based exercises (e.g., linear sprinting activities) to actually cover an adequate amount of sprinting distance during their microcycle if SSG and MSG are mainly used (8, 33). Practitioners should also consider that matches or their "replication" using regular pitch areas (like in this study, $10vs10 = 353.4 \text{ m}^2$) in training can be a potent stimulus for physical development (17, 34). Sided games are also used to generate mechanical and physiological loads in the lower limbs (35, 36); since direct quantification is highly complicated in a football context, practitioners usually quantify accelerations and decelerations (10, 37) using GNSS technology (23, 38). This study found that the number of accelerations is greater in MSG compared to LSG (*large*) and SSG (*small*). It is shown that SSG is not the best format for loading (when accelerations are the reference) players, but MSG is. Very similar results were found when decelerations were analyzed; MSG reported a significant (p < 0.001) greater number of decelerations compared with both LSG (*large*) and SSG (*moderate*).

Players' positions and internal and external load parameters

In this study, we also analyzed players' positions' effect on internal and external load parameters. RPE and distance covered per minute were not significantly affected by positions, p = 0.084 and p = 0.119, respectively. Therefore, players of different positions can achieve a similar RPE or relative intensity during sided game formats. However, this was not the case when HSR distance was analyzed (**Figure 3**), specifically, CB (1.9 m·min⁻¹) reported a significantly lower value compared to FB (4.1 m·min⁻¹, p = 0.006) and ST (4.0 m·min⁻¹, p = 0.014), as well



as ST covered significantly more HSR than CM (2.2 m·min⁻¹, p =0.016). This means that coaches can use sided games to stimulate players based on their position. When sprinting distance was analyzed we found a significant difference between positions specifically, FB (p = 0.006,Figure **4**), $(0.7 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1})$ outperformed the other positions such as AM (p = 0.025), CB (p = 0.005), and CM (p = 0.025) but they had a similar sprinting distance compared to ST (0.5 m·min⁻¹, p = 0.329). These results highlight that while positions do not affect RPE scores or the distance per minute, they affect HSR and sprinting distance, therefore, coaches and sport scientists should consider this when they are designing their sided game drills during the training microcycle (16). Instead, accelerations were not found to be different among positions (Figure 5, p = 0.115), which means that all players, independently from their role, have similar mechanical demands. However, this was not the case for the number of decelerations recorded (Figure 6), since ST reported the highest number of events $(1.8 \text{ n}\cdot\text{min}^{-1})$ compared to the other roles such as CB $(1.5 \text{ n}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}, p < 0.001)$ and FB $(1.6 \text{ n}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}, p = 0.026)$. Although these results are interesting and show that sided games' deceleration demands are affected by positions, practitioners should be quite careful because the differences are quite small (see Figure 6). Future research should evaluate if different sided game formats chronically improve some specific physical parameters more than others and if players of different positions actually improve differently.

Internal and external load parameters among sided game types (from 2vs2 to 10vs10)

The secondary analysis of this paper assessed the internal and external load parameters among the sided game types.





We found that RPE score was higher in SSG 2vs2 (RPE = 7.4) compared to MSG 5vs5 (RPE = 6.3, p = 0.003), MSG 6vs6 (RPE = 4.8, p < 0.001) and MSG 7vs7 (RPE = 6.1, p < 0.001) but not compared to LSG 10vs10 (RPE = 7.3, p = 0.636). Therefore, coaches should select drills that are very small or very large if they want to increase their players' perceived exertion (**Figure 7**). However, practitioners should

understand that the external load parameters among these drills (SSG 2vs2 and LSG 10vs10) are very different. Therefore, the consequent mechanical and physiological adaptations will also be different although they have similar RPE values. As reported in **Figure 8**, LSG 10vs10 (111.4 m·min⁻¹) reported the greater distance per minute among sided game types and in particular they have nearly





twice the value compared to SSG 2vs2 ($56.1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$). Previous literature reported that professional players of a similar level (English Football League One) covered a distance per minute of $106 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ during official matches (39). Therefore, all drills above $100 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ reported in Figure 8 (i.e., MSG 6vs6, MSG 7vs7, LSG 8vs8 and LSG 10vs10) would be suitable to replicate the demands of the match for these players (English League One level). However, the intensity per minute recorded in other leagues is higher than what is reported here, so practitioners should verify that their drills obtain the desired intensity (40, 41). Regarding HSR, LSG10vs10 and LSG 8vs8 (Figure 9) are the most demanding drills, for instance they had a mean intensity of $5.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$ and $3.3 \text{ m}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$, respectively, which is *largely* different (p < 0.001) compared to any SSG formats. Moreover, when the sprinting distance was assessed, LSG10vs10 were the only format which actually reported an intensity greater than $1 \text{ m}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$





(Figure 10). Therefore, LSG10vs10 is the only format that is recommended to be used when coaches want to develop sprinting with their players. However, we should be aware that the overall sprinting dose is limited and may not be sufficient to achieve the aim (2, 17, 33, 42, 43). Contrariwise, regarding accelerations and decelerations, the most suitable drills for training purposes are MSG 5vs5 and MSG 6vs6, respectively (Figures 11, 12). Overall, MSG formats (i.e., 5vs5 and 6vs6) seem to offer a valid acceleration and deceleration frequencies >2 n · min⁻¹. Therefore, coaches and sports scientists could use these sided games to stimulate acceleration and deceleration training doses in their players (10).

Limitations and future directions

This study has some limitations, first, the sample enrolled in this study is a professional team in the English League One; therefore, higher or lower-level players could present different internal and external load demands compared to the ones reported here as well as coaches of other clubs could differently influence these drills with their encouragement. Second, only male players were assessed in this study; therefore, these results should be replicated with female football players to verify that what is reported here can be extended to female populations. Moreover, recent research reported that the use of individualized players' speed thresholds (e.g., sprinting speed or maximal aerobic speed) could be helpful in training load monitoring. An individualization based on the peak speed (e.g., recorded by GNSS) was not performed in this study, therefore, future research could investigate if this approach can offer additional insights (2, 17, 44). Lastly, this study did not consider any metabolic load parameter (e.g., metabolic power) or heart rate (45, 46). Future studies could verify whether these parameters differ among-sided game formats (SSG, MSG, and LSG) or if players' positions influence them.

Conclusions

This study found that internal (i.e., RPE) and external load parameters (e.g., accelerations and sprinting distance) were different between sided-game formats (SSG, MSG, LSG) in professional football players. Some formats were more suitable to load some specific parameters. For instance, distance per minute was greater during LSG than SSG and HSR, and sprinting distance was greater in LSG compared to SSG. This study found that the number of accelerations and decelerations was higher in MSG compared to SSG and LSG, which could have interesting practical applications for coaches. Moreover, this study found that external load metrics (e.g., HSR and decelerations) were subjective to players' positions. For example, HSR and sprinting distance were greater for ST and FB than CB. However, RPE and distance per minute were not affected by positions. Coaches should be aware of the internal load and external load demands of different game formats (LSG, MSG, and SSG), as well as if players' positions can influence these load parameters that would be critical for training load planning. Finally, this study analyzed the internal and external load parameters among sided-game types (from 2vs2 to 10vs10) and found that LSG 8vs8 was the most demanding drill for distance covered per minute, LSG 10 vs. 10 was the most demanding drill for HSR and sprinting. On the other hand, acceleration and deceleration demands were greater in MSG 5vs5 and MSG 6vs6 compared to other formats. Coaches and sports scientists should consider these findings and select the most appropriate sided-game types during their training.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

References

1. Bradley PS, Carling C, Gomez Diaz A, Hood P, Barnes C, Ade J, et al. Match performance and physical capacity of players in the top three competitive standards

Ethics statement

The Ethics Committee of the University of Suffolk (Ipswich, UK) approved this study (project code: RETHS22/016). The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

Author contributions

MB wrote the first draft of the paper and made the first data analysis; AJC recorded the data used in this paper; MB and AJC conceptualized the paper and reviewed the manuscript; JP and JV contributed to the data analysis and reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge Anna Young's support for this study. Anna helped the authors during data monitoring and during the coding of formats and players as part of the regular monitoring routine of the club.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fspor.2023. 1165242/full#supplementary-material.

of English professional soccer. Hum Mov Sci. (2013) 32(4):808-21. doi: 10.1016/j. humov.2013.06.002

2. Gualtieri A, Rampinini E, Dello Iacono A, Beato M. High-speed running and sprinting in professional adult soccer: current thresholds definition, match demands and training strategies. A systematic review. *Front Sport Act Living*. (2023) 5:1116293. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.111629

3. Christopher J, Beato M, Hulton AT. Manipulation of exercise to rest ratio within set duration on physical and technical outcomes during small-sided games in elite youth soccer players. *Hum Mov Sci.* (2016) 48:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2016.03.013

4. Kelly DM, Gregson W, Reilly T, Drust B. The development of a soccer-specific training drill for elite-level players. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2013) 27(4):938–43. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3182610b7d

5. Moran J, Blagrove RC, Drury B, Fernandes JFT, Paxton K, Chaabene H, et al. Effects of small-sided games vs. conventional endurance training on endurance performance in male youth soccer players: a meta-analytical comparison. *Sport Med.* (2019) 49(5):731-42. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01086-w

6. Hill-Haas SV, Dawson B, Impellizzeri FM, Coutts AJ. Physiology of small-sided games training in football. *Sport Med.* (2011) 41(3):199–220. doi: 10.2165/11539740-00000000-00000

7. Dello Iacono A, McLaren SJ, Macpherson TW, Beato M, Weston M, Unnithan VB, et al. Quantifying exposure and intra-individual reliability of high-speed and sprint running during sided-games training in soccer players: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* (2023) 53(2):371–413. doi: 10.1007/s40279-022-01773-1

8. Beato M, Drust B, Dello Iacono A. Implementing high-speed running and sprinting training in professional soccer. *Int J Sports Med.* (2021) 42(4):295–9. doi: 10.1055/a-1302-7968

9. Riboli A, Coratella G, Rampichini S, Ce E, Esposito F. Area per player in smallsided games to replicate the external load and estimated physiological match demands in elite soccer players. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15(9):e0229194. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0229194

10. Silva H, Nakamura FY, Beato M, Marcelino R. Acceleration and deceleration demands during training sessions in football: a systematic review. *Sci Med Footb.* (2022):1–16. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2022.2090600

11. Paul DJ, Nassis GP. Testing strength and power in soccer players: the application of conventional and traditional methods of assessment. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2015) 29 (6):1748–58. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000000807

12. Buchheit M, Lacome M, Cholley Y, Simpson BM. Neuromuscular responses to conditioned soccer sessions assessed via GPS-embedded accelerometers: insights into tactical periodization. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2018) 13(5):577–83. doi: 10.1123/ ijspp.2017-0045

13. Lacome M, Simpson BM, Cholley Y, Lambert P, Buchheit M. Small-sided games in elite soccer: does one size fits all? *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2018) 13(5):568–76. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0214

14. Bush M, Barnes C, Archer DT, Hogg B, Bradley PS. Evolution of match performance parameters for various playing positions in the English premier league. *Hum Mov Sci.* (2015) 39:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2014.10.003

15. Bangsbo J, Mohr M, Krustrup P. Physical and metabolic demands of training and match-play in the elite football player. J Sports Sci. (2006) 24(7):665-74. doi: 10.1080/02640410500482529

16. Anderson L, Orme P, Di Michele R, Close GL, Milsom J, Morgans R, et al. Quantification of seasonal-long physical load in soccer players with different starting status from the English premier league: implications for maintaining squad physical fitness. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2016) 11(8):1038–46. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0672

17. Gualtieri A, Rampinini E, Sassi R, Beato M. Workload monitoring in top-level soccer players during congested fixture periods. *Int J Sports Med.* (2020) 41(10):677–81. doi: 10.1055/a-1171-1865

18. Impellizzeri FM, Rampinini E, Coutts AJ, Sassi A, Marcora SM. Use of RPEbased training load in soccer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. (2004) 36(6):1042–7. doi: 10. 1249/01.MSS.0000128199.23901.2F

19. Thorpe RT, Strudwick AJ, Buchheit M, Atkinson G, Drust B, Gregson W. Monitoring fatigue during the in-season competitive phase in elite soccer players. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2015) 10(8):958–64. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0004

20. Scherr J, Wolfarth B, Christle JW, Pressler A, Wagenpfeil S, Halle M. Associations between borg's rating of perceived exertion and physiological measures of exercise intensity. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2013) 113(1):147–55. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2421-x

21. Beato M, Coratella G, Stiff A, Dello Iacono A. The validity and between-unit variability of GNSS units (STATSports Apex 10 and 18 Hz) for measuring distance and peak speed in team sports. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9(September):1288. doi: 10. 3389/fphys.2018.01288

22. Kelly DM, Strudwick AJ, Atkinson G, Drust B, Gregson W. Quantification of training and match-load distribution across a season in elite English premier league soccer players. *Sci Med Footb*. (2020) 4(1):59–67. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2019.1651934

23. Beato M, Devereux G, Stiff A. Validity and reliability of global positioning system units (STATSports viper) for measuring distance and peak speed

in sports. J Strength Cond Res. (2018) 32(10):2831-7. doi: 10.1519/JSC. 000000000002778

24. Beato M. Recommendations for the design of randomized controlled trials in strength and conditioning. Common design and data interpretation. *Front Sport Act Living.* (2022) 4:981836. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.981836

25. Beato M, De Keijzer KL, Carty B, Connor M. Monitoring fatigue during intermittent exercise with accelerometer-derived metrics. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10 (June):780. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00780

26. Beato M, De Keijzer KL. The inter-unit and inter-model reliability of GNSS STATSports Apex and Viper units in measuring peak speed over 5, 10, 15, 20 and 30 meters. *Biol Sport*. (2019) 36(4):317–21. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2019.88754

27. Impellizzeri FM, Marcora SM, Coutts AJ. Internal and external training load: 15 years on. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2019) 14(2):270–3. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0935

28. Fanchini M, Ferraresi I, Modena R, Schena F, Coutts AJ, Impellizzeri FM. Use of CR100 scale for session rating of perceived exertion in soccer and iis interchangeability with the CR10. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2016) 11(3):388–92. doi: 10.1123/ijspp. 2015-0273

29. Maullin-Sapey T, Nichols TE. Fisher scoring for crossed factor linear mixed models. *Stat Comput.* (2021) 31(5):1–25. doi: 10.1007/s11222-021-10026-6

30. Hopkins WG, Marshall SW, Batterham AM, Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2009) 41 (1):3–13. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31818cb278

31. Thorpe RT, Atkinson G, Drust B, Gregson W. Monitoring fatigue status in elite team-sport athletes: implications for practice. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2017) 12:27–34. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0479

32. Stone NM, Kilding AE. Aerobic conditioning for team sport athletes. Sports Med. (2009) 39(8):615-42. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200939080-00002

33. Kyprianou E, Di Salvo V, Lolli L, Al Haddad H, Villanueva AM, Gregson W, et al. To measure peak velocity in soccer, let the players sprint. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2022) 36(1):273–6. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003406. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31800476.

34. Morgans R, Di Michele R, Drust B. Soccer match play as an important component of the power-training stimulus in premier league players. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2018) 13(5):665–7. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2016-0412

35. Zamparo P, Bolomini F, Nardello F, Beato M. Energetics (and kinematics) of short shuttle runs. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2015) 115(9):1985–94. doi: 10.1007/s00421-015-3180-2

36. Zamparo P, Zadro I, Lazzer S, Beato M, Sepulcri L. Energetics of shuttle runs: the effects of distance and change of direction. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2014) 9 (6):1033–9. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2013-0258

37. Beato M, Drust B. Acceleration intensity is an important contributor to the external and internal training load demands of repeated sprint exercises in soccer players. *Res Sport Med.* (2021) 29(1):67-76. doi: 10.1080/15438627. 2020.1743993

38. Beato M, Bartolini D, Ghia G, Zamparo P. Accuracy of a 10 Hz GPS unit in measuring shuttle velocity performed at different speeds and distances (5–20 m). *J Hum Kinet*. (2016) 54(1):15–22. doi: 10.1515/hukin-2016-0031

39. Reynolds J, Connor M, Jamil M, Beato M. Quantifying and comparing the match demands of U18, U23, and 1ST team English professional soccer players. *Front Physiol.* (2021) 12:706451. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.706451

40. Stevens TGA, de Ruiter CJ, Twisk JWR, Savelsbergh GJP, Beek PJ. Quantification of in-season training load relative to match load in professional Dutch eredivisie football players. *Sci Med Footb.* (2017) 1(2):117–25. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2017.1282163

41. Connor M, Mernagh D, Beato M. Quantifying and modelling the game speed outputs of English championship soccer players. *Res Sports Med.* (2022) 30(2):169–81. doi: 10.1080/15438627.2021.1888108

42. Mohr M, Krustrup P, Bangsbo J. Match performance of high-standard soccer players with special reference to development of fatigue. *J Sports Sci.* (2003) 21 (7):519–28. doi: 10.1080/0264041031000071182

43. Haugen T, Buchheit M. Sprint running performance monitoring: methodological and practical considerations. *Sports Med.* (2016) 46(5):641–56. doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0446-0

44. Filipe A, Clemente M, Ramirez-campillo R, Beato M, Moran J, Kawczynski A, et al. Arbitrary absolute vs. Individualized running speed thresholds in team sports: a scoping review with evidence gap map. *Biol Sport*. (2023) 40(3):919–43. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2023.122480

45. Osgnach C, Di Prampero PE. Metabolic power in team sports-part 2: aerobic and anaerobic energy yields. Int J Sports Med. (2018) 39(8):588-95. doi: 10.1055/a-0592-7219

46. Beato M, Impellizzeri FM, Coratella G, Schena F. Quantification of energy expenditure of recreational football. *J Sports Sci.* (2016) 34(24):2185–8. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2016.1167280

Frontiers in **Sports and Active Living**

Stepping up our understanding of sport and physical activity

A multidisciplinary journal which investigates all aspects of sports, physical activity, and active living to understand the benefits and risks of non-sedentary behavior.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact frontiers

Frontiers in Sports and Active Living



